# ENVIRONMENTAL ECOLOGY OF MARINE BRYOZOANS (Phylum Bryozoa) AND ASCIDIANS (Tunicata: Ascidiacea) UNDER MULTISTRESSOR SCENARIOS

# VANESSA YEPES-NARVÁEZ

PhD

2020

## ENVIRONMENTAL ECOLOGY OF MARINE BRYOZOANS (Phylum Bryozoa) AND ASCIDIANS (Tunicata: Ascidiacea) UNDER MULTISTRESSOR SCENARIOS

# VANESSA YEPES-NARVÁEZ

# A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the Manchester Metropolitan University for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

# DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL SCIENCES FACULTY OF SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING THE MANCHESTER METROPOLITAN UNIVERSITY

PhD

2020

To Ana Luz and Juan Andrés for their unconditional love, To my beautiful ocean blue, for constantly inspiring my days, To Colombia

To all those with lophophores and branchial sacs that represent a reason in my life "I will never do enough, but I will always let the world know about you"

Lokah Samastah Sukhino Bhavantu

### CERTIFICATE

To certify that this thesis is an authentic record of the research work carried out by VANESSA YEPES NARVÁEZ, under our scientific supervision and guidance in the school of Natural Sciences of The Manchester Metropolitan University, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy and no parts has been presented before the award of any other degree, diploma or associateship in any university.

**Prof. Richard Preziosi, FRES FRSB FHEA** Director, Ecology and Environment Research Centre Department of Natural Sciences Faculty of Science and Engineering Manchester Metropolitan University

**Dr. Hannah Mossman** Senior Lecturer in Ecology Department of Natural Sciences Faculty of Science and Engineering Manchester Metropolitan University

#### DECLARATION

I VANESSA YEPES NARVÁEZ, do hereby declare that this thesis entitled "ENVIRONMENTAL ECOLOGY OF MARINE BRYOZOANS (Phylum Bryozoa) AND ASCIDIANS (Class: Ascidiacea) UNDER MULTISTRESSOR SCENARIOS" is a genuine record of the research work done by me under the supervision of Professor Richard Preziosi and Doctor Hannah Mossman from the Department of Natural Sciences, and has not previously formed the basis of the award of any degree, diploma or associateship in any university.

Vanessa Yepes-Narváez PhD Researcher

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

GENERAL ABSTRACT	11
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	12
Chapter 1: General Introduction	16
Natural and anthropogenic multi-stressor scenarios on marine ecosyst	ems 17
Study groups	20
Thesis aims and chapters	23
REFERENCES	25
Chapter 2: Systematics and diversity of deep-sea bryozoans	(Phylum
Bryozoa) from the Colombian Caribbean	31
ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	
METHODS	33
Study area	
Collection methods	
RESULTS	
Systematic account	
DISCUSSION	66
REFERENCES	69
Supplementary material I: New species register for the Great Caribbean	79
Supplementary material II: New species register for the Colombian Cari	bbean 83
Chapter 3: Bryozoan distribution and its relationship with envir	onmental
conditions in the Colombian Caribbean	94
ABSTRACT	94
	95
METHODS	96
Study area	96

Material examined	
Taxonomic identification	
Carbonate mineralogy of bryozoan species	
Environmental variables	
Map developing	
Statistical analyses	
RESULTS	
Bryozoan richness and growth forms	
Comparison to environmental conditions	
DISCUSSION	
Bathymetric and geographical distribution of bryozoans	
Significance of environmental variables	
Bryozoan mineralogy significance and relationship distribution	
CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
REEPENCES	126
Supplementary material I: List of collection sites and assoc	iated information134
Supplementary material II: Environmental data collected pe	r station136
Supplementary material III: Relative abundance of Adeonell	opsis subsulcata in a
temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean.	
Supplementary material IV: Polative shundares of Staginar	oralla magnilabric in
Supplementary material IV: Relative abundance of Stegmon	120
a temperature gradient in the Colombian Campbean	
Supplementary material V: Relative abundance of Margaret	<i>ta cereoides</i> in a
temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean.	
Supplementary material VI: Relative abundance of Halophil	a <i>antillaea</i> in a
temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean.	
temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean.	
temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean Supplementary material VII. Deep-Sea bryozoan species for	und in COL10 that
temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean Supplementary material VII. Deep-Sea bryozoan species for require further taxonomic identification	und in COL10 that
temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean Supplementary material VII. Deep-Sea bryozoan species for require further taxonomic identification Chapter 4: Relationship between environmental factors a	Ind in COL10 that 142 142 142 142
temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean Supplementary material VII. Deep-Sea bryozoan species fou require further taxonomic identification Chapter 4: Relationship between environmental factors a strategy of <i>Bugula neritina</i> (Phylum: Bryozoa)	Ind in COL10 that 142 and the reproductive 143
temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean Supplementary material VII. Deep-Sea bryozoan species fou require further taxonomic identification Chapter 4: Relationship between environmental factors a strategy of <i>Bugula neritina</i> (Phylum: Bryozoa) ABSTRACT	Ind in COL10 that Ind in COL10 that 142 and the reproductive 143
temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean Supplementary material VII. Deep-Sea bryozoan species fou require further taxonomic identification Chapter 4: Relationship between environmental factors a strategy of <i>Bugula neritina</i> (Phylum: Bryozoa) ABSTRACT	

METHODS	148
Species used	
Study area	149
Environmental factors	154
Sampling design	154
Sample preparation and measurements	154
Species Distribution Modelling	155
Statistical analysis	156
RESULTS	
Colony growth	
Significant environmental factors	
Species distribution model	
Comparative analysis	
DISCUSSION	
CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
REFERENCES	
Chapter 5. Complete evideoration in the transal Accidian Delucern	a continea
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian Polycarp	a captiosa
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian <i>Polycarp</i> (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress	<b>a captiosa</b> 189
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian <i>Polycarp</i> (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT	<b>a captiosa</b> 189 <b>189</b>
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian <i>Polycarp</i> (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION	<i>a captiosa</i> 189 189 
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian <i>Polycarp</i> (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION	<i>a captiosa</i> 189 189 190 
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian <i>Polycarp</i> (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION METHODS	a captiosa 189 189 189 190 192
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian <i>Polycarp</i> (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION METHODS Study organisms Acclimation time	a captiosa 
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian <i>Polycarp</i> (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION METHODS Study organisms Acclimation time Experimental design	<b>a captiosa</b>
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian Polycarp (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION METHODS	<b>a captiosa</b> 
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian <i>Polycarp</i> (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION METHODS	<b>a captiosa</b> 
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian <i>Polycarp</i> (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT	<b>a captiosa</b> 
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian Polycarp (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT	<b>a captiosa</b> 
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian <i>Polycarp</i> (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION	<b>a captiosa</b> 
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian Polycarp (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION METHODS Study organisms Acclimation time Experimental design Experiment 1: Optimal filtration activity Determination of the filtration capacity Absorption of nutrients Experiment 2: Recovered gut filtration activity Statistical analysis RESULTS	<b>a captiosa</b> 
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian Polycarp (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION	<b>a captiosa</b> 
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian Polycarp (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION METHODS Study organisms Acclimation time Experimental design Experiment 1: Optimal filtration activity. Determination of the filtration capacity Absorption of nutrients Experiment 2: Recovered gut filtration activity Statistical analysis Experiment 1: Optimal filtration capacity Clearance rates	<b>a captiosa</b> 
Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian Polycarp (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION	a captiosa 189 189 190 190 192 194 194 194 195 197 197 197 197 200 200 200 201 201

DISCUSSION	
	21
Effect of turbidity on the filtration rates of P. captiosa	
Significance of evisceration in ascidians	
CONCLUSIONS	21
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	21
REFERENCES	212
Chapter 6: The effects of ocean acidification and warming o	on the biologica
unctions of coastal marine filter-feeders	
ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	22(
METHODS	
Specimens used	
Acclimation process	
Experimental design	
Mesocosm set-up	
Measurement of seawater chemistry	
Physiological measurements	
RESULTS	232
Resilience	
Clearance rate based on body weight (CR. W)	
Standardized ingestion rate	
Absorption efficiency	
DISCUSSION	236
CONCLUSIONS	240
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	242
REFERENCES	242
Supplementary material I: "24 hours variability in pCO <sub>2</sub> and tem in experimental units"	perature injected

ABSTRACT	253
INTRODUCTION	254
METHODS	
Study species	
Microplastic selection and quantification	257
Experiment 1: Microplastic ingestion at different exposure times	258
Experiment 2: Effects of MP on the clearance rate and absorption efficiency	
Quantification of MP fibres ingested	
Statistical analysis	
RESULTS	
Experiment 1: Microplastic ingestion at different exposure times	
Filtration behaviour	
Experiment 2: Effects of MP on the clearance rate and absorption efficiency	
Biological effects of MP fibres exposure	
DISCUSSION	
CONCLUSIONS	271
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	271
REFERENCES	272
Chapter 8: General discussion	
Thesis conclusions and future directions	
REFERENCES	

#### **GENERAL ABSTRACT**

Environmental stressors determine the extent of occurrence of marine species and modify their biology and ecology; understanding the tolerance range of marine fauna to disturbances is an important conservation tool that supports the development of better strategies to protect species and their ecosystem functions. Monitoring is key to understand the behaviour of species against current stressors, however, in order to analyse the species performance under predicted multi-stressor scenarios for the end of the century, controlled laboratory experiments also known as mesocosms are a good tool that allow us to modify environmental conditions and evaluate the degree of impact on the species biology and ecology. In this study, I collected and modelled environmental data and created mesocosms in order to evaluate the biological response of Bryozoans and Ascidians against current and future stressor scenarios. Firstly, I identified the diversity of bryozoans at different geographic and bathymetric ranges in the Colombian Caribbean with the purpose of complement the species record and to compare their distribution and ecology with the environmental variables in those areas. This allowed me to describe new species for science and their ecology in the Caribbean. I demonstrated that bryozoans modify their reproductive patterns and create habitat complexity in high disturbance areas in the Colombian Caribbean. Secondly, I developed controlled mesocosms in laboratory to test the effects of turbidity, ocean acidification, global warming and microplastic pollution on the biological functions of coastal ascidians. I discovered a novel behaviour in these Chordates of energetically expensive total evisceration after environmental stress, this behaviour allows the animals to create a new digestive system within two weeks but exposes them to further threats. In addition, I demonstrated that the ingestion of microplastic polymers in ascidians provokes severe gastrointestinal damage and a 60% increase in mortality. With these findings of the performance of bryozoans and ascidians against stressors, I discuss their consequences on the provision of ecosystem functions and suggest further research approaches for their conservation.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

With so much gratitude to my director of studies, Professor Richard Preziosi, for believing in me and for his constant encouragement that was crucial for the development of this research, without it would have been a lot harder to achieve this dream. Thank you to Dr Hannah Mossman for the great conversations, the support, the coffees as supervisor and friend, all your feedbacks and comments helped me improving this research.

I am also very thankful to the Marine and Coastal Research Institute "Jose Benito Vives de Andréis" – INVEMAR for their constant support logistically, financially and emotionally. Thanks to Captain Francisco Arias and Jesús Garay for their support since the first day of this chapter in my professional life. To David Alonso, for his support as a coordinator and as a friend every time I needed him. To Biandra, Martha, Raul, Diana Isabel, Luis Chasqui, Laura, Adriana, Selene, Andrés, Cesar Bernal, Alexandra, Marisol, David Morales, Jose Gutierrez, Professor Sven Zea, Professor Nestor Campos and Javier Gomez for all the chats and support given to me during all this time.

To the Marine Natural History Museum of Colombia- MAKURIWA for the constant support given to me, since I was an undergraduate student. You gave me the basis where I am standing now. Thanks to Manuel Garrido, Erika Montoya and Paola Flórez for their constant support. To Andrea Polanco, Giomar Borrero, Cristina, Fernando, Catalina, Bibian, Adibe, Sandy, Angelica, Karen and all the people that was part of the Museum during the time I was away pursuing my dreams. Special thanks to Miguel Martelo for his never-ending kindness and support since I was very little in science, I have no words to express how much I appreciate it.

This research was partly funded by the Colombian government under the management of COLCIENCIAS-COLFUTURO through "Doctorados en el exterior Convocatoria 646 de 2014", without their support, this professional goal would have never been possible, so I am very thankful. Additional financial aid was granted by The Manchester University during the first two years of my studies; this support

allowed me to come for the first time to the United Kingdom pursuing my dreams, so I am also very thankful.

I am enormously thankful to The Manchester Metropolitan University for allowing me to be part of the Department of Natural Sciences to complete my PhD from late 2017 and funding the rest of my research with a full-time PhD studentship. Thank you for giving me all the resources needed to finish this commitment the best way possible, my life perspectives changed from the first time I opened myself to you. Special thanks to Dr Huw Lloyd, Dr Patricia Linton, Dr Martin Sullivan, Dr Simon Caporn, Dr Paul Chipman for all your great support and advices when I really needed them.

Thank you so much to Dave Maskew and Sue Tucker for all the support in laboratory and for looking after my animals and loving them as much as me, you are the best. Many thanks to Tristan Lougher for the biological samples, the patience, the chocolates, the encouragement, the last-minute solutions, ideas and the support in fieldwork.

Special thanks to the Conservation Genetics research group, Dr Jennifer Rowntree, for your kind words and philosophical advices. To Sarah Griffiths, Si Grün, Calum, Xaali, Graeme, Latha, Fredericke, Jade, Alejandra, Thomas, Oliver H., Guuske, Marsiana, Hayley, Alexandria, Alex, Fraser, Peter, Joana, Lina, Diana, Elena Tonelli, John Paul, Antonella, Harry, Sarah, Fraser Baker, Tommy, Oli, Saule, Grace, Ryan, Giada and Maria for all the time spent, the talks, the food, the jokes and the beers. Thanks to my students Tammy Ho, Nicole Cowper, Thomas O'shea, Nicolas Karamallakis and Vito Latorre for teaching me how to be a better scientist, I have learned a lot from all of you.

To Plymouth University for all the support given to me since day one. Especial thanks to Professor Jason Hall-Spencer for his support, for facilitating me samples and offered me so many opportunities, I have no words to express how thankful I am.

To the Marine Biological Association-MBA for all the logistic and financial support to attend conferences and access to information.

To the International Bryozoology Association for all the support attending conferences and the prizes given to my research. To Dr John Ryland, Dr Judith Winston, Dr Leandro Vieira, Dr Andrey Ostrovsky, Dr Olga Kotenko, Dr Karine Nascimiento, Dr. Katerina Achilleos, Dr Thomas Schwaha, Dr Kamil Zagorsek, Dr Lais Ramalho, Dr Lee Hsiang Liow, Dr Björn Berning, Dr Hans the Blawe, Dr Joan Porter, Dr Piort Kuklinski, Dr Ania Piwoni-Piórewicz, Dr Abigail Smith, Dr Hannah Mello, Dr Emmanuela Dimartino, Dr Blanca Figuerola and all the IBA members that have been there for me every time I needed some inspiration.

To the International Conservation Biology Association for the travel awards that allowed me to attend conferences and the chance to meet early career researchers that as well as me are looking to better ways to protect the sea and preserve marine species.

To the Manchester Museum for all the support in the development of my project ideas and for kindly providing me the chance to be a curator of your bryozoan collections. Thanks to Dr Kevin for his support. To Rachel Petts for your help providing me the collection loans.

To the Natural History Museum of London for opening your doors to me every time I needed it. Thanks to Mary Spencer-Jones, you have been an angel to me, thanks for your help in desperate times and for all your kind support, also thanks to Dr Paul Taylor and Dr Andrea Waschenbach for the information and guidance.

The same way, I want to thank the National Museums of Scotland in Edinburgh, specifically to the National Collection Centre for allowing me to visit and analyze the bryozoan collection. Thanks to Fiona and Sankurie for your kind support when I visited and for proving bryozoan samples.

To the Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute for the support with samples and knowledge. To Dr Rosana Moreira Da Rocha, Dr Rachael Collins and Dr Gretchen Lambert for your incredible patience and support.

And unmeasurable thanks to my family for being always there for me even when I couldn't always be there for them. Life take us apart very often but just in a physical

point of view, because we are always in each other's heart. Thanks To Ana Luz, Juan Andres, Eloina and Angel Maria for loving me and deal with my constant absence.

To my friends in Colombia, Manchester and all around the world for believing, supporting me and fighting next to me during my ups and downs, Thanks to Lucho, Nestor, Anita, Petit, Natalia, Oskitar, Carmenli, Estefania, Mafer, Luzda, Sandy, Daniel Aldous, JoseA, Graciela, Luli, Raficornio, CarlosR, AnaPi, Lukasz, Michelle, Alan, Tais, Gigante, ManuelJ, and all those I couldn't mention here but you know who you are.

Muchas gracias!

#### **Chapter 1: General Introduction**

The marine benthic biodiversity is in constant interaction with environmental factors (Hillebrand et al., 2018). The main driver of biodiversity loss and disturbances in the ocean is climate change (Warren et al., 2013; Harley at al., 2006), because it modifies the conditions at which animals coexist and takes them outside their tolerance limits, creating a stress response (Beaugrand et al., 2015) that could be beneficial or threatening depending on the species (Jones & Cheung, 2015). Those responses include changes in the distribution along bathymetric or geographical ranges (Garcia-Molinos et al., 2016), modifications of the reproductive strategies (Pankhurst & Munday, 2011; Thompson & Ollason, 2001) and physiological and behavioural adaptations to prolonged fluctuations in food availability, temperature, salinity or pH (Wernberg, et al., 2011).

The analysis of the multi-stressor responses on the benthic fauna provides insights for the understanding of the factors that affect their biological functions that further lead to ecosystem services and support higher levels of multifunctionality within ecosystems (Lefcheck et al., 2016; Mooney, 2010). From a conservation perspective, marine systems are expected to be more vulnerable to disturbances caused by climate change, as several natural and anthropogenic (e.g. pollution) stressors are co-occurring compromising the life cycles (Woodward et al., 2010) and the primitive life forms of most invertebrates including bryozoans, ascidians, sponges and corals (Prather et al., 2013) threatening with local extinctions and changes in gene flow patterns (Wiens, 2016; Cahill, et al., 2012).

Monitoring the impacts of climate change scenarios in ecosystems that hold key species such as marine suspension-feeders, represent an efficient way to contribute to the protection and preservation of economical important species with lower levels of adaptation to environmental stressors such as coral reefs. In addition, predicting the effects of those scenarios on the performance of coastal organisms, also constitutes a cost-efficient mean of conservation as mitigating and restoration strategies could be implemented prior major affectations to the species and ecosystems.

#### Natural and anthropogenic multi-stressor scenarios on marine ecosystems

Single-driver stressors such as high temperature, high salinity and low pH, are considered abiotic variables that surpass their natural fluctuations and lead the organisms to a physiological response (Vinebrooke et al., 2004). The ecosystem's resilience to these stressors depend mostly on the ability of its species to mitigate and compensate those impacts on their biological functions (Boyd & Brown, 2015). However, when the ecological processes rely only on few species, lethal effects are observed on the biodiversity (Klug & Cottiham, 2001).

There is enough alarming evidence from climate modelling and time series monitoring about the increasing co-occurring multi-stressors on the marine fauna (Boyd et al., 2014) such as the interaction of two or more variables in a system, such as high temperature, low pH and high salinity (expected for the end of the century). The evaluation of the effects of multiple stressors on the biological functions of marine suspension feeders represent a more realistic scenario as it includes different synergistic and antagonistic effects that constantly interact in the natural systems. The analyses of the effect of each variable and their combinations on the organisms provide a better understanding of the animal's real-life performance under predicted stressors.

A common anthropogenic stressor for marine species is the increasing concentration of microplastic particles suspended or within the ocean's sediments. These polymers can accumulate in the animal's essential tissue, be involved in the food web or as demonstrated here, lead to lethal soft tissue damages for marine organisms, restricting them to perform their biological function within the ecosystems they inhabit and reducing their survival.

#### High turbidity

Turbidity is a measurement of the degree at which light can penetrate the water column. It reflects the concentration of suspended particulate material either organic or inorganic (Johannes, 1972); when these concentrations are higher than the saturation capacity of the water body, it precipitates and build up at the bottom, potentially affecting sessile fauna and slow-moving organisms such as snails and polychaetes (Loya, 1976). The main triggers for turbidity include natural factors such as runoff from land, the influence of river deltas, upwelling phenomena, strong wind currents, rainfall (in tropical shallow areas), seawater currents, tsunamis, sandstorms, etc. Animals that inhabit those areas have modified their ecology to adapt to the strong fluctuations (Moore, 1977). In the case of man-made origins for turbidity, this includes a poor coastal management, coastal excavations (to build marinas and ports), and inorganic injections of chemicals or minerals such as from coal mines as in the case of the Colombian Caribbean.

#### Ocean acidification

Ocean acidification is caused by the injection of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> into the water column that causes a reduction of the ocean's pH (Dickson, 2010). This reduction in the water acidity has indirect impacts on the physiology of some marine organisms such as gas exchange, feeding pattern, reproduction and larval survival. In addition, this stressor reduces the uptake of CaCO<sub>3</sub> by calcified organisms such as corals (Anthony et al., 2008), which under acidic environments reduce their skeletons as a consequence of corrosive circumstances (Beniash et al., 2010). As mentioned before, organisms with larval stages are likely to be affected by this stressor, as larvae shells are usually gelatinous and less calcified which makes them more vulnerable to be dissolved by the acidity in the water column (Byrne, 2011). Microalgae could perform well under acidified conditions, however, this may cause an increase in water turbidity outside the tolerance margins of filter-feeders, also, some microalgae are poisonous for some marine animals and the increase of toxic components in the water column could limit the survival of those organisms or transfer the toxins into the food webs.

#### Global Warming

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change predicted an increase on the surface sea temperature for the end of the century of between 1.4°C to 5.8°C (IPCC, 2012; 2018; Hobday et al., 2015). Ocean warming as well as ocean acidification affect species distribution, metabolism and for instance ecosystem health (Hale et al., 2011). This increase in temperature could induce habitat loss and reduce the survival of species such as coral reefs by bleaching. In addition, animals exposed outside their thermic range would reduce their feeding strategies, reproduction and subsequently increase their mortality rate. In addition, some oceanographic processes depend on a stabilized sea water temperature, vertical mixing for example, which is the responsible for nutrient transportation from deep to coastal areas is highly affected by the reduction of the dissolved oxygen as a consequence of warming.

#### Marine pollution – Microplastics

Microplastics are one of the major concerns for marine conservation. It is impossible to calculate exactly the total number of microparticles (suspended or precipitated into the ocean. It is estimated the about 80% of marine fauna have been in contact or currently hold traces of microplastics. (Eriksen et al., 2014). From all types of microplastics in the sea, microplastic fibres are one of the most common (Lusher et al., 2014), and as demonstrated here, can provoke severe gastrointestinal damage and subsequently increase mortality (Watts et al., 2014). The ingestion of these particles for instance, can potentially affect non-selective filter-feeder organisms whose feeding strategy consist in the constant filtration of suspended organic matter causing deleterious affectations to their health (Wright et al., 2013; Lusher et al., 2013; 2014; Lusher, 2015).

#### Study groups

#### Environmental relationships of marine bryozoans (Phylum Bryozoa)

Bryozoans are colonial, suspension-feeding invertebrates that can inhabit both marine and freshwater environments and have a sessile life mode after a short stage as swimming larvae (Wendt, 2000; Zilman et al., 2013). Their exact position inside Metazoa has been widely discussed. To date they are placed within the clade Lophotrochozoa (Spiralia) belonging to Protostomia due to their genetic affinities (Nielsen, 2012).

These organisms are selective suspension feeders as they feed mainly on phytoplankton of specific sizes according to each species' mouth diameter (Bullivant 1968). Their surprisingly high water clearance rates (up to 8.8 ml per zooid/day) allow them to survive in upwelling environments where suspended turbidity is higher, playing a particular function as builders, providing habitat complexity and structure for the establishment of other substrate-dependent organisms and even other less calcified bryozoans, somehow replacing the absence of coral reefs.

For instance, are potential bio-constructors; their colonies can have different shapes, sizes and orientation and can be found from 20 cm to 8000 m depth around the world. Their morphology can provide important information about the physical and chemical conditions of their habitats. It is believed that some environmental factors in the developing zooid bud can contribute to the occurrence of polymorphisms in a bryozoan colony. For example, bryozoans with erect growing types present strict construction rules in regard to the position and distribution of polymorphic zooids according to the type of substrate, water currents or light exposure (Borg, 1926).

The distribution of bryozoans can depend on different environmental, oceanographic and physical factors such as bathymetry, dissolved nutrients, temperature, salinity, latitude, substrate, and marine currents. At the moment, many studies have tried to explain to what extent the environment surrounding the colonies can modify or control the bryozoan life cycle (Winston, 1995).

In the Colombian Caribbean over 200 species of bryozoans have been registered in coastal and deep-sea environments from 1m to 3888m depth and correspond to 10% of the marine biodiversity of the country. Previous studies on this group have focused mainly in the description of species from 200 to 600mdepth and there has been little sampling of the shallow ecosystems.

For Colombia, the proportions of bryozoan species in different taxonomic groups is 60% Cheilostomata, 30% Ctenostomatida and 10% Cyclostomatida, which is similar to the rest of the great Caribbean region (Yepes-Narváez, 2013; Flórez et al., 2007). They have been mostly reported as part of the fouling community attached to seagrasses, submersed mangrove roots, seaweeds (*Sargassum* spp.), on subtidal rocks, on the available surface of bigger fauna (sponges, corals, mussels, etc.) and attached to artificial substrates such as human litter, artificial submersed reefs, marinas and ports (Gracia et al., 2018; Yepes-Narváez, 2013). Bryozoan richness in tropical areas like the Colombian Caribbean is high but with reduced abundance compared to temperate regions (Winston, 1995) and do not participate in the beach formation and are not reported as beach material. In shallow areas bryozoans present flexible-arborescent and membraniporid growth types and the encrusting forms are present in deeper environments (Yepes-Narváez, 2013).

In addition to depth, environmental variables rule most of the bryozoan life cycle as depending on the conditions they can adopt sexual or asexual reproduction. Conditions in the surrounding environment lead to environmental plasticity in some bryozoans and in the deployment of morphological structures; also, oceanographic conditions such as temperature, dissolved particulate material, dissolved carbon are related to the healthy settlement and growth of bryozoans.

#### Environmental relationships of Ascidians (Chordata: Ascidiacea)

Ascidians are marine filter feeders from the phylum Chordata. These organisms play important roles within the ecosystems they inhabit such as water clearance and nutrient recirculation (Ruppert et al., 2004). Also, they contribute to the complexity of the habitats they live in by creating available substrates for the establishment of other organisms and ascidians (Lambert, 2005). In addition, they have the ability to adapt to environmental disturbances and to survive in high energetic and euthrophic environments (Shenkar & Swalla, 2011). They can filter up to 1US gallon per day (Ruppert et al., 2004), but, as indicated earlier, turbidity above their tolerance ranges could limit the filtration activity and reduce their populations.

Due to their high tolerance to environmental fluctuations, ascidians can potentially become invasive (Lambert, 2005). Several ascidians are registered as introduced or invasive worldwide; and occasionally, they can create problems for coastal protection as their colonies can build up and create complex structures in marinas and ports (Minchin & Sides, 2006). In addition, those ascidians can displace native fauna or asphyxiate sessile organisms by overgrowing as is the case of cultured bivalves (Lengyel et al., 2009; Rocha et al., 2009; Tan et al., 2002).

Tropical ascidians reproduce all year and produce short-lived non feeding larvae (Millar, 1970), metamorphosis occurs around 12-hour after hatching and it is influenced by environmental conditions (Turon & Becerro, 1992). The colonization of new substrates depends on how fast the larva adapts to the new habitat and the growth rate post metamorphosis to reach sexual maturity (Morris & Carman, 2012; Valentine et al., 2007; 2009). Asexual reproduction is also triggered by the environment, but it is this type of growth which secures colonization success more than sexual reproduction which allows dispersal (Dijkstra et al. 2007; Minchin & Sides 2006). In this thesis we focused on the physiological and feeding behaviour of the Indo-Pacific *Polycarpa captiosa* under multi-stressors scenarios, its performance and resilience provided insights of their ecological adaptation to disturbances and evolutive success.

#### Thesis aims and chapters

The aims of this thesis are as follows,

1 To determine the environmental variables that contribute most to the composition, distribution and reproduction of marine bryozoans in the Colombian Caribbean from 1 to 3880m depth.

- 1.1 To perform taxonomic identification of deep-sea bryozoans in the Colombian Caribbean to complement the species records for the country.
- 1.2 To compare collected and modelled environmental variables with the reproduction strategy of *Bugula neritina* associated with contrasting coastal environments.
- 1.3 To compare the environmental information with the bathymetric and geographical distribution of bryozoans in the Colombian Caribbean.

2. To evaluate the environmental stressors that trigger evisceration in the tropical solitary ascidian *Polycarpa captiosa* in laboratory conditions.

2.1 To test predicted environmental multi-stressor scenarios (elevated turbidity, temperature and pCO2) for the end of the century on the biological functions of tropical ascidians. in controlled mesocosms in laboratory.

3) To evaluate the effects of microplastic pollution on the survival and biological functions of *Polycarpa captiosa* in laboratory conditions.

This thesis is composed of six data chapters:

In Chapter 2, I describe the systematics and diversity of deep-sea marine bryozoan species associated with deep-sea environments in the Colombian Caribbean from 70 to 3880m depth and register new species for science.

In Chapter 3, I examine the relationship between environmental variables and the bathymetric and geographical distribution of bryozoans in the Colombian Caribbean and identify the factors which have most influence on their distribution.

In Chapter 4, I compare contrasting localities across the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans to demonstrate that *Bugula neritina* can modify its reproduction strategy based on environmental conditions.

In Chapter 5, I Perform high turbidity mesocosms experiments to evaluate its effects on the filtration rates of *Polycarpa captiosa* and report novel data about evisceration and gut regeneration in Chordates.

In Chapter 6, I Design a high-quality ocean acidification and warming mesocosms to evaluate the biological impacts of low pH and high temperature on the resilience of *Polycarpa captiosa*.

In Chapter 7, I Design a cost-effective mesocosms to induce microplastic ingestion by the tropical ascidian *Polycarpa captiosa* and provide important data about bioaccumulation, evisceration and resilience in this species.

#### REFERENCES

- Anthony K.R.N., Kline D.I., Diaz-Pulido G., Dove S., and Hoegh-Guldberg O. (2008) 'Ocean acidification causes bleaching and productivity loss in coral reef builders.' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 105 pp. 17442–17446.
- Beaugrand, G., Edwards, M., Raybaud, V. Goberville, E. and Kirby, R. (2015) 'Future vulnerability of marine biodiversity compared with contemporary and past changes.' *Nature Climate Change* 5 pp. 695 – 701.
- Beniash E, Ivanina A, Lieb NS, Kurochkin I, and Sokolova I.M. (2010) 'Elevated level of carbon dioxide affects metabolism and shell formation in oysters *Crassostrea virginica.' Marine Ecology Progress Series* 419 pp. 95 - 108.
- Borg, F. (1926) *Studies on Recent cyclostomatous Bryozoa*. Zoologiska Bidrag från Uppsala, 10,181–507.
- Boyd, P. and Brown, C. (2015). 'Modes of interactions between environmental drivers and marine biota.' *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 27.
- Boyd, P., Lennartz, S., Glover, D. and Doney, S. (2014) 'Biological ramifications of climate change mediated oceanic multi-stressors.' *Nature climate change* 5.
- Bullivant, J. (1968). 'The method of feeding of lophophorates (bryozoa, phoronida, Brachiopoda)' New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research, 2(1) pp. 135-146, DOI: 10.1080/00288330.1968.9515231.
- Byrne, M. (2011) 'Impact of ocean warming and ocean acidification on marine invertebrate life history stages: vulnerabilities and potential for persistence in a changing ocean.' *Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review* 49 pp. 1 42.
- Cahill, A.E., Aiello-Lammens, M.E., Fisher-Reid, M.C, Hua, X., Karanewsky, C.J, Yeong, R. H, Sbeglia, G.C, Spagnolo, F., Waldron, J.B., Warsi, O. and Wiens, J.J. (2012) 'How does climate change cause extinction?' Proceedings of the Royal Society of Biology 280 pp. 1890.
- Dickson A. (2010) The carbon dioxide system in seawater: equilibrium chemistry and measurements. In: Riebesell U., Fabry V. J., Hansson L. and Gattuso J.-P. (Eds.), Guide to best practices for ocean acidification research and data reporting, pp. 17-40. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

- Dijkstra J, LG Harris, and E. Westerman (2007) 'The distribution and long-term temporal patterns of four invasive colonial ascidians in the Gulf of Maine.' *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 342 pp. 61–68, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2006.10.015
- Eriksen M., Lebreton L.C.M., Carson H.S., Thiel M., Moore C.J., Borerro J.C., et al. (2014) 'Plastic Pollution in the World's Oceans: More than 5 Trillion Plastic Pieces Weighing over 250,000 Tons Afloat at Sea.' *PLoS ONE* 9(12) pp. e111913. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0111913</u>.
- Flórez, P., Montoya-Cadavid, E.; Reyes, J. and Santodomingo, N. (2007). Briozoos cheilostomados del Caribe colombiano. *Boletin de Investigaciones Marinas y Costeras* 36(1) pp. 229-250.
- García-Molinos, J., Halpern, B., Schoeman, D., Broen, C., Kiessling, W., Moore, P., Pandolfi, J., Poloczanska, E., Richardson, A. and Burrows, M. (2016) 'Climate velocity and the future global redistribution of marine biodiversity.' *Nature Climate Change* 6 pp. 83–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2769</u>.
- Gracia, A., Rangel-Buitrago, N. and Flórez, P. (2018) 'Beach litter and woody-debris colonizers on the Atlantico department Caribbean coastline, Colombia.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 128 pp.185-196.
- Hale R., Calosi P., McNeill L., Mieszkowska N., Widdicombe S. (2011) 'Predicted levels of future ocean acidification and temperature rise could alter community structure and biodiversity in marine benthic communities.' *Oikos* 120 pp. 661– 674. (doi:10. 1111/j.1600-0706.2010.19469.x).
- Harley, C.D.G., Hughes, A.R., Hultgren, K.M., Miner, B.G., Sorte, C.J.B., Thornber, C.S., Rodriguez, L.F., Tomanek, L. and Williams, S.L. (2006) The impacts of climate change in coastal marine systems. Ecology Letters 9 (2) pp. 228-241.
- Hillebrand H., Brey. T., Gutt, J., Hagen, W., Metfies, K., Meyer, B. and Lewandowska, A. (2018) *Climate Change: Warming Impacts on Marine Biodiversity*. In: Salomon M., Markus T. (eds) Handbook on Marine Environment Protection. Springer, Cham.
- Hobday, A., Oliver, E., Gupta, A., Benthuysen, J., Burrows, M., Donat, M., Holbrook, N., Moore, P., Thomsen, M., Wernberg, T.and Smale, D. (2015) 'Categorizing and Naming Marine Heatwaves'. *Oceanography*, 31 (2) pp. 162-173.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate IPCC. (2018) *Summary for Policymakers*. In: Global warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas

emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H. O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P. R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J. B. R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M. I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, T. Waterfield (eds.)]. World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 32 pp.

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change IPCC, (2012) Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V. Barros, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, D.J. Dokken, K.L. Ebi, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S.K. Allen, M. Tignor, and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA, 582 pp.
- Johannes, R. E. (1972) *Coral reefs and pollution*. In Marine Pollution and Sea Life (Ruivo, M., ed.) Fishing New, Ltd., London.
- Jones, M.C., and Cheung, W. L. (2015) 'Multi-model ensemble projections of climate change effects on global marine biodiversity' *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 72 (3) pp. 741 752. doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsu172.
- Klug, J. L. and Cottingham, K. L. (2001) 'Interactions among environmental drivers: community responses to changing nutrients and dissolved organic carbon.' *Ecology* 82 pp. 3390 – 3403.
- Lambert, G. (2005) 'Ecology and natural history of the protochordates.' *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 83(1) pp. 34-50.
- Lefcheck, J. S., Brandl, S. J., Reynolds, P. L., Smyth, A. R., and Meyer, S. T. (2016) 'Extending Rapid Ecosystem Function Assessments to Marine Ecosystems: A Reply to Meyer.' *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 31(4) pp. 251–253.
- Lengyel, N.L., J. S. Collie, and Valentine P. C. (2009) 'The invasive colonial ascidian Didemnum vexillum on Georges Bank - Ecological effects and genetic identification.' Aquatic Invasions 4(1) pp. 143 – 152.
- Loya, Y. (1976) 'Effects of water turbidity and sedimentation on the community structure of Puerto Rican corals.' *Bulletin of marine science*, 26(4) pp. 450-466.
- Lusher AL, Burke A, O'Connor I., and Officer, R. (2014) 'Microplastic pollution in the Northeast Atlantic Ocean: validated and opportunistic sampling.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 88(1-2) pp. 325 - 333. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.08.023.

- Lusher, A. (2015) *Microplastics in the marine environment: distribution, interactions and effects.* In Marine anthropogenic litter, 245-307. Springer International Publishing.
- Lusher, A. L., Burke, A., O'Connor, I., and Officer, R. (2014) 'Microplastic pollution in the Northeast Atlantic Ocean: validated and opportunistic sampling.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 88(1) pp. 325-333.
- Lusher, A. L., McHugh, M., and Thompson, R. C. (2013) 'Occurrence of microplastics in the gastrointestinal tract of pelagic and demersal fish from the English Channel.' *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 67(1) pp. 94-99.
- Minchin, D. and Sides E. (2006) 'Appearance of a cryptogenic tunicate, a *Didemnum* sp. fouling marina pontoons and leisure craft in Ireland.' *Aquatic Invasions* 1(3) pp. 143 -147. DOI 10.3391/ai.2006.1.3.8.
- Millar, R. H. (1970) British ascidians, Tunicata: Ascidiacea; keys and notes for the identification of the species (No. 1). Academic Press.
- Mooney, H. A. (2010) 'The ecosystem-service chain and the biological diversity crisis.' *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society: Biological Sciences* 365 pp. 31-39.
- Moore, P. G. (1977) 'Inorganic particulate suspensions in the sea and their effects on marine animals.' *Oceanography and Marine Biology annual Review* 15 pp. 225-363.
- Morris, J.A., and Carman M.R. (2012) 'Fragment reattachment, reproductive status, and health indicators of the invasive colonial tunicate *Didemnum vexillum* with implications for dispersal.' *Biological Invasions* 14 pp. 2133 – 2140.
- Nielsen, C. (2012) *Animal Evolution: Interrelationships of the Living Phyla*. Oxford, UK, Oxford University Press, 402 pp.
- Pankhurst N.W. and Munday P. L. (2011). 'Effects of climate change on fish reproduction and early life history stages.' *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 62 pp. 1015 1026.
- Prather, C., Pelini, S., Laws, A., Rivest, E., Woltz, M., Bloch, C., Del Toro, I., Ho, C., Kominoski, J., Newbold, T., Parsons, S. and Joern, A. (2013) 'Invertebrates, ecosystem services and climate change.' *Biological Revisions* 88 pp. 327 - 348.

- Rocha, R.M., L.P. Kremer, M.S. Baptista and Metri, R. (2009) 'Bivalve cultures provide habitat for exotic tunicates in southern Brazil.' *Aquatic Invasions* 4 pp. 195 205.
- Ruppert, E., R. S. Fox, and Barnes, R. B. (2004) *Invertebrate Zoology, A functional evolutionary approach.* 7th ed.Brooks Cole Thomson, Belmont CA. pp. 940-951.
- Shenkar, N. and Swalla, B. (2011) 'Global Diversity of Ascidiacea'. *PLoS ONE*, 6(6), p.e20657.
- Tan, C.K., B.F. Nowak, and Hodson S.L. (2002) 'Biofouling as a reservoir of Neoparamoeba pemaquidensis, the causative agent of amoebic gill disease in Atlantic salmon'. Aquaculture 210 pp. 49 - 58.
- Turon, X., and Becerro M. A. (1992) 'Growth and survival of several ascidian species from the northwestern Mediterranean'. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 82 pp. 235 - 247.
- Thompson, P., Ollason, J. (2001) 'Lagged effects of ocean climate change on fulmar population dynamics' *Nature* 413 pp. 417-420.
- Valentine P.C, Carman M.R., Blackwood, D.S., and Heffron, EJ (2007) 'Ecological observations on the colonial ascidian *Didemnum* sp. in a New England tide pool habitat' *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 342 pp. 109-121.
- Valentine, P.C., M. R. Carman, J. Dijkstra and D.S. Blackwood. (2009) 'Larval recruitment of the invasive colonial ascidian *Didemnum vexillum*, seasonal water temperatures in New England coastal and offshore waters, and implications for spread of the species' *Aquatic Invasions* 4(1) pp. 153-168.
- Vinebrooke, R., Cottingham, K., Norberg, J. Scheffer, M., Dodson, S., Maberlyand, S. and Sommer, U. (2004) 'Impacts of multiple stressors on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: the role of species co-tolerance.' *OIKOS* 104 pp. 451-457.
- Warren, R., Van Der Wal, J.P., Welbergen, J.A., Atkinson, I., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Osborn, T., Jarvis, A., Shoo, L., Willimans, E. and Lowe, J. (2013) 'Quantifying the benefit of early climate change mitigation in avoiding biodiversity loss' *Nature Climate Change* 3 pp. 678–682 <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1887</u>.
- Watts, A., Lewis, C., Goodhead, R., Beckett, S., Moger, J., Tyler, C. and Galloway,
  T. (2014) 'Uptake and Retention of Microplastics by the Shore Crab *Carcinus* maenas. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 48(15) pp.8823-8830.

- Wendt, D.E. (2000) 'Energetics of larval swimming and metamorphosis in four species of Bugula (Bryozoa)'. *Biological Bulletin* 198(3) pp. 346 356.
- Wernberg, T., Russell, B., Moore, P., Ling, S., Smale, D., Campbell, A., Coleman, M., Steinberg, P., Kendrick, G. and Connell, S. (2011) 'Impacts of climate change in a global hotspot for temperate marine biodiversity and ocean warming'. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 400 pp. 7-16.
- Wiens J. J. (2016) 'Climate-Related Local Extinctions Are Already Widespread among Plant and Animal Species' *PLoS Biology*, 14(12), e2001104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001104</u>.
- Winston, J.E. (1995) 'Ectoproct diversity of the Indian River Coastal Lagoon'. Bulletin of Marine Science 57 (1) pp. 84 - 93.
- Woodward, G., Perkins, F. and Brown, L. (2010) 'Climate change and freshwater ecosystems impacts across multiple levels of organization' *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 365 pp. 2093-2106.
- Wright, S., Rowe, D., Thompson, R. and Galloway, T. (2013) 'Microplastic ingestion decreases energy reserves in marine worms' *Current Biology*, 23(23), pp. R1031-R1033.
- Yepes-Narváez, V. (2013) Distribución y composición de los Briozoos (phylum Bryozoa) en la plataforma continental de La Guajira (10 y 50m), Caribe Colombiano. Undergraduate thesis, Universidad de Córdoba, Montería, Córdoba, Colombia.
- Zilman G, Novak J, Liberzon A, Perkol-Finkel S, Benayahu Y. (2013) 'The hydrodynamics of contact of a marine larva, Bugula neritina, with a cylinder' J Exp Biol. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 216 pp. 2789 -2797. doi:10.1242/jeb.083352.

# Chapter 2: Systematics and diversity of deep-sea bryozoans (Phylum Bryozoa) from the Colombian Caribbean

Vanessa Yepes-Narváez<sup>1, 2</sup>; Richard Preziosi<sup>2</sup> ORCID ID 0000-0001-7174-5382; ORCID ID 0000-0003-0468-6655

 Instituto de Investigaciones Marinas y Costeras – INVEMAR, Calle 25 N°. 2-55, Playa Salguero, Santa Marta, Colombia. <u>vanessa.yepes@invemar.org.co</u>
 Ecology and Environment Research Centre, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester M1 5GD United Kingdom. <u>r.preziosi@mmu.ac.uk</u>

## ABSTRACT

During recent deep-sea research expeditions from 72 to 3888m depth along the Colombian Caribbean, a large number of bryozoans were recovered. From the taxonomic revision of the bryozoan fragments collected, ninety-five species have been identified, from which nine are new, Adeonellopsis avicularia sp. nov., Adeonella coralina sp. nov., Thalamoporella colombiana sp. nov., Catenicella guajirensis n. sp., Margaretta elongata sp. nov., Bryopesanser dentata sp. nov., Microporella granulata sp. nov., Gemelliporina winstoniana sp. nov., and "Incertae sedis". Four represent new records for the Great Caribbean, Laminopora cf. contorta, Adeonella cf. calveti, Adeonella cf. pallasii and Electra verticillata. twelve are new records for Colombia, Oncousoecia dilatans, Stomatopora sp., Semihaswellia sinuosa, Paralicornia sinuosa, Steginoporella connexa, Puellina smitti, Turbicellepora pourtalesi, Gemelliporina hastata, Gemellipora eburnea, Adeoneollopsis aff. Subsulcata, Plesiocleidochasma sp. and Trematoocia gemmea. Additionally, 30% of the previously known species for the region were found in new geographic and bathymetric zones. Although the presence of bryozoans has been previously reported in regional-scale studies, this research contributes to their description, growth forms and distribution along higher bathymetric ranges and provides ecological insights on their adaptations to the unstable and highly sedimentary deep-sea environments. We suggests that bryozoans contribute to the habitat complexity that had historically been solely attributed to Anthozoa as structuring organisms. Here, we describe the nine new species and provide the total list of species found.

Keywords: Bryozoa, Deep-water, Colombia, New Species, PNNCP.

#### INTRODUCTION

Colombia is one of the countries with the highest marine biodiversity in the world and has almost 50% of the national territory underwater (Diaz & Acero, 2003). Its deep Caribbean seascapes include hard and soft bottoms, seamounts, canyons, and channels that represent important 'conservation objects' for the region due to the great diversity attributed to them (Navas et al., 2010). For this reason, the country currently holds 43 deep 'significant areas for biodiversity' (ASB) and two submarine protected areas, in which several research efforts aiming to add knowledge and preserve the species assemblages and habitats have been taking place (Alonso et al., 2010; Cardique et al., 2016).

Deep-sea research has supported the management of potential hydrocarbon exploration and exploitation zones in the Colombian Caribbean for more than two decades. Most of this research has focused on areas inhabited by structuring organisms such as azooxanthellate corals because of their conservation status under CITES regulations and their ability to create habitat for other species; hence the recently recognized deep-sea corals National Park (PNNCP) (Alonso et al., 2015; Polanco et al., 2017). However, recent research has confirmed that there are other bio-constructing organisms supporting biodiversity and generating complex calcified structures along the Caribbean, including bryozoans, which often co-exist with them or that occupy high productivity areas in the absence of zooxanthellae corals (Flórez et al., 2007; Yepes-Narváez, 2013; Cedeño-Posso et al., 2017).

The diversity of bryozoans in the continental shelf and the upper slope is high with a marked reduction in species abundance from north to south Caribbean (Flórez & Montoya-Cadavid, 2004). However, this also corresponds with a lack of sampling effort and regional taxonomic expertise. Recent deep-sea exploration from 2013 to 2018, carried out by the Marine and Coastal Research Institute of Colombia (INVEMAR) in partnership with the Colombian Institute of Petroleum (ICP), the National Hydrocarbon Agency (ANH) and National Parks (PNN) has collected considerable bryozoan material belonging to Gymnolaemata and Stenolaemata from different offshore ecosystems using different techniques such as box-core, ROV video recording and camera-assisted sampling (Invemar-ICP, 2013; Cedeño-Posso et al., 2017; Vides & Alonso, 2018).

Encrusting specimens attached to empty bivalve shells and rigid erect forms were commonly found along the areas sampled belonging to Cheilostomatida and Cyclostomatida. The most abundant families were Steginoporellidae, Adeonidae, Schizoporellidae, Cupuladriidae, Cleidochasmatidae, Candidae and Phidoloporidae, which correlates to existing knowledge of shallower areas in the rest of the Caribbean and suggesting connectivity between bathymetric zones. The abyssal zone was inhabited by low calcifying species belonging to Bugulidae and Catenicellidae characterized by flexible colonies and several polymorphisms. Stenolaemata were rare; the family Crisiidae wasthe most diverse with three species identified.

Here we describe nine new species associated with diverse substrates and depths and provide a list of the total identified species. This research contributes to the knowledge of those important habitat modifiers in the deep environments and to the species record database that is key for the establishment of management plans and conservation strategies for the subsystem of marine protected areas of Colombia.

#### **METHODS**

The bryozoan material was collected along with associated macro and meiofauna in 28 stations during five recent offshore expeditions along the Colombian Caribbean (Figure 1) between the 72 and 3888m depth. Surveys were on board modified research vessels hired through a contractor (SERPORT S.A) from 2012 to 2018 as part of baseline projects lead by Invemar in partnership with the Colombian Institute of Petroleum (ICP), the National Hydrocarbon Agency (ANH) and National Parks (PNN) (Table 1).

#### Study area

The Colombian Caribbean corresponds to the northernmost part of South America with a north to south linear extension of over 3500km (Figure 1). Its offshore margin extends over 157km from the nearest point in mainland (Vides & Alonso, 2018). The

area features a complex geography and geological origins with varied seascapes such as seamounts, canyons, channels, hills, fans and abyssal plains. This area supports vast resident biodiversity and hosts many species whose life histories are connected to shallower areas on the coastline. The area is a high biodiversity location for conservation (Invemar, 2010). Several oceanographic conditions modify the area and dictate the distribution of its fauna (Navas et al., 2010).



Figure 1. Sampling stations with deep-sea bryozoans collected in five recent expeditions in the Colombian Caribbean.

Most sampling stations belong to offshore exploration blocks assigned by the Environmental Ministry of Colombia to gas and oil corporations; these blocks are COL3, COL4, COL5, COL10, RC-11, RC-12, Fuerte Norte (FN) and Fuerte Sur (FS). Another two stations are located within the delimitations of the Deep-sea Corals National Park (PNNCP) in Sector 7 and Sector 8 (Table 1). The exploration campaigns aimed to contribute to the baseline knowledge of deep-sea environments associated with gas and oil exploration blocks and to the

management plan of the PNNCP. Information associated with the collections is stored in the Marine Environmental Information System-SIAM (Invemar-ICP, 2013; Garrido-Linares et al., 2014; Vides et al, 2017; Cedeño-Posso et al., 2017; Vides & Alonso, 2018).

Expedition	Station	Year	Latitude	Longitude	Ecoregion	Depth (m)
COL10	E 608	2018	14° 0' 9.8" N	72° 39' 35.1" W	Caribbean Offshore	3700
COL10	E 606	2018	14° 1' 19.4" N	72° 2' 5.9" W	Caribbean Offshore	3888
COL10	E 605	2018	13° 58' 58.6" N	71° 41' 24.5" W	Caribbean Offshore	3600
COL10	E 601	2018	14° 22' 46.9" N	72° 39' 46" W	Caribbean Offshore	3290
COL10	E 598	2018	14° 22' 42.7" N	71° 39' 19.1" W	Caribbean Offshore	2887
COL3	E 559	2017	11° 58' 31.6" N	74° 3' 33" W	Caribbean Offshore	1673
COL4 - 5	E 379	2014	10° 37' 47.4" N	76° 54' 4.1" W	Caribbean Offshore	1796
COL4 - 5	E 378	2014	10° 19' 46.9" N	76° 34' 32" W	Caribbean Offshore	2910
COL4 - 5	E 375	2014	9° 10' 37.5" N	77° 7' 34.2" W	Caribbean Offshore	3134
ICP(FN)	EA2 329	2013	9° 56' 14.1" N	76° 7' 26.8" W	Coraline Archipelagos	72
ICP(FN)	EA1 329	2013	9° 57' 38.7" N	76° 6' 43.3" W	Coraline Archipelagos	72
ICP(FN)	EA2 328	2013	9° 55' 36.4" N	76° 8' 23.8" W	Caribbean Offshore	73
ICP(FN)	EA1 328	2013	9° 55' 2.5" N	76° 10' 6.6" W	Caribbean Offshore	78
ICP(FN)	EA2 327	2013	9° 38' 15" N	76° 16' 26.8" W	Caribbean Offshore	82
ICP(FN)	EA1 327	2013	9° 38' 17.8" N	76° 16' 20.8" W	Coraline Archipelagos	95
ICP(FN)	EA1 326	2013	9° 36' 18" N	76° 20' 10.5" W	Coraline Archipelagos	98
ICP(FS)	EA2 323	2013	9° 16' 3.5" N	76° 26' 26.8" W	Caribbean Offshore	124
ICP(FS)	EA2 322	2013	9° 19' 7.2" N	76° 24' 59.1" W	Caribbean Offshore	125
ICP(FS)	EA1 322	2013	9° 17' 36.7" N	76° 25' 46.9" W	Caribbean Offshore	126
ICP(RC12)	EA2 321	2012	12° 28' 19.4" N	71° 54' 2.6" W	Guajira	128
ICP(RC11)	EA2 320	2012	12° 13' 55.2" N	72° 31' 37.7" W	Guajira	190
ICP(RC11)	EA1 319	2012	12° 16' 12.4" N	72° 30' 50.2" W	Guajira	220
ICP(RC12)	EA1 317	2012	12° 26' 1.4" N	72° 1' 21.4" W	Guajira	270
ICP(RC11)	EA2 316	2012	12° 22' 32.7" N	72° 8' 44.6" W	Guajira	240
ICP(RC11)	EA2 315	2012	12° 20' 44.8" N	72° 7' 21" W	Guajira	230
ICP(RC11)	EA1 315	2012	12° 20' 45.9" N	72° 7' 52.7" W	Guajira	250
PNNCP (S8)	E 524	2017	09°49'47.5" N	76°12'01.6" W	Coraline Archipelagos	180
PNNCP (S7)	E 390	2015	9°54'09,1" N	76°09'19,0" W	Coraline Archipelagos	110

Table 1. Stations of recent offshore expeditions which sampled deep-sea bryozoans.

#### Collection methods

Samples were collected between 72 and 3888m depth using several methodologies (Figure 2). RC11 expeditions deployed bottom-trawls 9.5m x 7.7m (Marinovich Trawl Co. Inc) in two stations at which 1km bottom epifauna was dragged during 10 minutes at 8knots. The other exploration blocks (RC12 FN, FS, COL3, 4, 5 and 10) sampled in 24 stations using a box-core (1m<sup>3</sup>) in which a subsample was collected for epifauna analysis using a 0.5m<sup>2</sup> quadrat. The exploration campaigns in PNNCP were carried out using video-assisted dredging using a driftcam (CADEM) and ROVs video transects in two stations (Figure 2). Due to the collection method, some bryozoan colonies were fractured, and when large rocks or individuals were found, immediate separation was performed to avoid additional damage. Once on deck, biological material was preserved in 96% Ethanol, labelled and transported to the Museum of Marine Natural History of Colombia-MAKURIWA, where samples were cleaned, sorted and separated by morphotypes.



Figure 2. Different methods used to collect deep-sea bryozoans in the Colombian Caribbean. A) Bottom trawling; B) Box core with 0.5m<sup>2</sup> quadrat; C) ROV video-transects; D) Video assisted-grab (CADEM). Image credits: Invemar.
To allow the observation of key taxonomic characters, some specimens were cleaned with a solution of Sodium Hypochlorite (10%) then washed with Hydrogen Peroxide (4%) and rinsed in distilled water in an ultrasonic cleaner to remove tissue residues and facilitate subsequent microscopic review, identification and photographic recording. Some specimens were more difficult to clean without damaging key features, so were slightly brushed. Taxonomic identification was performed based on Hayward and Ryland (1985) for Stenolaemata; Hayward (1985), Winston (1982) and Winston and Woollacoot (2009) for Ctenostomata; and for Cheilostomata, Canu and Bassler (1928a; b), Osburn (1940), Winston (1982; 1984; 1986; 2005; 2016) Winston & Håkansson (1986), Soule et al. (1995), Hayward and Ryland (1998, 1999); Flórez et al. (2007); Vieira et al. (2008, 2010a; 2010b; 2012) and Yepes-Narváez (2013). As a support for taxonomic description, three colonies of every species were selected from which 10 zooids of each were measured using ImageJ software 1.45s, Java 1.6 .0-20. Each species described here has a measurement table with number of zooids measured (n) mean, standard deviation (SD), minimum (min) and maximum (max). A list of the abbreviations used are in Table 2. In addition, the best colony of each species was photographed using Scanning Electron Microscopic (SEM) and illustrated here as identification reference.

Abbreviation	Description	Abbreviation	Description	Abbreviation	Description
Lz	Zooid length	Lovo	Oocium orifice length	Wgz	Gonozooid width
Wz	Zooid width	Wovo	Oocium orifice width	Lgzo	Gonozooid orifice length
Lzoec	Zoeciule length	Lgz	Gonozooid length	Wgzo	Gonozooid orifice width
Wzoec	Zoeciule width	LzB	Zooid B length	Lavz	Avicularian zooid length
Lo	Orifice length	WzB	Zooid B width	Wavz	Avicularian zooid width
Wo	Orifice width	Lrhz	Rhizooid length	Lav	Avicularium length
Do	Orifice diameter	Lstol	Stolon length	Wav	Avicularium width
Lop	Opesia length	Lintd	Internode length	Lavm	Avicularian mandible length
Wop	Opesia width	Lsc	Scutum length	Opl	Opesia inclination
Lov	Ooecium length	Wsc	Scutum width	Lcol	Colony length
Wov	Ooecium width	Lsp	Spine length	Dcol	Colony diameter

Table 2, Measu	rement abbreviations i	used for Cvcl	ostomatida and	Cheilostomatida
				Onenosiomatida

To calculate the estimated species richness in the area, accumulated richness observed (SOBs) and estimated (Jacknife 1 and Jacknife 2) were used based on the extent of occurrence of the species in the sampled area (Table 12) using the packages SpadeR and Vegan from the software R. The identified material was deposited into the Bryozoan reference collection at the Museum of Marine Natural History of Colombia – MAKURIWA and related information to the Marine Biodiversity Information System database - SIBM.

### RESULTS

Ninety-five encrusting and erect species of bryozoans were identified inhabiting the deep-sea environments of the Colombian Caribbean between 72 and 3880m depth. In total, 47 families and 63 genera belonging to Gymnolaemata (Cheilostomatida (84spp), Ctenostomatida (3spp)) and Stenolaemata (Cyclostomatida (8spp)). Cheilostomatida was the order with greatest number of families (41 [88%] of the species identified. The most conspicuous families were Adeonidae (9spp) and Phidoloporidae (6spp), followed by Schizoporellidae (4spp), Cupuladriidae (4spp), Candidae (4spp), Steginoporellidae (3spp), and Cleidochasmatidae (3spp). All of them were characterized for being found alive in the majority of the stations sampled. Abyssal zone was mostly inhabited by low calcifying species from the family Bugulidae (3spp). Nine species are new, Adeonellopsis.avicularia sp. nov, Adeonella. Coralina sp. nov., Thalamoporella colombiana sp. nov., Catenicella guajirensis **sp. nov.**, Margaretta elongate **sp. nov.**, "Incertae sedis", Bryopesanser dentata sp. nov., Microporella granulata sp. nov. and Gemelliporina winstoniana **sp. nov.** Four represent new records for the Great Caribbean, Laminopora cf. contorta, Adeonella cf. calveti, Adeonella cf. pallasii and Electra verticillata. Twelve are new records for Colombia, Oncousoecia dilatans, Stomatopora sp., Semihaswellia sinuosa, Paralicornia sinuosa, Steginoporella connexa, Puellina smitti, Turbicellepora pourtalesi, Gemelliporina hastata, Gemellipora eburnea, Adeoneollopsis aff. Subsulcata, Plesiocleidochasma sp. and Trematoocia gemme. These results also provide an update of the geographic and bathymetric records for species previously described. The species list is provided in table 12 and here we describe the new species. The Supplementary 1 contains the plates of the new records for the Great Caribbean and Supplementary 2 the plates of the new records for Colombia.

#### Systematic account

Class Gymnolaemata Order Cheilostomatida Busk, 1852 Suborder Thalamoporellina Genus *Thalamoporella* Hincks, 1887

# Thalamoporella colombiana sp.nov.

(Figure 3; Table 3)



Figure 3. *Thalamoporella colombiana* **sp. nov**.: A. Fragment of an erect colony showing zooid shape, scale bar: 100µm B. Different zooids sizes and shapes at the bifurcation section, scale bar: 100µm C. Group of zooids with granulated cryptocyst, scale bar: 100µm D. Detail of longest zooids found in the colony, scale bar: 100µm E. Spinous projected lip surrounding the very small opesiules, detail of the orifice, scale bar: 100µm.

**Type material**. *Holotype*: INVBRY 2069, PNNCP 110m, Colombia 9°54'09,1" N, 76°09'19,0" W; along with coral rubble. *Paratypes*: INVBRY 2070, same data as Holotype; INVBRY 2074, 98m depth in Coraline Archipelagos 9° 36' 18" N, 76° 20' 10.5" W.

	Lz	Wz	Lo	Wo	Lop	Wop
N	10	10	10	10	10	10
Mean	1.33	0.72	0.28	0.36	1.15	0.60
SD	0.51	0.022	0.015	0.04	0.53	0.44
Min	1.10	0.63	0.22	0.31	0.87	0.59
Max	1.61	0.84	0.31	0.39	1.57	0.68
Lz zooid length	; Wz zooid width	; Lo length orifice:	Wo width orifice	; Lop length op	esia; Wop wid	th opesia

Table 3. Measurements in mm of *Thalamoporella colombiana* **sp. nov.** 

**Diagnosis.** Erect-rigid *Thalamoporella* with very depressed granular cryptocyst, highly calcified and granular interzooidal margin. The cryptocyst extends towards the base of the orifice in which forms a shoe-tongue lip projection proximally sharp bearing heavy spination complex almost covering the opesiules. Zooids are considerably elongated and usually rectangular shape, except on the bifurcation zone in which zooids are modified and present different forms and sizes. Opesiules are very small and narrow to each side of the lip. Orifice is narrow and wide and has short and rounded condyles to each side. projected adventitious avicularia, no ovicells observed.

**Description**. Colony erect, bifurcated. Zooids are rectangular, arranged in linear rows. Very depressed granular cryptocyst with few pseudopores (Fig. 3A); paired narrow and small opesiules are placed at the end of the cryptocyst at the basis of the oral orifice inserted down a projected shoe-tongue lip (Fig. 3E), baring a complex spination that covers 40% of them (Table 3). Orifice is short and wide (Fig. 3B). The interzooidal rim is highly calcified and granular (Fig. 3C). Avicularia is small and elongated rostrum is pointed. Opesia semi-rectangular (Fig. 3D). No ovicells are observed in the holotype and paratypes.

**Etymology.** The epithet *colombiana* refers to the occurrence of this species in the Colombian Caribbean.

**Remarks.** The genus *Thalamoporella* Hincks, 1887, consist of 89 accepted species (Soule et al., 1999) from which four are recent species registered for Florida and the Western Atlantic *T. winstonae, T. mayori, T. floridana,* and *T. evelinae* (Marcus, 1939; Osburn, 1940; Winston, 1982; Soule, Soule & Chaney, 1999), after the

morphological revision of the Atlantic specimens we were not able to place this specimen closely related to them. Soule et al. (1999) described several *Thalamoporella* species in which we notice a slight similarity of our specimen with *T. spinosa* Chaney, Soule & Soule, 1989 and *T. labiata* (Levinsen, 1909) in regards the presence of spines around the opesiules, however, those species do not present the spinous complex and the projected shoe-tongue lip at the basis of the oral orifice, as well as the narrow and almost covered in spines opesiules which is a key feature of *T. colombiana* sp. nov. We also compared our specimen with *T. harmelini* Soule, Soule & Chaney, 1999 but it does not meet the descriptive taxonomical features specially in the zooid size, orifice shape, opesiules shape and size and the very characteristic spines at the base of the oral lip. We did not observe any ovicells in our samples or a substrate that it was attached to, possibly due to the collection method used (dredges and box core).

**Distribution.** *Thalamoporella colombiana* sp. nov. is found in deep waters of the Colombian Caribbean in corallinous environments of the PNNCP and La Guajira at 98 and 110m depth.

Superfamily Catenicelloidea Busk, 1852 Family Catenicellidae Busk, 1852 Genus *Catenicella* de Blainville, 1830

*Catenicella guajirensis* sp. nov. (Figure 4, Table 4)



Figure 4. *Catenicella guajirensis* **sp. nov**.: A. General view of the erect colony, scale bar: 200µm B. Detail of zooid showing orifice, scale bar: 50µm C. Detail of lateral zooids and distance between them, scale bar: 100µm D. Branched colony detail showing vittae, scale bar: 50µm.

**Type material**. *Holotype*: INVBRY 2078, La Guajira 270m, Colombia 12° 26' 1.4" N 72° 1' 21.4" W along with coral rubble. *Paratypes*: INVBRY 2079, same data as Holotype.

	Lz	Wz	Lav	Wav	Lo	Wo
N	10	10	10	10	10	10
Mean	0.98	0.38	0.10	0.04	0.15	0.16
SD	0.05	0.11	0.03	0.03	0.05	0.03
Min	0.87	0.26	0.07	0.02	0.12	0.13
Max	1.26	0.52	0.15	0.07	0.22	0.20
Lz zooid lengt	h: Wz zooid widt	h Lav length avia	ularia: Way widt	a avicularia: Lo la	angth orifice W	o width orifice

**Diagnosis.** *Catenicella* species with very long unizooidal segments, distally elongated, connected to each other with a chitinous articulation. Long and narrow vittae on each side of the zooid.

**Description**. Colony erect, branched and delicate (Fig. 4A), with one elongated zooid per chitinous internod (Fig. 4B), each zooid is tubular at the base and globular at the proximal end near the orifice. Basal zooids connect the branches proximally (Fig. 4D). Orifice is semi-circular with a small V-shaped sinus (Fig. 4B). Frontal wall is smooth and imperforated. Zooids have one long and narrow vittae on each side (Fig. 4C). Zooids have a small and narrow avicularium located proximolateral to each side of the orifice facing towards the scapular chamber (Fig. 4D). No ovicells were observed.

**Etymology**. The epithet *guajirensis* refers to the occurrence of this species in La Guajira, Colombian Caribbean.

**Remarks.** *Catenicella guajirensis* sp.nov is very similar to *C. paradoxa* described by Rosso (2009), in regards the zooid distal elongation and organization within the colony, specially at the bifurcation zone, zooids are connected to a basal zooid through a very narrow tubular section of the daughter zooid, which is also a key characteristic of the Taiwan species *C. marceli* (Gluhak, Lewis and Popijac, 2007), however, this last one does not present the distal processes of *C. guajirensis*. Our species has longer zooids and smaller vittae to each side of the body than *C. paradoxa and C. marceli*. This last feature makes *C. guajirensis* distinctive from other Atlantic species. The lateral distal processes are similar to *C. uberrima,* described for Florida (Winston, 1982) and Brazil (Ramalho et al., 2014), however, the shape and length of the lateral vittae and the zooid size differs. Also, the orifice shape is similar to *C. contei* from Florida (Winston, 1982) but the rest of key

taxonomic features including the avicularia and spiny projecting distal processes are completely different from *C. guajirensis*. Finally, after the morphological revision of *Catenicella* specimens, we were not able to place this morphotype closely related to any and we suggest it correspond to a new species.

**Distribution.** This species was found attached to rocks and mollusc shells in La Guajira, North Colombian Caribbean at 270m depth. Further exploration of the Colombian submarine bottoms should be performed in order to determine the distribution of this species along bathymetric transects.

Superfamily Adeonoidea Busk, 1884 Family Adeonidae Busk, 1884 Genus *Adeonellopsis* MacGillivray, 1886

*Adeonellopsis avicularia* sp. nov. (Figure 5; Table 5)



Figure 5. *Adeonellopsis avicularia* **sp. nov.**: A. General view of the colony, scale bar: 200µm B. Detail of zooid and prominent avicularia, scale bar: 50µm C. Detail of zooid, avicularia and marginal pores, scale bar: 50µm D. Close up detail of zooids, avicularia and marginal pores, scale bar: 50µm.

**Type material**. *Holotype*: INVBRY 2084, PNNCP at 110m depth, Colombia, 9°54'09,1" N 76°09'19,0" W. *Paratype*: INVBRY 2085 same information as Holotype.

	Lz	Wz	Lav	Wav	Lo	Wo
N	10	10	10	10	10	10
Mean	0.45	0.34	0.37	0.55	0.51	0.72
SD	0.15	0.12	0.15	0.05	0.04	0.15
Min	0.42	0.32	0.32	0.53	0.48	0.58
Max	0.47	0.36	0.33	0.60	0.53	0.81
l z zooid length	h. Mz zooid widt	h Lav length avic	ularia: Way widtl	h avicularia. Lo le	enath orifice W	o width orifice

$\mathbf{A}$	Table 5.	Measurements	in n	nm of	Adeonello	psis	avicularia	sp.	nov
--------------	----------	--------------	------	-------	-----------	------	------------	-----	-----

**Diagnosis.** Adeonellopsis species with a large and prominent suboral avicularium of around 80% of the total zooid length with triangular rostrum slightly inclined pointing latero-proximal from the orifice.

## Description.

Colony bilaminar, erect, branched and rigid. Semi-rhomboidal or hexagonal zooids with a large and pointed suboral avicularium of around 80% of the zooid length (Fig. 5B). This avicularium has a triangular rostrum proximally directed and it is placed above the circular spiramen (Fig. 5D). The opening of the avicularium has a spiny irregular ornamentation at the distal base (Fig. 5B). Frontal wall is slightly granulated with two prominent tubercles to each side of the avicularium (Fig. 5C). The interzooidal margin is ornamented with pores evenly separated to each other (Fig. 5A). The orifice is circular to oval with suboral pores to one side of the suboral avicularium (Fig. 5B). No ovicells or vicarious avicularia were observed.

**Etymology.** The epithet *avicularia* refer to the presence of a large suboral avicularium in this species.

**Remarks.** This finding increases the species record for this genus in the Great Caribbean in where *A.subsulcata* represented the only previously known species. Our species resembles the description of *A. arculifera* (Canu & Bassler, 1929) but the occurrence range of this description correspond to another marine system in the Indo-pacific with no direct migration route to the Colombian deep-sea. Four fragments of this species were found without live tissue which we hypothesize as belonging to nearby locations from the point of collection. The main differences between *A. arculifera* and *A. avicularia* sp. nov. are the zooid size as Colombian

samples are wider, the suboral avicularia is also longer than the descriptions for Holocene Indonesian specimens by Di Martino & Taylor (2018). Also, no additional avicularia from the already suboral mentioned or vicarious avicularia were found in the fragments analysed. Finally, after the revision of *Adenollopsis* specimens in different museum collections, were not able to place this specimen within any known identification and we suggest it correspond to a new species.

**Distribution.** This species was found nearby coral habitats in mix bottom sampling in the PNNCP Colombian Caribbean at 110m depth. Further exploration of the Colombian submarine bottoms should be performed in order to determine the distribution of this species along bathymetric transects.

### Genus Adeonella Busk, 1884

*Adeonella coralina* sp. nov. (Figure 6; Table 6)



Figure 6. *Adeonella coralina* **sp. nov**.: A. Detail of zooid, avicularia and marginal pores, scale bar: 50µm. B. Detail of a rhomboid zooid and avicularia, scale bar: 50µm. C. General view of the colony, scale bar: 100µm D. Sealed zooids with calcified processes, scale bar: 10µm.

**Type material.** *Holotype*: INVBRY 2091 PNNCP at 180m depth, Colombia 09°49'47.5" N 76°12'01.6" W. *Paratype*: INVBRY 2096 same information as Holotype.

	Lz	Wz	Lavf	Wavf	Lavs	Wavs	Lo	Wo	
N	10	10	10	10	5	5	10	10	
Mean	0.46	0.36	0.09	0.05	0.11	0.07	0.50	0.69	
SD	0.05	0.12	0.05	0.02	0.05	0.04	0.05	0.04	
Min	0.41	0.24	0.07	0.04	0.10	0.06	0.46	0.56	
Max	0.56	0.58	0.11	0.06	0.13	0.09	0.59	0.85	
Lz zooid length; Wz zooid width Lavf length frontal avicularia; Wavf width frontal avicularia; Lavs length									
suboral avic	ularia; Wavs	width suboral	l avicularia Lo	length orifice	e, Wo width	n orifice			

Table 6. Measurements in mm of Adeonella coralina sp. nov.

**Diagnosis.** Adeonella species with perforated frontal wall and small frontal avicularium and one latero-proximal suboral avicularium with triangular rostrum.

**Description**. Colony bilaminar, erect, branched and rigid. Semi-rhomboidal or irregular-shaped zooids with a suboral rounded spiramen and interzooidal furrows with areolar pores (Fig. 6A-B). Frontal wall perforated and slightly convex with 1-2 tubercles at each side of the zooid in the mid region (Fig. 6C). There are smaller pores around the orifice, spiramen and avicularia (Fig. 6B). The orifice is rounded to oval. Small frontal avicularium below the spiramen and in some zooids an elongated suboral avicularium is placed next to spiramen pointing the distal region of the zooid (Fi. 6A). Some zooids from the base of the colony had their orifice sealed with calcified processes, these zooids were totally perforated with pores and some presented frontal avicularia (Fig. 6D). No ovicells or adventitious avicularia were observed

**Etymology.** The epithet *coralina* refers to the occurrence of this species in the recently recognized Deep-sea Corals Natural National Park (PNNCP) in the Colombian Caribbean.

**Remarks.** This finding represents the first record of *Adeonella* in the Colombian Caribbean. Two fragments of colony of *Adeonella coralina* sp. nov. were found but no mature zooids were observed, this makes challenging to identify it taxonomically, however, we did an extensive revision of *Adeonella* type material in several museum collections and literature and to our criteria it slightly resembles *A. lichenoides* (Lamarck, 1816) described by Hayward (1988; figure 3D but not figure 1-2) for the Indian ocean in regard the frontal avicularia and zooid shape, however, our samples did not present adventitious avicularia or more than one frontal avicularia as the described there. Also, the zooid size and shape were similar to the descriptions of

Adeonella cf lichenoides by Di Martino & Taylor (2018: figure 37 but not figure 35-36 or 38-44) for Indonesia, but our samples presented a lateral tubercle not distal as described there. In addition, A. coralina sp. nov. does not present a peristome or a densely granular frontal wall. In order to unfold whether or not our specimen relate to A. lichenoides descriptions we also compared it to other author's descriptions and samples, and it is totally different from the descriptions of A. cf lichenoides by Hirose (2016; figure 2-3) for Japanese waters. It is also different from Australian specimens (Harmer, 1957). We also compared these specimens to other Adeonella descriptions and to our concern A. coralina does not resemble completely to any description or type material for the Western Atlantic or the Tropical indopacific ocean. Some authors have hypothesized a high phenotypic plasticity in this species or intraspecific variability in regards the zooid shape and avicularia shape in the Adeonella platalea complex, which includes A. lichenoides and A. intricaria (Busk, 1884). However, the original descriptions of this species do not correspond to the found in the Colombian samples. For instance, we suggest it correspond to a new species.

**Distribution.** This species was found nearby coral habitats in mix bottom sampling in the PNNCP Colombian Caribbean at 180m depth. Further exploration of the Colombian submarine bottoms should be performed in order to determine the distribution of this species along bathymetric transects. Superfamily Lepralielloidea Vigneaux, 1949 Family Margarettidae Harmer, 1957 Genus *Margaretta* Gray, 1843

*Margaretta elongata* sp. nov. (Figure 7; Table 7)



Figure 7. *Margaretta elongata* **sp. nov**.: A. Detail of zooid, and pointed long peristome, scale bar: 200µm. B. Detail of orifice, ascopore and peristome, scale bar: 50µm. C. Detail of zooid ornamentation under the skin, scale bar: 50µm D. Front and D. side view of the colony showing long tubular section in between zooid groups, scale bar: 200µm.

**Type material**. *Holotype*: INVBRY 2108, La Guajira, 220m depth, Colombia, 12° 16' 12.4" N 72° 30' 50.2" W. *Paratype*: INVBRY 2110, same information that Holotype, INVBRY 2129 La Guajira, 190m depth 12° 13' 55.2" N 72° 31' 37.7" W.

	Lz	Wz	Lp	Wp	Las	Was			
N	10	10	10	10	10	10			
Mean	1.06	0.43	0.20	0.11	0.06	0.05			
SD	0.15	0.06	0.25	0.05	0.02	0.02			
Min	1.01	0.41	0.18	0.09	0.05	0.04			
Max	1.12	0.49	0.27	0.13	0.08	0.07			
Lz zooid length; Wz zooid width Lp length peristome; Wp width peristome; Las length ascopore, Was width									
ascopore									

Table 7. Measurements in mm of Margaretta elongata sp. nov.

**Diagnosis.** *Margaretta* species with one or two zooid groups (3 zooids) per internode which connects through a very long tubular section. Pseudopores within a crate-like basin. The region in between each zooidal group is narrower distally and enhanced proximally. Long peristomes pointing frontally with a small rounded ascopore right below.

**Description**. Colony erect, delicate and articulated with chitinous Internodes. Zooids convex and oval with marginal furrows and arranged in one or two triplets' groups (Fig. 7A), connected through a tubular section at the base of the group (Fig. 7D). The colony wall is densely perforated by small pseudopores each of them at the centre of a deep crate-like basin (Fig. 7C, E). There is a small rounded and projected ascopore at the base of the peristome, this last one is long and frontally projected (Fig. 7B). No ovicells or brooding observed.

**Etymology.** The epithet *elongata* refers to the morphological feature of this species of an elongated peristome and distal end of the zooid's triplet.

**Remarks.** *Margaretta elongata* sp. nov. constitutes the third Margaretta species reported for the Colombian Caribbean to date. Previously only *M. cereoides* and *M. buski* had been registered. The identification of this species also represented a challenge due to the very delicate and slightly calcified colonies which did not allow us to perform a stronger bleaching procedure to eliminate skin. We found six colonies of around 1 cm long each associated to rocks. These specimens resemble

to the *M. tenuis* Harmer, 1957 descriptions by Di Martino & Taylor (2018; fig. 124 but not 125-126) in regards the colony shape, zooids triplets organization but differs in the shape and arrangement of the pseudopores as the Indonesian species present shallower crate-like basins, in which pseudopores are located. Also, the shape and size of the peristomes shape at the base are different to the found in *M. elongata* sp. nov. as our specimens did not have a peristome valley or ridge and also did not have a denticulate oral rim, in addition we did not observe a D-shaped primary orifice as the described in *M. tenuis* by Di Martino &Taylor (2018). In order to assess the resemblance of this species to *M. tenuis* we reviewed several descriptions of this species around the world, it has been described for the Queensland coast of Australia (Weaver et al., 2018) and also differs in zooid arrangement and size. In addition, we compared our specimens to the registers for the rest of the Atlantic and we could not place our descriptions with the previously known species, for instance, we suggest it correspond to a new species.

**Distribution.** This species was found in La Guajira, North Colombian Caribbean at 190m and 220m depth on rocks in a mix bottom sampling. Further exploration of the Colombian submarine bottoms should be performed in order to determine the distribution of this species along bathymetric transects.

### Family Escharinidae Tilbrook, 2006 Genus *Bryopesanser* Tilbrook, 2006

## Bryopesanser dentata sp. nov.

(Figure 8; Table 8)



Figure 8. *Bryopesanser dentata* **sp. nov.:** A. General view of the colony and zooid orientation, scale bar: 100µm. B. Detail of orifice zooid shape, scale bar: 50µm. C. Detail of orifice and condyles, scale bar: 20µm

**Type material.** *Holotype*: INVBRY 2117, at 98m depth, Coraline archipelagos, Colombia, 9° 36' 18" N 76° 20' 10.5" W. *Paratype*: INVBRY 2120 same information as Holotype, INVBRY 2181 at 124m Caribbean offshore depth 9° 16' 3.5" N 76° 26' 26.8" W.

	Lz	Wz	Lav	Wav	Lo	Wo			
N	10	10	10	10	10	10			
Mean	0.78	0.65	0.17	0.15	0.22	0.18			
SD	0.12	0.25	0.20	0.05	0.05	0.05			
Min	0.71	0.60	0.15	0.13	0.20	0.16			
Max	0.93	0.71	0.20	0.16	0.25	0.22			
Lz zooid length; Wz zooid width; Lav length avicularium; Wav width avicularium; Lo length orifice, Wo width									
orifice									

**Diagnosis.** *Bryopesanser* Species with tonsil-like oral condyles ornamented with 10-15 teeth-like proximal margin.

**Description**. Encrusting colony. Zooids polygonal or with irregular shape separated by a deep marginal rim (Fig. 8A). The frontal wall irregular and evenly perforated with small pores. Orifice is surrounded by a slightly prominent peristome with 6-7 hollow spines; the orifice shape is rounded proximally with two prominent and tonsil-shaped condyles with 10-15 teeth-like ornaments at the proximal edge (Fig. 8C). Condyles form a pronounced drop-shaped sinus rounded at the base. Two small and rounded avicularia are at the proximo-lateral side of the orifice with a complete cross bar and spatulated rostrum facing proximally and a duck-feet like chitinous mandible (Fig. 8B). Some zooids present a small hyperstomial imperforate ovicell.

**Etymology.** The epithet *dentata* refers to the presence of dental-like ornaments at the proximal end of the oral condyles.

**Remarks.** Bryopesanser dentata sp. nov. is characterised by presenting 10-15 teeth-like ornaments at the proximal margin of the oral condyles. This is the second Bryopesanser species registered for the Colombian Caribbean. The taxonomical characters of this species resemble to Bryopesanser tonsillorum (Tilbrook, 2012) found in the Indian and Pacific oceans. Although in general, our specimens match with most of the described characters for *B tonsillorum*, it differs slightly in regards the number of "teeth" at the proximal margin of the oral condyles, the shape and size or vicarious avicularia, shape of the chitinous mandible and zooid size. The previously known Caribbean species *B. pesanseris* is also different from our specimens in regards the condyle shape, granular frontal wall and it does not present the ornamentation on the condyle margin. The original description of *B*.

*tonsillorum* included the revision of a Pacific sample nearby the coastal Gorgona Island originally described by Hastings (1930) and even though correspond to a species record for the country it does not have direct connectivity to the Northern Caribbean coast in which our specimen was found, leading us to the questioning of whether or not our differences are a case of phenotypic plasticity or an actual new species. The rest of the localities at which this species was reported by Tilbrook (2012) also do not hold a natural species interchange known to date with the Colombian Caribbean. Further molecular analysis could unfold the state of this species in the Colombian marine territory.

**Distribution.** If our records remain different from the *B. tonsillorum* specimens, *B. dentata* sp. nov. is distributed from middle to North Colombian Caribbean from 98m to 124m depth associated to bivalve shells in mix bottoms.

# Family Microporellidae Hincks, 1879 Genus *Microporella* Hincks, 1877

# Microporella granulata sp. nov.

(Figure 9; Table 9)



Figure 9. *Microporella granulata* **sp. nov.**: A. General view of a group of zooids, scale bar: 50µm B. Detail of zooid and frontal wall, scale bar: 50µm C. Detail of ascopore, scale bar: 20µm.

**Type material.** *Holotype*: INVBRY 2118, at 180m depth, PNNCP, Colombia, 09°49'47.5" N 76°12'01.6" W. *Paratype*: INVBRY 2121 same information as Holotype.

	Lz	Wz	Lav	Wav	Lo	Wo
N	10	10	10	10	10	10
Mean	0.65	0.48	0.18	0.08	0.10	0.12
SD	0.22	0.25	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.03
Min	0.61	0.41	0.16	0.06	0.08	0.10
Max	0.69	0.53	0.20	0.10	0.11	0.15
Lz zooid lenat	h: Wz zooid wid	th: Lav length av	ricularium: Wav v	vidth aviculariun	n: Lo lenath orif	ice. Wo width

Table 9. Measurements in mm of *Microporella granulata* sp. nov.

orifice

**Diagnosis.** Zooids with a slightly porous and bead-like granulated frontal wall, especially dense at the margin of the orifice. The zooids also have a shallow U-shaped ascopore below the orifice with internal spiny ornamentation. Two proximo-lateral vicarious avicularia, one at each side of the orifice.

**Description**. Colony encrusting and highly calcified (Fig. 9A); Zooids are polygonal to irregular in shape (Fig. 9B) with a granulated with bead-like granules and slightly perforated with small pseudopores (Fig. 9B). The orifice is rounded with a flat distal margin and six hollow oral spines at the proximal border of the orifice. Two vicarious triangular avicularia with complete crossbar are located proximolateral to the orifice and projecting proximally. Below the orifice there is a shallow u-shaped ascopore with a spiny internal ornamentation (Fig. 9C). No ovicells were observed in the specimens analysed.

**Etymology.** The epithet *granulata* refers to the granule-like beads that characterize the frontal shield of this species.

**Remarks.** *Microporella granulata* sp. nov. constitutes the second *Microporella* species registered for the Colombian Caribbean. Our specimen resembles to *M. mayensis* (Winston 1984) in regards the beaded surface of the frontal wall, the type of ascopore and the six hollow oral spines, however, *M. mayensis* only has one vicarious avicularia pointing distally per zooid while *M granulata* sp. nov has two latero-proximal triangular avicularia. we compared our specimens to the registers for the rest of the Atlantic and we could not place our descriptions with the previously known species, for instance, we suggest it correspond to a new species.

**Distribution.** This species was found in deep-sea coral environments in the mid-Colombian Caribbean at 180m depth on empty bivalve shells in a mix bottom sampling. Further exploration of the Colombian submarine bottoms should be performed in order to determine the distribution of this species along bathymetric transects. Superfamily Mamilloporoidea Canu & Bassler, 1927 Family Cleidochasmatidae Cheetham & Sandberg, 1964 Genus *Gemelliporina* Canu & Bassler, 1926

*Gemelliporina winstoniana* sp. nov. (Figure 10; Table 10)



Figure 10. *Gemelliporina winstoniana* **sp. nov.** A. General view of a group pf zooids, scale bar: 100µm B. General view of the colony, scale bar: 100µm C. Detail of irregular zooids, scale bar: 100µm. D. Detail of a single zooid and its projected peristome, scale bar: 50 µm.

**Type material**. *Holotype*: INVBRY 2126, PNNCP at 110m depth 9°54'09,1" N 76°09'19,0" W. *Paratype*: INVBRY 2128, same information as Holotype.

	Lz	Wz	Lp	Wp	Lo	Wo		
N	10	10	10	10	10	10		
Mean	1.21	0.81	0.16	0.12	0.21	0.13		
SD	0.13	0.25	0.05	0.02	0.15	0.05		
Min	1.19	0.76	0.13	0.09	0.18	0.12		
Max	1.26	0.89	0.19	0.15	0.26	0.15		
Lz zooid length: Wz zooid width: Ln length peristome: Way width peristome: Lo length orifice. Wo width orifice								

Table 10. Measurements in mm of Gemelliporina winstoniana sp. nov.

**Diagnosis.** *Gemelliporina* species with perforated frontal shield and interzooidal areolate pores and marginal rim. Peristome projected to the front and a soft U-shaped sinus.

**Description**. Colony erect, rigid and branched (Fig. 10B). Zooids polygonal to irregular with perforated frontal shield and marginal areolate pores in the interzooidal margin (Fig. 10C). Zooid also are separated from each other with a marginal rim (Fig 10A). Peristome is smooth and projected to the front of the colony with a u-shaped distal sinus (Fig. 10D). No ovicells or avicularia were observed in the samples analysed.

**Etymology.** The epithet *winstoniana* refers to J.E Winston in recognition for her lifelong contribution to the knowledge of bryozoans in the American continent but specially in the Western central and the Caribbean.

**Remarks.** *Gemelliporina winstoniana* sp. nov. is the third Gemelliporina species registered for the Colombian Caribbean after *G. glabra* and *G. hastata*. This species resembles slightly to *G. hastata* Winston & Woollacott, 2009 in the colony shape and organization, the presence of a peristome and marginal areolate pores, however, this species does not present a perforated frontal shield as *G. winstoniana*, also, presents a small avicularium at the base of the peristome that is not present in our specimens.

**Distribution.** This species was found in deep-sea coral environments in the mid-Colombian Caribbean at 110m depth on a mix bottom sampling. Further exploration of the Colombian submarine bottoms should be performed in order to determine the distribution of this species along bathymetric transects.

# Incertae sedis

(Figure 11; Table 11)



Figure 11. *Incertae sedis*. A. General view of the colony, scale bar: 100µm B. Detail of ovicells and oral spines, scale bar: 50µm C. Detail of vicarious avicularium, scale bar: 100µm. D. Detail of suboral tubercle, scale bar: 20 µm

**Type material**. *Holotype*: INVBRY 2140, PNNCP at 110m depth 9°54'09,1" N 76°09'19,0" W.

	Lz	Wz	Lav	Wav	Lo	Wo	Lov	Wov
N	10	10	5	5	10	10	10	10
Mean	0.81	0.72	0.10	0.05	0.15	0.10	0.18	0.19
SD	0.20	0.11	0.05	0.02	0.05	0.02	0.06	0.04
Min	0.73	0.65	0.08	0.03	0.13	0.08	0.10	0.17
Max	0.86	0.78	0.12	0.08	0.19	0.14	0.21	0.22

Table 11. Measurements in mm of Incertae sedis.

Lz zooid length; Wz zooid width; Lav length avicularium; Wav width avicularium; Lo length orifice, Wo width orifice; Lov Length ovicell; Wov Width ovicell

**Description**. Colony encrusting, highly calcified (Fig. 11A); Zooids are flat with irregular shape and smooth frontal shield and differentiated by a marginal rim and scarcely distributed pores (Fig. 11A). Orifice is rounded with a straight distal margin and occupy about the 20% of the zooid length with six hollow spines at the proximal margin (Fig. 11B). Some zooids have a narrow vicarious triangular avicularium proximo-lateral to the orifice pointed proximally (Fig. 11C). Also, some zooids have a projected and thick tubercle at the suboral region (Fig. 11D). Ovicells are globular and hyperstomial. The samples analysed presented broken ovicells (Fig. 11B)

**Remarks.** The taxonomic identification of this species has been challenging because we have not been able to place this species within a known genus for the Colombian Caribbean or the great Caribbean and further analysis should be used to clarify the taxonomic state of this species.

**Distribution.** This species was found in deep-sea coral environments in the mid-Colombian Caribbean at 110m depth on a mix bottom sampling. Further exploration of the Colombian submarine bottoms should be performed in order to determine the distribution of this species along bathymetric transects.

					Now	New	New	Knowledge increase	
Class	Order	species	Author	Station	species	Register	register		
0	O set a star set f da		(1 1010)		species	Caribbean	CC	Bathymetric	Geographic
Stenolaemata	Cyclostomatida	Crisia denticulata	(Lamarck, 1816)	EA2 329					X
		Crisia sp.		EA2 323					
		Filicrisia sp.		EA2 322					Х
		Mecynoecia delicatula	(Busk, 1875)	EA1 322					
		Proboscina sp.		EA2 329					
		Oncousoecia dilatans	(Johnston, 1847)	EA2 315			Х		
		Stomatopora sp.		EA2 323					
Ourse also an ata	Otomootomotida	Tubulipora sp.	(1)-11-12 (007)	EA2 322					
Gymnolaemata	Ctenostomatida	Amathia vidovici	(Heller, 1867)	EA1 326					
		Amathia distans	BUSK, 1886	EA2 329				V	V
	Ob silestere stide	Amatnia maxima	(Winston, 1982)	EA2 328		N/		X	X
	Chellostomatida	Electra verticiliata	(Ellis & Solander, 1786)	EA2 329		X		V	
		Electra pilosa	(Linnaeus, 1767)	EA2 323				X	N/
		Biflustra arborescens	(Canu & Bassler, 1928b)	EA1 322					X
		Aetea angina	(Linnaeus, 1758)	EA2 329					N/
		Aetea truncata	(Landsborough, 1852)	EA2 327					X
		Steginoporella magnilabris	(Busk, 1854)	E 524			N/		
		Steginoporella connexa	Harmer, 1900	E 524			X	N/	N/
		Sipnonoporella dumonti	Canu & Bassier, 1928a	EA2 327	X			X	X
		Thalamoporella n. sp. Colombiana	Yepes & Preziosi, 2020	E 524	X				
		Parellisina curvirostris	Osburn, 1940	EA1 326					N/
		Cupuladria surinamensis		EA1 326				N/	X
		Cupuladria panamensis	Herrera-Cubilla, Dick, Sanner & Jackson, 2006	EA2 315				X	X
		Discoporella depressa	(Conrad, 1841)	EA1 317					
		Discoporella sp.	(14 1007)	E 375					
		Akatopora leucocypria	(Marcus, 1937)	EA1 315					V
			(Lamarck, 1816)	EA2 320				V	X
		Paralicornia pusilia	(Smitt, 1872)	EA1 315			N/	X	X
		Paralicornia sinuosa	(Canu & Bassler, 1927)	EA1 326			X	N/	N/
		Licornia jolioisii	(Audouin, 1826)	EA2 320				X	X
		Canda simplex	Busk, 1884	EA1 328				V	X
		Halophila antiliaea	winston, 2005	EA1 317		V	V	X	X
		Bugulidae 1		E 606		X	X		
		Buguildae 2	Winster 0005	E 601					X
		Micropora acuminata	Winston, 2005	EA1 315					X
		Fioridina antiqua	(Smitt, 1873)	EA2 322					
		Smittipora ievinseni	(Canu & Bassier, 1917)	EA2 323					V
		Puellina smitti	Winston, 2005	EA1 322					X
			(Moli, 1803)	EA1 327	V				X
		Cateriicella n. sp guajirensis	repes and Preziosi, 2020	EA1 317	X				
				EA2 322			v		
		Gernellipora epurnea	JIIIII, 10/J	EA1 315			X		
		Pasytnea tulipitera	(Ellis & Solander, 1786)	EA2 321				V	
		Hipothoa flagellum	Manzoni, 1870	EA2 323				Х	V
		i rypostega striatula	(Smitt, 18/3)	EA2 321					Х
		Poricella mucronata	(Smitt, 1873)	EA2 329		V			
		Laminopora cr. contorta	Wichelin, 1842	EA1 327		X			<u> </u>
		Adeonellopsis at subsulcata	Yepes and Preziosi, 2020	E 390	Х				

# Table 12. List of recent deep-sea Bryozoan species identified in the Colombian Caribbean

Adeoneollopsis subsulcata	(Smitt, 1873)	EA1 315					
Adeonellopsis n.sp. avicularia	Yepes and Preziosi, 2020	E 390	Х				
Adeonella cf. calveti	Canu and Bassler, 1930	EA2 322		Х			
Adeonella cf. pallasii	(Heller, 1867)	EA2 322		Х			
Adeonella n.sp. coralina	Yepes and Preziosi, 2020	E 524	Х				
Reptadeonella bipartita	(Canu & Bassler, 1928b)	EA1 319				Х	
Reptadeonella hastingsae	Cheetham & Sandberg, 1964	EA2 321					Х
Celleporaria albirostris	(Smitt, 1873)	EA1 326					Х
Celleporaria magnifica	(Osburn, 1914)	EA2 329				Х	Х
Stylopoma projecta	Canu & Bassler, 1923	EA2 316					
Stylopoma smitti	Winston, 2005	EA2 323				Х	Х
Stylopoma sp.	,	EA2 328					
Schizoporella unicornis	(Johnston & Wood, 1844)	FA2 329					
Margaretta tenuis	Harmer, 1957	EA2 322					Х
Margaretta n sp. elongata	Yepes and Preziosi 2020	EA1 319	х				
Margaretta cereoides	(Ellis & Solander, 1786)	EA1 326				х	
Petraliella bisinuata	(Smitt 1873)	EA2 316					
Bryopesanser pesanseris	(Smitt 1873)	EA1 326				х	х
Bryonesanser n sn. dentata	Yenes and Preziosi 2020	EA1 326	х				
Microporella n sp. granulata	Yepes and Preziosi, 2020	E 524	x				
Microporella protea	Winston 2005	Ε 024 ΕΔ2 315	~				
Hippaliosina rostrigera	(Smitt 1873)	EA2 328					
Semihaswellia sinuosa	Canu & Bassler 1928a	EA1 326			x		x
Coscinionsis violacea	(Canu & Bassler, 1928a)	EA2 320			X	х	~
Lagenicella spinulosa	(Hincks 1884)	EA1 319					x
Marcusadorea tubulosa	(Canu & Bassler 1928b)	EA2 320					~
Rogicka biserialis	(Hincks 1885)	EA1 329					
Gemelliporina hastata	Winston and Woollacoot, 2009	E 524					х
Gemelliporina n sp. winstoniana	Yepes and Preziosi 2020	E 524	х				
Gemelliporina glabra	(Smitt. 1873)	FA1 317					
Mamillopora cupula	Smitt 1873	EA2 329					
Pleurocodonellina signata	(Waters, 1889)	EA1 326					
Parasmittina areolata	(Canu & Bassler 1927)	EA1 317				x	
Hippoporina caribaea	Winston 2005	EA2 328				X	
Trematooecia gemmea	(Winston & Woollacott 2009)	EA1 326			x		
Ciaclisula turrita	(Smitt 1873)	EA1 319			X		
Plesiocleidochasma cleidostomum	(Smitt 1873)	E 390				x	x
Plesiocleidochasma porcellanum	(Busk 1860)	EA2 316				X	~
Plesiocleidochasma sp	(2000)	E 524		x			
Rhynchozoon spicatum	Osburn 1952	E 024		<i>x</i>			
Retenorellina marsuniata	(Smitt 1873)	E 524				x	
Turbicellenora pourtalesi	Winston 2005	E 024			x	Λ	
Pourtalesella rugosa	(Oshurn 1940)	E 524			X	x	
Hinnonorella nusilla	(Smitt 1873)					X	
Incertae sedis 1	Yenes and Preziosi 2020	EA2 323 E 390		×	×	~	
Incertae sedis ?	Venes and Preziosi, 2020	E 350		x	X		
Incertae sedis 2	Venes and Preziosi, 2020	E330		X	X		
94	10p00 drid 1 1021031, 2020	25/0	9	<u> </u>	11	19	27
			~	~			

Total

#### DISCUSSION

A great deep-sea bryozoan species diversity was found across 28 stations offshore in the Colombian Caribbean from 72m to 3888m depth in soft and mix bottoms. The biodiversity estimators SOBs, Jack 1 and Jack 2 indicate that the extent of occurrence of species found in this study show a high representativeness of 85% of the sampling effort (Jack 1: 120 spp; Jack 2: 150 spp) however, no stabilization of the curve was observed indicating that more species are likely to be discovered for the Colombian deep-sea. It is important to highlight that the species composition of a given location may vary over time (Adler & Lauenroth, 2003) because distribution ranges are not stable, and species can expand or reduce their distribution based on environmental changes. It is expected that subsequent studies in the area will find rare or new species. This study is a significant contribution to the bryozoan knowledge of Colombia. In total 95 species were described of which nine represent new species, twelve new records for Colombia, and four are new records for the Great Caribbean basin.

Deep-sea coral reef, where most of our new species were found, constitute one of the least explored areas in the Colombian Caribbean. Sampling effort in the past has scarcely sampled the significant biodiversity associated with azooxanthellate reef patches and used invasive methodologies such as demersal trawling. Nowadays, the sampling methods are less invasive due to new regulations intended to protect this ecosystem, but these methods provide fewer captures of bryozoans. Being able to identify new species regardless of the sampling methods, represents a success and indicates a need to continue exploration research in this important marine protected area. It might also suggest that there is a high endemism in the area and a possible connectivity with other deeper areas.

Interestingly, we found species with a wider geographic and bathymetric range, such as the species closely similar to the Mediterranean and Indo-pacific fauna with no apparent connectivity. We hypothesize that due to the position of the Colombian Caribbean, exposed to deep-sea current patterns from the North Atlantic, a possible species interchange could be taking place, either through a physical breakage and transport of colonies by the strong currents or the environmental conditions are naturally enhancing the larvae distribution to these areas for colonization. Our

findings also contribute to the understanding of the marine deep-sea systems of Colombia.

The majority of the bryozoan species found in the Colombian deep sea is similar to the fauna associated with other deep-sea corals in Florida (Winston, 2016), but differed in the number of species found and the new record of species. One surprising and rare finding was the new register of *Electra verticillata*, a species that had been previously known for the North Atlantic and the Western coast of Africa. Here we found it on rocks in mixed bottom ecosystems in La Guajira, revealing a broader geographical distribution for this species.

The deep-sea bryozoan richness described here, contrary to previous knowledge (Navas et al., 2010), did not decrease from north to south. In contrast, our findings show a consistent high diversity in La Guajira and the PNNCP mainly containing representatives of the families Steginoporellidae, Adeonidae, Schizoporellidae, Cupuladriidae, Cleidochasmatidae, Candidae and Phidoloporidae, which resembles the high abundance found in the shallower upwelling coastal zone of La Guajira, and suggesting a possible species connectivity between those bathymetric zones. The abyssal zone (3888m depth) was mainly inhabited by delicate calcifying species of the families Bugulidae and Catenicellidae, however, sampling effort in those areas is less representative than the shallower stations due to the complications of the sampling methodologies at those depths.

Recording several species belonging to Adeonidae was a rare finding here, as for the Caribbean only one species *Adeonellopsis subsulcata* had been previously described. Here we found fragments of *Laminopora* cf *contorta* a very rare species found in the Mediterranean, certainly never recorded before for Colombia, although, the deep conditions in La Guajira are the home of other widespread species such as the azooxanthellate coral *Lophelia pertusa*, of which to date only dead fragments have been collected, reflecting the scarce sampling in that vast area. In addition, *Adeonella* cf. *calvetti* and *Adeonella* sp. also represent rare findings, these colonies were also dead at the moment of collection and their taxonomic identification has challenged our bryozoan knowledge. Firstly, we support Rosso and Novosel's (2010) suggestion that this species has been misidentified and currently belongs to

a species complex, and secondly the distribution of this species at the deepest areas sampled in the deep-sea corals national park (PNNCP) indicates that surrounding areas might be holding large, rare bryozoan patches with higher diversity.

Finally, the similarities of the Colombian deep-sea species with the found in other marine systems such as the Pacific and Indian Oceans is interesting, the geographical distance between those populations does not correlate with possible natural gene flow, and several morphological differences between them allowed us to propose them as new species for science. For example, *Margaretta elongata* sp.nov. resembles *M. tenuis* in Indonesia but differs in few taxonomic traits; also, *Bryopesanser dentata* sp. nov. is very similar to *B. tonsillorum* (Tilbrook, 2012) found in the Pacific and Indian Ocean but differs in a few morphometric features resulting in a new species. Similarly, *Microporella granulata* sp. nov. is somewhat similar to the descriptions of *M. mayensis* (Winston, 1984) but differs in few morphological differences such as the shape, number and position of frontal avicularia and zooid size which allow us to nominate it as a new species. Further taxonomic and molecular inspection is necessary to clarify taxonomic issues with the deep-sea Colombian bryozoan species.

### Conclusions

Most of the species found in this study present morphological features that differ from shallower species, although some are shared between bathymetric zones along the Colombian Caribbean. The high number of new species records for the deep-sea corals national park (PNNCP) indicates that this area must be holding a greater diversity and that could be connected to nearby zones with rare species hence the finding of dead branching fragments of Adeonids. Some encrusting bryozoans were colonizing different substrates including empty bivalve shells and deceased fragments of the azooxanthellate coral *Madracis Myriaster*.

### REFERENCES

- Adler, P. B. & W. K. Lauenroth (2003). The power of time: spatiotemporal scaling of species diversity. Ecol. Lett. 6: 749-756.
- Audouin, J.V. (1826) Explication sommaire des planches de Polypes de l'Égypte et de la Syrie, publiées par Jules-César Savigny. In: Panckoucke, C.L.F. (Ed.), Description de l'Égypte ou recueil des observations et des recherches qui ont été faites en Égyptes pendant l'Expédition de l'Armée française Histoire naturelle. Tome 1 (4). Imprimerie Impériale, Paris, pp. 225–244.
- Alonso, D., Segura-Quintero, C., Torres, C., Rozo-Garzon, D. M., Espriella J. L., Bolaños, J. & A.C. Lopez (2010). Áreas significativas para la biodiversidad. (392-423). In INVEMAR (Eds.). 2010. Biodiversidad del margen continental del Caribe colombiano. Serie de Publicaciones Especiales, Invemar No. 20 p. 4588.
- Alonso, D., Vides, M., Cedeño, C., Marrugo, M., Henao, A., Sanchez, J.A., Dueñas, L., Andrade, J.C., Gonzalez, F. & M. Gomez (2015). Parque Nacional Natural Corales de Profundidad: descripción de comunidades coralinas y fauna asociada. Serie de Publicaciones Generales del Invemar No. 88, Santa Marta. 20 p.
- Blainville, H. de (1830). Dictionnaire des sciences naturelles, vol. 60, 546 pp. Art. Zoophytes, P. 411.
- Borg, F. (1926). Studies on Recent cyclostomatous Bryozoa. Zoologiska Bidrag från Uppsala, 10,181–507.
- Bosc, L. A. G. (1802). Histoire naturelle des Vers, III, 1st edn. Kessinger, Paris.
- Busk, G. (1852). An account of the Polyzoa, and sertularian zoophytes, collected in the voyage of the Rattlesnake, on the coasts of Australia and the Louisiade Archipelago, &c. In: MacGillvray, J. (Ed.), Narrative of the Voyage of H.M.S. Rattlesnake, commanded by the late Captain Owen Stanley ...1846–1850; including discoveries and surveys in New Guinea, the Louisiade Archipelago, etc., to which is added the account of Mr E. B. Kennedy's expedition for the exploration of the Cape York Peninsula [including Mr W. Carron's narrative]. Vol. 1. T.W. Boone, London, pp. 343–402, pl. 1.
- Busk, G. (1854). Catalogue of marine Polyzoa in the collection of the British Museum, II. Cheilostomata (part) Trustees of the British Museum (Natural History), London. pp. 55–120.

- Busk, G. (1860) Zoophytology. Catalogue of the Polyzoa collected by J.Y. Johnson, Esq., at Madeira, in the years 1859 and 1860, with descriptions of new species.
   Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science, 8, 213–214, 280–285.
- Busk, G. (1875) Catalogue of Marine Polyzoa in the Collection of the British Museum. Part III. Cyclostomata. Trustees of the British Museum, London, 39 pp.
- Busk, G. (1884) Report on the Polyzoa. The Cheilostomata. Report of the Scientific Results of the Voyages of the HMS Challenger during the years 1873–1876, Zoology, 10, pt. 30, 1–216.
- Busk, G. (1886) Report on the Polyzoa collected by H.M.S. Challenger during the years 1873-1876. Part 2. The Cyclostomata, Ctenostomata and Pedicellinea. Report on the Scientific Results of the Voyage of the H.M.S. "Challenger", Zoology 17: 1-47.
- Cadée, G, C. (1975) Lunulitiform Bryozoa from the Guyana Shelf. Netherlands Journal of Sea Research, 9 (3-4): 320-343.
- Canu, F. & Bassler, R.S (1917) A synopsis of American Early Tertiary Cheilostome Bryozoa. United States National Museum Bulletin, 96,1–87, 6 pls.
- Canu, F. & R. S. Bassler (1923). North American later Tertiary and Quaternary Bryozoa. United States National Museum Bulletin, 125, 1–302, 47 pls.
- Canu, F. & R. S. Bassler (1926). Phylum Molluscoidea, Class Bryozoa [of Coon Creek]. In Wade, B. (ed). The fauna of the Ripley Formation on Coon Creek, Tennessee. U.S. geological survey, professional paper 137: 32-39.
- Canu, F.; Bassler, R. S (1927) Bryozoaires des iles Hawaï. Bulletin de la Société des Sciences de Seine-et-Oise. 8: 1-67.
- Canu, F. & R. S. Bassler (1928a) Fossil and Recent Bryozoa of the Gulf of Mexico. Proceedings of the US National Museum, 72, 1–199, 34 pls. http://dx.doi.org/10.5479/si.00963801.72-2710.1
- Canu, F. & R. S. Bassler (1928b) Bryozoaires du Brésil. Bulletin de la Société des Sciences de Seine-et-Oise, 9, 58–110, 9 pls.
- Canu, F. & R. S. Bassler (1929) Bryozoaires Éocènes de la Belgique. Belg. Mus. Roy. hist. nat. Mém. 39: 1-69.

- CARDIQUE, CARSUCRE, CODECHOCO, CORALINA, CORPAMAG, CORPOGUAJIRA, CORPONARIÑO, CORPOURABA, CRA, CRC, CVC, CVS, INVEMAR, MADS & PNN (2016) Plan de Acción del Subsistema de Áreas Marinas Protegidas - SAMP 2016-2023: Lineamientos para su consolidación en el marco de los Subsistemas Regionales de Áreas Protegidas del Pacífico y del Caribe. Editado por: A. P. Zamora-Bornachera. Proyecto COL75241, PIMS # 3997, Diseño e implementación de un Subsistema Nacional de Áreas Marinas Protegidas (SAMP) en Colombia. Invemar, MADS, GEF y PNUD. Serie de publicaciones Generales del Invemar # 85, Santa Marta. 60 p.
- Cedeño-Posso, C., Alonso, D., Ballesteros, D., Yepes- Narváez, V., Rocha, V., Cardenas, A., Tavera, L., Polanco F, A., Borrero, G., Garrido-Linares, M., Henao, A., Molina, M. & D. Hernandez (2017) Mapeo de la distribución del ensamblaje de Madracis spp., en el Parque Nacional Natural Corales de Profundidad. Informe Técnico Final. INVEMAR, PNN. 61p.
- Cheetham, A. H., & P. A. Sandberg (1964) Quaternary Bryozoa from Louisiana mudlumps. Jour. Paleont., vol. 38, pp. 1013-1046.
- Conrad, T A. (1841) Appendix. In J. T. Hodge, Observations on the Secondary and Tertiary formations of the southern Atlantic states. Amer. Jour. Sci., ser. 1, vol. 41, pp. 344-348.
- Diaz, J. M. & A. Acero (2003) Marine biodiversity in Colombia: achievements, status of knowledge, and challenges. Gayana 67(2): 261-274.
- Di Martino, E. & P. Taylor (2018) Early Pleistocene and Holocene bryozoans from Indonesia. Zootaxa 4419, 1.
- Ellis, J. & D. Solander (1786) The natural history of many curious and uncommon zoophytes collected from various parts of the globe by the late John Ellis, systematically arranged and described by the late D. Solander. Benjamin White and Son, London.
- Flórez, P. & E. Montoya-Cadavid (2004). Briozoos de la plataforma continental y el talud superior del Caribe colombiano (20-500m). Thesis (Marine Biology). Universidad de Bogotá Jorge Tadeo Lozano. Santa Marta 303 pp.
- Flórez, P.; Montoya, E.; Reyes, J. & N. Santodomingo (2007) Briozoos cheilostomados del Caribe colombiano. En Boletín de investigaciones marinas y costeras. 36 (1): 229-250.
- Garrido-Linares M., Alonso-Carvajal D., Rueda M., Ricaurte C., Polanco A., Cárdenas A., Cedeño C., Montoya E., Escarria E., Dorado F., Gutierrez J.M.,

Ayala K., Tavera L., Mutis M.A., Aguilar M.I., Vides-Casado M., Rodriguez O., Yepes-Narváez V., Pizarro J., Valencia F., Rodríguez-Jiménez A., Murcia M., Peña C., Bastidas-Villegas M. & C. Giraldo (2014) Informe técnico Final "Linea base ambiental preliminar de los bloques de exploracion de hidrocarburos Caribe colombiano: fase Col 4 y Col 5. INVEMAR-ANH, Santa Marta, 284+anexos. p.

- Gluhak, T., Lewis, J.E. & A. Popijac (2007) Bryozoan Fauna of Green Island, Taiwan: First Indications of Biodiversity. Zoological Studies 46, 4: 397-426.
- Gmelin, J. F. (1789) Systema naturae (Linné), 13 edition, cura Joh-Frid. Gmelin. Vol. I, Part. 6.
- Gray, J. E. (1843) Additional radiated animals and Annelides. In: Dieffenback, E. (editor) Travels in New Zealand: with contributions to the geography, geology, botany, and natural history of that country Vol. 2: 292-295. (John Murray, London.
- Gray, J. E. (1848) List of the specimens of British animals in the collection of the British Museum. I. Centrioniae or radiated animals. London, British Museum, 173 pp.
- Harmer, S. F. (1900) A revision of the genus Steganoporella. Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science, 43, 225–297.
- Harmer, S. F. (1957) The Polyzoa of the Siboga Expedition, Part 4. Cheilostomata Ascophora II. Siboga Expedition Reports 28d: 641-1147.
- Hastings, A.B. (1930) Cheilostomatous Polyzoa from the vicinity of the Panama Canal collected by Dr. A. Crossland on the cruise of the S.Y. "St George". Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London, 99, 697–740. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.1929.tb01453.x
- Hayward, P. J. & J. S. Ryland (1985) Systematic notes on some British Cyclostomata (Bryozoa). Journal of Natural History, 19, 1073–1078.
- Hayward, P. J. & J. S. Ryland (1998) Cheilostomatous Bryozoa. Part 1. Aeteoidea-Cribrilinoidea. Synopses of the British Fauna, n.s., 10, 1–366.
- Hayward, P. J. & J. S. Ryland (1999) Cheilostomatous Bryozoa. Part 2. Hippothooidea-Celleporoidea. Synopses of the British Fauna, n.s., 14, 1–416.
- Hayward, P. J. (1985) Ctenostome Bryozoans. Synopses of the British Fauna, n.s., 33, 1-169.
- Hayward, P. J. (1988) The Recent species of Adeonella (Bryozoa: Cheilostomata) including descriptions of fifteen new species. Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, 94(2), 111–191. doi:10.1111/j.1096-3642.1988.tb00105.x.
- Heller, C. (1867) Die Bryozoen des adriatischen Meeres. Verhandlungen der zoologisch-botanischen Gesellschaft in Wien 17: 77-136.
- Herrera-Cubilla, A., Dick, M. H., Sanner, J. & J. B. C. Jackson (2006) Neogene Cupuladriidae of Tropical America. I: Taxonomy of Recent Cupuladria from Opposite Sides of the Isthmus of Panama Source: Journal of Paleontology, Vol. 80, No. 2, pp. 245-263.
- Hincks, T. (1877) On some Polyzoa from Iceland (Greenland) and Labrador. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (4) 19: 97-112.
- Hincks, T. (1884) Contributions towards a general history of the marine Polyzoa. Part XII. Polyzoa from India (coast of Burmah). Annals and Magazine of Natural History (5)13: 356-362.

Hincks, T. (1885) Contributions towards a general history of the marine Polyzoa. Part XIV. Polyzoa from New Zealand and Australia. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (5)15: 244-254.

- Hincks, T. H. (1887) Critical notes on the Polyzoa. Annals and Magazine of Natural History, Series 5, 19, 150–164.
- Hincks, T.H. (1879) On the classification of the British Polyzoa. Annals and Magazine of Natural History, ser 5, 3, 153–164.
- Hirose, M. (2016) Diversity and distribution of adeonid bryozoans (Cheilostomata: Adeonidae) in Japanese waters. European Journal of Taxonomy 203: 1-41.
- INVEMAR (2010) Biodiversidad del margen continental del Caribe colombiano. Serie de Publicaciones Especiales, Invemar No. 20 p. 458.
- INVEMAR-ICP (2013) "Toxicidad de fluidos de exploración de hidrocarburos offshore en organismos nativos del Caribe colombiano - Ecosistemas profundos y sus recursos pesqueros en los bloques de exploración RC11, RC12, Fuerte Norte y Fuerte Sur, Caribe colombiano". Informe Técnico Final, Santa Marta, 153p.+anexos.
- Johnston, G. (1838) A History of British Zoophytes. W.H. Lizars, Edinburgh, xii + 341 pp., 44 pls. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.4834</u>.

Johnston, G. (1847) A History of British Zoophytes. 2nd edn. Van Voorst, London, xvi + 488 pp., 74 pls. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.4736</u>.

- Jullien, J. (1886) Les Costulidées, nouvelle famille de Bryozoaires. Bulletin de la Société Zoologique de France, 11, 601–620, pls 17–20.
- Lamouroux, J. V. F., 1816. Histoire des polypiers Coralligènes Flexibles, vulgairement nommés Zoophytes Vol. pp.1-559. F.Poisson, Caen.
- Lamouroux, J. V. (1816) Histoire naturelle des polypiers coralligènes flexible, vulgairement nommès Zoophytes. F. Poisson, Caen.
- Lamouroux, J. V. F. (1821) Exposition Méthodique des genres de l'ordre des polypiers, avec leur description et celles des principales espèces figurées dans 84 planches; les 63 premières appartenant à l'Histoire naturelle des zoophytes d'Ellis et Solander. V. Agasse, Paris, 115 pp. 84 pls.
- Landsborough, D. (1852) A popular history of British zoophytes, or corallines Vol. pp.1-404. Reeve and Co., London.
- Levinsen, G.M.R. (1902) Studies on Bryozoa. Videnskabelige Meddelelser fra den naturhistoriske Foreningi København, 54, 1–31.
- Linnaeus, C. (1758) Systemae naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differetiis, synonymis, locis Ed.10. pp.1-824. Laurentii Salvii, Holmiae.
- Linnaeus, C. (1767) Systemae naturae per regna tria naturae, secundum classes, ordines, genera, species, cum characteribus, differetiis, synonymis, locis Regnum Animale. Laurentii Salvii, Holmiae.
- MacGillivray, P. H. (1886) Polyzoa. In: McCoy, F. (editor) Prodromus of the Zoology of Victoria Vol. Decade XIII: 99-111. (Government Printer, Melbourne.
- Manzoni, A. (1870) Briozoi fossili Italiani. Quarta contribuzione. Sitzungsberichte der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien, Abt. 1, 61, 323–349.
- Marcus, E. (1937) Bryozoários marinhos Brasileiros, I. Boletim da Faculdade de Filosofia, Ciências e Letras da Universidade de São Paulo, Zoologia, 1, 3–224, 29 pls.
- Marcus, E. (1939) Briozoários marinhos Brasileiros, III. Boletim da Faculdade de Filosofia, Ciências e Letras da Universidade de São Paulo, Zoologia, 3, 111– 353, pls 5–31.

- Michelin, H. (1842) Zoophytes. Magasin de zoologie, d'anatomie comparée et de palaeontologie, 2 (4).
- Moll, von J. P. C. (1803) Eschara, ex zoophytorum, seu, phytozoorum ordine pulcherrimum ac notatu dignissimum genus, novis speciebus auctum, methodice descriptum et iconibus ad naturam delineatis illustratum Vol. pp.1-70. Camesiniana, Vindobonae.
- Navas, G. R., Vides- Casado, M. P. & M. C., Diaz-Ruiz (2010) Ensamblajes faunísticos de la plataforma y talud superior del mar Caribe Colombiano.(354-391). In INVEMAR (Eds.). 2010. Biodiversidad del margen continental del Caribe colombiano. Serie de Publicaciones Especiales, Invemar No. 20 p. 4588.
- Nikulina, E. A., De Blauwe, H. & O. Reverter-Gil (2013) Chapter 15 Molecular Phylogenetic Analysis Confirms the Species Status of Electra verticillate (Ellis and Solander, 1786). In A. Ernst, P. Schäfer, and J. Scholz (eds.) Bryozoan studies 2010. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-16411-8\_15.
- Orbigny, A. d' (1851) Paléontologie française. Description des Mollusques et Rayonnés fossiles. Terrains crétacés, V. Bryozoaires. Victor Masson, Paris, 1192 pp. [pp. 1–188 (1851); pp. 185 bis–472 (1852); pp. 473–984 (1853); pp. 985–1192 (1854); pls 600–800. Dates as given by Sherborn (1899).].
- Osburn, R. C. (1914) The Bryozoa of the Tortugas Islands, Florida. Carnegie Institution of Washington Publication,182, 183–222.
- Osburn, R. C. (1940) Bryozoa of Porto Rico with a resumé of the West Indian bryozoan fauna. Scientific Survey of Porto Rico and the Virgin Islands, 16, 321–486.
- Osburn, R. C. (1947) Bryozoa of the Allan Hancock Atlantic Expedition, 1939. Report of the Allan Hancock Atlantic Expeditions, 5, 1–47.
- Osburn, R.C. (1952) Bryozoa of the Pacific coast of America, part 2, Cheilostomata– Ascophora. Report of the Allan Hancock Pacific Expeditions, 14, 271–611.
- Polanco, A., Cedeño-Posso, C., Montoya-Cadavid, E., Borrero-Perez, G., Dorado-Roncancio, F., Garrido, M, Cardenas-Oliva, A., Yepes-Gaurisas, D., Yepes-Narvaez, V., Escarria, E., Mutis, M., Arteaga-Florez, C., Martinez, B., Ayala-Galvan, K., Caldera, S., Guitierrez-Salcedo, J.M., Santodomingo, N., Gracia, A., Florez, P., Benavides-Serrato, M., Suarez-Mozo, N. Y. & D. Alonso (2017) Twenty years of deep-sea research in the Colombian Caribbean. Deep-Sea Life (10): 16-17.

- Ramalho, L. V., Taylor, P. D., & G. Muricy (2014) New records of Catenicella de Blainville, 1830 (Catenicellidae: Cheilostomata: Ascophora) in Rio de Janeiro State, Brazil. Check List 10,1: 170–174.
- Rosso, A. (2009) The first catenicellid (Bryozoa, Ascophora) from Mediterranean shallow waters: a hidden resident or a new immigrant? Journal of Natural History, 43(35-36), 2209–2226. doi:10.1080/00222930903089977.
- Rosso, A., & M. Novosel (2010) The genus Adeonella (Bryozoa, Ascophora) in the Mediterranean from Pliocene to Recent, with description of two new species. Journal of Natural History, 44, 1697-1727.
- Ryland, J.S. & P.J Hayward (1992) Bryozoa from Heron Island, Great Barrier Reef. Memoirs of the Queensland Museum, 32, 223–301.
- Smitt, F. A. (1872) Floridan Bryozoa collected by Count L.F. de Pourtales, Part1 Kongliga Svenska Vetenskaps-Akademiens Handlingar 10 (11): 1-20.
- Smitt, F.A. (1873) Floridan Bryozoa collected by Count L.F. de Pourtales. Part II. Kongliga Svenska Vetenskaps-Akademiens Handlingar, 11, 1–83, 13 pls.
- Soule, D. F.; Soule, J. D. (1989). Systematics and zoogeography of Thalamoporella gothica and its allied species (Bryozoa, Cheilostomata). Bulletin of Marine Science. 45(2), 338-355.
- Soule, D. F., Soule, J. D. & H. W Chaney (1995) The Bryozoa. Taxonomic Atlas of the Benthic Fauna of the Santa Maria Basin and Western Santa Barbara Channel, 13, 1–344.
- Soule, D.F., Soule, J.D., & H.W. Chaney (1999) New species of Thalamoporella (Bryozoa) with acute or subacute avicularium mandibles and review of known species worldwide. Irene McCulloch Foundation Monograph Series Number 4: 1-57.
- Tilbrook, K.J. (2006) Cheilostomatous Bryozoa from the Solomon Islands. Santa Barbara Museum of Natural History Monographs, 4 (Studies in Biodiversity Number 3), 1–386.
- Tilbrook, K. (2012) Review of the bryozoan genus Bryopesanser Tilbrook, 2006 (Escharinidae: Cheilostomata) with the description of 11 new species. Zootaxa, 3165(1), 39. doi:10.11646/zootaxa.3165.1.3.

- Tilbrook, K. & L. M. Vieira (2012) Scrupocellaria (Bryozoa: Cheilostomata) from the Queensland coast, with the description of three new species. Zootaxa 3528: 29–48.
- Vides M. & D. Alonso (2018) Estudio técnico ambiental de línea base en el área de evaluación COL 10, extremo norte del Caribe colombiano. Informe Técnico Final. Convenio 340-18. ANH- INVEMAR. Instituto de Investigaciones Marinas y Costeras José Benito Vives de Andréis, Santa Marta. 416 p.
- Vides M., M. Santos-Acevedo & D. Alonso (2017) Estudio técnico ambiental de línea base en el área de evaluación COL 3 sobre la cuenca sedimentaria del Caribe Colombiano. Informe Técnico Final. Convenio 139-17. ANH- INVEMAR. Instituto de Investigaciones Marinas y Costeras José Benito Vives de Andréis, Santa Marta. 376 p.
- Vieira, L. M., A. E. Migotto & J. E. Winston (2010b) Marcusadorea, a new genus of lepralioid bryozoan from warm waters. Zootaxa 2348: 57–68.
- Vieira, L. M., C. M. R. Farrapeira, F. D. Amaral & S. M. A. Lira (2012) Bryozoan biodiversity in Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago, Brazil. Cahiers de Biologie Marine 53: 159–167.
- Vieira, L. M., D. P. Gordon, F. B. C. Souza & M. A. Haddad (2010a) New and littleknown cheilostomatous Bryozoa from the south and southeastern Brazilian continental shelf and slope. Zootaxa 2722: 1–53.
- Vieira, L. M., Migotto, A. E. & Winston, J. E (2008) Synopsis and annotated checklist of Recent marine Bryozoa from Brazil. Zootaxa, 1810, 1–39.
- Vieira, L. M., Spencer Jones, M. E., Winston, J. E., Migotto, A. E. & A. Marques (2014) Evidence for Polyphyly of the Genus Scrupocellaria (Bryozoa: Candidae) Based on a Phylogenetic Analysis of Morphological Characters. PLOS ONE, 9 (4): e95296, available online at <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0095296">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0095296</a>.
- Vigneaux, M. (1949) Révision des Bryozoaires néogènes du Bassin d'Aquitaine et essai de classification. Mémoires de la Société Géologique de France, n.s., 28, 1–153, 11 pls.
- Waters, A W (1889) On some ovicells of cyclostomatous Bryozoa. Journal of the Linnean Society (Zoology), 20: 275-280.
- Waters A. W. F.L.S. (1912) LI A structure in Adeonella (Laminopora) contorta (Michelin) and some other Bryozoa, together with remarks on the Adeonidæ, Annals and Magazine of Natural History: Series 8, 9:53, 489-500, DOI: 10.1080/00222931208693160.

- Weaver, H., Cook, C., Bock, P., & D. Gordon (2018) Australian Bryozoa Volume 2: Taxonomy of Australian Families. Csiro Publishing. 320pp.
- Winston, J. E. & E. Håkansson (1986) The interstitial bryozoan fauna from Capron Shoal, Florida. American Museum Novitates, 2865, 1–50.
- Winston, J. E. & R. Woollacott (2009) Scientific results of the Hassler Expedition. Bryozoa. No. 1. Barbados. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, 159, 239–300. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3099/0027-4100-159.5.239</u>.
- Winston, J. E (1982) Marine Bryozoans (Ectoprocta) of the Indian River area (Florida). Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History, 173, 99–176.
- Winston, J. E. (1984) Shallow-water Bryozoans of Carrie Bow Cay, Belize. American Museum Novitates, 2799, 1–38.
- Winston, J. E. (1986) An annotated checklist of coral- associated bryozoans. American Museum Novitates 2859: 1–39.
- Winston, J. E. (2005) Redescription and revision of Smitt's "Floridan Bryozoa" in the Collection of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard University. Virginia Museum of Natural History Memoir, 7, 1–150.
- Winston, J. E. (2016) Bryozoa of Floridan Oculina reefs. Zootaxa 4071 (1): 001-081.
- Yepes-Narváez, V. (2013) Composición y distribución de los briozoos (Phylum Bryozoa) en la plataforma continental de La Guajira (10 50 m), Caribe Colombiano. Thesis (Biologist). Universidad de Cordoba, Colombia, 376 pp.

Supplementary material I: New species register for the Great Caribbean

Class Gymnolaemata Order Cheilostomatida Busk, 1852 Suborder Membraniporina Superfamily Membraniporoidea Busk, 1854 Family Electridae d'Orbigny, 1851 Genus *Electra* Lamouroux, 1816

### *Electra* aff. *verticillata* (Ellis & Solander, 1786) (Fig. 1)

*Flustra verticillata* Ellis & Solander, 1786. *Electra verticillata:* Lamouroux (1816; 1821); Gmelin (1789); Bosc (1802); Nikulina et al. (2013).



Figure 1. *Electra* aff. *verticillata* (Ellis & Solander, 1786): A. Colony fragment showing zooid organization and detail of branch structure, scale bar: 200  $\mu$ m B. Group of zooids showing spines at the edge of the opesia and a large proximal spine, scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m.

Material examined. INVBRY 2050; INVBRY 2058.

Superfamily Adeonoidea Busk, 1884 Family Adeonidae Busk, 1884 Genus *Laminopora* Michelin, 1842

# *Laminopora* cf *contorta* Michelin, 1842 (Fig. 2)

Adeonella (Laminopora) contorta Waters, 1912, Pl. X, fig 1, 6.



Figure 2. *Laminopora cf contorta* Michelin, 1842: A. General view of the colony, scale bar: 100µm B. Detail of zooids, sinuses, condyles and avicularia, scale bar: 100µm C. Detail of zooids shape with pores, scale bar: 100µm D. Detail of zooids and avicularia, scale bar: 20µm.

Material examined. INVBRY 2087, INVBRY 2089.

Genus Adeonella Busk, 1884

### Adeonella cf. calvetti Canu & Bassler, 1930

(Fig. 3)

Adeonella calveti Canu & Bassler, 1930: 68, pl. 10, figs. 1–4.
Adeonella pectinata f. africana Calvet, 1903: 33, pl. 2, fig. 4.
Adeonella polystomella (Reuss, 1848): Poluzzi and Rosso, 1988: 91, pl. 3, fig. 2; Pouyet and Moissette, 1992: 73, pl. 11, fig. 6.
Adeonella calvetti: Rosso & Novosel, 2010:4, Fig 1A-D, 2, 3, 4A.



Figure 3. *Adeonella cf. calvetti?* A. General view of the colony, scale bar: 100µm, B. Detail of zooids and avicularia, scale bar: 100µm C. Detail of zooids shape, scale bar: 100µm D. Detail of avicularia, scale bar: 20µm.

Material examined. INVBRY 2099, INVBRY 2100.

#### Adeonella sp. (Fig. 4)

Adeonella cf. pallasii Rosso & Novosel, 2010 fig 6G.



Figure 4. Adeonella sp. A. General view of the colony, scale bar:  $80\mu m$  B. Detail of zooids shape, scale bar:  $50\mu m$  C. Detail of zooids and colony shape, scale bar:  $100\mu m$ .

Material examined. INVBRY 2093, INVBRY 2095.

Supplementary material II: New species register for the Colombian Caribbean

Suborder Thalamoporellina Superfamily Thalamoporelloidea Levinsen, 1902 Family Steginoporellidae Hincks, 1884 Genus *Steginoporella* 

### Steginoporella connexa Harmer, 1900

(Fig. 1)

*Steganoporella connexa* Harmer, 1900: 254, pl. 12, fig. 6; pl. 13, fig.18. *Steginoporella connexa:* Winston & Woollacott, 2009: 257, fig. 12.



Figure 1. Steginoporella connexa Harmer, 1900: A. Fragment of colony showing zooid polygonal shape and organization, scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m B. A-zooid with two pairs of opesiules perforating the proximal region of the cryptocyst, scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m. C. A-zooid and detail of curved proximal rim, granular and slightly perforated cryptocyst, scale bar: 100  $\mu$ m.

Material examined. INVBRY 2048; INVBRY 2051, INVBRY 2053.

Superfamily Buguloidea Gray, 1848 Family Candidae d'Orbigny, 1851 Genus *Paralicornia* Vieira, Spencer Jones, Winston, Migotto & Marques, 2014

#### *Paralicornia sinuosa* (Canu & Bassler, 1927) (Fig. 2)

Scrupocellaria sinuosa Canu & Bassler, 1927: 4, pl. 1, figs 4–5. Scrupocellaria spatulata: Ryland & Hayward, 1992: 237, fig. 9. Scrupocellaria sinuosa: Tilbrook & Vieira, 2012: 39, fig 7-8.



Figure 2. *Paralicornia sinuosa* (Canu & Bassler, 1927): A. Fragment of the erect and branched colony showing zooids shape and organization, scale bar: 200µm B. Detail of two zooids, showing basal vibraculum, frontal wall, spines and scutum, scale bar: 50µm.

Material examined. INVBRY 2063, INVBRY 2067.

Superfamily Cribrilinoidea Hincks, 1879 Family Cribrilinidae Hincks, 1879 Genus *Puellina* Jullien, 1886

## *Puellina smitti* Winston, 2005 (Fig.3)

*Cribrilina radiata*: Smitt 1873: 22 (part). *Puellina smitti* Winston, 2005: 34, figs 89–93. *Puellina smitti:* Winston, 2016: 30, fig 16 table 15.



Figure 3. *Puellina smitti* Winston, 2005: A. Encrusting colony on *Madracis myriaster* dead fragment, scale bar: 200µm B. Detail of zooid arrangement and avicularia, scale bar: 100µm C. Detail of zooids, spines, ovicells and avicularia, scale bar: 50µm.

Material examined. INVBRY 2075.

Superfamily Hippothooidea Busk, 1859 Family Pasytheidae Davis, 1934 Genus *Gemellipora* Smitt, 1873

# *Gemellipora eburnea* Smitt, 1873 (Fig. 4)

*Gemellipora eburnea* Smitt, 1873: 35 in part, pl. VII, fig 152-156. *Pasythea eburnea*: Smitt, 1873; Busk, 1885: 5, pl. 34, fig 1. *Gemellipora eburnea*: Osburn, 1940: 463, pl. 9, figs. 73-74; Winston, 2005:41, fig. 104-106.



Figure 4. *Gemellipora eburnea* Smitt, 1873: A. View of a branching colony, scale bar: 100µm B. Detail of zooids shape and pores, scale bar: 50µm C. Detail of zooid organization in the colony, scale bar: 100µm.

Material examined. INVBRY 2080, INVBRY 2082, INVBRY 2086, INVBRY 2090.

Superfamily Adeonoidea Busk, 1884 Family Adeonidae Busk, 1884 Genus *Adeonellopsis* MacGillivray, 1886

#### Adeonellopsis af subsulcata (Smitt, 1873) (Fig. 5)

*Bracebridgia subsulcata* Canu & Bassler, 1928b: 127, pl. 233, figs. 1-3, 25; Osburn, 1940:446; Osburn, 1947: 38; Cook, 1973: 253, pl. 2, fig. 4-6; Winston, 2005: 44, fig. 113-120.



Figure 5. *Adeonellopsis* af *subsulcata* (Smitt, 1873): A. General view of the branched colony, scale bar: 100µm B. Detail of zooid arrangement, scale bar: 100µm C. Detail of colony, scale bar: 100µm D. Close up detail of drop-shaped zooids, avicularia and marginal pores, scale bar: 50µm.

Material examined. INVBRY 2083, INVBRY 2094, INVBRY 2097.

Family Porinidae d'Orbigny, 1852 Genus *Semihaswellia* Canu & Bassler, 1917

#### Semihaswellia sinuosa. Canu & Bassler, 1928a

(Fig. 6)



Figure 6. *Semihaswellia sinuosa*. A. General view of the colony, scale bar: 100µm B. Detail of zooid organization in the colony, scale bar: 100µm C. Detail of ovicell and avicularia, scale bar: 50µm.

Material examined. INVBRY 2123, INVBRY 2129.

Superfamily Celleporoidea Johnston, 1838 Family Colatooeciidae Winston, 2005 Genus *Trematooecia* Osburn, 1940

#### Trematooecia gemmea (Winston & Woollacott, 2009)

(Fig. 7)



Figure 7. *Trematooecia gemmea* (Winston & Woollacott, 2009). A. Detail of opesia with condyles and ornamentation, scale bar: 50µm B. General view of the encrusting colony, scale bar: 100µm C. Detail of zooids with pores in the interzooidal zone, scale bar: 100µm, D. Zooid arrangement showing different growing directions, scale bar: 100µm.

Material examined. INVBRY 2134.

Family Phidoloporidae Gabb & Horn, 1862 Genus *Plesiocleidochasma* Soule, Soule & Chaney, 1991

### Plesiocleidochasma sp.

(Fig. 8)



Figure 8. *Plesiocleidochasma* sp. A. General view of the colony, scale bar:  $100\mu m$  B. Detail of zooid arrangements in the curved colony, scale bar:  $100\mu m$  C. Detail of opesia and zooid shape, scale bar:  $100\mu m$ , D. Detail of zooid and opesia with condyles, scale bar:  $50\mu m$ 

Material examined. INVBRY 2136, INVBRY 2138.

Family Celleporidae Johnston, 1838 Genus Turbicellepora Ryland, 1963

### Turbicellepora pourtalesi Winston, 2005

(Fig. 9)



Figure 9. *Turbicellepora pourtalesi* Winston, 2005. A. General view of the colony, scale bar: 100µm B. Detail of suboral avicularia and large spatulated interzooidal avicularium, scale bar: 100µm C. Detail of perforated ovicells, scale bar: 100µm, D. Detail of the colony with zooid arrangement, scale bar: 100µm.

Material examined. INVBRY 2145.

Class Stenolaemata Borg, 1926 Order Cyclostomatida Busk, 1852 Suborder Tubuliporina Family Oncousoeciidae Canu 1918 Genus *Oncousoecia* Canu, 1919

#### *Oncousoecia dilatans* (Johnson, 1847) (Fig. 10)



Figure 10. *Oncousoecia dilatans* (Johnson, 1847). A. Detail of colony with gonozooid, Scale bar: 100µm B. General view of the colony, scale bar: 100µm C. Detail of gonozooid opening, scale bar: 50µm D. Detail of zooid peristome, scale bar: 50µm.

Material examined. INVBRY 2147. Family Stomatoporidae Pergens & Meunier, 1886

Genus Stomatopora Bronn, 1825

Stomatopora sp.

(Fig. 11)



Figure 11. *Stomatopora* sp. A. General view of the encrusting colony, scale bar. 100µm B. Detail of the zooids, scale bar 250µm C. Detail of a zooid, scale bar: 100µm.

Material examined. INVBRY 2143.

# Chapter 3: Bryozoan distribution and its relationship with environmental conditions in the Colombian Caribbean

Vanessa Yepes-Narvaez<sup>1, 2</sup>; Richard Preziosi<sup>2</sup>

ORCID ID 0000-0001-7174-5382; ORCID ID 0000-0003-0468-6655

 Instituto de Investigaciones Marinas y Costeras – INVEMAR, Calle 25 N°. 2-55, Playa Salguero, Santa Marta, Colombia. <u>vanessa.yepes@invemar.org.co</u>
 Ecology and Environment Research Centre, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester M1 5GD United Kingdom. <u>r.preziosi@mmu.ac.uk</u>

#### ABSTRACT

The environmental conditions that determine the extent of occurrence of bryozoans are poorly known in the Caribbean. We made an extensive ecological review of bryozoans collected over a 15-year period in the Colombian Caribbean to determine the relationship between their distributions and environmental variables. Bryozoans were divided based on their growth forms (encrusting, erect and free living) and then grouped by type of sediment, location and depth. We found that erect flexible forms are dominant in the 1-10m depth range associated to hard substrates, while the 50-200m depth range was dominated by erect rigid forms associated with biological substrates and, the 1000-3888m depth range was dominated by delicate flexiblearticulated forms attached to soil grains. To better understand these bathymetric trends, four species were selected based on their potential of bioconstruction and growth form, Adeonellopsis subsulcata, Steginoporella magnilabris, Halophila antillea and Margaretta cereoides and their presence records were compared with environmental data. Our results showed a relationship between the relative abundance, mineral composition and growth with depth and temperature. The range 50-450m depth, presented the greatest assemblages of calcite-composed species with larger colonies than in shallower areas. The range 1500-3888m depth has more calcite-Mg composed species. This is the first study reporting environmental relationships with bryozoans from 1 to 3888m in the Colombian Caribbean.

**Keywords:** Environmental variables; Offshore research; growth type; Bioconstruction

#### INTRODUCTION

The relationship between environmental conditions and marine benthic fauna plays an important role in determining community structure and ecological functioning and distribution (Donnarumma et al., 2019; Arribas et al., 2014; Lloret & Marín, 2009). The occurrence, species richness, spatial distribution and relative abundance of calcified species are determined by the interaction of both biotic and abiotic variables (Vertino et al., 2010; Roberts et al., 2009). For example, temperature, salinity, primary productivity and flow are some of the major drivers in the distribution of corals, sponges, bryozoans and ascidian species worldwide (Eidens et al., 2014; Orejas et al., 2009).

A great number of marine bioconstructing species like bryozoans have, to some extent, a bathymetrical gradient distribution (Brown & Thatje, 2014; Pradillon & Gaill, 2007) which in some species is associated with morphological variations or polymorphisms (Figuerola et al., 2017; Fusco & Minelli, 2010). A reduction of some phenotypic features with increasing depth (Stepien et al., 2017; Hageman & Todd, 2014) is a consequence of limited food availability due to the reduced water flow (Crook et al., 2013). Bryozoan species found at abyssal zones are characterized as presenting delicate and less calcified colonies as an adaptative strategy to the low motion environments (Grischenko et al., 2019; Kaandorp, 1999) and due to carbonate corrosion because of the interaction with low pH caused by the oxidization of carbon dioxide (Palmer, 2009; Anderson et al., 2008).

Bryozoans are conspicuous and diverse in most marine environments with a broad tolerance of salinity and temperature (Amini & Rao, 2004; Taylor & Allison 1998). They are great carbonate producers in high primary productivity environments like upwelling zones, where their growth rate is faster, and the mineral composition of their skeletons is more complex (O'Dea et al., 2007). Typically, in those cases, bryozoans have bigger colony sizes and create habitat complexity for other organisms (Bastos et al., 2018; Wood et al., 2012; Yepes-Narváez. 2013; O'Dea et al., 2007).

The ecological information of bryozoans in the Colombian Caribbean is scarce as most studies have focused mainly on the biodiversity composition (Gracia et al., 2018; Cedeño-Posso et al., 2017; Delgadillo & Fórez, 2015; Flórez et al., 2007) and

updating species checklists (Montoya-Cadavid et al., 2007). However, the information associated with those findings has been key to understand the structure of the assemblages in the Colombian Caribbean (Montoya-Cadavid et al., 2010). To date, 202 species of bryozoans have been described for the continental shelf and upper slope of Colombia belonging mainly to Cheilostomatida (60%), which are particularly conspicuous in the northern part of the Caribbean, in La Guajira where a natural continuous upwelling phenomenon occurs (Corpoguajira & Invemar, 2012; Invemar, 2010). In this area, bryozoan colonies are bigger and more abundant than in the rest of the country (Yepes-Narváez, 2013).

This study aimed to Identify the bryozoans with high potential of bioconstruction and possible habitat in the Colombian Caribbean by re-analysing museum reference collections. We then compared the spatial and bathymetric distribution of the species found with environmental variables taken *in situ* and identified patterns of species distribution.

#### METHODS

#### Study area

The continental margin of the Colombian Caribbean is defined by a distinct topography with depths down to 3500m (Lopez, 2005), and an abyssal zone with the deepest isobath recorded at 4220 m (Invemar, 2018).

Due to its geographical location, the area presents both dry and wet seasons and a strong wind system that regulates most of the environmental dynamic of the area (Invemar, 2010). The northernmost part of its coastline experiences a constant oligotrophic upwelling characterized by decreasing surface temperature and increasing primary productivity (Manjarrés *et al.* 2005). During the wet season, environmental variables are modified by the continental runoff, mainly from the Magdalena River, that shapes the geography of the seabed and discharges tons of suspended particulate organic matter (POM), causing lower salinity levels in the Colombian Caribbean sea compared to the North Atlantic (Invemar 2006, Posada & Henao, 2006). Those fluctuations, together with the flow systems, contribute to the composition and spatial distribution of the Colombian marine biodiversity 96

(Invemar, 2010). Over 1000 samples were collected along the Colombian Caribbean Sea during both climatic seasons at 130 stations with contrasting topography (Figure 1), environmental features and depths (Suppl. I).



Figure 1. Map of the Colombian Caribbean with the sampling stations with bryozoan samples.

#### Material examined

This study included both, museum and fresh bryozoan material. The historical samples were collected from 2002 to 2017 during several research expeditions carried out by the Marine and Coastal Research Institute - INVEMAR in partnership with several national organisations and using different methods, such as trawling, dredges, benthic grabs, piston corers and remote operated vehicles - ROVs. Those samples were preserved in 70% ethanol and are part of the reference collection of the Marine Natural History Museum of Colombia – MHNMC under catalogue numbers INVBRY-001 – INVBRY-1985.

Additional biological material was collected by the author between 2017 and 2018 at 32 coastal ecosystem stations (submerged mangrove roots, seagrass meadows and rocky shores) along the Colombian Caribbean from 1 m to 5 m depth, using free diving and scuba diving. Half of the samples were preserved in 70% ethanol spirit for taxonomic identification and the other half in molecular grade ethanol for further genetic studies. A copy of this material was deposited as part of the coastal bryozoan reference collection of the MHNMC.

#### Taxonomic identification

Fresh and historical samples were separated by morphotypes. Some specimens were cleaned with a solution of Sodium Hypochlorite (10%) and rinsed with Hydrogen Peroxide (4%) and distilled water to remove tissue residues and facilitate subsequent microscopic review, identification and photographic recording. Taxonomic identification was performed based on Hayward and Ryland (1985) for Stenolaemata; Hayward (1985), Winston (1982) and Winston and Woollacoot (2009) for Ctenostomata; and for Cheilostomata Canu and Bassler (1928), Osburn (1940), Winston (1982, 1984, 1986, 2005), Soule *et al.* (1995), Hayward and Ryland (1998, 1999); Flórez and Montoya-Cadavid (2004); Flórez *et al.* (2007); Montoya-Cadavid and Flórez (2010) and Vieira *et al.* (2008, 2010, 2012).

As a support for taxonomic description, three colonies of every species were selected from which 10 zooids of each were measured, using Scanning Electron Microscopic (SEM) photographs and ImageJ software 1.45s, Java 1.6 .0-20 (64 bit). The identified material was entered into the Museum of Marine Natural History of Colombia – MHNMC and the Marine Biodiversity Information System database - SIBM.

Analysis of the general species richness and relative abundance per depth, sediment and geographic range were carried out, and four representatives of bioconstructing and habitat-forming bryozoan species were selected and are described in this study based on their growth form, size and relative abundance as well as observed biocoenosis, *Adeoneollopsis subsulcata*, *Steginoporella magnilabris*, *Halophila antilleae* and *Margaretta cereoides*.

#### Carbonate mineralogy of bryozoan species

We performed mineralogical analyses to determine the main mineral composition of the four bryozoan species selected at the Imaging and Analysis Centre (MMU) using semi-quantitative X-ray diffractometry (EDAX). Three sections of the colonies were selected, at the bottom, middle and tips and three replicates measurements were made of each bryozoan section. In addition, we gathered secondary information from the literature (Smith et al., 2006; Cairn & Macintyre, 1992) (Figure 2; Table 1



Figure 2. Skeletal diffractometry (EDAX) found in three replicates of A) *A.* subsulcata, B) *S. magnilabris*, C) *M. cereoides* and D) *H. antillaea* 

Α		Wt% Calcite		Wt%MgCO3				Reference		
Species	Mineralogy	Mean	Min	Max	Range	Mean	Min	Max	Range	
Margaretta cereoides	Aragonite	15.3	12.0	22.0	10.0	8.3	7.8	8.5	0.7	Cairns & Macintyre, 1992
	High Mg/Calcite									Smith et al., 2006
Adeonellopsis	Aragonite	0.0	0.0	1.0	1.0	1.0				Smith et al., 2006
	Low Mg/Calcite									Smith et al., 2006
В	Adeonellopsis su	bsulcata	Steginoporella magnilabris		Margaretta cereoides		Halophila antillaea		ntillaea	
Element	Wt%	At%	Wt%	At%	Wt%	At%	Wt%		4 <i>t%</i>	
CaK	28.83	14.01	25	11.6	22.57	10.17	16.63	8	3.04	
SiK	2.25	1.56			1.68	1.08	10.08	6	6.96	
SrL	1.07	0.24	1.02	0.22						
AIK	0.88	0.63			0.89	0.59	5.06	3	3.63	
SnL	0.86	0.14	0.68	0.11						
PbM	0.75	0.07	0.96	0.09	0.26	0.02				
NaK	0.55	0.47	0.85	0.68	1.36	1.07				
MgK	0.32	0.25	1.02	0.78	3.39	3.29	5.1	Ę	5.47	
ĊĬK					0.32	0.16				
FeK							2.92		1.01	
KK							0.66	(	).33	
HgM							0		0	
							I			

Table 1. Mineral information of the four bryozoans selected. Information obtained both from A) literature and B) measured in this study.

wt% means weight percent; At% means atomic percent

#### Environmental variables

Environmental data measured at the time of collection were Temperature (C), Salinity (PPT), Dissolved oxygen (ml l<sup>-1</sup>), sediment type and Depth (m) to determine the relationship between those variables and the distribution of bryozoans. The acquisition of historical environmental variables differed among expeditions, because the methods implemented varied. For 10 years CTDO equipment was deployed to obtain temperature, salinity and conductivity parameters and from 2012 CTDO was surrounded by a rosette of Niskin bottles for nutrient measurement, chlorophyll, nitrates, nitrites and phosphates. Recent expeditions implemented additional measurement of deep current systems ADSP and pCO2 probes for the measurement of partial pressure of carbon dioxide in the water. But, as this last information was only possible to obtain from the deep-sea stations COL3, COL4-5 and COL10 we could not compare this information with the other shallower stations (Suppl. II).

#### Map development

The distributions maps were made using the bryozoan database at the Information's System lab - Labsis at Invemar using ArcGIS. The distribution of bryozoans was evaluated by determining the species extent of occurrence in the sampled stations. For these analyses, sectorization by sub-regions (North, Middle and South Caribbean), bathymetry (1 to 3888 m) and the type of sediment (Sands and Muddy sands, Mud, Rocky bottoms) were followed in order to determine if there was any distribution pattern with respect to these factors (Figure 1).

#### Statistical analyses

To analyse if temperature, salinity, sediment type and location have an effect on the relative abundance of the 4 species, we performed a generalized linear model (glm), graphics are presented here; significant values were considered as below 0.001. Analyses were run in RStudio.

#### RESULTS

#### Bryozoan richness and growth forms

Between 1 and 3888m depth, 87 families, 78 genera and 203 bryozoan species were reviewed and re-identified. Our findings showed that Gymnolaemata (72 families) is the most conspicuous class in the area with representatives of the orders Ctenostomatida (10spp) and Cheilostomatida (162spp), this last one with higher number of families found (61) and 78% of the species. Stenolaemata on the other hand is the least representative class of bryozoans with four families belonging to the order Cyclostomatida (31spp). Some deep-sea species remain under study due to the lack of taxonomic reference for the area at those depths (Suppl. VII). The species presented three main growth forms, erect, encrusting and free-living (Table 2)

Erect				Free living			
<b>Rigid</b> Biflustra arborescens	Articulated Bugula neritina	Flexible Amathia distans	Massive Celleporaria albirostris	Membraniporiforme Antropora leucocypha	<b>Stolon</b> Aetea anguina	Lunulitiform Cupuladria panamenesis	
Adeonellopsis subsulcata	Canda simplex	Amathia vidovici	Disporella cf.	Beania americana	Aetea ligulata	Cupuladria	
Cosciniopsis violacea	Crisia denticulata	Bugula stolonifera	Plagioecia cf. patina	Biflustra arborescens	Aetea truncata	Discoporella cf. marcusorum	
Labioporella dumonti	Filicrisia sp.	Catenicella contei	Rhynchozoon spicatum	Biflustra denticulata	Beania australis	Mamillopora cupula	
Mecynoecia delicatula	Gemelliporina glabra	Savinyella lafonti	, Cigclisula turrita	Bryopesanser pesanseris	Beania klugei		
Metrarabdotos sp.	<i>Licornia</i> joloisii	Halophila antillaea		Celleporella carolinensis	Beania maxilladentata		
Nevianipora floridiana	Margaretta buski			Drepanophora tuberculata	Beania mirabilissima		
Reteporellina evelinae	Margaretta cereoides			Escharina porosa	Hippothoa flagellum		
Steginoporella magnilabris	Nellia oculata			Exechonella antillea	Nolella stipata		
Stylopoma projecta	Pasythea tulipifera			Floridina antiqua			
Reteporellina marsupiata	Sinnotum aegyptiacum			Gemelliporida aculeata			
	Tetraplaria dichotoma			Hippaliosina rostrigera			
				Hippomenella fissurata Hippoporidra eddax Jellyella tuberculata Klugerella aragoi Membranipora cf. tenella			
				Membranipora tenuis Micropora coriacea Microporella protea Parellisina curvisostris Petraliella bisinuata Petraliella marginata Pleurocodonellia signata			
				Poricella mucronata Pourtalesella rugosa Puellina radiata			

Table 2. List of species with their growth forms found in the Colombian Caribbean.

To analyse the growth forms per bathymetric gradient in the Colombian Caribbean, we divided the area into five ranges (Figure 3), 1-50m depth was predominantly dominated by erect-flexible-articulated colonies, likely to be influenced by the strong current flows that characterize this zone, followed by the encrusting-membraniporid forms.

The range 50-200m depth was dominated by erect rigid-forms either unilaminar or multilaminar, especially in La Guajira (North) where the abundance of species was the highest for the country. The range 200-600m depth was dominated by encrusting-massive forms and erect-rigid like *C. albirostris*.

The range 600-1000m was less diverse and mainly colonised by slightly calcified species showing an erect-flexible or articulated form such as Bugulidae bryozoans. The range 1000-4000m, due to the lack of sampling effort, was the least diverse and the few species registered for the zone were predominantly Bugulidae with small erect-articulated or flexible forms (Figure 3).

The species with bigger colony size and with the highest bioconstruction complexity were, *A.subsulcata, S. magnilabris, S. projecta, S. smitti, C. violacea, B. arborescens, C. albirostris, M. cereoides, M. buski, G. glabra, R. marsupiata, R. evelinae, P. bisinuata, P. mucronata, C. simplex, L. jolloisii, B. neritina, A. vidovici, A. distans, H. antillaea, P. tulipifera, I. atlantica, E. bellula, N. ocullata, S. dumonti, C. uberrima, C. contei, C. denticulata and T. dichotoma (Figure 4; 5)* 



Figure 3. Illustration of the relative abundance of growth forms based on the bathymetric ranges set in this study for the Colombian Caribbean.



Figure 4. SEM photography of the most common bryozoans with different growth forms found along the Colombian Caribbean. A. *H. rostrigera*, B. *T. pourtalesi*. C. *R. marsupiata*, D. *B. Americana*, E. *F. antiqua*, F. *P. signata*, G. *R. spicatum*, H. *S. pacifica*. Scale bar: 100um.



Figure 5. *continuation*. SEM photography of the most common bryozoans with different growth forms found along the Colombian Caribbean. A. *B.arborescens*, B. S. *projecta*, C. *A. subsulcata*, D. *B. neritina*, E. *C. violacea*, F. *C. calciformis*. G. *L. jolloisii*. H. *B. australis*. Scale bar: 100um.

#### Comparison to environmental conditions

From the samples reviewed in this study we selected four species (*A. subsulcata, S. magnilabris, M. cereoides* and *H. antillaea*) characterized by having a wide distribution in the Colombian Caribbean both geographically and across depth, and by their contrasting growth forms. Here, we compared their relative abundance in the three sections we divided our sampling area (North, Middle and South Caribbean).

Adeonellopsis subsulcata (Smitt, 1873) (Fig. 6)



Figure 6. SEM photography of *A. subsulcata* found in the Colombian Caribbean. Scale bar: 100um.

Our results showed that the location did not have an effect on the relative abundance of *A. subsulcata* in the three areas of the Caribbean (p=0.002; Figure 7). In addition, the model showed that temperature (Suppl. III) and salinity (Figure 8) had a significant effect on the relative abundance of this species (p<0.001); higher at a salinity of 36.6 ppt and at 24.5C. The interaction of both factors did not have a significant effect on abundance (p=0.008).



Figure 7. Relative abundance of *A. subsulcata* with respect the three locations in the Colombian Caribbean, showing a higher variance in the North but similar mean abundance with the South zone.



Figure 8. Relative abundance of *A. subsulcata* with respect the salinity in the Colombian Caribbean, showing a higher abundance after 36.5 ppt.
The abundance of *A. subsulcata* was affected by the sediment type (p<0.001) (Figure 9). Most colonies were found in mixed Mud-Rock and Mud-Sand stations. Also, the abundance was the highest at 80m depth (p<0.001) (Figure 10), and the interaction depth and temperature (p<0.001) but no interaction between depth and salinity (p=0.042).



Figure 9. Relative abundance of *A. subsulcata* with respect the sediment type in the Colombian Caribbean, showing a higher variance in the Mud-sand type but similar mean abundance with the Mud-rock sediment.



Figure 10. Relative abundance of *A. subsulcata* with respect to depth.

Steginoporella magnilabris (Busk, 1854) (Fig. 11)



Figure 11. SEM photography of *S. magnilabris* found in the Colombian Caribbean. Scale bar: 100um.

Our results showed that the location had an effect on the relative abundance of *S. magnilabris* (p<0.001). It was high in the Middle zone and lower in the North (Figure 12). Temperature (Suppl. IV) had a significant effect on the relative abundance of this species (p<0.001), and the abundance was higher at 22.7C. Salinity (Figure 13) did not show significant effects on the relative abundance (p=0.003), but, the interaction of both factors with the location had a significant effect on the relative abundance (p<0.001).

The abundance of *S. magnilabris* was affected by the sediment type (Figure 14). Most colonies were found in mixed Mud-Rock and Mud-Sand stations (p<0.001). In addition, the abundance was higher at 250m depth showing an effect of the depth on the abundance (p<0.001) (Figure 15) and the interaction depth and temperature (p<0.001) but no interaction between depth and salinity (p=0.004).



Figure 12. Relative abundance of *S. magnilabris* in the three locations in the Colombian Caribbean, showing a low abundance in the North relative to the Middle zone.



Figure 13. Relative abundance of *S. magnilabris* with respect the salinity in the Colombian Caribbean, showing a higher abundance after 36.9 ppt.



Figure 14. Relative abundance of *S. magnilabris* with respect the sediment type in the Colombian Caribbean, showing a high abundance in the Mud-Rock type.



Figure 15. Relative abundance of *S. magnilabris* with respect the depth, showing higher abundance at 250m depth.

Margaretta cereoides (Ellis & Solander, 1786) (Fig. 16)





Our results showed that the location did not have a significant effect on the relative abundance of *M. cereoides* in the three areas of the Caribbean (p=0.03). The variation was high in the Middle zone, but the abundance was higher in the North (Figure 17). In addition, temperature (Suppl. V) had a significant effect on the relative abundance of this species (p<0.001), it was higher at 24C, but salinity (Figure 18) did not have a significant effect (p=0.02), although it was higher at a salinity of 36.9 ppt. The interaction of temperature and location had a significant effect on the relative abundance (p<0.001), but the interaction of salinity and location did not show significant effect (p=0.07).

Also, the abundance of *M. cereoides* was affected by the sediment type (Figure 19). Most colonies were found in mixed Mud-Rock and Mud-Sand stations (p<0.001). In addition, the abundance was higher at 80m depth showing an effect of the depth on the abundance (p<0.001) (Figure 20) and the interaction depth and temperature (p<0.001) but no interaction between depth and salinity (p=0.006).



Figure 17. Relative abundance of *M. cereoides* with respect the three locations in the Colombian Caribbean, showing low abundance in all the zones.



Figure 18. Relative abundance of *M. cereoides* with respect the salinity in the Colombian Caribbean, showing a higher abundance after 36.9 ppt.



Figure 19. Relative abundance of *M. cereoides* with respect the sediment type in the Colombian Caribbean, showing a high abundance in the Mud-Rock type.



Figure 20. Relative abundance of *M. cereoides* with respect the depth, showing higher abundance at 80m depth.

Halophila antillaea Winston, 2005 (Fig. 21)



Figure 21. SEM photography of *H. antillaea* found in the Colombian Caribbean. Scale bar: 100um.

Our results showed that the location has a significant effect on the relative abundance of *H. antillaea* in the three areas of the Caribbean (p<0.001). The variation was high in the North zone, as well as the abundance (Figure 22). In addition, temperature (Suppl. VI) had a significant effect on the relative abundance of this species (p<0.001), it was higher at 27.2C, and the salinity (Figure 22) also has a significant effect (p<0.001), being higher at a salinity of 35.6ppt. The interaction of temperature and location had a significant effect on the relative abundance (p<0.001), but the interaction of salinity and location did not show significant effect (p=0.05).

Also, the abundance of *H. antillaea* was affected by the sediment type (Figure 24). Most colonies were found in mixed Mud-Sand stations (p<0.001). In addition, the abundance was higher at 80m depth showing an effect of the depth on the abundance (p<0.001) (Figure 25) and the interaction depth and temperature (p<0.001) but no interaction between depth and salinity (p=0.002).



Figure 22. Relative abundance of *H. antillaea* with respect the three locations in the Colombian Caribbean, showing high abundance in the North zone.



Figure 23. Relative abundance of *H. antillaea* with respect the salinity in the Colombian Caribbean, showing a higher abundance after 35.6 ppt.



Figure 24. Relative abundance of *H. antillaea* with respect the sediment type in the Colombian Caribbean, showing a high abundance in the Mud-Sand type.



Figure 25. Relative abundance of *H. antillaea* with respect to the depth, showing a higher abundance at 80m depth.

# DISCUSSION

# Bathymetric and geographical distribution of bryozoans

Bryozoans inhabit the Colombian Caribbean Sea from 1 to 3880m depth. This study showed that their distribution along bathymetric ranges depends on physical and environmental conditions and each species has different environmental requirements for its relative abundance and growth. The Colombian continental shelf and the upper slope have diverse geological formations that are influenced by the constant continental interactions such as Magdalena river, in the Mid-Caribbean, whose delta modifies the geology of the deep-sea (Magdalena fan) (Idárraga-Garcia et al., 2019; Invemar, 2010) and contributes to salinity fluctuations in the area. (Figure 26). About 10% of the bryozoan assemblages were identified in this area from 1-80m depth and are characterized for having higher tolerances to salinity and temperature fluctuations and present mainly flexible growth forms that allow them to dominate this high energetic area. Example species are *Bugula neritina*, *Conopeum seuratum* and *Amathia vidovici*.



Figure 26. Bathymetry and geo-forms in the Colombian Caribbean. Shelf in red, deepsea in blue. The Magdalena fan (arrow). Image credits Dimar, 2020. However, the vast majority of the species in this area are found from 80 to 1000m depth at which several growth forms thrive such as the rigid-erect (e.g *Steginoporella* spp., *A. subsulcata* and *Celleporaria* spp.), the massive encrusting (*F. antiqua, R. spicatum* and *C. turrita*) and the free-living forms (*Cupuladria* spp and *Discoporella* spp.) this trend is possibly influenced by the high deep-sea productivity in the area (Santodomingo et al., 2013; Ercilla et al., 2002), and triggered by the Magdalena river which injects tons of continental nutrients, positively impacting growth and reproduction as evidenced in the high abundance and richness found (Invemar, 2010). A similar situation occurs at the south Colombian Caribbean where bryozoan diversity from 1 to 80m is low, most species present flexible growth forms and high tolerance to salinity and temperature fluctuations. The sediment at that depth is mainly mud, originated from the interaction of runoff from mainland, the diapiric activity of mud volcanos, and the methane seeps from the Sinú-San Jacinto fold belt that enriches the sediments with minerals and generates lower pH in the sediment (Gracia et al., 2011; Invemar, 2010).

The middle and south zones have the highest species richness from 80 to 250m depth, possibly due to the enrichment from shallower areas and the more stable environmental conditions such as slower water flow and nutrient availability. Here, erect-articulated and unilaminar rigid-erect forms are dominant.

In contrast, the northern zone of the Colombian Caribbean holds the greatest abundance and species richness form 1 to 80m depth (Yepes-Narvaez, 2013), mainly influenced by the seasonal upwelling phenomena that have modified the chemistry and physical processes such as water currents and sediment removal in the area (Eidens et al., 2014; Corpoguajira & Invemar, 2012) that in addition to high turbidity, supports a relatively high primary productivity that will benefit skeleton growth (Berning, 2007; Smith, 2007; Taylor, 2005, Winston, 1983), However, diversity decreases from 250m depth, and the driver of this trend could be that the deep-sea sediments removal creates an unstable environment for larval settlement at those depths and in addition to stronger water flow. These phenomena cause a reduction of food availability in the deep which is crucial for the growth and reproduction of bryozoans (O'Dea & Okamura, 1999; Winston, 1988).

With regards to geographical distribution, our results partially contradict Navas et al. (2010) findings about an exponential reduction in faunal assemblages from north to south Colombian Caribbean in the continental shelf and the upper slope because we found that what is actually triggering the distribution patterns, at least for bryozoans are the depth, flow and food availability. As explained earlier, La Guajira (north) holds the richest bryozoan biodiversity due to higher food availability in the range 1-80m depth and exponentially decreases after 250m, however, in the middle and south at the same bathymetric range, species assemblages are reduced, but at deeper ranges 80-250m and 250-600m depth, the diversity is higher than that found at the same depth in the northern part of the Caribbean.

Bryozoans in the North zone are bigger in size and are the main structuring organisms, especially in La Guajira, in the absence of stony corals due to the high turbidity systems typical from this location. This is the most explored area in the Colombian Caribbean Sea, and it holds the greatest species record for the country (Figure 27). *Adeonellopsis subsulcata* is one of the most dominant species here and has an erect-rigid growth form that allows it to create habitat complexity (Yepes-Narvaez, 2013).



Figure 27. Bryozoan distribution in the north zone of the Colombian Caribbean based on the collections of five expeditions in the area.

The least explored area in the northern Caribbean is the bathymetric range from 1000m due to several limiting factors including harsh climatic conditions that limit longer exploration campaigns and the sampling costs attributed to this type of research. However, this area holds species that could be new to science and give paleo-environmental information about those depths (covered in chapter 2).

The Middle zone is the least explored in the Colombian Caribbean, hence the low number of bryozoan species recorded (Flórez et al., 2007). However, the bryozoan species list from 9.9 to 20m depth here is the highest at that depth compared to any other zone of the Caribbean and reveals a possible connection with deeper bryozoans in the south Caribbean (Montoya-Cadavid et al., 2007) (Figure 28). This area could be considered an intermediate between the dynamic north Caribbean and the calmer shallow water of the South, for instance finding species from both other zones here is not rare. The dominant growth form here are the erect-rigid *S.magnilabris* and the erect-articulated *M. cereoides* as well as the encrusting laminar forms associated artificial substrates in the line coast (Gracia et al., 2018).



Figure 28. Bryozoan distribution in the middle zone of the Colombian Caribbean.

Finally, the South zone, is the second most explored area in the Colombian Caribbean since the recent declaration of the Deep-sea Corals Natural National Park – PNNCP (MADS, 2013). Most of the sampling efforts have focused on baseline explorations at the limiting margins of the park and very few efforts have been put in place to study the shallower fauna, hence the reduced species records (Montoya-Cadavid et al., 2010). Bryozoans in this zone are less abundant and diverse from 1-80m and most have been identified as associating with artificial substrates (Delgadillo &. Flórez, 2015) or in natural substrates associated with mangrove roots (Chapter 4). The dominant growth form at the shallower range is the erect-flexible *Amathia* spp. or erect-articulated form typical of *Paralicornia* spp and *Bugula neritina*. From 80-600m depth a vast diversity and abundance of bryozoans is found (Figure 29); the dominant species at these depths are *S. magnilabris* and *A. subsulcata.* in addition, a high deep-sea diversity is found surrounding the *Madracis myriaster* bioherms at the PNNCP (Chapter 2). The knowledge is still incipient and further efforts should be implemented to explore different areas of the Colombian Caribbean



Figure 29. Bryozoan distribution in the south zone of the Colombian Caribbean based on the collections of four expeditions in the area.

#### Significance of environmental variables

We found that bryozoans have different environmental needs for their growth and distribution. The environmental variables measured in this study compared to the bryozoan relative abundance, showed that salinity is not a good indicator for *A. subsulcata, S. magnilabris* or *M. cereoides,* as specimens of these were found across salinity ranges with similar variances and no trend was observed at higher or lower salinity levels. However, this is different for *H. antillaea* whose highest relative abundances were delimited by the salinity range between 21.7 and 27.2ppt, lower or higher salinities represented a reduction in relative abundance for this particular species. On the other hand, temperature is good indicator of the abundance of these species along a bathymetric range because it limits the distribution of species and their relative abundance, deeper stations presented fewer species records and smaller sized colonies, these stations were the coldest, while shallower stations 1-10m depth had the hottest temperatures and the lowest abundances of individual species. The optimum temperature range for the four species analysed was between 22.7 and 24 C.

### Bryozoan mineralogy significance and relationship distribution

The literature revision of the mineralogical compositions of the four species analysed, could not be compared between all the species because, to our knowledge, there are not enough preliminary studies in the calcification patterns of Caribbean species. The EDAX readings on the chemical composition, revealed that *M. cereoides* and *A. subsulcata* present the highest proportions of Mg and Calcite while *H. antillae* present the lowest calcite readings compared to the previous species but their Mg composition is high compared to *S. magnilabris*, which also present high calcite concentrations and high Mg. The distribution of these species could explain their mineralogical composition. *H. antillaea* and *M. cereoides* inhabit mostly clear and energetic environments which reduces the carbonate intake, and their colonies are flexible as an adaptation to the water movement and to ensure bigger food catch. The rest, invest in bigger colonies as a consequence of the productive environments they live in.

# CONCLUSIONS

There is a relationship between the environmental conditions and the bathymetric and geographical distribution of bryozoans in the Colombian Caribbean. The northern zone has the greatest diversity from 1-80m depth and in the middle and south the greatest from 80-600m depth. Growth forms are structural modifications of the colony shape in response to different physical and environmental stressors. Flexible colonies are typical of shallow water bryozoans in high energy habitats and in deep-sea environments where there are limiting factors that do not allow bigger colony growth. Rigid colonies on the other hand can be unilaminar or multilaminar and their level of complexity depends on the energy and food availability. Temperature and depth are good indicators of the distribution and relative abundance of bryozoans. The mineralogical composition of bryozoans is also influenced by the environmental conditions and food availability.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are very thankful with the Marine and Coastal Research Institute of Colombia – Invemar, for the provision of the biological material and the support in field activities as well as in the logistics for the biological material exportation to the UK for its analysis. Especial thanks to Erika Montoya, Catalina Arteaga and Miguel Martelo for their support sorting the material for its transportation. Also, thanks to Manuel Garrido for the support with the environmental data cleaning and GIS guidance. In addition, we are thankful with the Ecology and Environment Research Centre from MMU for the financial support attending conferences and trips to Colombia and the academic encouragement that allowed the analysis for this research.

#### REFERENCES

- Amini, Z.Z., Adabi, M.H, & C.P. Rao (2004) Oceanographic controls on sedimentological and geochemical variations in temperate carbonates off western Tasmania, Australia. Carbonates Evaporites 18 (No. 2).
- Andersson, A. J., F. T. Mackenzie & N. R. Bates (2008) Life on the margin: implications of ocean acidification on Mg- calcite, high latitude and cold-water marine calcifiers. Marine Ecology Progress Series 373: 265–273.
- Arribas, L. P., Donnarumma, L., Palomo, M. G., & R. A. Scrosati (2014) Intertidal mussels as ecosystem engineers: their associated invertebrate biodiversity under contrasting wave exposures. Mar. Biodivers. 44, 203–211. doi: 10.1007/s12526-014-0201-z.
- Bastos, A., Moura, R., Moraes, F., Vieira, L., Braga, J., Ramalho, L. Amado-Filho,
  G., Magdalena, U. & J. Webster (2018) Bryozoans are Major Modern Builders
  of South Atlantic Oddly Shaped Reefs. Scientific Reports 8:9638.
  doi:10.1038/s41598-018-27961-6.
- Berning, B. (2007) The Mediterranean bryozoan Myriapora truncata (Pallas, 1766): a potential indicator of (palaeo-) environmental conditions. Lethaia 40: 221–232.
- Brown, A., & S. Thatje (2014) Explaining bathymetric diversity patterns in marine benthic invertebrates and demersal fishes: physiological contributions to adaptation of life at depth. Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, 89(2), 406–426. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12061</u>.
- Cairns, S.D. & I.G., MacIntyre (1992) Phylogenetic implications of calcium carbonate mineralogy in the Stylasteridae (Cnidaria: Hydrozoa). Palaios 7, 96–107.
- Canu, F. & Bassler, R.S. (1928) Bryozoaires du Brésil. Bulletin de la Société des Sciences de Seine-et-Oise, 9, 58–110, 9 pls.
- Cedeño-Posso, C., Alonso, D., Ballesteros, D., Yepes-Narváez, V., Rocha, V., Cárdenas, A., et al. (2017). Mapeo de la distribución del ensamblaje de

Madracis spp., el Parque Nacional Natural Corales de Profundidad. Final technical report. INVEMAR, PNN.

- Corpoguajira & Invemar (2012) Atlas marino costero de La Guajira. Serie de Publicaciones Especiales de Invemar No. 27. Santa Marta, Colombia. 188p.
- Crook, E. D., H. Cooper, D. C. Potts, T. Lambert & A. Paytan (2013) Impacts of food availability and pCO2 on planulation, juvenile survival, and calcification of the azooxan- thellate scleractinian coral Balanophyllia elegans. Biogeosciences 10: 7599–7608
- Delgadillo-G., & P. Flórez (2015) Primeros registros del phylum Bryozoa asociados a hábitats artificiales en el Caribe colombiano. Lat. Am. J. Aquat. Res. 43(1), 33-45.
- Donnarumma L., Appolloni L., Chianese E., Bruno R., Baldrighi E., Guglielmo R., Russo G.F., Zeppilli D. & R. Sandulli (2019) Environmental and Benthic Community Patterns of the Shallow Hydrothermal Area of Secca Delle Fumose (Baia, Naples, Italy). Front. Mar. Sci. 6:685. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2019.00685.
- Eidens, C., Bayraktarov, E., Hauffe, T., Pizarro, V., Wilke, T & C. Wild (2014) Benthic primary production in an upwelling-influenced coral reef, Colombian Caribbean. PeerJ 2:e554; DOI 10.7717/peerj.554.
- Ercilla, G., Alonso, B., Estrada, F., Chioccib, F., Baraza, J. & M. Farran (2002) The Magdalena Turbidite System (Caribbean Sea): present-day morphology and architecture model. Marine Geology 185, 303-318.
- Figuerola, B. Kuklinski, P. Carmona, F. & P. Taylor (2017) Evaluating potential factors influencing branch diameter and skeletal Mg-calcite using an Antarctic cyclostome bryozoan species. Hydrobiologia, 799:101-110.
- Flórez, P. & E. Montoya-Cadavid (2004). Briozoos de la plataforma continental y el talud superior del Caribe colombiano (20-500m). Thesis (Marine Biology). Universidad de Bogotá Jorge Tadeo Lozano. Santa Marta 303 pp.
- Flórez, P., Montoya-Cadavid, E.; Reyes, J. & N. Santodomingo (2007). Briozoos cheilostomados del Caribe colombiano. Bol. Investig. Mar Cost. 36(1), 229-250.

- Fusco, G. & A. Minelli (2010) Phenotypic plasticity in development and evolution: facts and concepts. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological sciences 365: 547-556.
- Gracia, A., Rangel-Buitrago, J. & J. Sellanes (2011) Methane seep molluscs from the Sinu–San Jacinto fold belt in the Caribbean Sea of Colombia. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 1-11.
- Gracia, A., Rangel-Buitrago, N. & P. Flórez (2018) Beach litter and woody-debris colonizers on the Atlantico department Caribbean coastline, Colombia. Mar. Pol. Bul. 128, 185-196.
- Grischenko, A., Hirose, M., Schwaha, T., Chernyshev, A.C. (2019) First record of an abyssal and hadal bryozoan fauna from the Kuril-Kamchatka Trench. Progress in Oceanography 176,102130.
- Hageman, S. & C. Todd (2014) Hierarchical (mm- to km-scale) environmental variation affecting skeletal phenotype of a marine invertebrate (Electra pilosa, Bryozoa): Implications for fossil species concepts. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 396, 213-226.
- Hayward, P. J. (1985) Ctenostome Bryozoans. pp. 1-169. (Kermack, D.M. & Barnes, R.S.K. Synopses of the British Fauna (n.s.), 33). E.J.Brill for the Linnaean Society, London.
- Hayward, P.J. & J.S. Ryland (1985) Systematic notes on some British Cyclostomata (Bryozoa). Journal of Natural History, 19, 1073–1078 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00222938500770671
- Hayward, P.J. & J.S. Ryland (1998) Cheilostomatous Bryozoa. Part 1. Aeteoidea-Cribrilinoidea. Synopses of the British Fauna, n.s., 10, 1–366.
- Idárraga-García, J., Massonb, D., García, J., Leóna, H & C. Vargas (2019) Architecture and development of the Magdalena Submarine Fan T (southwestern Caribbean). Marine Geology 414, 18–33.

- Invemar (2010) Biodiversidad del margen continental del Caribe colombiano. Santa Marta: Serie Publ. Espec. Invemar. No. 20.
- Invemar (2018) Informe del Estado de los Ambientes Marinos y Costeros en Colombia: Año 2005. (Serie de publicaciones periódicas del Invemar No.8) Santa Marta. 360p. Invemar, 2002. Distribución, estructura y clasificación de las praderas de fanerógamas marinas del Caribe colombiano. Proyecto Invemar-Colciencias. Informe Final para el Ministerio del Medio Ambiente y la Unidad Administrativa Especial del Sistema de Parques Nacionales Naturales UAESPNN. 60p.
- Invemar (2006) Informe del Estado de los Ambientes Marinos y Costeros en Colombia: Año 2005. (Serie de publicaciones periódicas del Invemar No.8) Santa Marta. 360p. Invemar, 2002. Distribución, estructura y clasificación de las praderas de fanerógamas marinas del Caribe colombiano. Proyecto Invemar-Colciencias. Informe Final para el Ministerio del Medio Ambiente y la Unidad Administrativa Especial del Sistema de Parques Nacionales Naturales UAESPNN. 60p.
- Kaandorp, J. A. (1999) Morphological analysis of growth forms of branching marine sessile organisms along environmen- tal gradients. Marine Biology 134: 295– 306.
- Lloret, J., and A. Marín (2009) The role of benthic macrophytes and their associated macroinvertebrate community in coastal lagoon resistance to eutrophication. Mar. Poll. Bull. 58, 1827–1834. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2009. 08.001.
- López, C. (2005). Determinacion del gradiente geotérmico a partir del reflector simulador de fondo. Tesis de pre- grado, Universidad Industrial de Santander, Bucara- manga, 100 pp.MADS Ministerio de Ambiente y Desarrollo Sostenible. (2013). Resolución Número 0339 "Por medio de la cual se reserva, delimita, alindera y declara el Parque Nacional Natural Corales de Profundidad". Published in Official Diary 48766 on April 19, 2013. Bogotá D.C.: CO. Ministry of Environment and Sustainable Development.

- Manjarrés, L. Rodríguez G., Torres J., Vergara A., Arteaga E., Arévalo J., Galvis R., Rodríguez D.Y. & J. Viaña (2005) Evaluación de peces demersales e ictioplancton en el Mar Caribe de Colombia, incluyendo condiciones oceanográficas. Revista Intropica (Santa Marta): 8: 87-115.
- Montoya-Cadavid, E. & P. Flórez (2010) "Briozoos: una aproximación a su conocimiento en los fondos del Caribe colombiano (20 – 800 m)", In Biodiversidad del margen continental del Caribe colombiano, ed. Invemar (Medellín: Marquillas S.A.), Serie Publ. Espec. Invemar. No. 20, 282 - 315.
- Montoya-Cadavid, E., Flórez, P. & J. E. Winston (2007) Checklist of the marine Bryozoa of the Colombian Caribbean. Biota Colombiana 8(2), 159-189.
- Navas, G., Vides, M. & M. Díaz-Ruiz (2010) Ensamblajes faunísticos de la plataforma y talud superior del mar caribe colombiano. 354-391. In INVEMAR (Eds.). 2010. Biodiversidad del margen continental del Caribe colombiano. Serie de Publicaciones Especiales, Invemar No. 20 p. 4588.
- O'Dea, A., & B. Okamura (1999) The influence of seasonal variation in temperature, salinity, and food availability on module size and colony growth in the estuarine bryozoan, *Conopeum seurati*. Mar. Biol. 135, 581–588.
- O'Dea, A., Rodriguez, F. & T. Romero (2007) Response of zooid size in Cupuladria exfragminis (Bryozoa) to simulated upwelling temperatures. Marine Ecology 28 (2007) 315–323.
- Orejas C., Gori A., Lo Iacono C., Puig P., Gili J.M., & M.R.T. Dale (2009) Cold-water corals in the Cap de Creus canyon, northwestern Mediterranean: spatial distribution, density and anthropogenic impact. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 397:37-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08314</u>.
- Osburn, R.C. (1940) Bryozoa of Porto Rico with a resumé of the West Indian bryozoan fauna. Scientific Survey of Porto Rico and the Virgin Islands, 16, 321– 486.Palmer, M. R., 2009. Paleo-ocean pH. Encyclopedia of Earth Sciences Series 15: 743-746.

- Posada-Posada, B.O. & W. Henao-Pineda (2008) Diagnóstico de la erosión en la zona costera del Caribe. Invemar. Santa Marta. Serie de Publicaciones Especiales No. 13: 124p.
- Pradillon, F. & F. Gaill (2007) Pressure and life: some biological strategies. Reviews in Environmental Science and Biotechnology 6, 181-195.
- Roberts, J. M., Wheeler, A. J., Freiwald, A., and S. Cairns (2009) Cold-water corals: the biology and geology of deep-sea coral habitats, Cambridge University Press, England, 2009.
- Santodomingo, N., Reyes, J., Flórez, P., Chacón-Gómez, I., Ofwegen L. & B. Hoeksema (2013) Diversity and distribution of azooxanthellate corals in the Colombian Caribbean. Mar Biodiv 43, 7–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12526-012-0131-6</u>.
- Smith A.M., Key M. & D. Gordon (2006) Skeletal mineralogy of bryozoans: Taxonomic and temporal patterns. Earth-Science Reviews 78. 287–306.
- Smith, A. M. (2007) Age, growth and carbonate production by erect rigid bryozoans in Antarctica. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 256: 86– 98.
- Soule, Dorothy F., Soule, John D., & H. W. Chaney (1995) Taxonomic Atlas of the benthic fauna of the Santa Maria Basin and western Santa Barbara Channel. The Bryozoa. Irene McCulloch Foundation Monograph Series, Number 2. Hancock Insitute of Marine Studies, University of Southern California, Los Angeles.Stepien, A., Kuklinski, P., Wlodarska-Kowalczuk, M., Krzeminska, M. & Gudmundsson, G. 2017. Bryozoan zooid size variation across a bathymetric gradient: a case study from the Icelandic shelf and continental slope. Marine Biology, vol. 164, no. 10.
- Taylor, P. D. (2005) Bryozoans and palaeoenvironmental interpretation. Journal of the Palaeontological Society of India 50: 1–11.
- Taylor, P.D., & P.A., Allison (1998) Bryozoan carbonates through time and space. Geology 26, 459-462.

- Vieira, L.M., Migotto, A.E. & J.E. Winston (2008) Synopsis and annotated checklist of Recent marine Bryozoa from Brazil. Zootaxa, 1810, 1–39.
- Vieira, Leandro M., Gordon, Dennis P., Souza, Facelucia B.C. & M.A Haddad (2010). New and little-known cheilostomatous Bryozoa from the south and southeastern Brazilian continental shelf and slope. Zootaxa, 2722, 1-53.
- Vieira, Leandro M., Farrapeira, Cristiane Maria Rocha, Amaral, Fernanda D. & S.
   M.A., Lira (2012) Bryozoan biodiversity in Saint Peter and Saint Paul Archipelago, Brazil. Cahiers de Biologie Marine, 53: 159-167.
- Vertino, A., Savini, A., Rosso, A., Di Geronimo, I., Mastrototaro, F., Sanfilippo, R., Gay, G., & G. Etiope (2010) Benthic habitat characterization and distribution from two representative sites of the deep-water SML Coral Province (Mediterranean), Deep-Sea Res. II, 57, 380–396.
- Winston, J.E. (1982) Marine Bryozoans (Ectoprocta) of the Indian River area (Florida). Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History, 173, 99–176.
- Winston, J.E. (1983) Patterns of growth, reproduction and mortality in bryozoans from the Ross Sea, Antarctica. Bull. Mar. Sci. 33(3): 688-702.
- Winston, J.E. (1984) Shallow-water Bryozoans of Carrie Bow Cay, Belize. American Museum Novitates, 2799, 1–38.
- Winston, J. E. (1986) Life histories of lunulitiform bryozoans. Final report, National Geographic Society.
- Winston, J. E. (1988) Life histories of free-living bryozoans. National Geographic Research, 4: 528-53. Winston J.E. 1995. Ectoproct diversity of the Indian River coastal lagoon. Bulletin of Marine Science, 57: 184-193.
- Winston, Judith E., & M., Jr., Key (1999) Alcyonidium albescens (Ectoprocta: Ctenostomata) a new species from the Mid-Atlantic Coast of the United States.
  Bulletin of Marine Science, 64: 509-512.

- Winston, J.E. (2005) Redescription and revision of Smitt's "Floridan Bryozoa" in the Collection of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard University. Virginia Museum of Natural History Memoir, 7, 1–150.
- Winston, J.E. & Woollacott, R. (2009) Scientific results of the Hassler Expedition. Bryozoa. No. 1. Barbados. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, 159, 239–300 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3099/0027-4100-159.5.239</u>
- Wood, A. C. L., P. K. Probert, A. A. Rowden & A. M. Smith (2012) Complex habitat generated by marine bryozoans: a review of its distribution, structure, diversity, threats and conservation. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Fresh- water Ecosystems 22: 547–563.
- Yepes-Narváez, V. (2013) Distribución y composición de los Briozoos (phylum Bryozoa) en la plataforma continental de La Guajira (10 y 50m), Caribe Colombiano. Undergraduate thesis, Universidad de Córdoba, Montería, Córdoba, Colombia.

EXPEDITION	STATION	LATITUDE	LONGITUDE	ECOREGION	DEPTH	SEDIMENT TYPE	ENV. VAR. M.	COL. METHOD
ICP	EA2 329	9° 56' 14.1" N	76° 7' 26.8" W	Coral Archipelagos	72	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
ICP	EA1 329	9° 57' 38 7" N	76° 6' 43 3" W	Coral Archinelagos	72	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
	EA0 220	0° EE' 26 4" N	76° 0' 22 0" \\/	Caribbaan Offebara	72	Mud Cand	CTDO	Trowl
ICP	EA2 320	9 55 50.4 N	70 0 23.0 VV	Calibbean Olishore	73	Mud-Sanu	CTDO	Trawi
ICP	EAT 328	9' 55 2.5 N	70° 10 0.0 W	Caribbean Offshore	78	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawi
ICP	EA2 327	9° 38' 15" N	76° 16' 26.8" W	Caribbean Offshore	82	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Irawl
ICP	EA1 327	9° 38' 17.8" N	76° 16' 20.8" W	Coral Archipelagos	95	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
ICP	EA1 326	9° 36' 18" N	76° 20' 10.5" W	Coral Archipelagos	98	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
ICP	EA2 323	9° 16' 3.5" N	76° 26' 26.8" W	Caribbean Offshore	124	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
ICP	EA2 322	9° 19' 7.2" N	76° 24' 59.1" W	Caribbean Offshore	125	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
ICP	EA1 322	9° 17' 36.7" N	76° 25' 46.9" W	Caribbean Offshore	126	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
ICP	EA2 321	12° 28' 19.4" N	71° 54' 2.6" W	Guaiira	128	Rock	CTDO	Box core
ICP	FA2 320	12° 13' 55 2" N	72° 31' 37 7" W	Guaiira	190	Rock	CTDO	Box core
ICP	EA1 319	12° 16' 12 /" N	72° 30' 50 2" W/	Guaiira	220	Rock	CTDO	Box core
	EA1 217	12° 26' 1.4" N	72 30 30.2 W	Guajira	220	Rock	CTDO	Box core
ICF	EAT 317	12 20 1.4 N	72 1 21.4 VV	Guajira	270	Deals	CTDO	Dox core
ICP	EA2 316	12° 22' 32.7″ N	72° 8' 44.6'' W	Guajira	240	ROCK	CTDO	Box core
ICP	EA2 315	12° 20' 44.8" N	72° 7' 21" W	Guajira	230	Rock	CIDO	Box core
ICP	EA1 315	12° 20' 45.9" N	72° 7' 52.7" W	Guajira	250	Rock	CIDO	Box core
COL10	E 608	14° 0' 9.8" N	72° 39' 35.1" W	Caribbean offshore	3700	Mud	CTDO-	Box core
							Nutrients	
COL10	E 606	14° 1' 19.4" N	72° 2' 5.9" W	Caribbean offshore	3888	Mud	CTDO-	Box core
							Nutrient	
COI 10	F 605	13° 58' 58.6" N	71° 41' 24.5" W	Caribbean offshore	3600	Mud	CTDO-	Box core
00210	2 000				0000	maa	Nutrient	2011 0010
COI 10	E 601	14º 22' 46 0" N	72º 20' 46" W	Caribbaan offebora	2200	Mud	CTDO	Poy coro
COLIO		14 22 40.9 N	72 39 40 W	Cambbean Unshore	3290	Iviuu	CTDO-	BUX CUIE
001.40		4 40 001 40 71 11	740 001 40 411 144	o "'' (''' )		•• •	Nutrient	-
COL10	E 598	14° 22' 42.7" N	71° 39' 19.1" W	Caribbean offshore	2887	Mud	CIDO-	Box core
							Nutrient	
COL4 Y 5	E 379	10° 37' 47.4" N	76° 54' 4.1" W	Caribbean offshore	1796	Mud	CTDO-	Box core
							Nutrient	
COL4 Y 5	E 378	10° 19' 46.9" N	76° 34' 32" W	Caribbean offshore	2910	Mud	CTDO-	Box core
							Nutrient	
COL4 Y 5	F 375	9° 10' 37 5" N	77° 7' 34 2" W	Caribbean offshore	3134	Mud	CTDO-	Box core
002110	2010				0101	maa	Nutrient	DOX COLO
0013	E 550	11º 59' 31 6" N	740 21 22" \//	Caribbaan offebora	1672	Mud	CTDO	Poy coro
COLS	E 009	11 30 31.0 N	74 5 55 W	Cambbean Unshore	1073	Iviuu	CTDO-	BUX CUIE
DNINOD	F 504	008 401 47 5" 11	70940104 07 144		400		Nutrient	Decile
PNNCP	E 524	09'49'47.5' N	76°12'01.6' W	Coral Archipelagos	180	Coral rubble	CIDO	Dreage
PNNCP	E 390	9°54′09,1″ N	76°09'19,0" W	Coral Archipelagos	110	Mud-Sand	CIDO	ROV
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 200	11° 25' 43.2" N	73° 12' 8.6" W	Guajira	10	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 201	11° 39' .9" N	72° 59' 3.8" W	Guajira	10	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 203	11° 44' 34.1" N	72° 35' 31.5" W	Guajira	10	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 204	11° 47' 55.2" N	72° 40' 10.4" W	Guajira	10	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 207	11° 54' 51" N	72° 22' 48.6" W	Guaiira	10	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	F 209	12° 11' 25 5" N	72° 10' 58 6" W	Guaiira	10	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUA IIRA	E 210	12° 10' 52 1" N	72° 10' 47 2" W	Guajira	10	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 210	12° 15' 16 0" N	72° 10' 29 4" W	Guajira	50	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIKA		12 13 10.9 N	72 10 20.4 W	Guajira	50	Mud Sand	CTDO	Troud
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 212	12° 13 34.7 IN	72° 10 10.8 W	Guajira	50	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawi
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 213	12* 16 42.7* N	71° 58° 1° W	Guajira	10	Sand	CIDO	Trawi
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 214	12° 17' 31.2" N	/1° 5/ 1/.2" W	Guajira	10	Sand	CIDO	Irawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 215	12° 23' 6.6" N	71° 46' 1" W	Guajira	10	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 217	12° 23' 49.7" N	71° 45' 22.8" W	Guajira	10	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 231	12° 26' 22.8" N	71° 47' 37.3" W	Guajira	50	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 232	12° 20' 32.3" N	71° 58' 53" W	Guajira	50	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 234	12° 5' 25.5" N	72° 22' 51.7" W	Guaiira	50	mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	F 235	12° 4' 49.2" N	72° 23' 26.9" W	Guaiira	50	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 236	11° 57' 37 1" N	72° 34' 45 3" W	Guaiira	50	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOGUA IRA	E 237	11° 57' 19 9" N	72° 35' 41 1" W	Guajira	50	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
CORPOCIA	E 220	11° 53' 10.3" N	72° 46' 28 4" W	Guajira	50	Mud Sond	CTDO	Trowl
CORFOGUAJIRA	E 230	11º 52' 40 1" N	72 40 20.4 W	Guajira	50	Wuu-Sanu Canal	CTDO	Trawi
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 239	11 52 40.1 N	72 47 23.2 VV	Guajira	50	Sand	CTDO	Trawi
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 240	11° 30° 6.9° N	73° 16' 40.2" W	Guajira	50	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Trawi
CORPOGUAJIRA	E 242	11° 24' 4.7" N	73° 23' 7.4" W	Guajira	50	Sand	CIDO	Irawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 10	9° 45' 21.9" N	75° 40' 59" W	Guajira	9.9	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 87	12° 29' 44.9" N	71° 43' 40" W	Gulf Morrosquillo	72	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 88	12° 29' 17.9" N	71° 43' 51.9" W	Guajira	73	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 89	12° 30' 34.9" N	71° 44' 18.9" W	Darién	152	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 90	12° 30' 33" N	71° 45' 20.9" W	Gulf Morrosquillo	150	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFALINA II	F 01	12° 34' 35" N	71° 51' 16 9" W	Gulf Morrosquillo	305	Sand	CTDO	Trawl
	E 02	12° 22' 0" N	720 11 20" \\	Darián	402	Sand	CTDO	Troud
	E 92	12 JL J IN		Darien	490	Sand	CTDO	Tawl
MACKUFAUNA II	E 93	12. 31. 50.9" N	72" 12" 6" W	Darien	496	Sand		
MACROFAUNA II	E 94	12° 6' 45" N	72° 39' 48.9" W	Darién	151	Sand	CIDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 95	12° 7' 35" N	72° 38' 48.9" W	Darién	154	Sand	CIDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 96	12° 3' 24" N	72° 38' 17" W	Darién	70	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 97	12° 3' 16.9" N	72° 38' 17.9" W	Darién	70.1	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 98	11° 53' 4.9" N	72° 36' 38.9" W	Darién	21.4	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 99	11° 53' 21.9" N	72° 37' 12" W	Darién	22	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFALINA II	E 100	11° 25' 33 9" N	73° 27' 39 9" W	Darién	150	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFALINIA	E 101	11° 25' 45 Q" N	73° 27' Q" \\/	Gulf Morrosquillo	152	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
	E 102	11º 2/ 23" N	73° 28' 18" \//	Gulf Morrosquillo	70	Mud Cond	CTDO	Troud
	E 102	11° 07' 00" N	730 20 10 10		70	Mud Coord	CTDO	
	E 103	11 24 3.9 N	13 20 1.9 VV	Coral Archipelagos	/1.6	iviud-Sand	CIDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 104	11° 17° 31.9° N	13" 21" 6" W	Coral Archipelagos	20	wud-Sand	CIDO	Irawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 105	11° 17' 40.9" N	73° 27' 57.9" W	Caribbean offshore	21	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Irawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 108	11° 18' 28" N	73° 46' 50" W	Caribbean offshore	70	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl

# Supplementary material I: List of collection sites and associated information

MACROFAUNA II	E 109	11° 18' 30.9" N	73° 46' 28.9" W	Coral Archipelagos	71	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 110	11° 20' 30.9" N	73° 46' 0" W	Coral Archipelagos	150	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 111	11° 20' 30" N	73° 46' 27.9" W	Caribbean offshore	152	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 112	11° 22' 51.9" N	73° 44' 35" W	Caribbean offshore	300	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 113	11° 22' 57" N	73° 44' 8" W	Coral Archipelagos	300	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 114	11° 28' 4" N	73° 40' 14" W	Coral Archipelagos	498	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 115	11° 28' 13" N	73° 40' 14.9" W	Coral Archipelagos	504	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 116	11° 20' 4.9" N	74° 5' 25" W	Coral Archipelagos	35	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 117	11° 20' 26" N	74° 5' 27.9" W	Coral Archipelagos	20.4	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 118	11° 21' 29" N	74° 6' 16.9" W	Caribbean offshore	76	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 119	11° 21' 24" N	74° 6' 21.9" W	Caribbean offshore	74	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 120	11° 23' 7" N	74° 8' 40.9" W	Caribbean offshore	151	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	F 121	11° 23' 12.9" N	74° 8' 56" W	Caribbean offshore	150	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	F 122	11° 23' 13.9" N	74° 10' 50" W	Gulf Salamanca	150	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFALINA	E 123	11° 23' 30" N	74° 10' 17" W	Gulf Salamanca	154	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFALINA	F 124	11° 20' 9" N	74° 10' 0" W	Gulf Salamanca	72.3	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFALINA II	E 125	11° 20' 31 9" N	74° 10' 37 9" W	Gulf Salamanca	72.3	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFALINA II	E 126	11° 18' 2 9" N	74° 9' 36" W	Gulf Salamanca	26.6	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
	E 120	11º 18' 29" N	7/° 10' 9 9" W	Gulf Salamanca	20.0	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
	E 127	11° 5' 57 9" N	7/1° /0' 36 9" W	Madalena	20	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
	E 120	11° 5' 45 0" N	74° 40' 25" W	Magdalena	20	Mud	CTDO	Trowl
	E 129	11° 0' 5" N	74 40 33 W	Gulf Salamanaa	70.4	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
	E 130	11° 0' 10" N	74 41 5.5 VV	Guil Salamanca	70.4	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
	E 131	11° 9' 17 0" N	74 41 37 W	Guil Salamanca	150	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
	E 132	11° 2' 29 0" N	74° 53' 30" W	Guil Salamanca	100	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
	E 133	10° EC' 2E 0" N	74 00 09 W	Guir Salamanca	148	IVIUd Musi	CTDO	Trawl
	E 134	10° 56' 25" N	75 0 29 W	Tayrona	20.9	Nud	CTDO	Trawi
	E 135	10 50 25 N	75 0 50 W	Taylona	20	Mud	CTDO	Trawl
	E 130		75° 8 17.9 W	Tayrona	72	IVIUd Musi	CTDO	Trawi
	E 137		75'8 30 VV	Tayrona	70	IVIUd Musi	CTDO	Trawi
MACROFAUNA II	E 138	11° 2' 8.9" N	75° 11' 6" W	Tayrona	150	Mud	CIDO	Trawi
MACROFAUNA II	E 139	11° 2° 29° N	75° 11° 27.9° W	Tayrona	145	Mud	CIDO	Trawi
MACROFAUNA II	E 144	10° 32' 56' N	75° 37° 19.9° W	Tayrona	309	Mud	CIDO	Trawi
MACROFAUNA II	E 145	10° 31° 45.9° N	75° 37° 6.9° W	Tayrona	309	Mud	CIDO	Trawi
MACROFAUNA II	E 140	10° 32' 6" N	75° 39' 5" W	Layrona	487	Mud	CIDO	Irawi
MACROFAUNA II	E 141	10° 5' 16" N	75° 56' 33" W	Layrona	151	Mud	CIDO	Irawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 142	10° 5' 15" N	75° 56' 34" W	Layrona	150	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Irawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 146	9° 58' 12" N	75° 45' 2.9" W	Layrona	67	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Irawi
MACROFAUNA II	E 147	10° 0' 5" N	75° 47' 35" W	Caribbean offshore	89	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Irawi
MACROFAUNA II	E 149	9° 47' 29" N	76° 17' 21.9" W	Caribbean offshore	507	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Irawi
MACROFAUNA II	E 150	9° 46' 50" N	76° 17' 44.9" W	Caribbean offshore	500	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Irawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 151	9° 41' 52" N	76° 6' 38" W	Caribbean offshore	70.9	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Irawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 152	9° 41' 47" N	76° 6' 11" W	Palomino	70.5	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Irawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 153	9° 45' 37" N	76° 15' 19" W	Palomino	270	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Irawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 154	9° 44' 48.9" N	76° 15' 38" W	Palomino	280	Mud-Sand	CIDO	Irawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 155	9° 47' 12" N	76° 13' 45" W	Palomino	160	Mud-Sand	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 156	9° 47' .9" N	76° 14' 12" W	Palomino	155	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 157	9° 33' 15.9" N	75° 41' 4.9" W	Palomino	22	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 158	9° 33' 9" N	75° 40' 33.9" W	Palomino	22	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 159	9° 17' 3" N	76° 27' 29" W	Palomino	158	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 160	9° 17' 52" N	76° 27' 14" W	Palomino	160	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 161	9° 13' 59.9" N	76° 27' 11.9" W	Palomino	70.6	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 162	8° 59' 8.9" N	76° 42' 38.9" W	Guajira	151	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 163	8° 59' 25" N	76° 41' 44" W	Guajira	150	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 164	9° 1' 18" N	76° 34' 10.9" W	Guajira	70	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 165	8° 56' 43" N	76° 30' 20.9" W	Guajira	20.6	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 166	9° 0' 55" N	76° 25' 48" W	Guajira	20.8	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 167	9° 4' 1.9" N	76° 22' 26" W	Guajira	20.6	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 168	9° 4' 13" N	76° 22' 17" W	Caribbean offshore	19.6	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 169	9° 46' 46.9" N	75° 42' 34.9" W	Caribbean offshore	20	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl
MACROFAUNA II	E 170	9° 46' 10.9" N	75° 42' 47" W	Caribbean offshore	20.1	Sand-Rock	CTDO	Trawl

# Supplementary material II: Environmental data collected per station

Station	Depth	Sediment	тс	Sal	OD
E 10	9.9	Sand	27.8	36.3	6
E 200	10	Sand	27.8	36.3	6
E 201	10	Sand	27.8	36.3	6
E 203	10	Sand	27.8	30.3	6
E 204 F 207	10	Sand	27.8	36.3	6
E 209	10	Sand	27.8	36.4	6
E 210	10	Sand	27.8	36.4	6
E 213	10	Sand	27.8	36.4	6
E 214	10	Sand	27.8	36.4	6
E 215	10	Mud-Sand	27.8	36.4	6
E 217 E 168	10	Nud-Sand Sand-Rock	27.8	36.4 36.4	6
E 104	20	Mud-Sand	26.9	36.5	5.9
E 128	20	Mud	26.8	36.5	5.9
E 129	20	Mud	26.7	36.5	5.9
E 135	20	Mud	26.6	36.5	5.9
E 169	20	Sand-Rock	26.6	36.5	5.9
E 170	20.1	Sand-Rock	26.5	36.5	5.8
E 117	20.4	Mud-Sand	26.4	36.6	5.8
E 105 E 167	20.6	Sand-Rock	20.3	30.0	5.8 5.8
E 166	20.0	Sand-Rock	26	36.6	5.8
E 134	20.9	Mud	25.1	36.7	5.4
E 105	21	Mud-Sand	25	36.7	5.3
E 98	21.4	Mud-Sand	24.9	36.7	5.3
E 99	22	Mud-Sand	24.8	36.7	5.4
E 157	22	Sand-Rock	24.6	36.7	5.4
E 130 F 126	22	Sanu-Rock Mud	24.0	36.7	5.3
E 116	35	Mud-Sand	24.4	36.7	5.1
E 127	39.5	Mud	24.3	36.8	5.1
E 211	50	Mud-Sand	24.2	36.8	5.1
E 212	50	Mud-Sand	24.1	36.8	5.1
E 231	50	Mud-Sand	24	36.8	5.1
E 232	50	Mud-Sand	23.9	36.8	5.1
E 234 E 235	50 50	mud-Sand	23.8	30.8	5.1 5.1
E 235	50	Sand	23.7	36.8	5.1
E 237	50	Sand	22.8	36.8	5.2
E 238	50	Mud-Sand	22.8	36.9	5.1
E 239	50	Sand	22.7	36.9	5.2
E 240	50	Mud-Sand	22.6	36.9	5.1
E 242	50	Sand Mud Sand	22.6	36.9	5.1
E 146 E 96	67 70	Mud-Sand	22.5	36.9	5.1
E 90 F 102	70	Mud-Sand	22.4	36.9	5
E 102	70	Mud-Sand	22.3	36.9	5
E 131	70	Mud	22.2	36.9	5
E 137	70	Mud	22.1	36.9	5
E 164	70	Sand-Rock	22.1	36.9	4.9
E 97	70.1	Mud-Sand	22	36.9	4.9
E 130 E 152	70.4	Mud-Sand	21.9	36.9	4.9 1 Q
E 161	70.6	Sand-Rock	21.0	36.8	4.9
E 151	70.9	Mud-Sand	21.7	36.8	4.9
E 109	71	Mud-Sand	21.6	36.8	4.9
E 103	71.6	Mud-Sand	21.5	36.8	4.8
EA2 329	72	Mud-Sand	22.9	36.8	5.2
EAT 329	12	DABG-DUIVI bace	∠∠.ŏ วว ¤	30.0 36 a	5.2 5.1
F 125	72	Mud	22.0	36.9	5.2
E 136	72	Mud	22.6	36.9	5.1
E 124	72.3	Mud	22.6	36.9	5.1
EA2 328	73	Mud-Sand	22.5	36.9	5.1
E 88	73	Sand	22.4	36.9	5.1
E 119	74	Mud-Sand	22.3	36.9	5
E 118	76	Mud-Sand	22.8	36.9	5.1
EA1 328	78	Mud-Sand	22.7	36.9	5.2

EA2 327	82	Mud-Sand	22.6	36.9	5.1
E 147	89	Mud-Sand	21.6	36.7	5.7
EA1 327	95	Mud-Sand	28.7	35.9	6.8
EA1 326	98	Mud-Sand	29.2	35.3	6.7
E 390	110	Mud-Sand	13.9	35.7	4.2
EA2 323	124	Mud-Sand	13.8	35.7	4.2
EA2 322	125	Mud-Sand	13.8	35.7	4.2
EA1 322	126	Mud-Sand	13.7	35.7	4.2
EA2 321	128	Rock	13.7	35.7	4.2
E 139	145	Mud	13.7	35.7	4.2
E 133	148	IVIUd	13.0	35.7	4.2
E 90 E 100	150	Sano Mud-Sand	13.0	30.7 35.7	4.2
E 100 E 110	150	Mud-Sand	13.0	35.7	4.2
E 170	150	Mud	13.5	35.7	4.2
E 122	150	Mud	13.5	35.7	4.1
E 138	150	Mud	13.4	35.7	4.1
E 142	150	Mud-Sand	13.4	35.7	4.1
E 163	150	Sand-Rock	13.4	35.7	4.1
E 94	151	Sand	13.3	35.6	4.1
E 120	151	Mud	13.3	35.6	4.1
E 141	151	Mud	13.3	35.6	4.1
E 162	151	Sand-Rock	13.2	35.6	4.1
<u>E 89</u>	152	Sand	13.2	35.6	4.1
E 111	152	Mud-Sand	13.2	35.6	4.1
E 101	153	Mud-Sand	13.1	35.6	4.1
E 132	153	IVIUd	13.1	35.6	4.1
E 95	154	Sand	12.9	35.6	4.1
E 123 E 166	154	Mua Sand Daak	12.9	35.0	4.1
E 150 E 150	100	Sand-Rock	12.9	30.0	4.1
E 155	160	Mud-Sand	0	34.9	3.0
E 160	160	Sand-Rock	79	34.9	3.8
E 524	180	Coral rubble	7.9	34.9	3.8
EA2 320	190	Rock	7.9	34.9	3.8
EA1 319	220	Rock	7.9	34.9	3.8
EA2 315	230	Rock	7.9	34.9	3.8
EA2 316	240	Rock	7.9	34.9	3.8
EA1 315	250	Rock	7.9	34.9	3.8
EA1 317	270	Rock	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 153	270	Mud-Sand	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 154	280	Mud-Sand	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 112 E 112	300	Wud Sand	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 113 E 01	305	Iviuu-Sanu Sand	7.0	34.0	3.0
E 91 F 144	300	Mud	7.0	34.0	3.0
E 145	309	Mud	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 140	487	Mud	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 92	493	Sand	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 93	496	Sand	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 114	498	Mud-Sand	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 150	500	Mud-Sand	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 115	504	Mud-Sand	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 149	507	Mud-Sand	7.8	34.8	3.8
E 559	1673	Mud	6.7	34.8	4.1
E 379	1/96	Mud	6.8	34.8	4.2
E 598	2887	Mud	6.6	34.8	4.3
E 318 E 275	2910		0.0	34.8 21 0	4.1
E 575 F 601	3134	Mud	0.0	34.0 34.8	4.1 4.2
E 605	3600	Mud	0.0	24.0 24.0	4.5 / 1
F 608	3700	Mud	6.6	34.8	4.5
E 606	3888	Mud	6.8	34.8	4.2

**Supplementary material III:** Relative abundance of *Adeonellopsis subsulcata* in a temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean.



Adeonellopsis subsulcata

Temperature gradient

**Supplementary material IV:** Relative abundance of *Steginoporella magnilabris* in a temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean.



Steginoporella magnilabris

Supplementary material V: Relative abundance of Margaretta cereoides in a temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean.



Margaretta cereoides

Temperature gradient

**Supplementary material VI:** Relative abundance of *Halophila antillaea* in a temperature gradient in the Colombian Caribbean.



Temperature gradient



**Supplementary material VII.** Deep-Sea bryozoan species found in COL10 that require further taxonomic identification.

Figure 1. Top left: Bugulidae; Top right: incertae sedis Bottom: Discoporella sp.

# Chapter 4: Relationship between environmental factors and the reproductive strategy of *Bugula neritina* (Phylum: Bryozoa)

Vanessa Yepes-Narváez & Richard F. Preziosi

ORCID ID 0000-0001-7174-5382; ORCID ID 0000-0003-0468-6655

Ecology and Environment Research Centre, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester M1 5GD United Kingdom. <u>vanbryozoa@gmail.com</u>; <u>r.preziosi@mmu.ac.uk</u>

# ABSTRACT

Bryozoans have the evolutionary ability to reproduce sexually and asexually and to switch between these strategies in response to changes in the environment. The degree of adaptability of an individual species is reflected in its ability to produce sexual structures such as ovicells in response to natural fluctuations in its environment. To examine this in a widely distributed bryozoan, several colonies of Bugula neritina were collected in contrasting geographical areas of the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans from 1 to 5m depth. This sampling approach allowed us to evaluate the reproductive strategies developed under different climatic seasons, substrates, and environmental factors and determine if there is a relationship between these factors and reproduction. Zooid size and colony size were measured as part of the evaluation of their reproductive strategy. Our results showed that colonies inhabiting similar ecosystems with contrasting environmental factors differed in their reproductive strategies and morphometry. In addition, we suggest a possible tradeoff between zooid features and ovicell production, when colonies invested in sexual polymorphisms, a reduction in zooid and colony size was observed. The environmental factors that mostly affect the reproductive strategy of *B. neritina* were salinity, temperature and primary productivity. Specimens in the Colombian Caribbean reproduce sexually during the dry season and invest in colony growth by budding during the rainy season.

**Keywords**: Bryozoa, Colombia, SFF Malpelo, Caribbean, environmental conditions, ovicell density.

#### INTRODUCTION

In marine organisms, reproductive strategies refer to the amount of energy allocated to the production of gametes and protection of the offspring (Corriero et al., 1996; Vance, 1973), sexual maturation could be considered a reproductive strategy (Clutton-Brock, 1991). Several invertebrates like bryozoans, have developed different reproductive strategies in the marine environment to ensure their ecological success within the ecosystems they inhabit (Ryland, 1976). These strategies are a consequence of internal and external stressors that might affect their populations such as environmental disturbances and reproductive physiology (Ostrovsky, 2013; Blackburn, 1999; Cancino et al., 1991; Pearse et al., 1989). Bryozoans can invest in highly energetically expensive sexual (mictic) reproduction (Thomsen & Håkansson, 1995) and fast asexual (amictic) growth (O'Dea et al., 2008) and animals have the ability to switch between them as a response to their environment (Ostrovsky, 2013; Hoshi et al., 2003; Barnes & Clarke, 1994; Thorson, 1950).

Sexual reproduction promotes gene flow between geographically distant populations, increases genetic diversity and allows the colonization of new habitats (McEdward, 1995; Thompson et al., 1987). Bryozoans are hermaphrodites with gonads separated basal-distally (Woollacott, 1999). In these animals, fertilization can take place in different parts of the zooecium, either inside the zooid cavity, the ovicell or during the release of eggs (Jenkins et al., 2017; Ostrovsky, 2009; Silén, 1966); self-fertilization has also been observed in dioecious species with sexual dimorphism (Hughes & Wright, 2014; Hughes et al., 2002; Hunter & Hughes, 1993). Either way, sexual reproduction is a mandatory strategy in the bryozoan life cycle not only for dispersal but for ecological success (Ostrovsky, 2013).

After fertilization, bryozoans develop one or more planktotrophic or lecithotrophic swimming larvae (Jenkins et al., 2017; Ryland, 1974), which depending on their feeding needs, could settle in short time after release (Wendt, 1996; Winston, 1978;1988). Once attached to a substrate, larvae undergo metamorphosis to the primary zooid or ancestrula (Pechenik et al., 1998; Reed, 1991) (Figure 1). The energetic costs of sexual reproduction can be expensive for the populations, as it includes larvae breeding per mature zooid, the maintenance of embryos, and the
performance of larvae after being released in the plankton (Johnson, 2010; Ostrovsky & Shunatova, 2002). In the case of non-feeding larva as in *Bugula neritina*, survival, metamorphic competence, growth time and fitness (Wendt, 1998; 2000; Pechenik, 1990) will depend on the larvae's motility and ability to cope with the environment and the rapid selection of suitable habitats for establishment (Ostrovsky, 2013; O'Dea & Jackson, 2009; Shunatova & Ostrovsky, 2002).

Because of the clonal nature of cheilostome bryozoans, they have the ability to regenerate (O'Dea, 2006; Winston, 1983; Levinsen, 1907), and perform zooid budding immediately after the development of the ancestrula, which has many adaptative benefits for the colony success, including faster colonial growth and faster rate of food capture (McKinney & Jackson 1989) (Figure 1). Also, cheilostomes that invest higher energy in asexual growth have the ability to undertake division of a parent colony for the dispersal of subpopulations with equal genetic information as in the case of branching tree-like bryozoans and cupuladriids (Ostrovsky, 2013; Ostrovsky et al., 2009; O'Dea et al., 2008; Winston, 1983), in which a whole new colony grows from a single piece (Thomsen & Häkansson, 1995; O'Dea et al., 2004). This strategy guarantees a larger spatial distribution than through sex but has been recognised as less cost effective because it reduces the potential of adaptation of a species and their populations, leading to local extinctions (O'Dea, 2006; Keough & Chernoff, 1987).

Studies mentioning dispersal through fragmentation in *Bugula neritina* are scarce, but a few have indicated that this strategy represents an important ecological feature that allows the establishment of clones in habitats that could not be colonised by larvae otherwise (McKinney & Jackson, 1989; Connell & Keough, 1985). However, their growth and success after transplantation will depend on the environmental factors in the newly colonised areas (Schuster et al., 2019).



**Figure 1**. Reproductive life cycle of *Bugula neritina. (*Diagram based on Yang et al., 2018; Wong et al., 2010 and VYN biological sample from Colombian Caribbean).

Bryozoan species with mostly asexual strategies, produce fewer fertile zooids than those that engage in sexual reproduction, because of the expensive costs of larval production and brooding, this may be the reason why fragmentation may overtake a brooding strategy in some cases (Thomsen & Håkansson, 1995). The investment in sexual reproduction will leave fewer resources for asexual reproduction and vice versa (Hughes et al., 2002). The best reproductive strategy will also differ across environments (Ostrovsky, 2009), seasonality (McEdward, 1995) and substrates (host) (Clarke, 1988; Cancino, et al., 1991). Species with a widespread distribution are likely to perform reproduction in different climatic seasons (Lidgard, 1990; Ryland, 1976) in comparison to the tropical ones which are expected to reproduce continuously (Jackson & Wertheimer, 1985). Also, sexuality is favoured under high primary productivity (O'Dea et al., 2004) as large energy intake is required to support gamete production, while clonal growth requires less energy to regenerate fragments (Håkansson & Thomsen, 2001; O'Dea, 2006). An adaptive feature of sexual reproduction is the ability to suspend propagation under less favourable conditions and to store energy resources (Hunter et al., 1998; Harvell & Grosberg, 1988; Hall & Hughes, 1996). Reproduction will resume when conditions improve and thrive back at the end of natural disturbances, this represents an advantage over the asexual strategy despite requiring additional energy for gametogenesis and brooding (Wendt, 1998; 2000).

Ectotrophic larvae like *B. neritina* are more resilient to low primary productivity than planktotrophic larvae in other species, but the establishment of the colony will depend on the available energy source to feed the ancestrula that then will promote budding (Jaeckle, 1994; Keough, 1989;1986). For instance, food availability is the main environmental factor determining the establishment and the extent of occurrence in bryozoans (Ostrovsky, 2013). Other factors such as temperature, salinity, pH, turbidity, sedimentation rate, depth, and current patterns also have important contributions to the establishment of larvae and their success (Schuster et al., 2019; Pecquet et al., 2017). Some bugulids have high tolerances to variations in salinity which allow them to inhabit estuarine areas and settle for longer periods than stenohaline species (Winston &Wollacott, 2008; Abbott, 1973).

*Bugula neritina* is a model system for the understanding of the relationship between biotic and abiotic factors, the sexual reproductive strategy and clonal growth. This species belongs to the "*Bugula neritina* species complex" in which to date three genotypes have been identified (Types S, D and N) who's main distinguishable feature is their geographical and bathymetric preferences (Fehlauer-Ale, et al., 2013; 2015). Due to its worldwide distribution, it has been classified as an invasive and introduced fouling organism in several temperate and tropical parts of the world, and the Caribbean (Ryland et al., 2011), but its native origin has not been identified to date.

By understanding the environmental factors involved in its reproductive strategy, biocontrol can be implemented on its non-native populations. The use of species distribution models can be useful to predict potential colonisation areas by analysing

habitats with suitable environmental conditions for the establishment of larvae that encourages sexual reproduction and the fouling nature of *B. neritina*.

This research focused on understanding the reproductive strategies observed in *B. neritina* in different parts of the Atlantic and Pacific oceans in regards the production of sexual polymorphisms such as ovicells, the presence of mature zooids, their density per colony and the relationship between those features and the environmental factors of the inhabited areas. Here we suggest that engagement in sexual reproduction is related to seasonality, and environmental changes by measuring and counting the number of ovicells in two different climatic seasons in the Caribbean and South West coast of England. Differences were observed under different temperature and salinities at the same location. Some areas were characterized for presenting the lowest ovicell production during the sampled times indicating a possible link with the environmental conditions and the switch to asexual strategies.

# METHODS

## Species used

Order: Cheilostomata Busk, 1852 Suborder: Flustrina Smitt, 1868 (part) Superfamily: Buguloidea Gray, 1848 Family: Bugulidae Gray, 1848 Genus: *Bugula* Oken, 1815

# Bugula neritina (Linnaeus, 1758)

(Figs. 1,3,4)

*Bugula neritina* Osburn, 1914, p. 186; 1927, p. 126; 1940, p. 389; Marcus, 1937: 67; Winston, 1982: 129.

*Description.* Red pigmented Erect, branched unilaminar colonies. Present large elongated zooids tapered proximally (averaging 307µm in width and 914µm in length) with pointed outer distal corners. Zooids are biserial along the unjointed

branches. The frontal wall is covered by the frontal membranous flap. This species has large, hyperstomial and globular ovicells distally attached to the corners of zooids by a short stalk, opposing the pointed corners.

*Distribution: B. neritina* is reported almost worldwide and considered to be an invasive species in some parts of the world (Porter, 2012). It ranges from warm-temperate to subtropical coastal waters. Molecular studies demonstrated that it actually corresponds to a complex cryptic species complex with three recognized genotypes (Types S, D and N), the main differences between them are their bathymetric and geographical distribution, however, type S is distributed worldwide from intertidal zones to 2m depth.

*Ecological remarks.* This species is one of the most well-known bryozoans due to its invasive and fouling nature (Porter, 2012) and also because it has been studied in the pharmaceutical sector for its bioproduct Bryostatin, a natural anti-leukaemia and anti-Alzheimer chemical. *Bugula neritina* reproduces from January to June in the western Atlantic coasts of Florida (Winston, 1982) and from the summer months until before winter season in temperate areas like the south coast of England. There is no evidence of reproductive seasonality in the Caribbean or Tropical Eastern Pacific coast of Colombia.

Within the ovicells, a specialised lining enables the production and transmission of nutrients to the embryos that develop within the brood chamber lumen (Woollacott & Zimmer, 1972; 1975). The increase in ovicell size leads to the subsequent increase in nutrient provisioning for the larva (Woollacott & Zimmer, 1975). The increased parental provisioning promotes higher survival of the non-feeding larva since it has to endure a swimming period and metamorphosis to a feeding ancestrula.

#### Study areas

Fresh colonies of *B. neritina* were obtained from six locations of the Atlantic (Panama, Colombia, South coast of England) and Pacific (Tropical Eastern Pacific, Colombia) oceans at different depths (Table 1). Samples were associated with submersed mangrove roots, submersed rocks and pontoon areas. A map of the

geographical positions of the sampled areas for *B. neritina* collections is shown in figure 2.



Figure 2. Geographical position of each sampled location used in this study. *Tropical Atlantic Ocean*: A) Bocas del Toro, Panamá. B) Bahia Cispatá, Colombia.
C) Bahia Portete, Colombia. *North Atlantic Ocean*: F) Portsmouth, UK. G. Plymouth
Sound, UK. *Tropical Eastern Pacific*: D. SFF Malpelo, Colombian Pacific.

Description of sampling locations

# Atlantic Ocean

# Bocas del Toro, Panamá, Caribbean

It is a province of Panamá composed of several small islands and part of the mainland. In this region, wet season is overcast, and dry season is cloudy; the environmental temperature varies from 22 to 30 C all year long, the warmest months are August and September. The annual upwelling season from January to April,

introduces colder, more saline and nutrient-rich water (Schaefer et al., 1958). During the rainy season, May to December, waters become warmer, diluted and poorer in nutrients (Smayda, 1966; Wooster, 1959), rain can fall up to 20 consecutive days and accumulate up to 56 cm of precipitation decreasing salinity. The average sea surface temperature ranges between 25 to 29°C. Sampling in this area was carried out in June 2017 in three mangrove areas near The Smithsonian Research Institute in Bocas del Toro province (Table 1; Figure 2).

#### Bahia Portete, La Guajira, Colombian Caribbean.

La Guajira is the northern part of Colombia and South America, in the Caribbean Sea (Corpoguajira & Invemar, 2012). It is characterized by a warm and very dry weather with environmental temperature ranging from 29°C to 39°C. The rainy season occurs between June and November followed by very dry months. The continental shelf has fine muddy sediments which supports a rich biodiversity of coastal fauna. In general, the sampling area is shallow with warm sea surface (Andrade, 2000) with an average current velocity of 57-87 cm/s (Bernal et al., 2006) highly influenced by the introduction of freshwater by the runoff rivers. This area is characterized by high upwelling events and high turbidity which allows the presence of marine suspension feeders like bryozoans. Sampling was made in October 2016 and April 2018 in three mangrove areas at the Bahia Portete National Park in the Uribia municipality (Table 1; Figure 2).

#### Bahia Cispatá, Cordoba, Colombian Caribbean.

It is located on the Colombian Caribbean coast at the southwest of the Gulf of Morrosquillo in the department of Córdoba. It is characteristically an area with brackish waters highly influenced by several channels from the lower basin of the Sinú river (Invemar-CVS, 2010). This area has a unimodal weather, with a defined dry season between December and March with a maximum environmental temperature of 40°C, followed by a constant wet season from April to November with temperature between 26 and 28° C (IAvH & CVS, 2006). The area consists predominantly of submersed mangrove trees which roots provide an ideal habitat for marine invertebrates and fishes; the most common species providing shelter to marine fauna is *Rhizophora mangle* (Sánchez-Perez et al., 2005). The area is also characterized by severe rain disturbances and big fluctuations of salinity,

temperature, high turbidity and high primary productivity; the mean sea surface temperature is 27°C. Sampling was made in December 2016 and July 2018 in seven mangrove areas (Table 1; Figure 2). It is important to mention that during the dry season the area was affected by the actions of the 2016 Caribbean hurricane season.

## Portsmouth Marina, England, United Kingdom.

The Gosport marina in Portsmouth, Hampshire is an important commercial marina. Its geographical position confers a mild climate, the sea surface average temperature in winter ranges between 5 °C to 10 °C; in summer the temperature ranges from 15°C to 19.5°C (Arenas et al., 2006). The water is eutrophic (El-Shenawy et al., 2010) and because of the marine traffic of the zone, it is considered one of the entrance spots for the introduction of non-native species. Sampling was made in May 2017 and October 2018 in a pontoon area (Table 1; Figure 2).

## Plymouth Marina, England, United Kingdom.

The Coxside pontoon is a traditional tidal harbour connected to Plymouth Sound, on the south coast of Devon. It is characterized by a low traffic activity and is located right next to an important harbour area (Sims et al., 2004; Cooper, 1985). The sea surface temperature ranges between 4 °C to 10 °C in winter and in summer the temperature ranges from 14°C to 22°C (de Castro et al., 2018; Bremekamp, 2012). Sampling was made in May 2016 and October 2018 in two pontoons (Table 1; Figure 2).

## Tropical Eastern Pacific Ocean

## Sanctuary of Flora and Fauna Malpelo, Colombia.

It is located offshore in the central region of the Colombian Pacific Ocean and is surrounded by several smaller islands (Kiesser & Hoffman, 1975). The island is part of the underwater "Dorsal Malpelo" ridge. It was declared a marine protected area characterized by climatic conditions influenced by El Niño- Southern Oscillation, as well as strong surface and deep currents. The sea surface temperature ranges from 24 to 25.5° C through the year. It has a high biodiversity and recruitment of marine

invertebrates, including bryozoans (Yepes-Narvaez & Chasqui, 2019). Sampling was made in October 2016 in two sites attached to the natural rock (Table 1; Figure 2).

**Table 1:** List of collection sites of *Bugula neritina* and associated information.Ambient, m: marine; es: estuarine.

Ocean	Country	Area	Ecosystem (ambient)	Locality	Coordinates	Depth (m)
Atlantic	Colombia	Cispatá	. ,			
Atlantic	Colombia		Mangrove (m)	Punta Bonita	9°24'28.5"N 75°46'7,7"W	2
Atlantic	Colombia		Mangrove (m)	Punta Terraplén	9°24'46.2"N 75°47'42.0"W	2
Atlantic	Colombia		Mangrove (m)	Punta La Rula	9°24'28.5"N 75°48'46"W	1
Atlantic	Colombia		Mangrove (es)	Caño Salado	9°25'17.9"N 75°49'0.1"W	1
Atlantic	Colombia		Mangrove (m)	Caño Navío	9°24'17.1"N 75°50'22.3"W	1
Atlantic	Colombia		Mangrove (es)	Mestizos	9°25'43.6"N 75°49'20.3"W	1
Atlantic	Colombia		Mangrove (m)	Punta Róbalo	9°24'46.6"N 75°48'00.5"W	1
Atlantic	Colombia	La Guajira				
Atlantic	Colombia		Mangrove (m)	Bahia Portete	12°14'32" N 71°52'21"W	2
Atlantic	Colombia		Mangrove (m)	Bahia Portete	12°13'52" N 71°51'49"W	2
Atlantic	Colombia		Mangrove (m)	Bahia Portete	12°10'48" N 71°57'30"W	2
Atlantic	Panamá	Bocas del Toro				
Atlantic	Panamá		Mangrove (m)	STRI	9° 21'02"N 82°15'28" W	2
Atlantic	Panamá		Mangrove (m)	STRI	9° 21'05"N 82°15'47" W	3
Atlantic	Panamá		Mangrove (m)	STRI	9° 21'07"N 82°15'33" W	2
Pacific	Colombia	SFF Malpelo				
Pacific	Colombia		Rock (m)	El Arrecife	4°0'14.5"N 81°36'15.30"W	5
	Colombia		Rock (m)	El Arrecife	4°0'16.7"N 81°36'17.50"W	5
Atlantic	UK	Portsmouth				
Atlantic	UK		Pontoon	Marina	50°48'35.24"N	1
			(m/es)		1°06'05.73"W	
Atlantic	UK	Plymouth	Dontoon (ra)	Marina		4
Atlantic			Pontoon (m)	Marina	50°21'40.18"N 4-7.56.00"W	1
Aliantic	UK		Pontoon (m)	iviarina	50°21 49.16 N 4°7 28.17 W	2

#### Environmental factors

The sampling of environmental factors included two climatic seasons in most of the stations. The environmental factors measured *in situ* were, temperature and salinity using a portable conductivity meter (Thermo fisher Orion Star A322) and notes on the water turbidity, water movement and climatic season were made at the time of collection based on local reports and *in situ* observations.

#### Sampling design

In total 360 samples of *Bugula neritina* were hand collected through scuba diving or snorkelling in the Atlantic and Pacific oceans (Figure 2, Table 1). For mangrove areas, *B. neritina* colonies were collected in a 2m horizontal transect on top of submersed *R. mangle* roots from intertidal to 3m depth. For pontoon areas, samples were hand collected when spotted in a 3m transect under the floating deck in the intertidal zone at 1m depth. The pacific collections at SFF Malpelo corresponded to a systematic monitoring of the Marine Protected Area (MPA), when spotted, *B. neritina* colonies were collected at 5m depth and labelled. All samples collected were preserved in 96% molecular grade ethanol.

## Sample preparation and measurements

Preserved samples were measured in the laboratory, the branching type, size of the colony, colour and number of sexual polymorphisms per branch were recorded with the associated environmental information. Subsequently, twenty branches of each sample were detached from the colony and cleaned in 40% sodium hypochlorite solution for one minute, rinsed and soaked in distilled water for another minute, before being soaked in the same solution again for another thirty seconds. This process of alternating bleaching solution and distilled water allowed the sample to be cleaned gently and avoid damage of key taxonomical features. After this, multiple photographs were taken of different portions of the colonies with a Zeiss AxioVision brightfield microscope and measured (Table 2). A portion of those was then gold-palladium coated for SEM imaging using a Zeiss Supra 40VP microscope. Thirty zooids were selected randomly from each subset of branches at all collection sites to make morphometric measurements using ImageJ software, measurements included, ovicell width (Wov), ovicell length (Lov) if ovicells were present; opesia

width (Wop) and opesia length (Lop); zooid width (Wz) and zooid length (Lz). In addition to the morphometric characteristics, ovicell density was measured by counting the number of ovicells per branches in each colony and position of the ovicells per colony for each location. Data was then compared with the environmental conditions at the sampling sites and suggestions on the possible reproductive strategy of *Bugula neritina* were made accordingly.

#### Species Distribution Modelling

To include additional environmental factors associated with the area of collection, a species distribution model for *B. neritina* was created using ModestR (García-Roselló et al., 2013). This model is a user-friendly platform with a powerful potential for the creation of species distribution maps. It was selected based on its quality to draw distribution maps according to the existing presence data stored in the Global Biodiversity Information Facility database (GBIF) and to discriminate between habitat type, which allows for convenient data cleaning and data verification. In addition, the species extent of occurrence can be improved by the addition of new presence data through the creation of new data folder through a Darwin core using our collection areas (Table 3; Figure 4).

For this purpose, an intensive data cleaning was performed in order to avoid misidentifications and errors in the presence data. This information was then coupled with 12 bioclimatic variables obtained from the Worldclim databases (worldclim.com), these gridded layers are modelled from data collected between 1970-2000 with different spatial resolutions, (30 sec (around 1 km<sup>2</sup>) to 10 mins (around 340 km<sup>2</sup>) and included the predictions of circulation models (GCMs) made by the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report (IPCC, 2004) and simulations of temperature and rainfall concentration pathways (RCPs) based on the high-resolution gridded data proposed by Hijmans et al. (2005).

Those conditions were also combined with the insitu variables collected during collections for each location and compared with the reproductive strategies observed in our model species using ModestR (García-Roselló et al., 2013; Guisande et al., 2017) to predict which environmental factors were likely determining their distribution and reproduction per zone (Caribbean, Pacific,

southwest UK). To avoid misinterpretation of the data in accordance with the newly identified *B. neritina* genotypes (S, D and N), the model was run individually per each zone (Figure 4; 6; Table 3).

## Statistical analysis

All data were tested for normality using Shapiro test, if normal, data was analysed with one-way ANOVA and a Tukey's HSD post-hoc test analysis to determine if the colony size and ovicell density differed significantly between the areas sampled. Analyses were run in RStudio. Significant values were considered as below 0.05. For each test, 20 branches per location were analysed. When only two observations per variable were observed. To analyse if temperature and salinity have an effect on the ovicell density and the colony growth, a generalized linear model (glm) was used. For each area (Caribbean, Pacific and South West England) temperature and salinity ranges were different. For the Caribbean salinity had 3 observations and temperature 3; Pacific had for salinity 2 observations and for temperature 2; the South West England had for temperature 3 observations and for salinity 3.

# RESULTS

# Colony growth

Colonies associated with areas of high turbidity and primary productivity, (e.g. La Guajira) were mainly bigger than the rest and display around six primary bifurcations followed by about 24 secondary younger branches all covered with ovicells from the middle of the colony to the tips where the majority of orange embryos were spotted (Figure 3, A); these colonies were also pale brown coloured and attached to a natural substrate (*Rhizophora mangle*). The second most common branching pattern we identified was tree-shaped; with around four primary bifurcations and about 12 secondary younger branches. The colonies were bright red pigmented, shorter in height than the first-mentioned type and with yellow-orange embryos in the ovicells in the tip of the colony only, this type of colony growth was commonly found in areas with direct contact with the open sea like Panamá and SFF Malpelo. These locations also have strong water currents and stable salinity. The last growth pattern we observed was identified as delicate branched, we consider this growth

type mostly asexual or immature, characterized by presenting about three primary bifurcations and four secondary young branches approximately. These colonies presented the smallest density of ovicells and mostly located at the middle of the colony (Figure 4, Table 2). This pattern was observed in areas with high environmental disturbances and variations in salinity and temperature such as Cispatá Bay and the South West coast of England.



**Figure 3.** Colony types and complexity observed in *Bugula neritina* samples, A) Bushy, complex and big colony (La Guajira), scale bar: 2 cm. B) Tree, less complex than A, shorter branches (Panamá, Malpelo), scale bar: 1.5 cm. C) Delicate branched, more elongated than wide with few branches (Cispatá, Plymouth, Portsmouth), scale bar: 1 cm.



**Figure 4**: *Bugula neritina*. A-F Brightfield microscope images. A. sample from La Guajira, scale bar: 0.5 cm. B. Frontal view of sample from Cispatá scale bar: 0.5 cm C. Sample from Portsmouth, scale bar: 0.5 cm. D. Sample from Panamá, scale bar: 0.8 cm. E. Sample from SFF Malpelo, scale bar: 0.5 cm. F. Sample from Plymouth, scale bar: 0.4 cm. G-I SEM images, Fragments from La Guajira. G. Frontal view of zooid organization, scale bar: 0.5 cm. H. Side view and detail of ovicells and pointed distal margin, scale bar: 0.3 cm. I. Detail of ovicells, scale bar: 0.2 cm.

**Table 2:** Morphometric features (μm) of *B. neritina* colonies from all the sampled locations. *Caribbean*: Bahia Cispatá (Cis); La Guajira, (Gua); Bocas del Toro, Panamá (Pan) *Pacific*: SFF Malpelo (Mal); *SW England:* Portsmouth Marina, (Port); Plymouth Marina (Ply).

Morphological measurements		Caribbean Sea		Pacific Ocean	SW England		
	Cis	Gua	Pan	Mal	Port	Ply	
Wov(µm) n	10	30	30	20	10	10	
Mean Min	579.026 562.026	289.927 273.279	281.828 251.748	301.736 258.378	431.153 360.734	298.156 264.537	
Max SD	595.422 16.396	310.271 14.5337	330.542 29.1546	332.964 22.5503	482.317 36.1789	321.447 18.8681	
Lov (µm) n	10	30	30	20	10	10	
Mean Min Max SD	497.411 476.438 518.384 20.973	258.696 227.97 318.031 27.2909	248.798 216.562 315.945 34.2045	249.608 227.665 279.059 17.9959	381.912 341.886 421.07 20.9007	231.896 216.714 248.57 9.19395	
Wop (μm) n Mean Min May	30 312.175 210.526	30 190.171 148.534	30 116.491 88.945	30 148.81 118.45	30 244.926 177.539	30 169.416 142.156	
SD	382.26 47.6664	31.4999	28.7133	18.6614	42.4413	26.2416	
Lop (µm) n Mean Min Max SD	30 961.181 580.037 1121.09 151.398	30 685.635 511.99 839.597 93.9371	30 740.569 718.172 783.372 25.2197	30 475.25 331.882 615.812 95.6466	30 890.408 727.559 1030.19 103.691	30 562.287 523.401 613.388 35.3209	
Wz(μm) n Mean Min Max SD	30 392.575 274.377 550.423 69.0505	30 266.694 211.463 338.657 38.6809	30 226.591 208.755 260.335 20.2208	30 226.034 196.964 258.794 19.5063	30 372.987 322.166 415.572 25.6176	30 247.805 227.856 274.882 16.3021	
Lz(μm) n Mean Min Max	30 1265.39 970.328 1462.88	30 815.815 689.072 1014.64	30 820.582 786.415 886.004	30 667.48 540.961 755.715	30 1052.75 835.464 1279.88	30 679.882 646.388 751.202	
SD Wov: Width ovice	135.064 ell; Lov: Length ovice	101.762 II; Wop: Width opes	39.754 ia; Lop: Length op	84.0132 esia; Wz: Width	150.539 n zooid; Lz: Len	31.9095 gth zooid	

## Significant environmental factors

Based on the presence/absence data and modelled oceanographic conditions associated with the occurrences of *B. neritina*, the environmental factors that most strongly contribute to their distribution and reproductive strategy were bathymetry, silicates, temperature and salinity for the Caribbean samples; and nitrates, salinity and temperature for the South west England specimens (Figure 5). For the Pacific Ocean specimens, the model showed that bathymetry, dissolved organic Carbon and particulate organic carbon were contributing the most to *B. neritina* presence (Table 3).

**Table 3**: The environmental factors with their contribution percentage (min. cont. (%) that correlated with the distribution and reproductive strategy of *B. neritina* at the three zones sampled. In bold the greatest contributions.

Environmental Easter	Caribbean	SW England	SFF Malpelo	
Environmental Factor	Min. Cont. (%)	Min. Cont.	Min. Cont. (%)	
Bathymetry (Bat)	95.21	80.54	98.01	
Dissolved Organic Carbon (Car)	81.35	81.20	95.76	
Particulate Organic Carbon (POC)	80.45	84.71	95.43	
Calcium Concentration (Con)	83.44	80.31	80.14	
Chlorophyll a (Chl)	90.05	85.01	80.23	
Silicate (Sil)	95.95	85.26	81.50	
Temperature (T)	97.23	95.42	88.91	
Salinity (Sal)	97.29	97.25	90.01	
Nitrate (Nit)	85.33	94.29	91.20	



**Figure 5:** Environmental factors most favourable for *B. neritina* in A) the Caribbean and B) SW England. The factors shown in red (-) represent low concentrations while those in blue (+) represent high concentrations. Bathymetry (Bat), silicates (Sil), salinity (Sal), chlorophyll a (Chl), particulate organic carbon (POC), calcium concentration (Con), and dissolved organic carbon (Car).

#### Species distribution model

The species distribution model map created from combinations of the significant environmental factors using Alpha Shape and Kernel diversity shows suitable areas for the establishment of *B. neritina* and correlates to the extent of occurrence of our sampled colonies. Our modelled map was validated with the biological collections made in an 80%. In the map, bright red dots represent the maximum likelihood of environmental factors combination that determine the presence of *B. neritina* in that area, while a blue intense colour represent the least likelihood of occurrences. Our results also suggest that in addition of the density of ovicells per branch as means of reproductive strategy, the morphometric information measured of the specimens collected also differed from localities and environmental factors (Table 4).

**Table 4**: The significant environmental factors that correlated with the distribution of*B. neritina* and main morphometric differences.

	Cis	Gua	Pan	Mal	Port	Ply
Environmental	Low	High	Low	High	Low	Low T;
factor	Sal;	Sal;	Chl;	POC;	Sal;	High
	High	High	High	High Sal;	High	Sal;
	Chl;	Chl;	Т;	High Bat	Nit;	Low Nit
	High T	High Sil	High Sil		Low T	
Ovicell (Ov)	Large	Small	Small	Small	Small	Small
	Ov size	Ov size	Ov area	Ov area	Ov area	Ov area
Opesia (Op)	Largest	Small	Small	Small	Smalles	Small
	Op area	Op area	Op area	Op area	t area	Op area
Zooid (Z)	Largest	Small Z	Small	Smallest	Large Z	Large Z
	Z size	size	Z size	Z size	size	size
Ovicells density (mean)	12	97	89	85	10	9
Branches per colony (mean)	4	24	13	12	6	5
Colony length (cm)	6.2	4.5	4.1	4.3	7.1	7.5

# Comparative analysis

A subset of thirty branches per locality were cleaned, measured and photographed in order to illustrate the ovicell densities, their distribution in the colony as well as to evidence morphological differences between all the sampled stations. The reduced density of ovicells in Cispatá and Portsmouth samples was evident in comparison to the samples from La Guajira, SFF Malpelo and Panamá (Figure 4; Table 2). Comparisons were made per collection zone (Caribbean, Tropical Eastern Pacific and South West England):

#### Caribbean

**Ovicell density:** Overall, the ovicell density was significantly different between the sampled areas (Bocas, Cispatá, Guajira) at all collection times (Anova, p<0.05), with the biggest difference between Cispatá and Bocas del Toro (Tukey HSD, p<0.05) (Figure 4; Table 5). Within stations, there were significant differences in the ovicell density between La Guajira and Cispatá Bay in both climatic seasons sampled, the rainy season (Anova, p<0.05) and the dry season (Anova, p=0.06), likely influenced by the environmental changes typical of each season. During the dry season, ovicell density was significantly lower in Cispatá (mean=5) than in La Guajira (mean=15), while during rainy season no ovicells were found in *B. neritina* samples in Cispatá stations. In Bocas del Toro it was not possible to compare climatic seasons because sampling was only carried out in the dry season in June.



**Figure 4.** Differences between ovicell density per colony in the Caribbean areas analysed (Bocas, Cispatá and La Guajira).

The linear model showed that the interaction between temperature and salinity had a significative effect on the ovicell density in the Caribbean (Glm, p<0.05) (Figure 6), but no significant effect was observed on each factor independently (Table 5).



**Figure 6.** Effects of the interaction of salinity and temperature on the ovicell density in the Caribbean.



**Figure 5:** Species distribution model for *B. neritina* in Pacific and Atlantic Ocean, A. Bocas del Toro, Panamá; B. Cispatá, Colombian Caribbean; C. La Guajira, North Colombian Caribbean; D. SFF. Malpelo, Colombian Pacific; E. Portsmouth and Plymouth, South United Kingdom.

**Colony size:** The colony size is significantly different between the sampled areas (Anova, p<0.05), with the greatest difference between Cispatá and Portete (Tukey HSD, p=0.002) (Figure 7) and Bocas del Toro (Tukey HSD, p=0.008) (Table 5). Within stations, there were differences in the colony size between La Guajira and Cispatá Bay in both climatic seasons sampled. During the dry season colony size was lower in Cispatá (mean=3.5 cm) than in La Guajira (mean=7.8 cm), while during rainy season *B. neritina* samples in Cispatá were bigger (mean=5.4 cm) than in La Guajira (mean=4.8 cm).



Figure 7. Differences between colony size in the Caribbean areas.

The linear model showed that the temperature (Glm, p<0.05) and the interaction between temperature and salinity had a significative effect on the colony size in the Caribbean (p<0.05) (figure 8), but no significant effect of salinity was observed on the colony size (p=0.278) (Table 5).



Figure 8. Effects of the interaction of salinity and temperature on the colony size in the Caribbean

# Pacific

**Ovicell density:** The ovicell density is significantly different between the sampled areas (t-test, p=0.001). Ovicell density in Arrecife 1 (mean 21.8; SD 1.229) was significantly higher than that Arrecife 2 (mean 19.9; SD 0.994) (p=0.001) (Figure 9; Table 5).



Figure 9. Differences between ovicell density in the Pacific areas.

The linear model showed that temperature had a significative effect on the ovicell density in the Pacific (GIm, p<0.05) (figure 10), but no significant effect was observed of the salinity or the interaction between temperature and salinity on the ovicell density (Table 5).



**Figure 10.** Effects of the interaction of salinity and temperature on the ovicell density in the Pacific.

Caribbean	Test		Ovice	ll density		Colony size				
	ANOVA	Df	MS	F	р	Df	MS	F	р	
	Caribbean	2	1972.3	158	p<0.01	2	4.177	7.314	p<0.01	
	Tukey HSD	diff	lwr	upr	р	diff	lwr	upr	р	
	Cis-Boc	-	-14.322	-10.767	p<0.01	0.483	0.102	0.863	p<0.01	
	Gua-Boc	12.545 -2.95	-4.8223	-1.076	p<0.01	0.07	-0.47	0.33	0.909	
	Gua-Cis	9.595	7.817	11.372	p<0.01	-0.553	-0.933	-0.172	p<0.01	
	GLM	Df	Dv	F	р	Df	Dv	F	р	
	Temperature	1	54.01	0.812	0.369	1	57.410	64.053	p<0.01	
	Salinity	1	53.12	0.161	0.689	1	56.970	1.186	0.2782	
	T vs Salinity	1	45.32	10.934	0.001	1	46.140	29.462	p<0.01	
South West	Test		Ovice	Ovicell density			Colony size			
UK	ANOVA	Df	MS	F	р	Df	MS	F	р	
	SW England	3	32.48	1.334	0.270	3	2.258	6.172	p<0.01	
	Tukey HSD	diff	lwr	upr	р	diff	lwr	upr	р	
	Ply 2 - Ply1	-1.65	-5.748	2.448	0.716	-0.725	-1.227	-0.222	0.001	
	Port 1 - Ply 1	0.7	-3.398	4.798	0.969	-0.1	-0.602	0.402	0.953	
	Port 2 - Ply 1	1.3	-2.798	5.398	0.838	-0.075	-0.577	0.427	0.979	
	Port 1 - Ply 2	2.35	-1.748	6.448	0.438	0.625	0.122	1.127	0.008	
	Port 2 - Ply 2	2.96	-1.148	7.048	0.24	0.65	0.147	1.152	0.005	
	Port 2 - Port 1	0.6	-3.498	4.698	0.98	0.025	-0.477	0.527	0.999	
	GLM	Df	Dv	F	р	Df	Dv	F	р	
	Temperature	1	35.021	492.172	p<0.001	1	34.351	0.756	0.387	
	Salinity	1	25.231	72.849	p<0.001	1	24.051	33.795	p<0.001	
	T vs Salinity	1	24.132	108.938	p<0.001	1	23.163	2.914	0.091	
Pacific	Test	Ovicell density		Colony size						
	t-test		t	Df	р		t	Df	р	
	SFF Malpelo		3.8	17.247	0.001		-2.623	12.598	0.021	
			SD	mean			SD	mean		
	Arr 1		1.229	21.8			0.274	4.48		
	Arr 2		0.994	19.9			0.125	4.73		
	GLM	Df	Dv	F	р	Df	Dv	F	р	
	Temperature	1	18.05	14.44	0.001	1	0.3125	6.884	0.017	
	Salinity	0	0			0	0			
	T vs Salinity	0	0			0	0			
Dv: deviance res Arrecife	iduals; MS: mean	square; C	is: Cispata;	Gua: Guajira;	Boc: Bocas	del Toro; F	Ply: Plymoutl	h: Por: Ports	mouth: Arr:	

# **Table 5.** Interaction effects of temperature and salinity on the ovicell density and colony size

**Colony size:** The colony size is significantly different between the sampled areas (t-test, p=0.021). Colony size in Arrecife 2 (mean 4.73; SD 0.125) was significantly higher than that Arrecife 1 (mean 4.48; SD 0.274) (Figure 11) (Table 5).



Figure 11. Differences between colony size in the Pacific areas analysed.

The linear model showed that the temperature (Glm, p<0.05) had a significative effect on the colony size in the Pacific, but salinity and the interaction between temperature and salinity do not have significant effect on the colony size (Figure 12) (Table 5).



**Figure 12.** Effects of the interaction of salinity and temperature on the colony size in the Pacific.

#### South West England

**Ovicell density:** The ovicell density is not significantly different between the sampled areas (Anova, p=0.270) (Figure 13; Table 5). Within stations, there were no significant differences in the ovicell density between Plymouth and Portsmouth in both seasons sampled, Summer (Anova, p=0.235) and winter (Anova, p=0.069), however, the position of ovicells differed, during summer ovicells were found at the tips of the colony in Plymouth and around the middle in Portsmouth. While during winter no ovicells were found at the tip of the colonies analysed.



**Figure 13.** Differences between ovicell density in the South West England areas analysed.

The linear model showed that the temperature, salinity and the interaction them (Glm, p<0.05), have significant effect on the ovicell density in the South West England samples analysed (Figure 14) (Table 5).



**Figure 14.** Effects of the interaction of salinity and temperature on the ovicell density in the SW England.

**Colony size:** The colony size is significantly different between the sampled areas (Anova, p<0.05), with the greatest difference between Plymouth 1 and Plymouth 2 (Tukey HSD, p=0.001) and Portsmouth 2 and Plymouth 2 (Tukey HSD, p=0.005) (Figure 15) (Table 5). Within stations, there were no differences in the colony size between Plymouth and Portsmouth in both seasons sampled. During winter colony size was slightly smaller in Portsmouth (mean=7.1 cm) than in Plymouth (mean=7.8 cm), while during summer *B. neritina* samples in Portsmouth were bigger (mean=7.8 cm) than in Plymouth (mean= 7.6 cm).



Figure 15. Differences between colony size in the South West England areas analysed.

The linear model showed that the salinity (Glm, p<0.05) had a significative effect on the colony size in the SW England, but temperature (p=0.387) and the interaction between temperature and salinity do not have significant effect on the colony size (p=0.091) (Figure 16) (Table 5).



**Figure 16.** Effects of the interaction of salinity and temperature on the colony size in the SW England.

#### DISCUSSION

This study suggests a relationship between environmental factors, the number of mature zooids, ovicell density and the colony growth of *Bugula neritina* and a possible influence of those factors on the morphometry and the reproduction strategy performed. Temperature, salinity and nutrients derived from primary productivity are the factors influencing most strongly the switch from asexual to sexual reproduction and ensuring the survival and colonization of new habitats (O'Dea et al., 2008).

High fluctuations in salinity provoke a reduction of mature zooids and ovicell production and subsequently bigger colony size (asexual growth). These traits are also influenced by the temperature (Amui-Vedel et al., 2007: Okamura & Bishop, 1988) and oxygen availability (O'Dea & Okamura, 1999). Increasing bathymetry on the other hand, is related to a decrease in zooid size (Schopf et al., 1980), changes in the morphology (Pachut & Cuffey, 1991) and encourages branching growth patterns (Thomsen, 1977; Hillmer, 1979; Schopf et al., 1980; Smith, 1995). Specimens in changing salinity and temperature environments such as Cispatá Bay in the Colombian Caribbean invest less in sexual reproduction but present bigger zooid and colony size than specimens in more stable environments with similar temperature patterns such as Bocas del Toro in the Panamanian Caribbean. Both environments consist of submersed R. mangle roots but differ in the origin and oceanographic factors that influence their ecosystem dynamics. Our samples were collected during the Panamanian rainy season and were considerably different in relation to the ovicell density and colony size to the ones collected during the same climatic season in Cispatá Bay and in La Guajira.

Cispatá Bay is directly influenced by the freshwater injections from the Sinú river which partially flows into it and the typical precipitations from rainy season which increase turbidity due to the shallow depth in the area (Invemar-CVS, 2010). These constant variations in salinity have created a seasonal semi-brackish environment which modulates the distribution of euryhaline species (Patiño & Flórez, 1993; Quiroz & Arias, 2013). During dry season, salinity is more stable, and animals shift from borderline to inner areas into the mangrove bay (Quiroz et al. 2017), however,

during rainy season, salinity dramatically drops and these specimens die off, resulting in most species found in the exposed areas of the bay to the open sea (Alvarez-Leon & Gutierrez-Bonilla, 2007) with bigger colony size and very scarce ovicells. Bocas del Toro on the other hand, consist of a mangrove area directly exposed to the Caribbean Sea with clearer and deeper waters, less turbid than Cispatá and holding greater species diversity (Guzman et al. 2005). During the rainy season salinity in the first water mass layer decreases as well as surface sea temperature (Seemann et al., 2018) and less remotion of bottom particulate organic matter is produced.

The colonies collected in Panamá also differed from the colonies collected in La Guajira which is another mangrove area in the Caribbean Sea, in regards the ovicell density, zooid and colony size. This could also be attributed to the location of La Guajira in a desertic zone and the environmental dynamics in which the primary productivity and available suspended food is higher than in the mangrove system in Bocas del Toro (Panama) due to the continuous upwelling phenomenon typical of this region (Castro et al., 2006; Pulgar et al., 2011; Nielsen & Navarrete, 2004). The temperature and salinity fluctuations in Panamá also differ from the natural fluctuations in that northern part of Colombia due to the action of constant trade winds that cool down the superficial sea temperature in La Guajira (Corpoguajira & Invemar, 2012). in addition, the turbidity and nutrient circulation in this area allows the establishment of an abundant rather than diverse fauna and could be determining the sexual reproduction strategy of *B. neritina* in the area. This type of reproduction requires higher energy consumption which can be compensated with the available particulate organic matter characteristic of La Guajira.

Our results indicate that colonies in Cispatá reproduce sexually during the dry season and during the rainy season young colonies at the exposed areas of the Bay switch to asexual reproduction by investing more energy in colony growth by budding. Also, the constant high primary productivity in La Guajira together with less temperature and salinity fluctuations represent an adequate environment for the continuous sexual reproduction of *Bugula neritina*, with slight reduction in ovicell densities during the rainy season. Finally, in Bocas del Toro, during the rainy season

the ovicell density indicates that the sexual reproduction seems unaffected by the effects of salinity and temperature decrease.

In the South West of England, samples from Portsmouth had low ovicell density than Plymouth, during both climatic seasons sampled, which correlates with the marine traffic activity in both areas and the influence of freshwater interaction in Portsmouth marinas in comparison with the marina in Plymouth which is exposed to the open sea. This reduction in the overall ovicell production, encourages asexual budding and colony growth (Hartikainen et al., 2014). In addition, our results suggest a possible trade-off between ovicell density and morphometry, colonies with fewer ovicells per branch presented larger zooid size. This finding contradicts previous studies in cupuladriids in which zooidal size was unresponsive to energetic allocation to reproduction (O'Dea & Jackson, 2002). In our study, the investment in ovicells reduces the energy for the production of large zooids in *Bugula neritina*.

Colonies collected in the Colombian Tropical Eastern Pacific cannot be compared against climatic seasons as those samples correspond to a single time collection in one zone of the SFF Malpelo during dry season 2016. However, differences were found within the sampling areas; in Arrecife 1 the greater ovicell density and smallest colony size was found, this station correspond to a protected area of the island in between rock walls. Arrecife 2 was characterized by colonies with reduced ovicell densities and the biggest zooid size, this station corresponds to the most exposed area with strongest marine currents. Although this sample could be used as an outgroup for the rest of the biological material used in our study. Colony growth is detrimental for the switch to asexual reproduction (Håkansson & Thomsen, 2001); increasing zooid size does not necessarily correlate to the colony size but is a good indicator of the reproductive strategy (Keough, 1989; Keough & Chernoff, 1987).

Changing environmental factors and disturbances encourage asexual reproduction in *Bugula neritina*, probably because the energy requirements for sexual reproduction are usually limiting in these situations and physical breakage in the colony caused by strong currents requires additional energy expenditure in recovery (Cheetham & Sanner, 2001; Håkansson & Thomsen 2001; McKinney & Jackson, 1989). This strategy also allows the asexual dispersal to more stable environments (O'Dea, 2006), but reduces genetic diversity, which is detrimental in species permanency in time. Higher turbidity as a result of environmental disturbances, reduces bryozoan colony survival and their reproduction (Jackson & Coates, 1986). Although, some studies have reported that chlorophyll-a caused by high primary productivity does not affect individual zooids but the colony size (Jebram, 1977; Winston, 1976). The survival of *B. neritina* during high suspended particulate organic matter would depend on the larval performance under that environmental stress, their ability to undertake metamorphosis and velocity of colony growth, as well as the availability of nutrients and carbonate (Cocito et al., 2004).

This study has shown that the morphology and reproductive strategy of *B. neritina* can be significantly influenced by external stressors and may be an indicator of the environment quality (Smith, 2014; Guinotte & Fabry, 2008; Taylor, 2005; Smith, 1995). Our current knowledge on how the reproductive strategies of this species will respond to further climate change scenarios is still limited and requires future investigations.

# CONCLUSIONS

This study concludes that temperature, salinity and primary productivity is related to the reproductive strategy in *Bugula neritina*; in the Caribbean, during the dry season, this species reproduces sexually in mangrove areas and colonies reduce their size during rainy season. Different populations of *B. neritina* in contrasting ecosystems and environmental conditions presented similar responses in the production of ovicells and colony growth indicating a possible species-specific pattern. Colonies that invested in ovicell production reduced asexual growth. Further studies should address the performance of ovicell density under multi-stressor scenarios to evaluate detrimental environmental factors for the survival and reproduction of *Bugula neritina*.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project was possible with the collaboration of several institutions worldwide. We are thankful with the Ecology and Environment research centre in Manchester Metropolitan University for the financial and logistical support in the development of this research. Also, to the Plymouth university for the support in field work and sample sorting. We also thank the Marine and Coastal Research institute of Colombia - INVEMAR for the great financial and logistic support for development of the field campaigns in the Colombian Caribbean and sample exportation to the UK. In addition, we thank the Comisión Colombiana del Océano – CCO for the support in the collection of the SFF Malpelo samples. Thanks to the Smithsonian Tropical Research institute for the support during sample analysis. Part of this research contributed to the final year undergraduate project of Tammy Ho in the Manchester University in 2017, to whom we are very thankful for her support in laboratory.

## REFERENCES

- Abbott, M.B. (1973) Seasonal diversity and density in bryozoan populations of Block Island Sound (New York, U.S.A.). 37- 51. In Larwood, G. P. (ed.), Living and Fossil Bryozoa. Academic Press; London.
- Álvarez-León, R. & F. Gutiérrez-Bonilla (2007) Situación de los invertebrados acuáticos introducidos y transplantados en Colombia: Antecedentes efectos y perspectivas. Rev Acad Colomb Cienc. 31(121):557-574.
- Amui-Vedel, A., Hayward, P. & J. Porter (2007) Zooid size and growth rate of the bryozoan *Cryptosula pallasiana* Moll in relation to temperature, in culture and in its natural environment. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 353: 1-12.
- Andrade, C.A. (2000) Circulation and variability of the colombian basin in the Caribbean Sea, tesis presentada para optar al título de Doctor en Filosofía de la Universidad de Gales. Menai Bridge, Gales. 223p.
- Arenas, F., Bishop, J., Carlton, J., Dyrynda, P., Farnham, W., Gonzalez, D., Jacobs, M., Lambert, C., Lambert, G., Nielsen, S., Pederson, J., Porter, J., Ward, S. & C. Wood (2006) Alien species and other notable records from a rapid assessment survey of marinas on the south coast of England. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the UK, 86: 1329-1337.
- Barnes, D.K.A & A. Clarke (1994) Seasonal variation in the feeding activity of four species of Antarctic bryozoan in relation to environmental factors. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ec. 181(1) 117-133.
- Bernal G., G. Poveda, P. Roldán, & C. Andrade (2006) Patrones de variabilidad de las temperaturas superficiales del mar en la costa Caribe colombiana. Rev. Adad. Coloma. Cienc. 30 (115): 195-208.
- Blackburn, D.G. (1999) Viviparity and oviparity: Evolution and reproductive strategies. In: Knobil, E., Neill, J.D. (eds) Encyclopedia of reproduction. Academic Press, New York, 994-1003.
- Bremekamp, M. (2012) Tidal Propagation in Plymouth Sound and Tamar Estuary, Master of Science, Faculty of Science and Technology, Plymouth University, Plymouth, UK.
- Busk, G. (1852) Catalogue of marine Polyzoa in the collection of the British Museum. I. Cheilostomata. Trustees of the British Museum, London. pp. 1-54.
- Cancino, J. M., Castañeda, B. & C. Orellana (1991) Reproductive strategies in bryozoans: Experimental test of the effects of conspecific neighbours. In: Bigey F. P. (ed) Bryozoaries actuels et fossiels: Bryozoa living and fossil. Bull. Soc. Scie. Nat. Ouest France, Mem. H.S 1:81-88.

- Castro, C., Farías, M. & M. Jara (2006) Variabilidad espacio temporal de las surgencias en el litoral de Atacama. En: CONAMA. Actas Primer Seminario Internacional deÁreas marinas y costeras protegidas. Caldera: CONAMA.
- Cheetham, A.H. & J. Sanner (2001) Evolutionary significance of sexual and asexual modes of propagation in Neogene species of the bryozoan Metrarabdotos in tropical America. Journal of Paleontology, 75: 564–577.
- Clarke, A. (1988) Seasonality in the Antarctic marine ecosystem. Comp. B&hem. Physioi., Vol. 90B, pp. 461- 473.
- Clutton-Brock, T.H. (1991) The evolution of parental care. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Cocito, S., Novosel, M. & A. Novosel (2004) Carbonate bioformations around underwater freshwater springs in the north-eastern Adriatic Sea. Facies, 50: 13-17.
- Cooper, L.H.N. (1958) Sea temperatures in Plymouth Sound. Journal of the Marine Biology Association of the United Kingdom, 37, 1– 3.
- Connell, J. H., & M. J. Keough (1985) Disturbance and patch dynamics of subtidal marine animals on hard substrata. Pp. 125-151. In Pickett, S. T. A., and P. S. White (eds.), The Ecology of Natural Disturbance and Patch Dynamics. Academic Press; New York.
- Corpoguajira & Invemar (2012) Atlas marino costero de La Guajira. Serie de Publicaciones Especiales de Invemar No. 27. Santa Marta, Colombia. 188p.
- Corriero, G., Sarà, M. & P. Vaccaro (1996) Sexual and asexual reproduction in two species of Tethya (Porifera: Demospongiae) from a Mediterranean coastal lagoon. Mar Biol 126:175–181
- De Castro, M. C., Vance, T., Yunnie, A.L.E., Fileman, T.W. & J.M. Hall-Spencer (2018) Low salinity as a biosecurity tool for minimizing biofouling on ship sea chests. Ocean Sci., 14, 661-667. doi.org/10.5194/os-14-661-2018.
- El-Shenawy, N., Nabil, Z., Abdel-Nabi, I. & R. Greenwood (2010) Comparing the Passive and Active Sampling Devices with Biomonitoring of Pollutants in Langstone and Portsmouth Harbour, UK. Journal of Environmental Science and Technology, 3: 1-17.
- Fehlauer-Ale, K. H., Mackie, J. A., Lim-Fong, G. E., Ale, E., Pie, M. R. & A. Waeschenbach (2013) Cryptic species in the cosmopolitan Bugula neritina complex (Bryozoa, Cheilostomata). Zoologica Scripta.
- Fehlauer-Ale, K.H., Winston, J.E., Tilbrook, K.J., Nascimento, K.B. & L.M Vieira (2015) Identifying monophyletic groups within *Bugula* sensu lato (Bryozoa, Buguloidea). Zoologica Scripta, 44, 334–347.
- García-Roselló, E., Guisande, C., González-Dacosta, J., Heine, J., Pelayo-Villamil, P., Manjarrás- Hernández, A., Vaamonde, A. & C. Granado-Lorencio (2013) ModestR: a software tool for managing and analyzing species distribution map databases. Ecography, 36: 1202-1207.
- Gray, J.E. (1848) List of the Specimens of British Animals in the Collections of the British Museum. Part 1. Centrionae or radiated animals Trustees of the British Museum, London. xiii + 173 pp.
- Guinotte, J. & V. Fabry (2008) Ocean Acidification and its potential effects on marine ecosystems. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1134: 320-342.
- Guisande, C., García-Roselló, E., Heine, J., Gonzáalez- Dacosta, J.,González Vilas, L., García Pérez, B.J. & J.M. Lobo (2017) SPEDInstabR: An algorithm based on a fluctuation index for selecting predictors in species distribution modeling. Ecological Informatics, 37: 18–23.
- Guzmán, H.M., Barnes, P.A.G., Lovelock, C.E. & I. Feller (2005) A Site Description of the CARICOMP Mangrove, Seagrass and Coral Reef Sites in Bocas del Toro, Panama. Caribbean Journal of Science 41(3): 430-440.
- Hartikainen, H., Humphries, S. & B. Okamura (2014) Form and metabolic scaling in colonial animals. The Journal of Experimental Biology. 217, 779-786 doi:10.1242/jeb.093484.
- Håkansson, E. & E. Thomsen (2001) Asexual propagation in cheilostome Bryozoa: evolutionary trends in a major group of colonial animals. In Evolutionary patterns: growth, form and tempo in fossil record (J.B.C. Jackson, S. Lindgard and F.K. McKinney, eds.), pp. 326-347. Chicago, Illinois: University of Chicago Press.
- Hall, V. R. & T. P. Hughes (1996) Reproductive strategies of modular organisms: comparative studies of reef-building corals. Ecology, 77: 950–963.
- Harvell, C. D. & R. K. Grosberg (1988) The timing of sexual maturity in clonal animals. Ecology, 69: 1855–1864.
- Hijmans, R.J., Cameron, S.E., Parra, J.L., Jones, P.G. & A. Jarvis (2005) Very highresolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. Int. J. Climatol. 25: 1965–1978. doi: 10.1002/joc.1276.
- Hillmer, G. (1979) Two abundant species of Recent Reteporidae (bryoz. cheil.) in Cebu Island, Philippines. The Philippine Scientist, 16: 84-93.
- Hoshi M., Kobayashi, K., Arioka, S., Hase, S. & M. Matsumoto (2003) Switch from Asexual to Sexual Reproduction in the Planarian *Dugesia ryukyuensis*. Integr. Comp. Biol., 43:242-246.
- Hughes, R.N. & P.J. Wright (2014) Self-fertilization in the *Celleporella angusta* clade and a description of *Celleporella osiani* sp.nov. In: Rosso, A., Wyse Jackson,

P.N, Porter, J. (eds) Bryozoan studies 2013: Proceedings of the 16<sup>th</sup> International Bryozoology Association conference. Stud. Trent. Sci. Nat.

- Hughes, R.N., Wright, P.J. & J.D.D. Bishop (2002) Female investment is retarded pending reception of allosperm in hermaphroditic colonial invertebrate. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99(23): 14884-14886.
- Hunter, E. & R.N. Hughes (1993) Effects of diet on life-history parameters of the marine bryozoan, *Celleporella hyalina* (L.) J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 167(2):163-177.
- Hunter, E., Okano, K., Tomono, Y. & N. Fusetani (1998) Functional partitioning of energy reserves by larvae of the marine bryozoan Bugula neritina (L.). J Exp Biol. 201(Pt 20):2857-2865
- IAvH & CVS (2006) Delimitation and formulation of a integrated management district of natural resources (DMI) of mangrove from Cispatá Bay, Tinajones, La Balsa and surrounding areas. National Institute of Research Alexander von Humboldt, Regional Autonomous Corporation of Valleys of the Sinú and San Jorge. Agreement Nu. 056. 299 pp.
- INVEMAR-CVS (2010) Plan integral de manejo del Distrito de Manejo Integrado (DMI) bahía de Cispatá - La Balsa – Tinajones y sectores aledaños del delta estuarino del río Sinú, departamento de Córdoba (G.X., Rojas and P. Sierra-Correa, eds.) pp. 141. Santa Marta, Colombia: Serie de Publicaciones Especiales No. 18 de INVEMAR.
- IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151.
- Jackson, J.B.C. & A.G. Coates (1986) Life cycles and evolution of clonal (modular) animals. In The growth and form of modular organisms (J.L Harper, B.R. Rosen and J. White, eds), pp. 7-22. London: The Royal Society.
- Jackson, J. B. C., & S. Wertheimer (1985) Patterns of repro- duction in five common species of Jamaican reef-associated bryozoans. Pp. 161-168. In Nielsen, C., and G. P. Larwood (eds.), Bryozoa: Ordovician to Recent. Olsen and Olsen; Fre- densborg, Denmark.
- Jaeckle, W.B. (1994) Rates of energy consumption and acquisition by lecithotrophic larvae of *Bugula neritina* (Bryozoa: Cheilostomata). Marine Biology 119, 517–523 (1994). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00354313</u>.
- Jebram, D. (1977) Experimental techniques and culture methods. In Biology of bryozoans (R.M. Woolacott and R.L. Zimmer, eds), pp.273-306. New York, New York: Academic Press.
- Jenkins, H. L., Waeschenbach, A., Okamura, B., Hughes, R.N. & J.D.D Bishop (2017) Phylogenetically Widespread Polyembryony in Cyclostome Bryozoans

and the Protracted Asynchronous Release of Clonal Brood-Mates. PLoS ONE 12(1): e0170010. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0170010.

- Johnson, C.H. (2010) Effects of selfing on offspring survival and reproduction in a colonial simultaneous hermaphrodite (*Bugula stolonifera*, Bryozoa). Biol. Bull. 219:17-37.
- Keough, M.J. (1986) The distribution of the bryozoan on seagrass blades: settlement growth and mortality. Ecology, 67: 846-857.
- Keough, M.J. (1989) Dispersal of the bryozoan *Bugula neritina* and effects of adults on newly metamorphosed juveniles. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 57:163-171.
- Keough, M.J. & H. Chernoff (1987) Dispersal and population variation in the bryozoan. Ecology, 68: 199-210.
- Kiesser, A. & J. Hoffman (1975) Reconnaissance and Mapping of Malpelo Island. In the biological investigation of Malpelo Island, Colombia (J. Graham, ed.), pp.13-16. Washington, D.C: Smithsonian Institution Press.
- Levinsen, G.M.R. (1907) Sur la régénération totale des Bryozoaires. Mem. Acad. R. Sci. Lett. Danemark 4:151-159.
- Lidgard, S. (1990) Growth in Encrusting Cheilostome Bryozoans: II. Circum-Atlantic Distribution Patterns. Paleobiology, 16(3), 304-321.
- Linnaeus, C. (1758) Systema Naturæ per Regna Tria Naturæ, Secundum Classes, Ordines, Genera, Species, cum Characteribus, Differentiis, Synonymis, Locis (824 p). Stockholm: Holmiæ (Salvius).
- Marcus, E. (1937) Bryozoários marinhos Brasileiros, I. Boletim da Faculdade de Filosofia, Ciências e Letras da Universidade de São Paulo, Zoologia, 1, 3– 224, 29 pls.
- McEdward, L.R. (1995) Ecology of marine invertebrate larvae. CRC Press, Boca Raton/London/New York/Washington D.C.
- McKinney, F. & J. Jackson (1989) Bryozoan evolution. Boston, Massachusetts: Unwin and Hyman. Menon, N. 1972. Heat tolerance, growth and regeneration in three North Sea bryozoans exposed to different constant temperatures. Marine Biology, 15: 1-11.
- Nielsen K. & S. Navarrete (2004) Mesoscale regulation comes from the bottom-up: intertidal interactions between consumers and upwelling. Ecology Letters 7, 31-41.
- O'Dea, A. (2006) Asexual propagation in the marine bryozoan *Cupuladria exfragminis*. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 335: 312-322.

- O'Dea, A. & J. Jackson (2009) Environmental change drove macroevolution in cupuladriid bryozoans. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 276: 3629-3634.
- O'Dea, A. & B. Okamura (1999) Influence of seasonal variation in temperature, salinity and food availability on module size and colony growth of the estuarine bryozoan Conopeum seurati. Marine Biology, 135: 581-588.
- O'Dea, A., Herrera-Cubilla, A., Fortunato, H. & J. Jackson (2004) Life history variation in cupuladriid bryozoans from either side of the Isthmus of Panama. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 280: 145-161.
- O'Dea, A. & J. Jackson (2002) Bryozoan growth mirrors contrasting seasonal regimes across the lsthmus of Panama. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 185: 77-94.
- O'Dea, A., Jackson, J.B.C., Taylor, P.D. & F. Rodriguez (2008) Modes of reproduction in fossil and recent cupuladriid Bryozoans. Palaeontology, 51: 847-864.
- Okamura, B. & J. Bishop (1988) Zooid size in cheilostome bryozoans as an indicator of relative palaeotemperature. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 66: 145-152.
- Oken, L. (1815) Lehrbuch der Naturgeschichte, III, Zoologie. Abtei- lung 1, Fleischlose Thiere. Leipzig: Jena.
- Osburn, R.C. (1914) The Bryozoa of the Tortugas Islands, Florida. Carnegie Institution of Washington Publication,182, 183-222.
- Osburn, R.C. (1927) The Bryozoa of Curaçao. Bijdragen tot de Dierkunde, 25, 123– 132.
- Osburn, R.C. (1940) Bryozoa of Porto Rico with a resumé of the West Indian bryozoan fauna. Scientific Survey of Porto Rico and the Virgin Islands, 16, 321–486.
- Ostrovsky, A. (2009) Evolution of Sexual Reproduction in the bryozoan order Cheilostomatida (Gymnolaemata). St. Petersburg State University, St. Petersburg.
- Ostrovsky, A. (2013) Evolution of Sexual Reproduction in Marine Invertebrates, example of gymnolaemate bryozoans. New York and London: Springer Dordrecht Heidelberg.356 pp.
- Ostrovsky, A., O'Dea, A. & F. Rodríguez (2009) Comparative anatomy of internal incubational sacs in cupuladriid bryozoans and the evolution of brooding in free-living cheilostomes. Journal of Morphology, 270: 1413-1430.
- Ostrovsky, A. & N.N. Shunatova (2002) Colonial behaviour and group zooidal reactions in bryozoa: history of the research. In: Wyse Jackson P.N, Spencer

Jones, M.E. (eds) Annals of bryozoology: aspects of the history of research on bryozoans. International Bryozoology Association, Dublin, 185-200.

- Pachut, J.F. & R.J. Cuffey (1991) Clinal geographic variation, intraspecific heterochrony, and micro- evolution in the Permian bryozoan Tabulipora carbonaria. Lethaia, 24: 165-185.
- Patiño, F. & F. Flórez (1993) Estudio ecológico del golfo de Morrosquillo. Bogotá: Universidad Nacional, Fondo FEN.
- Pearse, J. S., V. B. Pearse, & A. T. Newberry (1989) Telling sex from growth: Dissolving Maynard Smith's paradox. Bull. Mar. Sci. 45:433–446.
- Pecquet, A., Dorey, N. & K.Y.K. Chan (2017) Ocean acidification increases larval swimming speed and has limited effects on spawning and settlement of a robust fouling bryozoan, *Bugula neritina*. Mar Pollut Bull. 124(2): 903-910.
- Pechenik, J.A. (1990) Delayed metamorphosis by larvae of benthic marine invertebrates: does it occur? Is there a price to pay? Ophelia 32:63–94.
- Pechenik, J.A., Wendt, D., & J. Jarrett (1998) Metamorphosis Is Not a New Beginning. BioScience, 48(11), 901-910. doi:10.2307/1313294.
- Porter, J. (2012) *Bugula neritina*. In Seasearch guide to bryozoans and hydroids of Britain and Ireland, pp. 55. Ross-on-wye, Herefordshire: Marine Conservation Society.
- Pulgar J., Alvarez M., Morales J., García-Huidobro M., Aldana M., Ojeda F.P. & V.M. Pulgar (2011) Impact of oceanic upwelling on morphometric and molecular indices of an intertidal fish *Scarthychys viridis* (Blenniidae). Marine Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology 44, 33-42.
- Quiroz, J.A. & J.E. Arias (2013) Taxocenosis de moluscos y crustáceos en raíces de *Rhizophora mangle* (Rhizophoraceae) en la bahía de Cispatá, Córdoba, Colombia. Acta Biológica Colombiana, 18(2): 329-339.
- Quiroz, J.A., Medrano-Mangones, W.J. & G.G. Santafé-Patiño (2017) Esponjas (Porifera: Demospongiae) de raíces sumergidas de *Rhizophora mangle* en la Bahía de Cispatá, Córdoba, Caribe colombiano. Revista Mexicana de Biodiversidad 88: 80–85.
- Reed, C.G. (1991) Bryozoa. In: Giese, A.C, Pearse, J.S, Pearse, V.B (eds) Reproduction of marine invertebrates, vol 6, Echinoderms and lophophorates. Boxwood Press, Pacific Grove, 85-245.
- Ryland, J. (1974) Behaviour, settlement and metamorphosis of bryozoan larvae: a review. Thalassia jugoslavica. 10. 239-262.
- Ryland, J. S. (1976) Physiology and ecology of marine bryozoans. Advances in Marine Biology, 14: 285- 443.

- Ryland, J., Bishop, J., De Blauwe, H., El Nagar, A., Minchin, D., Wood, C. & A. Yunnie (2011) Alien species of Bugula (Bryozoa) along the Atlantic coasts of Europe. Aquatic Invasions, 6: 17-31.
- Sánchez-Pérez, H., Ulloa-Delgado, G.A., Tavera-Escovar, H. & W. Gil (2005) Integral management plan of mangroves of the sustainable uses zone of estuarine sector Cispatá Bay, Department of Córdoba, Colombia. Regional Autonomous Corporation of Valleys of the Sinú and San Jorge, National Corporation for Forestry Research and Development. OIMT. Bogotá, Colombia.
- Schaefer, M.B., Bishop, Y.M.M. & G.V. Howard (1958) Some aspects of upwelling in the Gulf of Panama [in English and Spanish]. Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission Bulletin, 3: 77-130.
- Schopf, T., Collier, K. & B. Bach (1980) Relation of the morphology of stick-like bryozoans at Friday Harbor, Washington, to bottom currents, suspended matter and depth. Paleobiology, 6: 466-476.
- Schuster, L., White, C.R. & D.J. Marshall (2019) Influence of food, body size, and fragmentation on metabolic rate in a sessile marine invertebrate. Invertebrate Biology 138:55-66.
- Seemann, J., Yingst, A., Stuart-Smith, R. D., Edgar, G. J., & A. H. Altieri (2018) The importance of sponges and mangroves in supporting fish communities on degraded coral reefs in Caribbean Panama. PeerJ, 6, e4455. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4455.
- Shunatova, N.N. & A. Ostrovsky (2002) Group behaviour and chimneys in marine bryozoans. Mar. Biol. 140(3):503-518.
- Sims, D.W., Wearmouth, V.J., Genner, M.J., Southward, A.J., & S. Hawkins (2004) Low-temperature-driven early spawning migration of a temperate marine fish. J. An. Ecol. 73(2): 333-341. doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-8790.2004.00810.
- Silén, L. (1966) On the fertilization problem in gymnolaematous Bryozoa. Ophelia 3: 113-140.
- Smayda, T. (1966) A quantitative analysis of the phytoplankton of the Gulf of Panama. III. General ecological conditions and the phytoplankton dynamics at 8°45'N. 79°23'W from November 1954 to May 1957. Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission Bulletin, 11: 361-404.
- Smitt, F.A. (1868) Kritisk förteckning öfver Skandinaviens Hafs-Bryozoer. (IV & C.). Öfversigt af Kongliga Vetenskaps- Akademiens Förhandlingar, 25, 3–230, pls 24–28.
- Smith, A. (1995) Palaeoenvironmental interpretation using bryozoans: a review. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 83: 231-243.

- Smith, A. (2014) Growth and calcification of marine bryozoans in a changing ocean. The Biological Bulletin, 226: 203-210.
- Taylor, P.D. (2005) Bryozoans and palaeoenvironmental interpretation. Journal of the Palaeontological Society of India, 50: 1-11.
- Thomsen, E. (1977) Phenetic variability and functional morphology of erect cheilostome bryozoans from the Danian (Palaeocene) of Denmark. Paleobiology, 3: 360-376.
- Thomsen, E. & E. Håkansson (1995) Sexual versus asexual dispersal in clonal animals: examples from cheilostome bryozoans. Paleobiology, 21: 496-508.
- Thompson, J. E., Murphy, P. T., Bergquist, P.R., & E.A. Evans (1987) Environmentally induced variation in diterpene composition of the marine sponge *Rhopaloeides odorabile* new genus new species. Biochem Syst Ecol 15:595–606.
- Thorson, G. (1950) Reproductive and larval ecology of marine bottom invertebrates. Biol Rev 25:1-45.
- Vance, R. (1973) On reproductive strategies in marine benthic invertebrates. Am. Nat. 107:339-352.
- Wendt, D.E. (1996) Effect of larval swimming duration on success of metamorphosis and size of the ancestrular lophophore in *Bugula neritina* (Bryozoa). Biol Bull. 191(2):224-233. doi:10.2307/1542925.
- Wendt, D.E. (1998) Effect of larval swimming duration on growth and reproduction of *Bugula neritina* (Bryozoa) Under Field Conditions. Biol Bull. 195(2):126-135. doi:10.2307/1542820.
- Wendt, D.E. (2000) Energetics of larval swimming and metamorphosis in four species of Bugula (Bryozoa). Biol Bull. 198(3):346-356. doi:10.2307/1542690.
- Winston, J.E. (1976) Experimental culture of the estuarine ectoproct *Conopeum tenuissimum* from Chesapeake Bay. Biology Bulletin, 150: 316-335.
- Winston, J.E. (1978) Polypide morphology and feeding behaviour in marine ectoprocts. Bull Mar. Sci. 28(1):1-31.
- Winston, J.E. (1982) Marine Bryozoans (Ectoprocta) of the Indian River area (Florida). Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History, 173, 99–176.
- Winston, J.E. (1983) Patterns of growth, reproduction and mortality in bryozoans from the Ross Sea, Antarctica. Bull. Mar. Sci. 33(3): 688-702.
- Winston, J. E. (1988) Life histories of free-living bryozoans. National Geographic Research, 4: 528-53. Winston J.E. 1995. Ectoproct diversity of the Indian River coastal lagoon. Bulletin of Marine Science, 57: 184-193.

- Winston, J.E. & R. Woollacott (2008) Redescription and revision of some redpigmented Bugula species. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, 159: 179-212.
- Woollacott, R.M. (1999) Bryozoa (Ectoprocta). In: Knobil E, Neill, J.D (eds) Encyclopedia of reproduction, vol 1. Academic Press, New York, 439-448.
- Woollacott, R.M. & R.L. Zimmer (1975) A simplified placenta-like system for the transport of extraembryonic nutrients during embryogenesis of *Bugula neritina* (Bryozoa). Journal of Morphology, 147: 355–378.
- Woollacott, R.M. & Zimmer, R.L. (1972) Origin and structure of the brood chamber in *Bugula neritina* (Bryozoa). Marine Biology, 16: 165–170.
- Wooster, W.S. (1959) Oceanographic observations in the Panama Bight, "Askoy" Expedition, 1941. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History, 118: 119-151.
- Yang, X.X., Zhang. Y., Wong, Y.H. & P.Y. Qian (2018) HSP90 regulates larval settlement of the bryozoan *Bugula neritina* through the nitric oxide pathway. Journal of Experimental Biology 221, doi:10.1242/jeb.167478.
- Yepes-Narvaez, V. & L. H. Chasqui (2019) Briozoos, In: Hurtado-Valdivieso et al., eds. CCO-Dimar. Malpelo es Colombia, Maravilla Estratégica. Bogotá, D.C. 180p.
- Wong, Y.H., Arellano, S.M., Zhang, H., Ravasi, T. & P.Y. Qian (2010) Dependency on de novo protein synthesis and proteomic changes during metamorphosis of the marine bryozoan *Bugula neritina*. Proteome Science, 8:25.

# Chapter 5: Complete evisceration in the tropical Ascidian *Polycarpa captiosa* (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea) is caused by environmental stress

Vanessa Yepes-Narváez; Richard Preziosi

ORCID ID 0000-0001-7174-5382; ORCID ID 0000-0003-0468-6655 Ecology and Environment Research Centre, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester M1 5GD United Kingdom. <u>vanbryozoa@gmail.com;</u> <u>r.preziosi@mmu.ac.uk</u>

# ABSTRACT

Ascidians are important ecosystem improvers; as filter feeders, they contribute to nutrient circulation and turbidity control, and can potentially act as bio-indicators of water quality and disturbance. We evaluated the behaviour of the tropical ascidian Polycarpa captiosa under turbidity conditions in mesocosms to determine their optimal and limiting tolerance to this natural disturbance. Treatments replicated the water chemistry conditions of their natural habitat (24°C, salinity 35ppt) and included, 0) control, 1) Low turbidity (80 NTUs), 2) Medium turbidity (250 NTUs), and 3) High turbidity (1000 NTUs). Our results found that *P. captiosa* performs complete evisceration (ejection of entire digestive tract) 12-hours post high turbidity exposure and within 24-hours of medium turbidity exposure. We evaluated recovery after evisceration and found that animals regenerate their digestive system within 20-days post evisceration when transferred to control conditions, however, when conditions remained unchanged, 100% mortality was observed. Finally, we evaluated if the animals with regenerated digestive systems could reach optimal filtration rates and, if exposed to high turbidity, would again perform evisceration. We found that *P. captiosa*, can eject its gut more than once after stress disturbance but their mortality rate increases with the number of eviscerations and their filtration activity declines. This study is the first of its kind reporting evisceration in Chordates as a consequence of environmental stress.

**Keywords:** High turbidity, Coastal ascidians, Stolodobranchia, Gut ejection, Filter-feeders, Gut recovery, Mesocosms.

#### INTRODUCTION

Coastal ecosystems are constantly influenced by environmental factors that control the distribution of species, their feeding adaptations and reproductive strategies (Widdows et al., 1979). Those changes are triggered by natural causes (Moodley et al., 1998; McLusky, 1993) or as a consequence of human interaction, the latter often leading to dramatic changes to ecosystem health (Warwick et al., 1990; Loya 1976).

Turbidity refers to the degree to which suspended particles disrupt the natural penetration of light in the water column. Turbidity may originate from natural processes such as, storms, rainfall, upwelling, the influence of rivers and wave energy (Johannes, 1972) or from man-made causes, usually due to poor coastal management (Wilber, 1983; Stephenson et al., 1958). The total concentration of suspended organic or inorganic matter (TSS) determines the survival of light dependant organisms like corals, reduces the feeding rates and efficiency of filter-feeders, and limits the food availability as a consequence of a reduction in primary productivity (Aldridge et al., 1987; Page, 1983; Moore, 1977). When turbidity exceeds the level of particle suspension, it precipitates, increasing sedimentation rates, and potentially destroying the ecosystems by asphyxiating benthic organisms or forcing the free-living forms to migrate (Rowe & Dean, 2010; Thrush et al., 2004; Gray et al., 1997).

Nevertheless, high turbidity does not always translate into a lethal circumstance; some organisms like filter-feeders can play an important role in water clearance and considerably reduce the damaging consequences of turbidity (Newcombe & McDonald 1991). Therefore, understanding the responses of benthic fauna to turbidity is key for the understanding and conservation of coastal fauna (Akoumianaki et al., 2013).

*Polycarpa* ascidians are filter-feeders that have the ability to filter up to 1 gallon per day (Minamoto et al., 2010; Jacobi et al., 2017). Their main ecosystem function is clearing the water column, and thus, to increase sunlight penetration and allow light-dependant organisms to thrive (Armsworthy et al., 2001; Ryland, 1999; Randlov & Riisgard, 1979). They are also potential bio-indicators of the water quality (Papadopuolou, & Kanias, 1977). Studies regarding the performance of ascidians under environmental stress and high turbidity scenarios have concluded that high

levels of inorganic suspension affects their geographic distribution (Naranjo et al., 1996), reduces growth rates and increases mortality in Phlebobranchs (Kelmo, et al., 2006; Robbins, 1985;1983 Millar, 1971; Riisgard & Randlov, 1981), limits ingestion (Jorgensen, 1949) and filtration rates (Fiala-Medioni, 1979a; b) or induces a suspension of feeding activity (Petersen, 2007; Holmes, 1973). To our knowledge no previous study has reported evisceration in ascidians as a consequence of environmental stress or turbidity.

Recently, a study demonstrated that the ascidian *Polycarpa mytiligera* eviscerates after mechanical manipulation (Shenkar & Gordon, 2015). However, the ejection occurred via the oral siphon within 5 seconds of contact, and the ejected guts where mostly broken as an involuntary rupture of the pharynx after the mechanical stress. Their findings stated that ascidians regenerated their pharynx within 19-days after evisceration and suggested this is an adaptative behaviour against predation, but no conclusive findings supported that affirmation (Shenkar & Gordon, 2015).

Some "old" taxonomic literature from late 19<sup>th</sup> century has reported ascidians (mainly *Polycarpa*) without branchial sacs in the Indian Ocean and Australia (Monniot, 2002; 1987; Monniot & Monniot, 2001; Monniot et al., 2001; Tokioka, 1970; 1961; Kott, 1985; Herdman, 1906; Sluiter, 1898; 1895; 1885; Willey, 1897) and two ascidians were wrongly named as *Styeloides abranchiata* (Sluiter, 1885) and *Styeloides eviscerans* (Willey, 1897) after this finding. However, none of these studies have reported the biological reasons for this trait, and no recent research has looked into this behaviour in ascidians to date.

Evisceration is a form of self-induced amputation or autotomy of essential organs and tissue. It has been well documented in Echinodermata (Asteroidea, Ophiuroidea, Crinoidea, Holothuria and Echinoidea) in which animals eject their digestive systems and other organs naturally, enabled by a fast softening of the connective tissue followed by strong muscle contractions that induce a rupture of their introvert, and detachment of the organs (Zhang et al., 2017; Garcia-Arraras & Greenberg, 2001; Bai 1971) to subsequently eject them through a rupture in the cloaca (Jespersen & Liitzen, 1971). This phenomenon may occur either seasonally or after an external stimulus (Andriyono et al., 2016; Byrne, 1985; 1982; Emson & Wilkie 1980; Smith & Greenberg, 1973). After this, animals regenerate the lost organs and tissue, starting with their digestive track (Thorndyke et al., 1999).

Regeneration capacity is limited in Chordates (Jaźwińska & Sallin 2016; Seifert et al., 2012; Poss, 2010). Although, no studies have focused on the understanding of the biological triggers for evisceration in ascidians, there is a great number of studies on the regenerative ability of these animals, especially on the colonial *Botrylloides* spp, in which the whole colony shares blood vessels and remains embedded in the tunic (Blanchoud et al., 2018; Kassmer et al., 2016; Voskoboynik & Weissman 2015; Kürn et al., 2011; Brown et al., 2009; Tiozzo et al., 2008). These studies represent the starting point for the understanding of the regenerative pattern in *Polycarpa* ascidians.

This study seeks to investigate evisceration and regeneration in *Polycarpa captiosa* after high turbidity exposure, and to determine if their filtration efficiency is affected by the evisceration events. Animals were exposed to several levels of turbidity to evaluate the optimal turbidity tolerance and survival. This study reports for the first-time evisceration in ascidians after environmental stress.

## **METHODS**

#### Study organisms

We analysed 50 adult individuals  $(4.0 \pm 0.5 \text{cm length}; 2.5 \pm 0.5 \text{cm wide}; 6 \pm 1.5\text{g})$  of the Stolodobranchia solitary ascidian *Polycarpa captiosa* (Sluiter, 1885). These animals have a geographical distribution restricted to the Indo-Pacific oceans (Lee et al., 2013; Shenkar & Swalla,2011; Rocha et al., 2012). These animals have a complex pharynx formed by four folds on each side of the branchial sac, with 8 stigmata per mesh and no para-stigmatic vessels. The stomach is rounded with Ca. 15 internal folds per side, and together with the U-shaped intestinal loop, occupies one third of the left posterior region of the body. Our samples were collected by local traders in Singapore and transported to United Kingdom through an aquarium supplier (Cheshire Aquatics). Animals have a leathery tunic, pale orange to brown coloured (Figure 1). Once in the laboratory, animals were detached from the rocks they came on and cleaned of epibionts.



Figure 1. Specimens of *P. captiosa.* A. Adult ascidians in their acclimation tank with opened siphons. B. View of the squirted tunic (Tun) (*left*) and the body (*right*) of the ascidian showing oral siphon (OS) and atrial siphons (AS). Scale bar: 1cm..

#### Acclimation time

Ascidians were glued on a ceramic plug and kept in a 375L tank with a salinity of 35ppt and 24±0.5°C for three weeks prior to experimentation (Figure 1A). The tank was maintained with a double filtration system, a temperature chiller, a thermostat and artificial lighting, replicating light patterns at their natural habitat. We fed animals three times a week with a solution of lab-cultured phytoplankton (*Dunaliella salina, Nannochloropsis oculata* and *Tetraselmis* sp.) vitamins and amino acids (Red Sea supplements). In addition, every other week, 10% water changes were performed. At the end of the acclimation time, we separated animals that did not perform well and labelled the chosen specimens for experimentation and kept an individualised record of their weight, performance and health.

## Experimental design

A cost-effective, space-optimisation system was designed and built to evaluate the effects of high turbidity in ascidians (Figure 2). We created a controlled turbidity mesocosms in a separate 330L tank, in which we placed a set of 40 glass beakers (1L each) as our experimental units, on a stair-like structure with four platforms equidistant from each other (10 beakers per platform).

The tank was filled at its maximum volume and all beakers on their platform were submersed and sharing the exact same water chemistry conditions with similar light intensity patterns. Then, we introduced one *P. captiosa* individual in each of them. To ensure all units would get similar water flow, we connected two wave makers to both sides of the tank (Figure 2). Each platform corresponded to a different treatment with 10 experimental units each, 0) control 1) Low turbidity 2) Medium turbidity and 3) High turbidity (Figure 4). Control beakers were kept at the bottom of the tank.

We cultured three phytoplankton species with different cell size and mobility (*N. oculata* (3µm), *Dunnaliella salina* (10µm - flagellated) and *Tetraselmis* sp. (14 µm)) in laboratory conditions to create turbidity, and prepared stock solutions to achieve each turbidity concentration per experiment. Turbidity was measured in Nephelometric turbidity units - NTUs using a Beckman Coulter counter, Low turbidity 194

(Lt) was set at 80NTUs, medium turbidity (Mt) was set at 250NTUs and high turbidity (Ht) was set at 1000 NTUs (Figure 4).

Ascidians were not fed three days prior the treatments to optomise their feeding activity and evaluate their clearance rate and absorption efficiency. For each experiment, we lifted the first row of beakers halfway above the tank's water surface, to isolate them from the rest of the tank system. This way, we obtained 10 independent experimental units to perform experimentation. Then, a specific volume of algal stock solution was added to each lifted beaker to set the turbidity concentration desired; we ran one treatment at the time around mid-day to ensure maximum light intensity and energy per ascidian. In order to maintain non-mobile algae (*N. oculata, Tretaselmis* sp) suspended, we introduced a small air diffuser to each 1L beaker with a gentle flow.

## Experiment 1: Optimal filtration activity

We collected water samples at the beginning, 30 mins after starting and at the end of the experiment and checked their concentration using a Neubauer chamber, to subsequently evaluate their clearance rate and absorption efficiency. The turbidity treatment lasted an hour, during which visual censuses were made on the filtration activity (squirting, open siphons, faeces production, length of squirting time) and video recording were made on the ascidian's behaviour using GoPro 7 submersible cameras. At the end of each turbidity exposure, three ascidians per treatment were left in the turbid exposure for two days. For the rest, the experimental water in each beaker was changed and ascidians were put back in the system for one-month recovery (Figure 4). Treatments were performed a week away from each other. Animals were video-monitored for 24-hours post exposure and all faeces produced were also collected.



Figure 2. Drawing of the mesocosm set up for different turbidity levels. The colour intensity in the beakers represent the different treatments at which each row of beakers was exposed to. Turbidity was added only when lifted above the water surface. 1 wake maker, 2. Thermostat, 3. Airline connected to air pump, 4. Air diffuser in each beaker, 5. Artificial lighting, 6. High-quality filtration system.

## Determination of the filtration capacity

After performing one-hour visual censuses and analysing one-hour video recordings per treatment we calculated the filtration activity of *P. captiosa* (No. of times open and close siphons; No. of squirts; Length of open and close siphons; Length of squirting) to examine differences between treatments.

We calculated the filtration rates per treatment; Clearance rate (CR) was measured as the total volume of cleared of algal cells per ascidian gram per unit time based on Armsworthy et al. (2001) and Macdonald & Ward (1994) following the equation, CR=((cr-Ce)/cr)gr animal, where, cr is the total cell concentration of the algae mix at the beginning of the experiment and Ce is the mean cell count at the end of the experiment.

# Absorption of nutrients

At 24-hour post experimentation, all faecal pellets were collected from the seven ascidians that were left for recovery, with a glass pipette and filtered (Whatman) using a vacuum pump, then rinsed with 1M isotonic ammonium formate (NH<sub>4</sub>HCO<sub>2</sub>) to eliminate sea salts, subsequently dried at 37°C for one-hour and dry-weighed in order to estimate the absorption efficiency (AE).

AE was calculated based on Conover (1966) as the total weight of algae added at the beginning of the experiment minus the weight of faecal pellets after an hour of measurements, using the equation, AE = 100-(TPM-fw/ TPM) x 100, where fw is the faeces dry weight after the experiment, TPM is the total seston weight at the beginning of the experiment.

# Experiment 2: Recovered gut filtration activity

After one-month of recovery, we selected five ascidians per each treatment that had recovered successfully and regrown their guts. We exposed them to turbidity (80NTUs) to evaluate if their already-known optimal clearance rate (from Exp. 1) was achieved after recovering their guts. The experiment consisted in lifting 10 new beakers with the specimens recovered per groups. A) 5 from T1 and 5 from T2 and B) 5 from T3 and 5 control (Figure 3).





Figure 3. Drawing of the mesocosm set up for experiment 2 at the low turbidity 80NTUs. The remaining recovered tunicates were untouched here.



Figure 4. High turbidity experimentation for *P. captiosa*. A. Specimens being treated in lifted beakers with an air diffuser. B. Detail on one individual under high turbidity exposure. C. Animals left for recovery in their beakers and positions to keep tract of their recovery behaviour. D. Detail of an individual performing filtration during recovery time.

## Statistical analysis

*Filtration activity*. To analyse differences in the filtration activity and the treatments, a one-factor ANOVA was performed, we considered statistically significant if p<0.05. All analyses were performed using the statistical software R.

*Clearance rate and absorption efficiency.* A repeated measures analysis was performed using general linear models (glm), our model included treatment, length of exposure and their interaction to understand the effect of the turbidity level and the exposure time on the filtration rates.

*Evisceration.* We performed a one-factor Anova to determine if there were significant differences between the gut ejection and the treatments. Also, to evaluate if gut ejection and recovery were affected by the turbidity treatment, and the length of exposure we ran a linear model (glm).

## RESULTS

## Experiment 1: Optimal filtration capacity

## Filtration activity

From the censuses and video analyses we identified three main activity behaviours in the ascidians during the turbidity treatments, Siphon opening, Squirting and siphon closing (Table 1). In addition, our results showed that there are significant differences in the filtration activity among turbidity treatments (ANOVA, P=0.002) (Figure 5). The activity was reduced from T2 and increased in T1 compared to the control.

Table 1.	Filtration	activity	(means)	for	each	ascidian	during	the	three	turbidity
treatmen	ts and the	control.								

Activity	Control	T1	T2	Т3
N	10	10	10	10
No. Times OS	6±1	10±2	5±1	4±1
Min. time OS (sec)	20±1	35±3	120±5	180±9
Max. time OS (min)	16±4	28±2	32±1	38±3
No. Squirts	2±1	1±0.5	4±0.5	5±1
Min. time CS (sec)	15±0.4	2±0.4	5±0.3	6±0.4
Max. time CS (min)	10±2	3±1	21±1	23±0.5
OS: Open siphons; CS: Closed sipho	ns; T1: Low turbidity 80	NTUs; T2: Medium turb	oidity 250NTUs; T3: High t	urbidity 1000NTUs



Figure 5. Differences between the filtration activity and the turbidity treatments. Activity was greatly reduced from T2 but significatively low in T3 compared to the control. T1 showed the highest activity.

#### Clearance rates

Our results showed that there are significant differences between the treatments for clearance rate (p<0.05). Optimal clearance rate was observed at the low turbidity treatment (80NTUs) (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Differences between the treatment and the Clearance rate. T1 presented the highest rate.

There is also an interaction of turbidity treatment and gut ejection on the clearance rate (p<0.05) (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Effect of the turbidity treatment and the gut ejection on the clearance rate.

# Absorption efficiency

We found that, similarly to the clearance rate, the efficiency at which ascidians absorbed nutrients was affected by the turbidity treatments (p<0.05) (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Effect of the turbidity treatment on the Absorption efficiency.

#### Evisceration process

We found significant differences between the gut ejection across turbidity treatments (ANOVA, p<0.05); ascidians exposed to T2 and T3 were more likely to eject their guts than those in T1 (Figure 9). This behaviour occurred at different times after exposure depending on the treatment (p=0.003). In general evisceration occurred about 12-hours post turbidity treatment, ascidians performed total evisceration in about 35 minutes via the atrial siphon (Figure 10). The evisceration process is energetically expensive and complicated, as it requires constant contraction of the body to detach it. After evisceration, ascidians remained with open siphons for a 30-minute period (Figure 11) and then squirts for over a 10-hour period. Within 12 days post evisceration, individuals slightly open their siphons, which we hypothesise that this is to create water interchange. The gut regeneration time depend on the turbidity level (p<0.05). Ascidians exposed to T2 and T3 recovered their guts within 20 days after exposure while ascidians exposed to T1 that performed evisceration, regenerated their guts within 15-days (Figure 12).



Figure 9. Differences between the evisceration and the turbidity treatments.



Figure 10. Evisceration process in *Polycarpa captiosa* after turbidity treatments. A. 12-hours post exposure, part of the pharynx is observed coming out the atrial siphon. Ascidian shows regurgitant-like movements, expanding and contracting the body. B. Elapsed 10 minutes, the pharynx has come out 10% more and ascidian continues contracting musculature. C. About 8 minutes after 60% of the gut is hanging from the atrial siphon, contracting behaviour is less active. D. Finally 10 minutes later, the entire gut has been eviscerated and the animal remains with open siphons for Ca. 30 minutes.



Figure 11. Behaviour of P. captiosa after evisceration. A. Individual eviscerated elapsed 12-hours after the low turbidity experiment, gut ca be observed at the bottom of the beaker and its siphons are slightly open. B. Individual remains with open siphons for about 30-minutes after evisceration, gut can be observed at the bottom of the beaker



Gut recovery time vs Treatment

Figure 12. Effects of the treatment and gut ejection on the recovery time

After evisceration, guts were gently removed from the beaker and examined under the microscope (Figure 13). At this stage they were peach coloured, and the pharynx was strong enough to be held by soft tweezers. We weighed, measured and compared them with the tunicate body measurements. Then, we dissected the stomach and intestine with the purpose of finding any gut blockage and could have led into the evisceration. However, we could not find great accumulation of organic matter in those organs. We observed that fresh-ejected pharynx had small redpigmented dots in between the rows of stigmata's (Figure 15). Half of the eviscerated guts were preserved in molecular grade ethanol and the other half in liquid nitrogen for further molecular analysis. After preservation guts turned pale white coloured. Animals that were intentionally left under the turbidity treatments ejected their guts but did not recover and died after the two-days unchanged exposure.



Figure 13. Eviscerated gut of Polycarpa captiosa. Showing a peach colour and good apparent health. Scale bar: 0.5cm.

# Experiment 2: Recovered guts filtration activity

After one-month of gut recovery, we selected and exposed 15 ascidians to a low turbidity exposure (80NTUs) as we have determined this is the optimal turbidity tolerance for *Polycarpa captiosa*.

Our results showed a reduction of the clearance in comparison to the previous experiment (p<0.05). Ascidians that were previously treated in T1 significantly decreased their optimal clearance rate (Figure 14).



Clearance rate/W

Figure 14. Effect of the previous treatment at which ascidians were exposed to (T0-T3) and the experiment (1,2) on the Clearance rate.

In addition, eight ascidians re-eviscerated their previously recovered guts. When we examined the new ejected pharynx, we noted that the red-pigmented dots in between the stigmatas were not present in the second guts (Figure 15). Finally, after another month of recovery, we dissected an individual that has performed evisceration twice and had recovered. We noticed that the pharynx had a pale-yellow colour different to the untreated pharynx from the control treatment (Figure 16).



Figure 15. Eviscerated pharynx of *Polycarpa captiosa*. A. Pharynx after first evisceration. Red pigmented dots can be observed in between the row of stigmatas. Scale bar: 0.2cm. B. Second Pharynx eviscerated; no red dots are observed. Scale bar: 0.1cm.



Figure 16. Butterfly dissection of *Polycarpa captiosa*. A. Individual from the control treatment. Pharynx has a peach-pink colour and gonads are bright yellow underneath the pharyngeal mesh. Scale bar: 0.5cm. B. Individual recovered from experiment 2. Second Pharynx has a pale-yellow colour and pale gonads can be spotted from behind it. Scale bar: 0.5cm.

#### DISCUSSION

#### Effect of turbidity on the filtration rates of P. captiosa

Our results demonstrated that the optimal turbidity tolerance for *P. captiosa* is 80NTUs or below, at this concentration, animals were more active than in the other treatments and produced a larger number of faeces, which is an indication of ingestion and nutrient absorption. Treatments set at higher turbidity treatment challenged the ascidian's clearance rate and the efficiency of nutrient absorption. Filtration activity showed that ascidians were less active under higher turbidity levels, we hypothesise that the excess of suspended food outside their tolerance range induce a feeding shock in which animals are not capable of filtration and remain with siphons opened but no pumping activity (Hoyle, 1953). In nature, eutrophic ecosystems, were the suspended organic matter is higher, the ascidian's absorption efficiency is expected to increase, however, we demonstrated that environmental stressors such as high turbidity can modify the ingestion rate at which the food is captured and affect the efficiency of absorption of particulate material.

*Polycarpa captiosa* is an Indo-pacific ascidian that inhabits shallow coral reef areas (Lee et al., 2013). Due to its location within reef forming organisms, this species potentially contributes to the water transparency and nutrient recycling that benefits a deeper penetration of light into the water column to allow other light-dependant organisms such as corals to thrive (Burge et al. 2016). Our findings are important for local coastal management and conservation strategies as prolonged high turbidity events might limit the ecosystem functions of this species and for instance the survival of its dependant organisms.

#### Significance of evisceration in ascidians

Evisceration is an energy-expensive physiological response to environmental stressors which in the short term affects the animal capability to perform filtration and to adapt with the surrounding environment affecting their vulnerability to predation and reproduction but in the long term could dramatically reduce their populations. After 4-months experimentation with *P. captiosa* individuals, 40% of the animals deceased and the remaining representatives reduced their filtration

rates compared to the control specimens. In addition, the gut health was severely affected, ascidians presented more delicate and less irrigated pharynx after double evisceration.

Ascidians are unique among chordates for presenting an exoskeleton or tunic composed by proteins and other macromolecules such as tunicin (Blanchould et al., 2018). The tunic is capable to elongate along with the animal growth and undergo regeneration after physical damage (Rinkevich et al., 2007a; 2007b; Voskoboynik et al., 2007; Brown et al., 2009). Environmental stress affects the normal filtration of the ascidian and promotes the gut ejection events. Animals regenerate their guts within 20 days after evisceration. During this time, they carried on gas and water exchange by occasionally opening their siphons. This research contains novel findings on the stress responses of Chordates to environmental stress.

## CONCLUSIONS

Ascidians perform evisceration after environmental stress, our results indicated that this behaviour could occur more than once depending on the severity of the disturbance., but optimal clearance rate and gut health is affected by the evisceration events.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful with the Ecology and Environment research centre in Manchester Metropolitan University for the financial and logistical support in the development of this research. We also wish to thank Tristan Lougher from Cheshire aquatics, for the provision of the biological samples and the support during the experiment set up. Thanks to the students Thomas, Emily, Danielle, Nikolas and Vito and the technicians Sue Tucker and Dave Maskew for supporting the data collection and maintenance of the ascidians. A part of this research contributed to the final year undergraduate project of Nicole Cowper in The Manchester Metropolitan University in 2018, to whom we are very thankful for her support in laboratory.

## REFERENCES

- Akoumianaki, I., Papaspyrou, S., Kormas, K. & A. Nicolaidou (2013) Environmental variation and macrofauna response in a coastal area influenced by land runoff. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 132 (2013) 34-44.
- Aldridge. W., Payne, W. & A. Miller (1987) The effects of intermittent exposure to suspended solids and turbulence on three species of freshwater mussels. Environmental pollution 45, 17-28.
- Andriyono, S., Masithah, E., Rumiyati, B., Triastuti, J. & D. Winarni (2016) The Behavior of Sea Cucumber Phyllophorus sp. during the Period of Adaptation. Asian Journal of Applied Sciences 4.
- Armsworthy, S.L., MacDonald, B.A., J.E Ward (2001) Feeding activity, absorption efficiency and suspension feeding processes in the ascidian, *Halocynthia pyriformis* (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea): responses to variations in diet quantity and quality. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 260(2001)41-69.
- Bai, M.M. (1971) Regeneration in the holothurian, Holothuria scabra Jager. Indian J. exp. Biol. 9: 467-471.
- Blanchoud, S., Rinkevich, B. & M. Wilson (2018) Whole-Body Regeneration in the Colonial Tunicate *Botrylloides leachii*. In: M. Kloc, J. Z. Kubiak (eds.), Marine Organisms as Model Systems in Biology and Medicine, Results and Problems in Cell Differentiation 65, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92486-1-16</u>.
- Brown F.D, Keeling E.L., Le A.D. & B.J. Swalla (2009) Whole body regeneration in a colonial ascidian, *Botrylloides violaceus*. J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol 312:885– 900. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.b.21303</u>.
- Burge, C., Closek, C., Friedman, C., Groner, M., Jenkins, C., Shore-Maggio, A. & J.
  Welsh (2016) The Use of Filter-feeders to Manage Disease in a Changing
  World. Integrative and Comparative Biology, 56(4), pp.573-587.
- Byrne, M. (1985) Evisceration behaviour and the seasonal incidence of evisceration in the holothurian *Eupentacta quinquesemita* (selenka). Ophelia, 24(2): 75-90.
- Byrne, M. (1982) Functional morphology of a holothurian autotomy plane and its role in evisceration. In J.M. Lawrence (ed.): International Echinoderms Conference, Tampa Bay, pp. 65-68. A.A. Balkema, Rotterdam.

- Emson, R.H. & I.C. Wilkie (1980) Fission and autotomy in echinoderms. Oceanogr. mar. Biol. Ann. Rev. 18: 155-250.
- Fiala-Medioni, A. (1978a) Filter-feeding ethology of benthic invertebrates (ascidians). 4. Pumping rate, filtration rate, filtration efficiency, Mar. Biol., Vol. 48, pp. 243-249.
- Fiala-Medioni, A. (1978b) Filter-feeding ethology of benthic invertebrates (ascidians). 5. Influence of temperature on pumping, filtration and digestion rates and rhythms in *Phallusia mammillata*. Mar. Biol., Vol. 48, pp. 25 I-259.
- Garcia-Arraras, J. & M. Greensber (2001) Visceral Regeneration in Holothurians. Microscopy research and technique 55:438-451.
- Gray, J., Ayukai, T., & E. Wolanski (1997) Importance of biologically mediated removal of fine sediments from the Fly River plume. Estuarine Coastal Shelf Sciences 44, 629-639.
- Herdman, W. A. (1906) Report on the Tunicata. Ceylon Pearl Oyster Fisheries 39, 295–348.
- Holmes, N. (1973) Water transport in the ascidian *Styela clava* Herdman and *Ascidiella aspersa* (Muller). J exp Mar Biol Ecol Voll 11, pp. 1-13.
- Hoyle, G. (1953) Spontaneous squirting of an ascidian, *Phallusia rnammillata* Cuvier. J. mar. biol. Ass. U.K. 31: 54 1-562.
- Jacobi, Y., Yahel, G. & N. Shenkar (2017) Efficient filtration of micron and submicron particles by ascidians from oligotrophic waters. Limnology and oceanography doi: 10.1002/Ino.10736.
- Jaźwińska A, & P. Sallin (2016) Regeneration versus scarring in vertebrate appendages and heart. J Pathol 238:233–246.
- Jespersen, A. & J. Liitzen (1971) On the ecology of the aspidochirote sea cucumber *Stichopus tremulus* (Gunnerus). - Norw. J. Zool. 19: 117-132.
- Johannes, R. E. (1972) Coral reefs and pollution. Pages 364-375 in M. Ruivo, ed. Marine pollution and sea life. Fishing News (Books) Ltd., Surrey, London. 624 pp.
- Jorgensen, C. B. (1949) Feeding rates of sponges, lamellibranchs and ascidians. Nature (London) Vol. 163. p. 912.

- Kassmer, S.H, Rodriguez, D. & A.W. De Tomaso (2016) Colonial ascidians as model organisms for the study of germ cells, fertility, whole body regeneration, vascular biology and aging. Curr Opin Genet Dev 39:101–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2016.06.001</u>.
- Kelmo, F., Attrill, M. & M. Jones (2006) Mass mortality of coral reef ascidians following the 1997/1998 El Niño event. Hydrobiologia, 555:231–240.
- Kott, P. (1985) The Australian Ascidiacea. Part. I. Phlebobranchia and Stolidobranchia. Mem. Qd Mus. 23, 1–440.
- Kürn, U., Rendulic, S., Tiozzo, S., & R.J. Lauzon (2011) Asexual propagation and regeneration in colonial ascidians. Biol Bull 221:43–61. https://doi.org/10.1086/BBLv221n1p43.
- Lee, S., Teo, S. & G. Lambert (2013) New records of solitary ascidians on artificial structures in Singapore waters. Marine Biodiversity Records. 6. 10.1017/S1755267213000638.
- Loya, Y. (1976) Effects of water turbidity and sedimentation on the community structure of Puerto Rican corals. Bulletin of marine science, 26(4): 450-466.
- McLusky, D. (1993) Marine and estuarine gradients e an overview. Aquatic Ecology 27, 489e493.
- Millar, R. H. (1971) The biology of ascidians. Ad~ mar. Biol. 9, 1-10.
- Minamoto, T., Hanai, S., Kadota, K., Oishi, K., Matsumae, H., Fujie, M., Axumi, K., Satoh, N., Satake, M.& N. Ishida (2010) Circadian clock in Ciona intestinalis revealed by microarray analysis and oxygen consumption. The Journal of Biochemistry, 147(2), 175–184. doi:10.1093/jb/mvp160/.
- Monniot, C. (1987) Ascidies de Nouvelle-Calédonie. II. Les genres Polycarpa et Polyandrocarpa. Bulletin du Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris. 9A, 275–310.
- Monniot, C. (2002) Stolidobranch ascidians from the tropical western Indian Ocean. Zool. J. Linn. Soc. 135.1, 65-120.
- Monniot, F. & C. Monniot (2001) Ascidians from the tropical western Pacific. Zoosystema 23, 201–376.
- Monniot, F., Monniot, C., Griffiths, C. L. & M. Schleyer (2001) South African ascidians. Ann. S. Afr. Mus. 108, 1-141.

- Moodley, L., Heip, C.H.R. & J.J., Middelburg (1998) Benthic activity in sediments of the northwestern Adriatic Sea: sediment oxygen consumption macro and meiofauna dynamics. Journal of Sea Research 40, 263-280.
- Moore, P. G. (1977) Inorganic particulate suspensions in the sea and their effects on marine animals. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol, ann. Rev. 15, 225-363.
- Naranjo, S.A., Carballo, J.L & J.C. Garcia-Gomez (1996) Effects of environmental stress on ascidian populations in Algeciras Bay (southern Spain). Possible marine bioindicators?. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 144, 119-131.
- Newcombe, C. P. & D. D. McDonald (1991) Effects of suspended sediments on aquatic ecosystems. North American journal of fisheries management 11:72-82.
- Page, H. M. (1983) Effect of water temperature and food on energy allocation in the stalked barnacle, *Pollicipes polymerus* Sowerby, J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 69, 189-202.
- Papadopuolou, C, & G. Kanias (1977) Tunicate species as marine pollution indicators. Mar Pollut Bull 8(10):229-331.
- Petersen, J.K. (2007) Ascidian suspension feeding. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 342, 127–13.
- Poss, K.D. (2010) Advances in understanding tissue regenerative capacity and mechanisms in animals. Nat Rev Genet 11:710–722. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2879.
- Randlov, A., & H. U. Riisgård (1979) Efficiency of particle retention and filtration rate in four species of ascidians. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 1: 55–59.
- Rinkevich Y, Douek J, Haber O Rinkevich, B. & R. Reshef (2007a) Urochordate whole body regeneration inaugurates a diverse innate immune signaling profile. Dev Biol 312:131–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.09.005.
- Rinkevich Y, Paz G, Rinkevich B. & R. Reshef (2007b) Systemic bud induction and retinoic acid signaling underlie whole body regeneration in the urochordate Botrylloides leachi. PLoS Biol 5: e71.
- Riisgard, H.V. & A. Randlbv (1981) Energy budgets, growth and filtration rates in Mytilus edulis at different algal concentrations. Mar. Biol., Vol. 61, pp. 227-234.

- Robbins, I. J. (1983) The effects of body size, temperature, and suspension density on the filtration and ingestion of inorganic particulate suspensions by ascidians. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 70(1), 65–78. doi:10.1016/0022-0981(83)90149-1.
- Robbins, I. J. (1985) Ascidian Growth and Survival at High Inorganic Particulate Concentrations. Marine Pollution Bulletin, Vol. 16, No.9, pp. 365-367.
- Rocha, R.M., Zanata, T.B. & T.R. Moreno (2012) Keys for the identification of families and genera of Atlantic shallow water ascidians. Biota Neotrop. 12(1).
- Rowe, D. & T. Dean (2010) Effects of turbidity on the feeding ability of the juvenile migrant stage of six New Zealand freshwater fish species. Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research, 32:1, 21-29.
- Ryland, J. S. (1990) A circadian rhythm in the tropical ascidian *Diplosoma virens* (Ascidiacea: Didemnidae). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 138(3), 217–225. doi:10.1016/0022-0981(90)90168-c.
- Seifert A.W., Kiama S.G., Seifert M.G., Goheen, J.R., Palmer, T. M. & M. Maden (2012) Skin shedding and tissue regeneration in African spiny mice (Acomys). Nature 489:561–565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11499</u>.
- Shenkar, N., & T. Gordon (2015) Gut-spilling in chordates: Evisceration in the tropical ascidian *Polycarpa mytiligera*. Sci Rep 5, 9614. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep09614</u>.
- Shenkar, N., & B.J. Swalla (2011) Global diversity of Ascidiacea. PLoS One 6, e20657.
- Sluiter, C. P. (1885) Ueber einige einfachen Ascidien von der Insel Billiton. Natuurk. Tljdschr. Ned. Indie. 45, 160–232
- Sluiter, C. P. 1895. Tunicaten. In: Semon, R, ed. Zoologische Forschungsreisen in Australien und den Malagischen Archipel. Jenaische Denkschriften. 8, 163-186.
- Sluiter, C. P. (1898) Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Fauna von Südafrica Ergebnisse einer Reise von Prof. Max Weber in Jahre 1894. II. Tunicaten von Süd Africa. Zool. Jb. Abtheilung für Systematik, Geographie und Biologie der Thier. 11, 1– 64.
- Smith, G.N., Jr. & M.J. Greenberg (1973) Chemical control of the evisceration process in Thyone briareus. -Biol. Bull., Woods Hole 144: 421-436.
- Stephenson, W., R. Endean, & I. Bennet (1958) An ecological survey of the marine fauna of low isles, Queensland, Austr., J. Mar. Freshwater Res. 9: 261-318.
- Thorndyke, M.C, Chen, W.C, Moss, C., Candia Carnevali, M.D, & F. Bonasoro (1999) Regeneration in echinoderms: cellular and molecular aspects. In: Candia Carnevali M.D., Bonasoro F., editors. Echinoderm research 1988. Rotterdam: Balkema. p 159–164.
- Thrush, S.F., Hewitt, J.E., Cummings, V., Ellis, J.I., Hatton, C., Lohrer, A., & A. Norkko (2004) Muddy waters: elevating input to coastal and estuarine habitats. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 2, 299-306.
- Tiozzo, S., Brown, F.D. & A.W. De Tomaso (2008) Regeneration and stem cells in ascidians. In: Stem Cells. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp 95–112.
- Tokioka, T. (1961) Ascidians collected during the Melanesia Expedition of the Osaka Museum of Natural History. I, Ascidians presented by Dr. R. L. A. Catala of the Aquarium of Noumea. Publs Seto Mar. Biol. Lab. 9(1), 104–138.
- Tokioka, T. (1970) Ascidians from Mindoro Island, The Philippines. Seto Mar. Biol. Lab. 18(2), 75-107.
- Voskoboynik A, Simon-Blecher N, Soen Y., Rinkevich, B., De Thomaso, A.W., Ishizuka, K.J., & I.L. Weissman (2007) Striving for normality: whole body regeneration through a series of abnormal generations. FASEB J 21:1335– 1344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.06-7337com</u>.
- Voskoboynik, A, & I.L. Weissman (2015) *Botryllus schlosseri*, an emerging model for the study of aging, stem cells, and mechanisms of regeneration. Invertebr. Reprod Dev 59:33–38. https://doi. org/10.1080/07924259.2014.944673.
- Warwick, R.M., Platt, H.M., Clarke, K.R., Agard, J., & J. Gobin (1990) Analysis of macrobenthic and meiobenthic community structure to pollution and disturbance in Hamilton Harbour, Bermuda. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 138, 119-142.
- Widdows, J., Fieth, P. & C. M. Worral (1979) Relationship between seston, available food and feeding activity in the common mussel *Mytilus edulis*. Mar. Biol., 50, 195-207.
- Wilber, C. G. (1983) Turbidity in the aquatic environment. Springfield, III, Charles C. Thomas.

- Willey, A. (1897) Letters from New Guinea on Nautilus and some other organisms. QJ Microsc. Sci. N. Ser 39, 145–180.
- Zhang X., Sun L., Yuan J., Sun Y., Gao Y., Zhang L., Li, S., Dai, H., Hamel, J.H., Liu, C., Yu, Y., Liu, S., Lin, W., Guo, K., Jin, S., Xu, P., Storey, K.B., Huan, P., Zhang, T., Zhou, Y., Zhang, J., Lin, C., Li, X., Xing, L., Huo, D., Sun, M., Wang, L., Mercier, A., Li, F., Yang, H & J. Xiang (2017) The sea cucumber genome provides insights into morphological evolution and visceral regeneration. PLoS Biol 15(10): e2003790.

# Chapter 6: The effects of ocean acidification and warming on the biological functions of coastal marine filter-feeders

Vanessa Yepes-Narváez & Richard F. Preziosi ORCID ID 0000-0001-7174-5382; ORCID ID 0000-0003-0468-6655 Ecology and Environment Research Centre, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester M1 5GD United Kingdom <u>V.Yepes.Narvaez@mmu.ac.uk;</u> <u>r.preziosi@mmu.ac.uk</u>

## ABSTRACT

The resilience of marine filter-feeders under environmental disturbances caused by climate change, and the impact of those changes on their biology and ecosystem functions represent a real concern for coastal management and conservation strategies. Using a short-term study, we evaluated the biological responses of the tropical ascidian *Polycarpa captiosa* to ocean acidification and warming (OAW). Treatments included (0) control: ambient pCO2 (±400 ppm) at 25°C, (1) ambient pCO<sub>2</sub> (±400 ppm) and high temperature 30°C, (2) elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> (±1,000 ppm) at 25°C, and (3) elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> (±1,000 ppm) at 30°C. The responses of ascidians were assessed by analysing their resilience (survival, resilience), and clearance, absorption and ingestion rates. We found that these levels of disturbance significantly affect the resilience and performance of ascidians at the individual level. Animals reacted by skin shedding and gut ejection after all high temperature and elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> treatments, and 20% mortality was observed in ascidians that could not recover from the environmental stress.

We presume that ascidians increased their metabolic rates under warm temperature treatments, as clearance and ingestion rates increased by 50%, and absorption efficiency was not significantly affected. In contrast, under higher pCO2 conditions, a significant reduction of the ingestion rates and clearance rate was registered. Our results could be considered crucial for the future of the coastal managements and conservation strategies of those important ecosystem improvers.

**Keywords**: *Polycarpa captiosa*, Climate Change, Ecosystem Functions, Gut Ejection.

#### INTRODUCTION

The atmospheric gas emissions created as a consequence of human industrialization are considered the main cause of the increase of greenhouse gases such as carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), and nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O). By 2004, the concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> had increased from 250ppm in preindustrial times to 440ppm (Dickson et al., 2007; IPCC, 2005; 2013). Modelling studies (RCP8.5 scenario) have concluded that by the end of the century, atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> will increase to 1000 ppm, ocean pH would decrease by 0.3-0.4 units and carbon ion concentration would decrease by 30% compared to preindustrial levels (Feely et al., 2004; Dickson, 2010; IPCC, 2007a). In the oceans, seawater is weakly buffered with respect to hydrogen ions [H<sup>-</sup>], allowing CO<sub>2</sub> to be dissolved and produce carbonic acid [H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>]. This leads to decreased pH and calcium carbonate saturation [ $\Omega_{cal}$ ], increased dissolved inorganic carbon (DIC/C<sub>T</sub>) and decreased carbonate ion concentration [CO<sub>3</sub><sup>2-</sup>] (Dickson, 2010; Sabine et al., 2004).

The question of how much of the anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub> has penetrated the ocean and how it has modified ocean chemistry, together with the understanding of the effects of those changes on the nature at ecosystems and species level, are foci of research worldwide (Dickson, 1990; Seibel & Walsh, 2003; IPCC, 2007b; Gattuso & Lavigne, 2009; Kroeker et al., 2011; Godbold & Solan, 2013). Ocean acidification (OA) is one of the major threats to ecosystem health because of the negative impacts on marine organism physiology and ecology. This is especially true for calcified organisms whose skeleton formation is affected by the decrease of carbonate saturation under OA (Lombardi et al., 2011; Kroeker et al., 2013; Lane et al., 2013).

The simultaneous increase of mean ocean temperature of up to 6°C since preindustrial times represents another area of concern for marine climate change research (Pörtner & Farrell, 2008; IPCC, 2012; 2018). Ocean warming, as well as ocean acidification, affect species' distribution, metabolism and thus, ecosystem health (Hale et al., 2011; McCulloch et al., 2012). High temperature negatively affects processes at the cellular and system level by taking organisms outside their thermal tolerance ranges (Bishop & Brand, 2000; Pörtner, 2008; Wood et al., 2010). Warming also results in a decreasing phytoplankton biomass in the oceans

(Sommer et al., 2012) which represents a limiting factor for filter feeding organisms like ascidians (Kim et al., 2019; Rodolfo-Metalpa et al., 2011). Warming then, could worsen the ocean acidification impacts on marine fauna, resulting in a complex effect when both stressors are combined (Anthony et al., 2008). Considering this, analyses that evaluate both stressors are needed to understand the role of ocean warming on the biological response to low pH by considering multiple influencing factors (Kroeker et al., 2013).

Feeding by filtration of the water column is an important ecosystem function performed by many marine species including ascidians. Rates of filtration and ingestion depend directly on the efficiency of metabolic activity and are key in the species' survival because they directly influence growth, distribution and reproduction (Pörtner, 2008). Understanding how these activities would cope with Ocean Acidification and Warming (OAW) is one of the main foci of economicspecies research, mainly because of its direct impacts on their ecosystem services (Donohue et al., 2012; Calosi et al., 2013). Most studies have found contrasting responses from species (Maas et al., 2012; Melatunan, 2012; Lemansson et al., 2018; Calosi et al., 2013) to phylum level (Hendriks et al 2010; Kroeker et al 2010). On one hand, a notable reduction of the metabolic activity under short term ocean acidification has been observed in molluscs and coral larvae (Reipschläger & Pörtner, 1996; Michaelidis et al., 2005; Rosa & Seibel, 2008; Beniash et al., 2010; Melatunan et al., 2011; Nakamura et al., 2011), in contrast, some bivalves and crustaceans seemed to show no evident change in metabolic activity under short term elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> conditions, but a reduction in filtration rates and growth under long term exposure to combined OAW (Marchant et al., 2010; Donohue et al., 2012; Thomsen & Melzne, 2010).

This suggests that organisms could adapt to short exposures by reducing the energy spent in basic biological functions such as feeding (Guppy, 1999); but that in the long term this would influence survival, growth and fitness (Calosi et al., 2013). It should be noted that metabolic reduction is not necessarily a negative response as it could lead to adaptation and phenotypic plasticity in the long term (Ghalambor et al., 2007; Thomsen & Melzner, 2010), which would allow species with naturally lower metabolic rates and reproduction strategies to thrive.

Organisms like ascidians are potential indicators of the water quality due to their filter-feeding habits and a good model system to evaluate the effects of OAW because, their larval stages are environmentally vulnerable to lower pH and warming (Gosselin & Qian 1997), which influences their dispersal and survival rates (Dupont & Pörtner, 2013; Dupont et al., 2010; 2012; Byrne, 2011; 2012 Pechenik, 1999). Also, their ability to filtrate up to 1 gallon of water per day under normal conditions allows research to evaluate their performance under disturbances in short-term experimentation. Finally, these organisms are common in all marine ecosystems and a conspicuous component of coastal systems playing important roles in the ecosystem dynamics and processes, understanding their possible threats would predict the health of the ecosystems they inhabit.

The organisms used in this research were solitary ascidians from the genus *Polycarpa*. This genus has a reported cosmopolitan distribution, but we focused on the effects of ocean acidification and warming on the biological response of the tropical Indo-Pacific *Polycarpa captiosa* under current tropical ocean temperature  $(25^{\circ}C)$  and pCO2 (±400 ppm) and under values predicted for the end of the century  $(30^{\circ}C \text{ and pCO}_2 \pm 1,000 \text{ ppm})$ . We evaluated effects on the performance of their ecosystem functions by analysing their resilience, and clearance, absorption and ingestion rates of particulate matter in the water column.

## METHODS

## Specimens used

In this study, adult individuals of *Polycarpa captiosa* (Figure 1) were used. Taxonomic identification was confirmed using Rocha et al. (2012) and Lee et al. (2013). Animals were collected in coral reefs ecosystems in Indonesia between 1 and 5 m depth and obtained through an aquarium supplier (Cheshire Aquatics, UK). Phylum Chordata Haeckel, 1874 Subphylum Tunicata Lamarck, 1816 Class Ascidiacea Blainville, 1824 Order Stolidobranchia Lahille, 1886 Family Styelidae Sluiter, 1885 Genus *Polycarpa* Heller, 1877 *Polycarpa captiosa* (Sluiter, 1885)



Figure 1. Specimens of *P. captiosa* A. Adult ascidian showing the oral siphon (Os), atrial siphon (As) and its leathery tunic (Tun). B. Body of the ascidian showing the musculature (M). C. Butterfly cut of the ascidian body showing morphological key features, Endocarps (En), Anus (An), Stomach (St) and Intestinal loop (In). Scale 0.5 cm.

<u>Description</u>. *Polycarpa captiosa* is a solitary ascidian of ovoid form often attached to coralline substrate from its posterior end. Tunic is tough, colour either pink or reddish-brown, slightly lumpy and leathery. The atrial siphon opens at half the distance down the body. Both siphons have a proximal purple ring in which the lobes have four white protrusions marks. Body is brown and has transverse muscles. Branchial tentacles are simple, dorsal tubercle is heart-shaped, dorsal lamina is smooth and continuous. There are four non-overlapping folds on each side of the branchial sac, with 6-8 stigmata in each mesh. No para-stigmatic vessels were present. The stomach is elongated with internal folds, and together with the U-shaped gut loop occupies the 1/3 of the left posterior region of the body. Elliptical endocarps are found attached to the body wall from the pre-pharyngeal band to the gut loop.

<u>Ecological features.</u> These ascidians can filter up to 1US gal per day, adapting their metabolic activity to circadian rhythms (Jacobi et al., 2017; Lee & Lambert, 2013; Minamoto et al., 2010; Ryland, 1990;). Some of their ecosystem functions include nutrient recirculation and purification of the water column (Shenkar & Swalla, 2011). They can be considered as pioneer or foundation fauna, creating available substrates and habitat for other species, filtering the seawater from an excess of suspended particulate material and improving light penetration in the water column, which is a key requirement for light-dependant organisms to thrive.

#### Acclimation process

For this study, adult specimens  $(4.5 \pm 0.5 \text{ cm} \text{ in length}, 2.7 \pm 0.3 \text{ cm} \text{ wide and } 7 \pm 1.1 \text{ g})$  were cleaned from other epibionts with a soft brush, measured, weighed and attached from the base to a ceramic plug using reef glue and placed in an upright position on an egg crate tray in a 300L acclimation tank.

Animals were maintained at a salinity of 35ppt at 25±0.5°C for one-month prior to experimentation, in a 300L recirculating tank conditioned with a protein skimmer (V2 Skim Pro 450), temperature chiller (D-D Model DC-750), a thermostat and artificial lighting replicating natural 12-hour day and night patterns. Water parameters were maintained as Calcium (375-450 mg/L); Total alkalinity (2.13±0.32 mol/kg); Nitrite (0-0.2 mg/L); Nitrate (0-0.2 mg/L); Phosphates (0-0.03 mg/L); Magnesium (1250-1350 mg/L); pH (8.0-8.2); Salinity (35 ppt - 1.025 sg). Animals were fed three times a week with a solution of live phytoplankton (*Dunaliella salina, Nannochloropsis oculata* and *Tetraselmis* sp.), concentrated zooplankton suspension (copepod) (Gamma Nutraplus), vitamins and aminoacids (Red Sea supplements). Partial water changes of 10% were performed every other week and at the same time tank walls were scrubbed and faeces and precipitated organic material were siphoned out.

## Experimental design

This study was designed to replicate the expected scenarios for the future OAW through CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment in aquaria (DOE, 1994; Gallo et al., 2019). We set up a laboratory-controlled set of mesocosms following the internationally accepted guidance and analytical parameters accepted in ocean acidification research

(Dickson et al., 2007), which in our case included Total alkalinity ( $\mu$ mol kg<sup>-1</sup>), pH (Total scale) and pCO<sub>2</sub>( $\mu$ atm), along with seawater temperature and salinity. We built a semi-independent system of nine experimental units. Every treatment shared the same source of seawater and was exposed to the same conditions to avoid water chemistry bias (Hurlbert, 2013) and ensuring no interdependence of replicates in the same treatment (Cornwall & Hurd, 2015). For this, prior to experimentation, tanks were acclimated, and desired water chemistry mixed in the system. When the conditions were stable in the system, individual 30 L tanks (n=9) were isolated, at which point each tank was treated as an independent replicate (Figure 2).

One adult specimen of *Polycarpa captiosa* was placed in each experimental tank (9 in total). Controls were maintained at ambient  $pCO_2$  (±400 ppm) at 25°C for the total length of the experiment (12 weeks). Treatments were run sequentially in the following order: Treatment 1 (T1): ambient  $pCO_2$  (±400 ppm) and at high temperature 30°C for two weeks, then ascidians were left into an adaptation/recovery period of three weeks under control conditions. Following this, ascidians from T1 were exposed to Treatment 2 (T2): elevated  $pCO_2$  (±1,000 ppm) at 25°C for two weeks, and subsequently were left in an adaptation/recovery period under control conditions. Finally, these specimens were placed under Treatment 3 (T3): elevated  $pCO_2$  (±1,000 ppm) at 30°C for another two weeks.

Although the ocean chemistry predictions do not consider tropical coastal areas because of the regional oceanographic variability and natural fluctuations that currently take place (due to coastal processes such as high dissolved organic material, high productivity and nutrients levels, turbidity and geological erosion) (Melendez & Salisbury, 2017), we replicated the oceanographic conditions offshore in laboratory to avoid those coastal processes bias and we used the OAW conditions predictions for 2100 made by Dickson, (2010).

For instance, the scenarios tested do not strictly replicate the coastal predictions at the native location of *P. captiosa* for 2100 but represent an approximation to the expected predictions for this period in the open ocean (IPCC, 2013). This mesocosm experiment ran for twelve weeks in total, including the recovery periods. During the

experiment, the water parameters were regularly measured to allow conditions to be kept stable (Supplement 1) and observation on the behaviour and filtration activity of tunicates were recorded.

#### Mesocosm set-up

The ocean acidification and warming experimental system was inspired and modified from Guo et al. (2015) and Lemasson et al. (2018). We created two pCO<sub>2</sub> concentration treatments ±400 ppm, (current concentration of CO<sub>2</sub>) and ±1000 ppm (predicted CO<sub>2</sub> by the end of the century) following Gattuso & Lavigne (2009), and two temperature treatments 25°C and 30°C. Each experimental treatment took place in a 400L system of tanks connected to each other and to a 100L sump with live rock, a protein skimmer (100L/min flow rate), *Chaetomorpha* sp. as a nutrient-control algae, two filter socks (64µm), a temperature chiller, an evaporation/salinity control system (using reverse osmosis water) and a 4000slh flow rate pump to constantly recirculate the water to each tank (Figure 2).

To achieve accurate chemistry in our tanks, we purchased filtered natural sea water  $(64\mu m)$ , and once in laboratory it was UV sterilised (Vecton 300 V2 - 15 Watt) for 48 hours prior adding it to the systems. The seawater was left running without ascidians in the system for a month to reach bacterial community maturity and monitored daily for fluctuations of water chemistry.

Subsequently, we mixed CO<sub>2</sub> (90%) and dry air at different ratios using two calibrated mass flow controllers (Omega ®) to generate CO<sub>2</sub>-enriched air with  $\pm$ 1000 pCO<sub>2</sub>. The air was obtained using an air compressor and then filtered with a disclike airline filter (Gelman Acro 50) to eliminate water and unwanted particles, before passing it through a mass flow controller with a pressure regulation valve (FMA 5400A/5500A -10 SLM) to ensure a stable air flow could be maintained. Pure CO<sub>2</sub> was from a cylinder (BOC) and regulated by a pressure valve and a needle valve (3 bar) to produce a stable gas flow and then passed through a calibrated mass flow controller (FMA 5400A/5500A - 10 SCCM).



Figure 2. Drawing of the mesocosm set up for high acidification system. 1.Temperature chiller, 2. Flow pump 4000L min<sup>-1</sup>, connected to the chiller and to the vertical system. 3. Live rocks for natural filtration, 4. Auto top-up system to control evaporation. 5. *Chaetomorpha* sp. living algae with an attached submersible LED light for optimal algae growth. 6. Protein skimmer (200L min<sup>-1</sup>), 7. Thermostats set at 26°C. 8. Filter socks ( $64\mu m$ ). 9. Experimental tank. 10. Bubbling airline, 11. APEX system. 12. Connecting tubing. 13. Main bubbling airline. 14. Gas control tap. 15. T connector, 16. Gas mixing capsule, 17. Output tubing, 18. Airline filter, 19. LiCOR, 20. Computer. 21. Mass flow controller. 22. CO<sub>2</sub> cylinder. 23. Air compressor.

Ambient air and CO2 were mixed in a sealed white PVC capsule resulting in a CO<sub>2</sub> concentration of  $\pm 1000$  ppm. A small proportion of gas mixture ( $\pm 1L$ ) was analysed and monitored with a CO<sub>2</sub> analyser (Li-830, LI-COR) and the remaining gas was bubbled into each of the high pCO<sub>2</sub> experimental tanks (Figure 3). This system was placed in a room in which environmental temperature was controlled and monitored daily, environmental carbon dioxide was monitored daily with a CO<sub>2</sub> sensor and alarm.



Figure 3. Ocean acidification and warming seawater chemistry variability over 24hours during experimental time. *Top.*  $pCO_2$  fluctuations for the Elevated (±1000ppm) and Ambient (±400pm) treatments. *Bottom.* Temperature fluctuations for the Normal (25°C) and Warm (30°C) scenarios.

### Measurement of seawater chemistry

Salinity was measured daily using both a manual refractometer and a conductivity meter (Thermo Scientific); temperature was measured using both a digital thermometer (Fisher Scientific) and a continuous measurement system (APEX) which had a fluctuation alarm. For marine chemistry measurements, duplicate 500 ml samples were collected and stored in borosilicate air-tight bottles for pH and total alkalinity analysis. For total alkalinity, samples were poisoned with 200µl saturated HgCl<sub>2</sub> solution (0.02%) and kept in the dark until measurement, following the GOA-ON Standard operating procedures - SOP1 (Dickson et al., 2007).

Total scale seawater pH was measured using a temperature-controlled ( $\pm 0.1^{\circ}$ C) spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific TM Orion AquaMate 7000) and plastic cuvettes in a temperature-controlled laboratory. To achieve reading accuracy, samples were dyed using pH adjusted (7.9 ± 0.1) *m*-cresol purple solution (2mmol L<sup>-1</sup>). Total alkalinity was measured from poisoned samples by titration following

SOP3b (Dickson et al., 2007). Partial pressure of carbon dioxide (pCO<sub>2</sub>), aragonite concentration ( $\Omega_A$ ) and calcite concentration ( $\Omega_c$ ) were calculated at the end of each experimental week using CO<sub>2</sub>sys.xls (adapted from Lewis & Wallace, 1998), with the Lueker et al. (2000) constants fitted to total scale pH and the KSO<sub>4</sub> dissociation constant (Dickson, 1990) (Table 1). To ensure accuracy and reduce human bias in the seawater chemistry measurements, only one person performed the titrations and spectrophotometric pH records.

Table 1. Seawater chemistry measured and calculated for each system during each scenario.

Pco <sub>2</sub> vs	Ν	T (°c)	Sal	Ph	At	Pco <sub>2</sub>	$\Omega_a$	Ωc
temperature								
C: ambient vs control	12	24.9±0.2	34.9±1.1	8.01±0.10	2.13±0.32	597.2±146.1	1.70±0.32	2.64±0.50
T1: ambient vs warm	4	25.4±0.3	35.3±1.2	8.02±0.10	2.32±0.29	669.7±155.9	2.02±0.31	3.11±0.47
T2: elevated vs control	4	24.8±0.2	34.9±1.2	7.65±0.10	2.13±.032	1174.6±420.9	0.99±0.22	1.53±0.34
T3: elevated vs warm	4	24.6±0.2	35.3±0.7	7.72±0.16	3.00±0.16	1053.6±223.3	1.98±0.37	3.07±0.57
Ambiant (400ppm		tod(1000nnm)	control (25°c)	$warm (30^{\circ}c)$	n (number of	moneuromente)	al(nnt) nh (to	tal ceale) at

Ambient (400ppm), elevated (1000ppm), control (25°c), warm (30°c), n (number of measurements) sal(ppt), ph (total scale), at (µmol kg<sup>-1</sup>), pco<sub>2</sub>(ppm),  $\omega_a$  (aragonite concentration),  $\omega_c$  (calcite concentration)

## Physiological measurements

To evaluate filtration rates throughout each experiment, ascidians were fed three times a week with a diluted solution of 0.06mg live phytoplankton (20ml mix of *N. oculata, Dunnaliella salina* and *Tetraselmis* sp.) to obtain a concentration of approximately 10<sup>8</sup>cell/L<sup>-1</sup> for each experimental tank. After each measured day, faeces were siphoned using a glass pipette, then filtered using 25mm Whatman filters, rinsed with 1M isotonic ammonium formate NH<sub>4</sub>HCO<sub>2</sub> to eliminate trace salts, dried at 40 °C for two hours and weighed in order to calculate the total ingestion and absorption rate per animal.

*Resilience* (R). Survival, gut ejection and recovery time were used as a measure of resilience under OAW scenarios. Observations on the ascidian behaviour and tunic appearance were made daily for one hour. Ascidians that performed gut-ejection, were marked, removed from the experiment and recovery time was recorded including the transition behaviour. These ascidians were included in the analysis as

a negative response to the treatment. Every ascidian that ejected its gut was replaced for the following treatment with a new individual. Ascidians with tunic damage or shedding the outermost membrane layer were also marked and tissue recovery time was also recorded as an adaptation behaviour to ocean acidification and warming but were not separated from the experiment.

*Clearance rate (CR)*. Several studies have performed different calculation methods for the clearance rates in suspension feeders, most of them express it as dependant on the respiration, metabolic rate and food consumption (Jorgensen, 1949; Fiala-Medioni, 1978a; 1978b; Holmes, 1973; Klump, 1984; Kowalke, 1999; Petersen & Riisgard, 1992; Randlov & Riisgard, 1979; Robbins, 1983; 1984; Hughes et al., 2005; Sanders et al., 2013).

In this study, we calculated clearance rate as the maximum water transparency reached after the experimental time by counting the remaining algal cells in each experimental unit, adjusted to the animal body weight in order to provide an accurate estimation of each individuals' filtration capacity. This allowed a direct assessment of this biological function under environmental disturbances such as ocean acidification and warming. Here we expressed the ingested weight as a measure of the organic absorption rate and feeding efficiency.

Clearance rate was calculated as the volume of water that has been cleared of cells per ascidian per unit of time based on Armsworthy et al. (2001) and Macdonald & Ward (1994) following the equation,

## CR=fr(cr-Ce)/cr

where *fr* is the mean flow rate of pumped water by the ascidians in the experiment  $(L \text{ min}^{-1})$ , cr is the total cell concentration for all the algae cell sizes (Number of particles ranging from  $3\mu \text{m}$  to  $14\mu \text{m}$ ) at the beginning of the experiment and Ce is the mean cell count at the end of the experiment. Clearance rate adjusted for the ascidian body weight (CR W) was ultimately used in the analysis and was calculated following the equation,

## CR.W= Bwe/CR

Where, Bwe is the body weight in g after the experimentation, and CR is the clearance rate.

Standardized ingestion rate (IRs). In this study, we calculated the ingestion rate adjusted to each ascidian's body weight, as the dry weight of algal cells ingested per hour per miligram of animal. Because as for clearance rate, the ingestion potential is related to the body size and weight; we called this adjustment, standardized ingestion rate following Armsworthy et al. (2001). Studies focused on evaluating the ingestion rate in ascidians are scarce and the majority are part of the "old" literature (Riisgard & Randlov, 1981) and to our knowledge, the assessment of the standardized ingestion rate of tropical stolidobranchs under climate change scenarios and its effects on the provision of ecosystem functions is understudied.

Understanding how much of the suspended organic material is ingested by a filter feeder also determines the amount of fragmented nutrient that is put back into the system to be absorbed by other, smaller organisms, which represents an important biological function for the survival of microbiota and larvae.

Here we calculated it as the dry weight of the phytoplankton ingested per unit time by 1mg of animal and it was calculated based on Bayne et al. (1985) using the equation,

#### IRs=CR.W x TPM

Where TPM is the total weight of the algae cells used to create the turbidity in g L<sup>-1</sup> and CR.W the adjusted clearance rate based on body weight.

Absorption Efficiency (AE%). Studies on the absorption efficiency in suspension feeders demonstrate that it is related to the increase of food concentration (Thompson & Bayne, 1972; Riisgard & Randlov, 1981). Here, we calculated it based on Conover (1966) as the total weight of algae added at the beginning of the experiment minus the weight of faecal pellets after an hour of measurements, using the following equation,

#### AE= 100-(TPM-fw/ TPM) x 100

Where fw is the faeces dry weight after the experiment, TPM is the total seston weight at the beginning of the experiment.

## Statistical Analysis.

All data were tested for normality using a Shapiro-Wilk test and analysed for homogeneity of variances using Bartlett's test; where significant, data was transformed using square root and logarithm base 10 (Log10). If still not significant, data was analysed using non-parametric tests such as Wilcoxon signed-rank test. When normal data was found, a one-factor ANOVA was performed, we considered statistically significant if p<0.05. All analyses were performed using the statistical software Rstudio.

*Resilience.* To evaluate if survival, gut ejection and recovery after evisceration were affected by temperature and  $pCO_2$  conditions, we ran a linear model (glm) and an analysis of deviance type 2 test. We considered statistically significant if p<0.05.

Clearance rate, absorption efficiency, standardized ingestion rate. Because of the experimental design employed in this research, a repeated measured analysis was performed using general linear models (glm), our model included temperature,  $pCO_2$  and their interaction to understand the effect of the interaction of temperature and  $pCO_2$  on the clearance rate, absorption efficiency and standardized ingestion rate. We considered statistically significant if p<0.05.

## RESULTS

## Resilience

Overall, 90% of the specimens remained alive and performing filtration after each treatment. There were significant differences in the outer membrane shedding between the pCO<sub>2</sub> treatments (n= 60; Anova, p<0.05) but no significant difference between temperature treatments (p=0.065). There was a significant interaction between pCO<sub>2</sub> and temperature with 95% of individuals shedding under the combined high treatment (p<0.05). Ascidians did not shed their outer membrane under T1(400ppm, 30°C) or control.

Under high pCO<sub>2</sub> exposure, 90% of the ascidians ejected their guts. The linear model revealed a significant effect of pCO<sub>2</sub> on gut ejection (n= 60; Anova, p<0.05). There were no significant effects of the temperature (p=0.470) or the interaction T vs pCO2 on this behaviour (n= 60; Anova, p=0.825) (Figure 4). In T3 (1000ppm, 30°C), ascidians performed the greatest gut ejection. No ascidians ejected their guts in the control system. Animals that performed gut ejection, recovered at different

rates depending on the treatment. During T1 (400ppm and 30°C), gut recovery took 10 days approximately, after T2 (1000ppm, 25°C) total gut recovery was observed after 15 days while on T3 (1000ppm, 30°C), gut recovery was achieved in a 50% after 19 days post-exposure.

During T1(400ppm and 30°C) and T3(1000ppm, 30°C) there was an increase on faeces production significatively different than the control treatment (Anova, p<0.05), indicating a possible increase of their metabolic rate; in contrast, under the temperature treatments the faeces production was not significatively different (p= 0.955).



Figure 4. The effect of ocean acidification and warming on gut ejection in *Polycarpa captiosa*.

## Clearance rate based on body weight (CR. W)

There were significant effects of the temperature and the pCO<sub>2</sub> (n= 60; Anova, p<0.05) treatments on the clearance rate based on body weight of ascidians, but no significant effect of the interaction of both conditions (Anova, p=0.539) (Figure 6). The rate at which algae cells were removed from the experimental tanks decreased proportionally on the treatment (Table 2) in comparison with the control (Figure 5). Algae cell counts after T1(400pmm, 30°C) was lower than the control but, after T2(1000ppm, 25°C) and T3(1000ppm, 30°C) cell count was higher evidencing a direct impact on the filtration capacity proportional the acidification. The reduction in

clearance rate observed in T3 (Figure 6), indicates a possible reduction of their metabolic rates as less faeces was produced under those conditions.

Table 2. Mean and standard deviation of the feeding physiology measurements for all ascidians per treatment.

Measurement	Control	T1	T2	Т3
Clearance rate cr [ml min-1]	2.47 ± 0.01	2.42 ± 0.01	2.28 ± 0.01	2.21 ± 0.01
Clearance rate based on body weight cr.w [g l <sup>-1</sup> min <sup>-1</sup> ]	$0.64 \pm 0.16$	$0.55 \pm 0.02$	$0.48 \pm 0.01$	0.45 ± 0.01
Standardized ingestion rate irs [mg h <sup>-1</sup> ]	38.39 ± 1.0	33.32 ± 1.5	$29.03 \pm 0.22$	$27.26 \pm 0.26$
Absorption efficiency (ae, %)	72.5 ± 2.0	69.72 ± 2.5	$22.00 \pm 0.46$	$20.98 \pm 0.46$
Control (25°c, 400ppm), t1 (25°c, 1000ppm), t2 (30°c, 400ppm), t3 (30°c, 1000ppm)				



Figure 5. Independent effects of A)  $pCO_2$  (400ppm, 1000ppm) and B) temperature (25°C, 30°C) treatments on the absorption efficiency (%), standardized ingestion rate (g L<sup>-1</sup>min<sup>-1</sup>) and clearance rate base on body weight (L min<sup>-1</sup>) of *Polycarpa captiosa*.

## Standardized ingestion rate

The standardized ingestion rate was affected by both OAW scenarios (Figure 5). The linear model showed significative effects of temperature and pCO2 (Anova, p<0.05) on the standardized ingestion rate of *Polycarpa captiosa*. But no effect was evident between the interaction of both conditions on the feeding behaviour (p=0.550) (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Effects of the interaction between temperature and pCO<sub>2</sub>. *Left:* on the clearance rate based on body weight (L min<sup>-1</sup>). *Right*: on the standardized ingestion rate (g L<sup>-1</sup> min<sup>-1</sup>) of *Polycarpa captiosa*.

## Absorption efficiency

The linear model showed a positive effect of warming (p<0.05) on the absorption efficiency of *Polycarpa captiosa* (Figure 5), and a negative effects of ocean



acidification (p<0.05), but no effects in the interaction of both conditions (p=0.250) (Figure 7).

Figure 7. Effects of the interaction between temperature and pCO<sub>2</sub> on the absorption efficiency (%) of *Polycarpa captiosa*.

## DISCUSSION

*Polycarpa captiosa* is a model representative of marine suspension feeders and plays an important role in coastal ecosystems. Our results showed important negative effects of ocean acidification and warming on their clearance rate, ingestion rate and absorption efficiency as well as on their resilience and adaptation under multistressor scenarios predicted for the end of the century, potentially affecting their ecosystem functions. We predict that under OA scenarios, they would be restricted to colonise new substrates and ecosystems, leading to eventual population reduction and more dramatically, species extinction (Solan et al., 2004).

## Resilience

After 12 weeks of treatment, 90% of the ascidians remained alive. Despite combined environmental stressors, and some energetically expensive gut ejection, few individuals died. Gut recovery time differed among treatments providing an important insight about the influence of environmental conditions on the regeneration of essential tissue in *Polycarpa* species. In addition, all the animals exposed to high acidification treatments performed total shedding of the outermost tunic skin, presumably as an additional stress response to prolonged seawater chemistry changes. Total skin recovery was observed after the third week of exposure and could be explained as a microbiome recovery of this species' tunic and a full recovery to the disturbances.

Tunicates are distinguished among chordates for presenting an exoskeleton or tunic composed of proteins and other macromolecules such as tunicin. These tunics are capable to elongate during animal growth, so ecdysis is not a common behaviour in ascidians. However, they have the unique ability to undergo whole body regeneration after physical damage (Rinkevich et al., 1995; 2007a; 2007b; Voskoboynik et al., 2007; Brown et al., 2009; Blanchould et al., 2018) and partial organ and system-level regeneration (Shenkar & Gordon, 2015) a trait rare in other chordates. Our results showed an effect of ocean acidification and warming on the skin shedding of *Polycarpa captiosa* as only under the elevated pCO2 conditions this was observed. During the recovery time it was observed that new skin is produced within two weeks post-exposure and the previous shed skin remained attached to the animal for a period of 20 days after which it naturally detached. We suggest this behaviour might allow ascidians survival under environmental disturbances.

#### Clearance rate based on body weight.

Our results revealed a positive effect of warm temperature (30°C) on clearance rate, during T1 (400ppm, 25C), as ascidians removed 10% more algal cells than in the control system, this could be a case of an enhanced metabolism and high energetic demand as a consequence of the thermal disturbance which has been previously observed in other suspension feeders like bivalves (Lemasson et al., 2018l). However, under T3 (1000ppm, 30C), the lowest clearance rate was observed, indicating that the combined effect of both warming and acidification reduced the ascidians capacity to perform optimal filtration in the short-term exposition.

Clearance rate is linked to the complexity of the pharynx (it has a filtration area of four non-overlapping folds on each side of the body), the normal functioning of this filtration system depends on the optimal environmental conditions at which cells can work (Petersen & Riisgård, 1992). Our finding suggests that if the increase of water temperature exceeds the thermal tolerance in ascidians in the long term, their physiological activity would be severely affected, and their ecosystem function reduced. Without this important function many light dependant organisms would decline leading to other changes in the habitat provision for larvae, juveniles and, adult economically important invertebrates and fishes (Petersen, 2007).

Under high pCO<sub>2</sub> conditions, a negative effect was observed on the clearance rate as it slowed down in comparison to the control treatment (400ppm, 25C) and provoked an increase of gut ejection cases in both elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> treatments which lead to a reduction of the feeding behaviour. Under T2 (1000ppm, 25C), ascidians reduced their clearance rate in comparison to the control conditions at the same temperature (Figure 6), but the feeding behaviour (indicated by open siphons) remained similar, which we interpret as a feeding shock, in which the nervous control of the water-pumping cilia (Hoyle 1953) is affected by the environmental disturbances and for instance, a reduction of the suspension feeding process is experienced (Holmes 1973; Fiala-Medioni 1978c; Robbins 1983; Petersen & Riisgard, 1992; Armsworthy, et al 2001). This physiological behaviour would subsequently have a negative effect on the ecosystem functions of *P. captiosa*. Under short term OAW conditions, water viscosity decreases, and the ciliary activity in the ascidians pharynx reaches an optimal rate preserving a constant clearance rate that allows the animal to obtain the maximum food intake despite the thermal stressor, however, in the long term this ability is affected.

#### Standardized ingestion rate

Our results evidenced an effect of both ocean acidification and warming treatments on the standardized ingestion rates of *P. captiosa* but not a significant effect on the interaction of both stressors. These results resemble those obtained for clearance rate as both measurements are directly related to the environment, but their impacts on the animal physiology are different. While clearance rate takes into account the volume of water filtrated, the standardized ingestion rate provides insights on the amount of organic food obtained through clearance per animal weight.

The rate at which an animal ingests available food positively reflects its level of nutrition and energy budget and determines the degree of adaptation to its environment. For instance, it is expected that a reduction of the ingestion rate is related to a lack of environmental coping and stability (Petersen, 2007). Under T1(400ppm, 30C), the amount of algal cell ingested per animal, was higher, evidenced by an increase of faeces produced post-treatment. As in clearance rate, the metabolic activity was likely increased under higher thermal exposure and the lower water viscosity stimulated the muco-ciliary activity in *Polycarpa captiosa* enhancing their ingestion rate. This metabolic increase can potentially mitigate the adverse effects of warming caused by ocean acidification compensating the energy cost of adaptation to the environmental stressors as it has been reported for other suspension feeders (Sanders et al., 2013).

On the other hand, both pCO2 treatments (T2 and T3) had a negative effect on the standardized ingestion rates of *P. captiosa* evidenced by a decrease on the ingested algal cells found in faeces during the short-term exposure to ocean acidification. As happened with clearance rate, elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> and high temperature can affect the ingestion of organic matter due to a deterioration of key physiological structures and evisceration in ascidians. This response negatively alters the animal resilience under these scenarios and influences their mortality in the long term as has been demonstrated in other organisms like bivalves (Lemasson et al., 2018; Melzner et al., 2009).

#### Absorption efficiency

Our results demonstrated that the absorption efficiency was significatively affected by warming and acidification (Figure 7). The optimal absorption was achieved at ambient pCO<sub>2</sub> and 25C in the control treatment, followed by T1(400ppm, 30C) in which the absorption decreased 10%. The lowest absorption was found at elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> regardless of the temperature in comparison to T1 and the control, but it was particularly inefficient in T3 (1000ppm, 30C) in which both high temperature and pCO<sub>2</sub> were interacting. Possibly due to a poor adaptation to the short-term exposure to the stressors and a feeding shock observed similarly in the ingestion and clearance rate. When faeces weight was similar to the initial algae weight, we considered absorption efficiency as reduced because it reflects the animals' inefficiency to obtain energy from food. The quantity and weight of faecal ribbons obtained during all the treatments was consistent and directly related to the water clearance rate. We predict that the ineffective absorption of nutrients under OAW predicted conditions for the end of the century would reduce ascidians ability to provide competent ecosystem services and their lack of energy acquisition from food would dramatically reduce their populations which for instance would reduce the survival rate of dependant economical important organisms.

Even though, coastal ecosystems are not expected to dramatically decease in extent under OAW scenarios by the end of the century, the synergy between environmental and biological variables might affect the normal processes within them and severely change them (Agostini et al., 2018).

## CONCLUSIONS

Our results demonstrate that ocean acidification and warming have an impact in the provision of biological services in tropical ascidians. The feeding behaviour of *Polycarpa captiosa* under warming scenarios showed an increase of their metabolic rates, impacting positively on their water clearance function. However, multi-stressor scenarios that involve the addition of elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> in the water chemistry affect negatively the absorption of nutrients from filtration feeding and affects resilience and survival of these organisms. This suggests a likely reduction of their populations in the wild by the long-term exposure to elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> values and high temperature. The metabolic cost of adaptation to prolonged exposition to OAW for non-economical important species like ascidians suggests an exponential reduction of their absorption and ingestion of particulate organic material. This will negatively affect other important biological functions such as sexual reproduction, provision of habitat complexity and control of inorganic pollution that plays a key role in supporting ecosystem health.

The native geographical range of *P. captiosa* includes important coral reef ecosystems, typically known for presenting low turbidity levels, and high diversity of commercially important invertebrates and fishes. If our predictions reflect a reality for the future physiological behaviour of ascidians, their ecosystem services for the region are likely to be negatively impacted leading to the reduction of water transparency, nutrient availability and light penetration in the water column.

Gut ejection and shedding of the outermost tunic membrane are other energyexpensive physiological responses to environmental stressors that in the short term compromise the animal's ability to cope with the surrounding environment and affect their feeding and reproduction and increase their vulnerability to predation. Further studies should evaluate how microbiome in ascidians gut is affected by ocean acidification and warming scenarios and the extent to which gut ejection is a result of disturbed digestive bacteria in *Polycarpa* species at different environmental disturbance ratios.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are thankful with the Ecology and Environment Research Centre - EERC, from the Manchester Metropolitan University, technicians and students that supported the data collection activities during this project. We also wish to thank Tristan Lougher from Cheshire aquatics, for the provision of the biological samples and the support during the experiment set up. Also, many tanks to the Ocean Foundation -TOF, The US Department of State, The Global Ocean Acidification Observing Network -GOA-ON and the Latin America Ocean Acidification Network -LAOCA, for the advanced training in marine carbonate chemistry measurements, feedback and proof reading data, specially to Professor Martin Hernández-Ayón, Dr. Leticia Barbero and Professor Chris Langdon. Finally, we are thankful with the Marine and coastal Research Institute of Colombia -INVEMAR, for the scientific support during this research, specially to Cesar Bernal and the environmental quality lab -LabCAM for the supply of information and equipment.

**Supplementary material I:** "24 hours variability in pCO<sub>2</sub> and temperature injected in experimental units"

Supplementary material II: "pH (Total scale) calculated in 24 hours treatment"

## REFERENCES

- Agostini, S., Harvey, B.P., Wada, S., Kon, K., Milazzo, M., Inaba, K. & J. Hall-Spencer (2018) Ocean acidification drives community shifts towards simplified non-calcified habitats in a subtropical-temperate transition zone. Sci Rep 8, 11354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-29251-7</u>.
- Anthony K.R.N., Kline D.I., Diaz-Pulido G., Dove S. & O. Hoegh-Guldberg (2008) Ocean acidification causes bleaching and productivity loss in coral reef builders. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 105, 17442–17446.
- Armsworthy, S.L., MacDonald, B.A. & J.E Ward (2001) Feeding activity, absorption efficiency and suspension feeding processes in the ascidian, *Halocynthia pyriformis* (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea): responses to variations in diet quantity and quality. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 260(2001)41-69.
- Bayne, B.L., Brown, D.A., Burns, K., Dixon, D.R., Ivanovici, A., Livingstone, D.R., Lowe, D.M., Moore, M.N., Stebbing, A.R.D. & J. Widdows (1985) The Effects of Stress and Pollution on Marine Animals. Praeger Publishers, New York.
- Beniash E., Ivanina A., Lieb N.S., Kurochkin I., I.M. Sokolova (2010) Elevated level of carbon dioxide affects metabolism and shell formation in oysters Crassostrea virginica. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 419, 95 – 108.
- Bishop T. & M.D. Brand (2000) Processes contributing to metabolic depression in hepatopancreas cells from the snail Helix aspersa. J. Exp. Biol. 203, 3603 3612.
- Blainville, H. M. D. De. 1824. Manuel de Malacologie et de Conchyliologie. Levrault, Paris and Strasbourg, VIII, 664 p
- Blanchoud, S., Rinkevich, B., & M. J. Wilson (2018). Whole-Body Regeneration in the Colonial Tunicate Botrylloides leachii. Marine Organisms as Model Systems in Biology and Medicine, 337–355. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-92486-1\_16.
- Brown F.D., Keeling E.L., Le A.D. & B.J. Swalla (2009) Whole body regeneration in a colonial ascidian, Botrylloide s violaceus. J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol 312:885–900. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.b.21303
- Byrne, M. (2011) Impact of ocean warming and ocean acidification on marine invertebrate life history stages: vulnerabilities and potential for persistence in a changing ocean. Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 49, 1e42.
- Byrne, M. (2012) Global change ecotoxicology: Identification of early life history bottlenecks

- Calosi P., Rastrick S.P.S., Lombardi C., de Guzman H.J., Davidson L., Jahnke M., Giangrande A., Hardege J.D., Schulze A., Spicer J.I. & M.C. Gambi (2013) Adaptation and acclimatization to ocean acidification in marine ectotherms: an in-situ transplant experiment with polychaetes at a shallow CO2 vent system. Phil Trans R Soc B 368: 20120444. dx.doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2012.0444.
- Conover, R.J. (1966) Assimilation of organic matter by zooplankton. Limnol. Oceanogr. 11, 338–354.
- Cornwall, C.E. & C. C. Hurd (2015) Experimental design in ocean acidification research: problems and solutions. ICES Journal of Marine Science (2016), 73(3), 572–581. doi:10.1093/icesjms/fsv118.
- Dickson A. G., Sabine C. L. & J. R. Christian (2007) Guide to best practices for ocean CO2 measurements. PICES Special Publication 3:1-191.
- Dickson A. (2010) The carbon dioxide system in seawater: equilibrium chemistry and measurements. In: Riebesell U., Fabry V. J., Hansson L. & Gattuso J.-P. (Eds.), Guide to best practices for ocean acidification research and data reporting, pp. 17-40. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Dickson A.G. (1990) Thermodynamics of the dissociation of boric acid in synthetic seawater from 273.15 to 318.15 K. Deep-Sea Res. 37, 755 766. (doi:10.1016/0198-0149(90)90004-F).
- DOE U.S. Department of Energy (1994) Handbook of methods for the analysis of the various parameters of the carbon dioxide system in sea water. Version 2. ORNL/CDIAC-74. A. G. Dickson and C. Goyet (eds.), Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, Tenn.
- Donohue P., Calosi P., Bates A., Laverock A.H., Rastrick S.P.S., Mark F.C., Stroble A. & S. Widdicombe (2012) Physiological and behavioural impacts of exposure to elevated pCO2 on an important ecosystem engineer, the burrowing shrimp Upogebia deltaura. Aquat. Biol. 15, 73 – 86. (doi:10.3354/ab00408).
- Dupont, S., Lundve, B. & M. Thorndyke (2010) Seawater carbonate chemistry and biological processes during experiments with a Sea Star Crassaster papposus, 2010. Pangaea, <u>https://doi.org/10.1594/Pangaea.757990</u>.
- Dupont, S., Dorey, N., Stumpp, M., Melzner, F. & M. Thorndyke (2012) Long-term and trans-life-cycle effects of exposure to ocean acidification in the green sea urchin Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis. Mar. Biol. doi:10.1007/s00227-012-1921.
- Dupont, S., & H. A. Pörtner (2013) Snapshot of ocean acidification research. Mar Biol 160, 1765–1771. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-013-2282-9.
- Feely R.A., Sabine C.L., Lee K., Berelson W., Kleypas J., Fabry V.J. & F.J. Millero (2004) Impact of anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub> on the CaCO<sub>3</sub> system in the oceans. Science 305: 362–366. PMID: 15256664.

- Fiala-Medioni, A. (1978a) Filter-feeding ethology of benthic invertebrates (ascidians). 4. Pumping rate, filtration rate, filtration efficiency, Mar. Biol., Vol. 48, pp. 243-249.
- Fiala-Medioni, A. (1978b) Filter-feeding ethology of benthic invertebrates (ascidians). 5. Influence of temperature on pumping, filtration and digestion rates and rhythms in *Phallusia mammillata*. Mar. Biol., Vol. 48, pp. 25 I-259.
- Fiala-Medioni, A. (1978c) Filter-feeding ethology of benthic invertebrates (Ascidians). V. Influence of temperature on pumping, filtration and digestion rates and rhythms in *Phallusia mammillata*. Mar. Biol. 48: 251-259.
- Gallo, A., Boni, R., Buia, M. C., Monfrecola, V., Esposito, M. C., & E. Tosti (2019) Ocean acidification impact on ascidian *Ciona robusta* spermatozoa: New evidence for stress resilience. Science of The Total Environment, 134100. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134100.
- Gattuso J.P. & H. Lavigne (2009) Technical note: approaches and software tools to investigate the impact of ocean acidification. Biogeosciences 6:2121–2133
- Ghalambor C.K., McKay J.K., Carroll S.P. & D.N. Reznick (2007) Adaptive versus non-adaptive phenotypic plasticity and the potential for contemporary adaptation in new environments. Funct. Ecol. 21, 394 – 407. (doi:10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01283.x)
- Godbold J.A. & M. Solan (2013) Long-term effects of warming and ocean acidification are modified by seasonal variation in species responses and environmental conditions. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 368, 20130186. (doi:10.1098/rstb.2013.0186)
- Gosselin, L.A. & Qian, P.Y. (1997) Juvenile mortality in benthic marine invertebrates. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser 146:265-282.
- Guppy M. & P. Withers (1999) Metabolic depression in animals: physiological perspectives and biochemical generalizations. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 74, 1 – 40. doi:10.1017/S0006323198005258.
- Haeckel E. (1874) Anthropogenie oder Entwickelungsgeschichte des Menschen. Gemeinverständliche wissenschaftliche Vorträge über die Grundzüge der menschlichen Keimes- und Stammes-Geschichte. Wilhelm Engelmann, Leipzig (6. Auflage 1910)
- Hale R., Calosi P., McNeill L., Mieszkowska N. & S.Widdicombe (2011) Predicted levels of future ocean acidification and temperature rise could alter community structure and biodiversity in marine benthic communities. Oikos 120, 661–674. (doi:10. 1111/j.1600-0706.2010.19469.x)
- Heller, C. (1877) Untersuchungen über die Tunicaten des Adriatischen und Mittelmeeres. III (1): Denk. Ak. Mien. 37.

- Hendriks I.E., Duarte C.M. & M. Alvarez (2010) Vulnerability of marine biodiversity to ocean acidification: a meta-analysis. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 86, 157 – 164. (doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2009.11.022) in marine invertebrates, variable species responses and variable experimental approaches. Mar. Env. Res. 76: 3-15.
- Holmes, N. (1973) Water transport in the ascidian Styela clava Herdman and Ascidiella aspersa (Muller). J exp Mar Biol Ecol Voll 11, pp. 1-13.
- Hoyle, G. (1953) Spontaneous squirting of an ascidian, *Phallusia rnammillata* Cuvier. J. mar. biol. Ass. U.K. 31: 54 1-562.
- Hughes, D., Cook, E., & M. Sayer (2005). 'Biofiltration and biofouling on artificial structures in Europe: the potential for mitigating organic impacts. OCEANOGR MAR BIOL, (3), 123-172.
- Hurlbert, S. H. (2013) Affirmation of the classical terminology for experimental design via a critque of Casella's Statistical Design. Agronomony Journal, 105: 412–418
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change IPCC (2005) IPCC Special Report on Carbon Dioxide Capture and Storage. Prepared by Working Group III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Metz, B., O. Davidson, H. C. de Coninck, M. Loos, and L. A. Meyer (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 442 pp.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change IPCC (2007a) Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assess- ment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, Pachauri, R.K and Reisinger, A. (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 104 pp.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change IPCC (2007b) Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson, Eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 976pp.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change IPCC (2012) Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V. Barros, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, D.J. Dokken, K.L. Ebi, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S.K. Allen, M. Tignor, and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA, 582 pp.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change IPCC (2013) Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1535 pp.

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate IPCC (2018) Summary for Policymakers. In: Global warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H. O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P. R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J. B. R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M. I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, T. Waterfield (eds.)]. World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 32 pp.
- Jacobi, Y., Yahel, G. & N. Shenkar (2017) Efficient filtration of micron and submicron particles by ascidians from oligotrophic waters. Limnology and oceanography doi: 10.1002/lno.10736.
- Jorgensen, C. B. (1949) Feeding rates of sponges, lamellibranchs and ascidians. Nature (London) Vol. 163. p. 912.
- Kim, M.K., Kim, D.H., Park, J.U, Kim, D.H., Yoon, T.J., Kim, D.G., Lee, Y. & S. Shin (2019) Effects of temperature and salinity on the egg development and larval settlement of *Ciona robusta* (Ascidiacea, Phlebobranchia, Cionidae). Ocean Science Journal 54, 97–106.
- Klump, D. W. (1984) Nutritional ecology of the ascidian Pyura stolonifera: influence of body size, food quantity and quality on filter-feeding, respiration, assimilation efficiency and energy balance. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 19: 269– 284.
- Kowalke J. (1999) Filtration in Antarctic ascidians striking a balance. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 242: 233 – 244.
- Kroeker K.J., Kordas R.L., Crim R.N. & G.G. Singh (2010) Meta-analysis reveals negative yet variable effects of ocean acidification on marine organisms. Ecol. Lett. 13, 1419 – 1434. (doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010. 01518.x)
- Kroeker K.J., Micheli F., Gambi M.C. & T.R. Martz (2011) Divergent ecosystem responses within a benthic marine community to ocean acidification. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 108, 14 515 14 520. (doi:10.1073/pnas.1107789108)
- Kroeker K.J., Kordas R.L., Crim R.N., Hendriks I.E., Ramajo L., Singh G.S., Duarte, C.M. & J.P. Gattuso (2013) Impacts of ocean acidification on marine organisms: quantifying sensitivities and interaction with warming. Global Change Biol 19: 1884–1896. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12179 PMID: 23505245
- Lahille, F. (1886) Sur la classification des tuniciers. Comtpes Rendu de l'Academie des Sciences de Paris, 102:1573–1575.
- Lamarck J.B. (1816) Histoire naturelle des animaux sans verte`bres. Tome III. Tuniciers. Paris: De´terville. pp 80–130C.

- Lane A., Mukherjee J., Chan V.S. & V. Thiyagarajan (2013) Decreased pH does not alter metamorphosis but compromises juvenile calcification of the tube worm *Hydroides elegans*. Mar. Biol. (doi:10.1007/s00227-012-2056-9).
- Lee, S., Teo, S. & G. Lambert (2013) New records of solitary ascidians on artificial structures in Singapore waters. Marine Biodiversity Records. 6. 10.1017/S1755267213000638.
- Lemansson, A, Hall-Spencer, J.M., Fletcher, S., Provstgaard M., & A. Knights 2018. Indications of future performance of native and non-native adult oysters under acidification and warming. Marine Environmental Research. doi.org/19.1016/j.marenvres.2018.10.003.
- Lewis, E., & D. W. R. Wallace (1998) Program Developed for CO2 System Calculations. ORNL/CDIAC-105. Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy, Oak Ridge, Tennessee.
- Lombardi C., Gambi M.C., Vasapollo C., Taylor A.C. & S. Cocito (2011) Skeletal alterations and polymorphism in a Mediterranean bryozoan at natural CO2 vents. Zoomorphology 130, 135 145. (doi:10.1007/s00435-011-0127-y).
- Lueker, T.J., A.G. Dickson & C.D. Keeling (2000) Marine Chemistry, 70(2000):105-119.
- Maas A.E., Wishner K.F. & B.A. Seibel (2012) The metabolic response of pteropods to acidification reflects natural CO2-exposure in oxygen minimum zones. Biogeosciences 9, 747 757. (doi:10.5194/bg-9-747-2012).
- MacDonald, B.A. & Ward, J.E. (1994) Variation on food quality and particle selectivity in the sea scallop *Placopecten magellanicus* (Mollusca: Bivalvia). Mar. Ecol.: Prog. Ser. 108, 251–264.
- Marchant H.K, Calosi P. & J.I. Spicer (2010) Short-term exposure to hypercapnia does not compromise feeding, acid – base balance or respiration of *Patella vulgata* but surprisingly is accompanied by radula damage. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. UK 90, 1379 – 1384. (doi:10.1017/S0025315410000457).
- Melendez, M. & J. Salisbury (2017) Impacts of Ocean Acidification in the Coastal and Marine Environments of Caribbean Small Island Developing States (SIDS), Caribbean Marine Climate Change Report Card: Science Review 2017, pp 31-39.
- McCulloch M., Falter J., Trotter J. & P. Montagna (2012) Coral resilience to ocean acidification and global warming through pH up-regulation. Nature Climate Change, 2, 623–627.
- Melatunan S., Calosi P., Rundle S.D., Moody J.A. & S. Widdicombe (2011) Exposure to elevated temperature and pCO2 reduces respiration rate and energy status in the periwinkle Littorina littorea. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 84, 583 – 594. (doi:10.1086/ 662680).

- Melatunan S. (2012) Biochemical, metabolic and morphological responses of the intertidal gastropod *Littorina littorea* to ocean acidification and increased temperature, p. 222. PhD thesis, Marine Biology and Ecology Research Centre, Plymouth University, Plymouth, UK.
- Melzner F., Gutowska M., Langebuch M., Dupont S., Lucassen M., Thorndyke M., Bleich M. & H.O. Pörtner (2009) Physiological basis for high CO2 tolerance in marine ectothermic animals: pre-adaptation through lifestyle and ontogeny? Biogeosciences 6, 2313 – 2331. (doi:10.5194/bg-6-2313-2009).
- Michaelidis B., Ouzounis C., Paleras A. & H.O. Pörtner (2005) Effects of long-term moderate hypercapnia on acid – base balance and growth rate in marine mussels *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 293, 109 – 118. (doi:10.3354/meps293109).
- Minamoto, T., Hanai, S., Kadota, K., Oishi, K., Matsumae, H., Fujie, M., Azumi, K., Satoh, N., Satake, M. & N. Ishida (2010) Circadian clock in *Ciona intestinalis* revealed by microarray analysis and oxygen consumption. The Journal of Biochemistry, 147(2), 175–184. doi:10.1093/jb/mvp160/.
- Nakamura M., Ohki S., Suzuki A. & K. Sakai (2011) Coral larvae under ocean acidification: Survival, metabolism, and metamorphosis. PLoS ONE 6, e14521.
- Pechenik, J.A. (1999) On the advantages and disadvantages of larval stages in benthic marine invertebrate life cycles. Marine Ecology Progress Series 177, 269e297.
- Petersen, J. (2007) Ascidian suspension feeding. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology. 342. 127-137.
- Petersen, J.K & H. U. Riisgård (1992) Marine Ecology Progress Series. Vol. 88, No. 1. pp. 9-17
- Pörtner H.O. & A.P. Farrell (2008) Physiology and climate change. Science 322, 690 692. (doi:10.1126/ science.1163156)
- Pörtner H.O. (2008) Ecosystem effects of ocean acidification in times of ocean warming: a physiologist's view. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 373, 203 – 217. (doi:10.3354/meps07768).
- Randlov, A. & H. U. Riisgård (1979). Efficiency of particle retention and filtration rate in four species of ascidians. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 1: 55–59.
- Reipschläger A. & H.O. Pörtner (1996) Metabolic depression during environmental stress: the role of extracelullar versus intracellular pH in *Sipunculus nudus*. J. Exp. Biol. 199, 1801 – 1807.
- Riisgard, H.V. & A. Randlbv (1981) Energy budgets, growth and filtration rates in *Mytilus edulis* at different algal concentrations. Mar. Biol., Vol. 61, pp. 227-234

- Rinkevich B., Shlemberg Z. & L. Fishelson (1995) Whole-body protochordate regeneration from totipotent blood cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:7695– 7699.
- Rinkevich Y., Douek J., Haber O., Rinkevich, B. & R. Reshef (2007a) Urochordate whole body regeneration inaugurates a diverse innate immune signaling profile. Dev Biol 312:131–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2007.09.005</u>.
- Rinkevich Y., Paz G., Rinkevich B. & R. Reshef (2007b) Systemic bud induction and retinoic acid signaling underlie whole body regeneration in the urochordate Botrylloides leachi. PLoS Biol 5:e71.
- Robbins, I. J. (1983) The effects of body size, temperature, and suspension density on the filtration and ingestion of inorganic particulate suspensions by ascidians. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 70(1), 65–78. doi:10.1016/0022-0981(83)90149-1.
- Robbins, I.J. (1984) The regulation of ingestion rate, at high suspended particulate concentrations, by some phleobranchiate ascidians. J.exp mar Biol. Ecol. 82: 1-10
- Rocha, R.M., Zanata, T.B. & T.R. Moreno (2012) Keys for the identification of families and genera of Atlantic shallow water ascidians. Biota Neotrop. 12(1).
- Rodolfo-Metalpa R., Houlbrèque, F., Tambuttè, E. Boisson, F. Baggini, C., Parri, F.O. Jeffree, R., Fine. M. Foggo, A. Gattuso, J.P, & J.M. Hall-Spencer (2011) Coral and mollusc resistance to ocean acidification adversely affected by warming. Nat. Clim. Change 1, 308 – 312. (doi:10.1038/nclimate1200)
- Rosa R. & B.A. Seibel (2008) Synergistic effects of climate-related variables suggest future physiological impairment in a top oceanic predator. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 105, 20 776 20 780. (doi:10.1073/pnas.0806886105).
- Ryland, J. S. (1990) A circadian rhythm in the tropical ascidian *Diplosoma virens* (Ascidiacea: Didemnidae). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 138(3), 217–225. doi:10.1016/0022-0981(90)90168-c.
- Sabine, C. L., Feely, R.A., Gruber, N., Key, R.M., Lee, K., Bullister, J.L., Wanninkhof, R., Wong, C.S., Wallace, D.W.R., Tilbrook, B., Millero, F.J., Peng, T.H., Kozyr, A., Ono, T. & A.F. Rios (2004) The oceanic sink for anthropogenic CO2. Science, 305(5682), 367–371.
- Sanders, M.B., Bean, T.P., Hutchinson, T.H. & Le W.J. Quesne (2013) Juvenile king scallop, Pecten maximus, is potentially tolerant to low levels of ocean acidi!cation when food is unrestricted. PloS One 8 (9), e74118. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0074118.
- Seibel B.A. & P.J. Walsh (2003) Biological impacts of deep-sea carbon dioxide injection inferred from indices of physiological performance. J. Exp. Biol. 206, 641 – 650. (doi:10.1242/jeb.00141).

- Shenkar, N. & T. Gordon (2015) Gut-spilling in chordates: Evisceration in the tropical ascidian *Polycarpa mytiligera*. Sci Rep 5, 9614.
- Shenkar, N. & B.J. Swalla (2011) Global diversity of Ascidiacea. PLoS One 6, e20657.
- Solan M., Cardinale B.J., Downing A.L., Engelhardt K.A.M., Ruesink J.L. & D.S. Srivastava (2004) Extinction and ecosystem function in the marine benthos. Science 306, 1177–1180. (doi:10.1126/science.1103960).
- Sluiter, C.P. (1885) Ueber einige einfachen Ascidien von der Insel Billiton. Nut. Tijdschr. Nederl. Ind., 45: 160- 232.
- Sommer, U., Adrian, R., Bauer, B. & M. Winder (2012) The response of temperate aquatic ecosystems to global warming: novel insights from a multidisciplinary project. Mar Biol 159: 2367–2377.
- Thomsen, J. & F. Melzner (2010) Moderate seawater acidification does not elicit long-term metabolic depression in the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*. Mar. Biol. 157, 2667 2676. doi:10.1007/s00227-010-1527-0.
- Thompson, R.J. & B.L. Bayne (1972) Active metabolism associated with feeding in the mussel *Mytilus edulis* L. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., Vol. 9, pp. 111-124.
- Voskoboynik A., Simon-Blecher N., Soen Y., Rinkevich, B., W de Tomaso, A., Ishizuka, K.J., & I.L. Weissman (2007) Striving for normality: whole body regeneration through a series of abnormal generations. FASEB J 21:1335– 1344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.06-7337com</u>.
- Wood HL, Spicer JI, Lowe DM, Widdicombe S. (2010) Interaction of ocean acidification and temperature; the high cost of survival in the brittlestar *Ophiura ophiura*. Mar. Biol. 157, 2001 2013. (doi:10.1007/s00227-010-1469-6).

Hour	Elevated	Ambient	Pressure	CO2	Flow Rate
			(kPa)	Absorption	
1	995.364	400	107.114	0.1243	0.752592
2	1000.013	407	107.058	0.1189	0.752463
3	1001.985	405	107.06	0.106	0.75348
4	1002.304	404	107.032	0.1063	0.752961
5	1004.133	405	107.014	0.1069	0.753442
6	1005.762	405	107.006	0.1082	0.753961
7	1004.962	402	106.993	0.1153	0.754433
8	1000.466	409	106.97	0.1154	0.754109
9	1000.354	409	106.941	0.1115	0.754223
10	1001.853	403	106.898	0.1094	0.753422
11	1001.353	405	106.876	0.1087	0.753517
12	1003.377	405	106.815	0.1081	0.754083
13	1000.402	409	106.741	0.1078	0.753376
14	1001.066	403	106.662	0.1075	0.751006
15	1001.943	402	106.535	0.1076	0.753152
16	1002.312	403	106.446	0.1075	0.752189
17	1001.587	400	106.404	0.1076	0.7516
18	1001.851	404	106.312	0.1084	0.756246
19	1002.828	406	106.232	0.1082	0.757771
20	1002.955	406	106.188	0.1091	0.753834
21	1000.529	404	106.106	0.1085	0.753204
22	1000.888	405	106.056	0.1083	0.749266
23	1000.413	409	105.925	0.1079	0.747607
24	1000.616	404	105.744	0.1078	0.745344

**Supplementary material I:** "24 hours variability in pCO<sub>2</sub> and temperature injected in experimental units"

Hour	Ambient	Elevated
0	8.21	8.21
1	8.03	7.73
2	7.94	7.55
3	7.92	7.56
4	7.91	7.56
5	7.91	7.56
6	7.91	7.57
7	7.90	7.57
8	7.91	7.57
9	7.91	7.57
10	7.91	7.57
11	7.91	7.56
12	7.90	7.55
13	7.91	7.55
14	7.90	7.56
15	7.91	7.57
16	7.91	7.57
17	7.91	7.57
18	7.91	7.57
19	7.90	7.56
20	7.91	7.59
21	7.91	7.56
22	7.90	7.54
23	7.88	7.55
24	7.88	7.55

## Supplementary material II: "pH (Total scale) calculated in 24 hours treatment"
# Chapter 7: Ingestion of microplastic fibres cause severe gastro-intestinal damage in tropical ascidian *Polycarpa captiosa* (Tunicata: Ascidiacea)

Vanessa Yepes-Narváez & Richard Preziosi ORCID ID 0000-0001-7174-5382; ORCID ID 0000-0003-0468-6655 Ecology and Environment Research Centre, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester M1 5GD United Kingdom. <u>vanbryozoa@gmail.com</u>; <u>r.preziosi@mmu.ac.uk</u>

# ABSTRACT

The impacts of microplastic pollution on marine fauna represent a major concern for conservation due to the increasing abundance of these polymers in almost all marine ecosystems. Here, we evaluated the ingestion of polyester, polyvinyl and polypropylene microfibres in the tropical Indo-pacific ascidian Polycarpa captiosa and their effects on its biology and filtration activity. Microfibers were collected from launderettes, to replicate a common contamination pathway. Individuals were exposed to a high concentration of these microplastics for 12-hour, 24-hour, 48hours and to a control with no fibres for reference. Results showed that 90% of the ascidians eviscerated very damaged guts around 15-hour post microplastic exposure, from which only 20% recovered. Deceased specimens presented decomposed organs and gonads after 15 days of exposure. In addition, we found significant differences in the microplastic accumulation in different digestive organs in relation to the exposure time. Ascidians exposed for longer, reduced their filtration activity, clearance rate and absorption efficiency and presented the biggest accumulation of fibres in the pharynx suggesting a reduction in their pumping activity. This study constitutes the first records of lethal impacts of microplastic fibres on chordates and suggesting direct impacts on ascidian's ecosystem functions.

**Keywords:** Marine pollution; Gut ejection; Tunicates; Filter-feeders; Coastal research.

#### INTRODUCTION

Plastic pollution is a concerning marine environmental issue (Thompson et al., 2009). Plastic breakage into smaller particles of less than 5mm are considered a primary source of microplastics (Bosker et al., 2019; Arthur et al., 2009), other sources include their intentional production for purposes including clothing and the cosmetic industry, contaminating water systems worldwide (Yang et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2018). Depending on the specific gravity of those polymers, they can be found at different depths or even within sediment (Vered et al. 2019; Andrady, 2011; Avio et al., 2017; Thompson et al., 2004).

Since the estimated number of microplastics (MPs) in the marine environment is approximately 51 trillion microparticles (Plastics Europe, 2015; Desforges et al., 2014), controlling them represents a great challenge for marine conservation (Eriksen et al., 2014; Ryan et al. 2009; Derraik 2002). This issues are the entrance pathways of polymers into the sea, accumulation of toxins in essential tissue (Passarelli et al., 2018), affects in food webs (Auta et al., 2017; Hurley et al. 2017; Houle, 2015), and the biological response (physiological, behavioural, reproduction and health) to accumulation of microparticles (Balbi et al., 2016).

Of all types of microplastics found globally in the oceans, fibres represent one of the most common in coastal waters (Mathalon & Hill, 2014; Lusher et al., 2014; Dekiff et al., 2014), and have been found in the gastro-intestinal system of many organisms including mussels, annelids, crustaceans and fishes (Watts et al., 2014; Harrier et al., 2014; De Witte et al., 2014; Fossi et al., 2014; Besseling et al., 2013; Murray & Cowie, 2011). The ingestion of these particles can potentially affect non-selective filter-feeder organisms causing deleterious impacts on their health (Capolupo et al., 2018; Détrée & Gallardo, 2018; Cole et al., 2015; Moos, et al., 2012), including gut blockage, essential tissue damage, false satiation and subsequently starvation (Ziajahromi et al., 2018; Germanov et al. 2018; Wright et al., 2013). Damage to filter feeders threatens their important ecosystem functions and survival (Kolandhasamy et al., 2018; Phuong et al. 2017; Pollock et al., 2014).

Biological features such as mouth size and feeding rate are key for the study of the response of benthic filter-feeders to MPs (Galloway et al., 2017) as they represent the first control over food consumption (Scherer et al., 2017). Animals with a bigger mouth size like solitary ascidians, would accidentally ingest larger amounts of MPs which constitutes a disadvantage over smaller fauna and a threat to their integrity and normal functioning (Goncalves et al., 2018).

Ascidians (Tunicata: Ascidiacea) are marine filter feeders with important ecosystem roles. They can filter several litres daily (Layman et al., 2014; Draughon et al., 2010; Petersen, 2007) and retain small microparticles in their digestive systems (Tzafriri-Milo et al., 2019). Their feeding contributes to nutrients recirculation, allowing the survival of smaller organisms and fishes (Burge et al., 2016; Ribes et al. 2005). Studies of the impacts of MPs on these ecosystem functions are scarce and have mainly focused on potential bioaccumulation and on early development (Messinetti et al., 2019; Vered et al. 2019; Dewar-Fowler, 2019; Zega et al., 2009; Kelmo et al., 2006; DeVantier et al., 1998). However, ascidian potential to adapt to changing environments (Stabili et al., 2016; Shenkar & Swalla, 2011; Knott et al., 2009; Lohrer et al., 2006) and improve environmental guality, makes them model species for the study of biological response to microplastics (Messinetti et al., 2018; Su et al., 2013; Newcombe & Macdonald, 1991). Additionally, due to their phylogenetic position, they represent an ideal model system for the understanding of the response of higher taxa to environmental stressors, unlike molluscs, crustaceans or annelids (Delsuc et al., 2006).

In chapter 5 we found that some *Polycarpa* ascidians respond to environmental stress by skin shedding or evisceration. Here, we tested the effects of polyester, polyvinyl and polypropylene microfibres  $(1\pm0.5 \text{ mm})$  on the filtration activity of *Polycarpa captiosa* individuals under laboratory conditions at different exposure times (12, 24 and 48 hours). We examined responses in their filtration performance, biological functions and survival (Aim 3).

## METHODS

#### Study species

*Polycarpa captiosa* is a tropical Indo-pacific ascidian (Lee et al., 2013; Monniot, 2010). Its natural habitat includes shallow and clear water with a sea surface temperature between 24-26°C. Our specimens were collected by local traders in Singapore from coral reef areas at ca. 5m depth and transported to the United Kingdom through an aquarium supplier (Cheshire Aquatics). We used adult individuals of 5±1cm length and 3±1cm width and around 10g wet weight (Figure 1). In total 80 individuals were used for this study, 20 individuals per treatment including the control.



Figure 1. Specimens of *Polycarpa captiosa* A. Right side. Adult showing the oral siphon (Os) and atrial siphon (As) B. Left side. Detail of leathery tunic. scale bar: 1.5 cm.

Prior to experimentation, each ascidian was, measured, weighed and glued onto a labelled ceramic plug using reef glue and placed onto acrylic stands in the aquaria. All animals were kept in a 300 L tank for acclimation for three weeks under controlled environmental conditions and using artificial sea water (AquaForest). Normal conditions were set as; Salinity 35ppt, SST 25°C, Alkalinity 8.5 dKH, pH 8.4, pCO2 440ppm; Mg 1320 mg/L, and Ca 420 mg/L. Animals were fed three times a week with a solution of live phytoplankton (*Dunaliella salina, Nannochloropsis oculata* and

*Tetraselmis* sp.), zooplankton suspension (copepod), and vitamins and aminoacids (Red Sea).

## Microplastic selection and quantification

To replicate a common pathway of microfibre contamination, we collected waste lint and filtered wastewater from launderettes (Figure 2). Lint was rinsed in distilled water for three days to rinse off detergent chemicals. Ten grams of fibres were then separated and cleaned from other non-plastic components via flotation using 1L of saturated saline solution  $(1.2g/mL^{-1})$  overnight in a sealed and clean glass beaker (Li et al., 2015). Subsequently, fibres were filtered in a 0.45µm filter paper (Whatman AE98) using a vacuum pump, rinsed in ultrapure water, counted and measured  $(1\pm0.5mm)$ . A subsample of fibres was verified using Carl Zeiss V8 stereo microscope and identified using Raman spectroscopy (Araujo et al., 2018; Zada et al., 2018), all obtained wavelengths were compared with the literature to verify the polymer type (Su et al., 2017). We identified Polyethylene terephthalate (Polyester) (60%), Polyvinyl alcohol (20%) and Polypropylene (10%) in our fibre mix.



Figure 2. A. Waste lint collected in local launderettes. B. Microfibres cleaned.

The micro-fibres were dried and weighed (7g) and diluted again in 5L artificial sea water (35ppt) using a magnetic stirrer to create a microplastic stock solution with a concentration of around 2000 microfibres per litre to ensure ingestion was likely to occur in our treatments and to be comparable the literature (Lee et al., 2013; Ogonowski et al., 2016; Van Cauwenberge et al., 2014).

## Experiment 1: Microplastic ingestion over different exposure times

In total 80 ascidians were used in this study; 20 per treatment, 0) the control (no MP), 1) 12-hour exposure, 2) 24-hour exposure, 3) 48-hour exposure.

Two days before MP experimentation, ascidians were fed as usual to avoid disturbances in the feeding pattern and to ensure animals were hungry. We used ten individual ascidians (replicates) per time per treatment and replicated the experiment a week after with another ten animals per treatment (40 replicates per replicate time, 80 animals in total).

Ascidians were each placed in a 2L glass beaker with 1500 ml of 0.2µm filtered artificial seawater mixed with 200ml of the MP stock solution. Each beaker had a magnetic stir bar at the bottom and was placed on a magnetic stir plate (100 rpm) to keep micro-fibres in suspension during the experiment. Animals were placed in an upright position on top of a grid platform positioned ca. 4cm above the bottom of the beaker to allow circulation of MP (Figure 3). To ensure temperature and salinity remained unaltered, treatments ran in a closed laboratory with constant temperature and a 10h day using artificial lighting.



Figure 3. A. MP exposure experimental set up. B. *P. captiosa* during experimentation time. C. Detail of filtration activity, open oral siphon.

To record filtration activity (the number of times animals opened their oral siphons, squirting time, faeces production and the pumping activity), one-hour observations was made of five individuals per treatment. In addition, two GoPro 7 cameras were attached to each ascidian treatment tank for the duration of each treatment. In total 20 hours video recordings and 20 visual censuses were made of filtration behaviour of *Polycarpa captiosa* during MP exposure.

After completion of each treatment, ascidians were rinsed with 45µm filtered artificial sea water to remove any fibre from the surface of the tunic. Ascidian were placed in a 30L tank with normal conditions for 6 hours to re-acclimatise, during this time ascidians were fed with 10ml of phytoplankton mix and 5% water change was performed every 2 hours to avoid re-ingestion of any suspended fibres. Faeces were collected from each individual using a glass pipette and stored in pre-washed polyethylene universal tubes at 10C for subsequent analysis.

## Experiment 2: Effects of MP on the clearance rate and absorption efficiency

Subsequently after experiment 1, each ascidian was put in a 1L glass beaker inside a 300L tank for an hour with set normal water chemistry conditions to achieve a slow transition between experiments and avoid additional stress to the animals (Figure 4). After this time, we lifted each beaker above the tank surface to isolate each ascidian and added 20ml solution of saturated phytoplankton mixture to achieve a concentration of 10<sup>8</sup>cell/L<sup>-1</sup> which we have previously assessed as the optimal concentration for clearance and absorption rate for this species under normal conditions. One-hour visual censuses were made and two-hour video recordings of the filtration activity of *P. captiosa* per each treatment. Observations finished after two-hours. in undisturbed conditions, total clearance is achieved.



Figure 4. Experiment 2 set up for the clearance and absorption rate measurements.

Clearance rate was measured as the total volume of cleared of algal cells per ascidian g per unit time based on Armsworthy et al. (2001) and Macdonald & Ward (1994) following the equation, CR=((cr-Ce)/cr)gr animal, where, cr is the total cell concentration of the algae mix at the beginning of the experiment and Ce is the mean cell count at the end of the experiment. The absorption efficiency was calculated based on Conover (1966) as the total weight of algae added at the beginning of the experiment minus the weight of faecal pellets after an hour of measurements, using the equation,  $AE=100-(TPM-fw/TPM) \times 100$ , where fw is the faeces dry weight after the experiment, TPM is the total seston weight at the beginning of the experiment.

## Quantification of MP fibres ingested

Around 15-hours after experimentation, 70% of ascidians from the 12-hour treatment and all ascidians from the 24 and 48-hour treatments performed total evisceration. The digestive system was then collected and analysed for MP ingestion. This procedure allowed us to avoid sacrifice of all the animals, and instead we dissected only five individuals per treatment to evaluate microplastic accumulation in the skin and the degree of the digestive damage. In addition, any faeces excreted prior to gut ejection were also collected and separated in universal tubes.

The ejected digestive systems of *P. captiosa* were photographed, dissected and inspected using a Carl Zeiss V8 stereo microscope, to identify accumulation of MP fibres. Subsequently, each organ (pharynx, stomach, intestine) was cut (Figure 5), labelled and placed in 2.5ml Eppendorf tubes with an alkaline solution of KOH 10% and left to digest in a rocking heated (35°C) platform to extract all the MP fibres accumulated per organ, this process does not degrade the polymers while disintegrating the essential tissue (Hurley et al, 2017; Karami et al., 2017; Dehaut et al., 2016); total digestion was achieved after 15 minutes. Subsequently, samples were transferred to 1.5ml Eppendorf tubes and centrifuged for 10 minutes at 14000 rpm, and supernatant was discarded to separate microfibres.

Those fibres were then rinsed in ultrapure water and vacuum filtered through filter 0.45µm papers (Whatman AE98) and oven-dried in glass dishes at 40 °C for 2 hours. After this, manual counts of the number of fibres per organ were performed using a Zeiss Lumar V12 microscope with an AxioCam 20X integrated.



Figure 5. Eviscerated digestive system of *P. captiosa* after microplastic and feeding experiments. A. Complete ejected gut, scale bar: 0.5 cm. B. Pharynx, scale bar: 0.2cm. C. Stomach, detail of folds, scale bar: 0.2 cm. D. Intestine dissection, scale bar: 0.1 cm.

A similar procedure was performed with the excreted faeces. In order to determine if there was distinction between the polymers accumulated in each organ, samples were re-identified using Raman spectroscopy.

## Statistical analysis

All the statistical analysis was performed using R Studio (Version 3.3.2). One-way Analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was carried out to establish any significant differences in MP among organs and faeces on each treatment, followed by a Tukey's HSD (homogenous variances) to compare the abundance of microplastics in each digestive organ per treatment. Significance was accepted if p<0.05. To evaluate if there was an effect of the exposure time and the filtration activity (clearance rate, absorption efficiency), general linear models (glm) were performed.

## RESULTS

#### Experiment 1: Microplastic ingestion at different exposure times

Our results found significant differences between the microplastic fibres accumulated in faeces among the different exposure times (P=0.0003). Mean length of MP in the gut was 359.85 $\mu$ m (SD+301.19) and mean Length of MP in Faeces 152.87 $\mu$ m (SD+220.29) (Figure 6). More fibres were found in the faeces on the 12-hour experiment than in the other two treatments (25±2). The number of microplastic fibres was also significantly different among organs (n=60; p<0.05). In the 12-hour exposure treatment, most fibres were found in the stomach (35±1 fibres) (Figure 7) whereas in the 24 (21±2) and 48-hour (40±2) treatments most fibres were found in each individual organ did not show significant differences (p=0.324) (Figure 9), all polymer types were found in all the organs and faeces analysed.



Figure 6. Accumulation of microplastic fibres in the faeces produced after each treatment (12, 24 and 48-hours).

263

12h Exposure



Figure 7. MP fibres found in each ascidian organ after each treatment. A) 12-hours, B) 24-hours, C) 48-hours.

#### Filtration behaviour

Filtration after MP exposure showed significant differences among treatments (n= 60; p<0.05), optimal filtration activity was observed in the control as expected, but a considerable reduction was observed from the 12-hour exposure treatment (Figure 8). The filtration behaviour, expressed in the number of times the oral siphons opened, was considerably inefficient after the 24 and 48-hours exposure treatments, ascidians reduced the number of times they opened oral siphons and increased the length of squirting time. Faeces production during the longer exposure was also different compared to the control (n= 60; p<0.05).



Figure 82. Number of times the oral siphons opened of the ascidians after the Microplastic exposure opened during low turbidity (micro-algae cells in the water).



Figure 9. Type of polymer found each organ and faeces in one tunicate sample after 12-hour exposure, green: Polyethylene terephthalate (Polyester), blue: Polyvinyl alcohol and red: Polypropylene. A. Intestine, B. Stomach, C. Pharynx, D. Faeces.

## Experiment 2: Effects of MP on the clearance rate and absorption efficiency

### Clearance rate

The number of particles cleared after each exposure time was reduced proportionally to the length of the treatment. The linear model showed an effect of the duration of exposure (n= 60; p<0.05) and the ascidians' clearance rate response in all the exposure treatments suggesting that the microplastics interrupted the normal filtration behaviour in *P.captiosa* (Figure 10).

## Absorption efficiency

The absorption efficiency decreased after each exposure time but was significantly less in the 24 and 48-hour treatments. The generalized linear model showed an effect of the length of experimentation (n= 60; p<0.05) on the absorption efficiency of *P. captiosa* (Figure 11).



Figure 10. Clearance rate after each microplastic fibre exposure experiment.



Figure 11. Absorption efficiency (%) after each microplastic fibre exposure.

#### Biological effects of MP fibres exposure

After all experiments, 70% of ascidians that were exposed to 12-hour exposure and all ascidians exposed to 24 and 48-hour treatments performed total gut ejection. However, after examination of each pharynx a significant damage was observed in comparison to previous evisceration after environmental disturbances (chapter 5 and 6). Tissue was considerably disintegrating and yellow coloured; when dyed in haematoxylin solution 10% almost no coloration was obtained, probably due to a reduction in irrigating blood in the pharynx revealing a severe gastrointestinal deficiency. In addition, from the tunicates that ejected their guts, only 10% regenerated them within the following 20 days post-treatment. The rest of ascidians did not recover their guts and subsequently deceased. Post-mortem dissections were made to those specimens and a massive decomposition of the musculature and gonads was observed inside the tunic (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Butterfly dissection of Polycarpa captiosa. A) Post-mortem after deceased non-gut recovery, decomposed gonads and rest of the previous pharynx observed, scale bar: 0.5 cm. B) Fresh dissected material, healthy pharynx and gonads observed, scale bar: 0.5 cm.

# DISCUSSION

The microplastics exposure treatments showed that the filtration behaviour of ascidians was severely affected by the ingested plastic fibres negatively affecting the animal's overall filtration capacity, clearance rate and absorption efficiency. Following exposure ascidians struggled to achieve their optimal clearance rate. Individuals exposed to the 12-hour treatment reduced their filtration activity expressed in the number of times they opened and closed their oral siphons and the amount of faeces produced after the treatment, significantly different from the control. After the longer microplastic exposure (24-hours and 48-hours), ascidians dramatically decreased their filtration behaviour, clearance rate and absorption efficiency. This behaviour could be explained by a reduction of their metabolic rate after the microplastic shock resulting in an inability to feed on the available suspended organic matter.

The amount of ingested fibres found in the animals exponentially decreased with exposure time as evidenced by the fibres found in faeces and retained in the digestive tract. During the experimental time, ascidians could not absorb organic matter effectively once their digestive system was blocked by the fibres. In the 48-hour exposure treatment, ascidians retained more fibres in their pharynx. Two weeks after micro-plastic exposure, 80% of ascidians who eviscerated their guts did not properly recover and died compared to a usual recovery rate of *P. captiosa* under other environmental stresses such as high turbidity and ocean acidification (Chapter 5 and 6).

There is evidence from many other studies of the impacts of microplastic intake on a range of organisms, such as copepods, mussels and shrimps in laboratory conditions, and these studies also found bioaccumulation of plastics in their guts (Browne et al. 2008; Devriese et al. 2015). Cole et al. (2015) also found that copepods feeding rates reduced after microplastic exposure, which had the same effect on their digestive system as the ascidians treated in this research.

Marine animals exposed to microplastics may only retain the plastics in the digestive tract or expelled in faeces, although Browne et al. (2008) found translocation from the gut of a mussel to the circulatory system. Dewar-Fowler (2019) conducted the

first study on microplastic intake on *Ciona intestinalis* ascidians using plastic beads (10 um) and fibres made of polyethylene, to test the ingestion of particles and accumulation in the essential tissue. The study found that animals ingested more beads than fibres when exposed to the same concentrations and that some translocation in the ascidian's tunic, was possible after long exposure times, we could not find evidence translocation of microplastic fibres in this study. The transfer of plastics to predators has been previously reported in crabs, (Farrell & Nelson, 2013), shrimps (Setala et al., 2014) and lobsters (Murray & Cowie, 2011).

Ascidians are part of the gastronomic culture in several countries like Chile and Korea (Lambert et al .2016), and the transfer of microplastics ingested by these organisms to humans is a concerning issue that must be studied in depth to determine whether or not this could be a plastic transferring pathway.

Despite increasing concern of microplastic pollution in the marine environment, few studies have analysed the impacts of those plastics on the biological roles the animals play within their ecosystems. The impacts on the ingestion and retention of microplastics by marine invertebrates, and especially filter feeders like ascidians can severely affect their ecosystem services and even the homeostasis of the ecosystems and biota they coexist with in many ways (Wright et al. 2013).

Ascidians have received little attention when it comes to microplastic pollution; this study shows how the growing plastic fibres exposure affects important sessile organisms at low trophic levels. The results of this experiment demonstrate how easily microplastics fibres are ingested over a short period of time.

This ingestion caused 90% of the ascidians to eviscerate their guts and later to die. In chapter 5 and 6 we demonstrated this gut ejection behaviour when ascidians were exposed to high turbidity and ocean acidification and warming scenarios but 80% of the ascidians recovered their guts within two weeks after evisceration. In this study ascidians were not able to recover. *P.captiosa* ejected their gut voluntarily after microplastic exposure stress. During the experimental time it was recorded that some ascidians regenerated and regrew their guts within two weeks, however, the damage to the digestive systems was severe and most of them could not regenerate and died. The plastics fibres caused blockages in the stomach and intestines of the treated ascidians and these could not filter or ingest any organic particles when exposed to low concentration of microalgae. The animals used in this study were collected in shallow water in Singapore shores where some studies have found microplastic particles in water and sediment samples from coastal areas (Ng & Obbard, 2006). Following the results presented in this research is possible to presume there is a high possibility *Polycarpa captiosa* could be ingesting plastic debris from their natural niche of occurrence increasing the need to implement conservation strategies in that area to reduce negative impacts driven by plastic pollution.

## CONCLUSIONS

Microplastics have a direct effect on the ecosystem services of ascidians, reducing their filtration capacity and their clearance rate which will directly affect other organisms that depend on clear waters to survive. As the majority of plastic fibres were ingested, there was a significant amount of bioaccumulation of plastics within the animal's digestive systems, leading to detrimental biological effects. When plastics were not consumed, they precipitate or remained attached to the animals' skin. Upon examination the digestive tissue was severely damaged which eventually led to the death of the ascidians, after only a short exposure time. If the accumulation of plastics is in their natural habitat, the ascidians and other organisms which will presumably lead to high mortality rates.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful with the Ecology and Environment research centre in Manchester Metropolitan University for the financial and logistical support in the development of this research. Part of this research contributed to the final year undergraduate project of Nicole Cowper in The Manchester Metropolitan University in 2018, to whom we are very thankful for her support in laboratory.

## REFERENCES

- Andrady, A. (2011) Microplastics in the marine environment. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(8), pp.1596-1605.
- Araujo, C.F., Nolasco, M.M., Ribeiro, A.M.P. & P.J.A Ribeiro-Claro (2018) Identification of microplastics using Raman spectroscopy: Latest developments and future prospects. Water Res. 2018 Oct 1;142:426-440.
- Armsworthy, S.L., MacDonald, B.A., J.E Ward (2001) Feeding activity, absorption efficiency and suspension feeding processes in the ascidian, *Halocynthia pyriformis* (Stolidobranchia: Ascidiacea): responses to variations in diet quantity and quality. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 260(2001)41-69.
- Arthur, C., Baker, J., & H. Bamford (2009) Proceedings of the International Research Workshop on the Occurrence, Effects and Fate of Microplastic Marine Debris, p. 49 (NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS-OR&R-30).
- Auta, H.S., Emenike, C.U. & S.H.Fauziah (2017) Distribution and importance of microplastics in the marine environment: A review of the sources, fate, effects, and potential solutions. Environment International 102 165–176.
- Avio, C.G., Gorbi, S., Regoli, F., 2017. Plastics and microplastics in the oceans: from emerging pollutants to emerged threat. Mar. Environ. Res. 128, 2e11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2016.05.012.
- Balbi, T., Franzellitti, S., Fabbri, R., Montagna, M., Fabbri, E. & L. Canesi (2016) Impact of bisphenol A (BPA) on early embryo development in the marine mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis*: effects on gene transcription. Environ. Pollut. 218, 996-1004.
- Besseling, E., Wegner, A., Foekema, E. M., Van Den Heuvel-greve, M. J. & A. A. Koelmans (2013) Efects of microplastic on ftness and PCB bioaccumulation by the lugworm Arenicola marina (L.). Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 593–600 (2013).
- Bosker, T., Bouwman, L.J., Brun, N.R., Behren, P. & M. G. Vijver (2019) Microplastics accumulate on pores in seed capsule and delay germination and root growth of the terrestrial vascular plant Lepidium sativum. Chemosphere 226, 774-781.
- Browne, M., Dissanayake, A., Galloway, T., Lowe, D. & R. Thompson (2008) Ingested Microscopic Plastic Translocates to the Circulatory System of the Mussel, Mytilus edulis(L.). *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(13), pp.5026-5031.

- Burge, C., Closek, C., Friedman, C., Groner, M., Jenkins, C., Shore-Maggio, A. & J. Welsh (2016) The Use of Filter-feeders to Manage Disease in a Changing World. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 56(4), pp.573-587.
- Capolupo, M., Sorensen, L., Jayasena, K.D.R., Both, A.M. & E. Fabri (2018) Chemical composition and ecotoxicity of plastic and car tire rubber leachates to aquatic organisms. Water Research 169, 115270.
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Fileman, E., Halsband, C. & T. Galloway (2015) The Impact of Polystyrene Microplastics on Feeding, Function and Fecundity in the Marine Copepod Calanus helgolandicus. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(2), pp.1130-1137.
- Costa, J.P.D., Nunes, A.R., Santos, P.S.M., Girao, A.V., Duarte, A.C. & T. Rocha-Santos (2018) Degradation of polyethylene microplastics in seawater: insights into the environmental degradation of polymers. J. Environ. Sci. Health Part A 0, 1-10
- De Witte, B., Devriese, L., Bekaert, K., Hoffman, S., Vandermeersch, G., Cooreman, K., & J. Robbens (2014) Quality assessment of the blue mussel (*Mytilus edulis*): comparison between commercial and wild types. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 85:146–155. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.06.006.
- Dehaut, A., Cassone, A.-L., Frere, L., Hermabessiere, L., Himber, C., Rinnert, E., Riviere, G., Lambert, C., Soudant, P., Huvet, A., Duflos, G. & I. Paul-Pont (2016) Microplastics in seafood: benchmark protocol for their extraction and characterization. Environ. Pollut. 215, 223-233.
- Dekiff, J.H., Remy, D., Klasmeier, J. & E. Fries (2014) Occurrence and spatial distribution of microplastics in sediments from Norderney. Environmental Pollution 186C:248-256.
- Delsuc, F., Brinkmann, H., Chourrout, D. & H. Philippe (2006) Tunicates and not cephalochordates are the closest living relatives of vertebrates. *Nature*, 439(7079), pp.965-968.
- Derraik, J.G.B. (2002) The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: a review. Marine Pollution Bulletin 44, 9, 842-852.
- Desforges, J., Galbraith, M., Dangerfield, N. & P. Ross (2014) Widespread distribution of microplastics in subsurface seawater in the NE Pacific Ocean. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 79(1-2), pp.94-99.
- Détrée, C. & C. Gallardo (2018) Single and repetitive microplastics exposures induce immune system modulation and homeostasis alteration in the edible mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. Fish Shellfish Immunol 83:52-60.

- DeVantier, L., De'Ath, G., Done, T. & E. Turak (1998) Ecological Assessment of a Complex Natural System: A Case Study from the Great Barrier Reef. *Ecological Applications*, 8(2), p.480.
- Devriese, L., van der Meulen, M., Maes, T., Bekaert, K., Paul-Pont, I., Frère, L., Robbens, J. & A. Vethaak (2015) Microplastic contamination in brown shrimp (Crangon crangon, Linnaeus 1758) from coastal waters of the Southern North Sea and Channel area. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 98(1-2), pp.179-187.
- Dewar-Fowler, V. (2019) Uptake and Biological Impacts of Microplastics and Nanoplastics in Sea Squirts. *Master Thesis from The University of Exeter*, pp.25-75.
- Draughon, L., Scarpa, J. & J. Hartmann (2010) Are filtration rates for the rough tunicateStyela plicataindependent of weight or size?. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A*, 45(2), pp.168-176.
- Eriksen, M., Lebreton, L.C.M., Carson, H.S., Thiel, M., Moore, C.J., Borerro, J.C., Galgani, F., Ryan, P.G. & J. Reisser (2014) Plastic pollution in the World's oceans: more than 5 trillion plastic pieces weighing over 250,000 tons afloat at sea. PLoS One 9, e111913
- Farrell, P. & K. Nelson (2013) Trophic level transfer of microplastic: Mytilus edulis (L.) to Carcinus maenas (L.). *Environmental Pollution*, 177, pp.1-3.
- Fossi, M., Coppola, D., Baini, M., Giannetti, M., Guerranti, C., Marsili, L., Panti, C., de Sabata, E. & S. Clò (2014) Large filter feeding marine organisms as indicators of microplastic in the pelagic environment: The case studies of the Mediterranean basking shark (Cetorhinus maximus) and fin whale (Balaenoptera physalus). *Marine Environmental Research*, 100, pp.17-24.
- Galloway, T.S., Dogra, Y., Garrett, N., Rowe, D., Tyler, C.R., Moger, J., Lammer, E., Landsiedel, R., Sauer, U.G., Scherer, G., Wohlleben, W. & K. Wiench (2017) Ecotoxicological assessment of nanoparticle-containing acrylic copolymer dispersions in fairy shrimp and zebrafish embryos. Environ. Sci. Nano 4, 1981e1997.
- Germanov, E., Marshall, A., Bejder, L., Fossi, M. & N. Loneragan (2018) Microplastics: No Small Problem for Filter-Feeding Megafauna. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 33(4), pp.227-232.

Goncalves, C., Martins, M., Costa, M.H. & P.M. Costa (2018) Development of a method for the detection of polystyrene microplastics in paraffin-embedded histological sections. Histochem. Cell Biol. 149, 187-191.

Hämer, J., Gutow, L., Köhler, A. & R. Saborowski (2014) Fate of microplastics in the marine isopod *Idotea emarginata*. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 13451–13458
Houle, K.C. (2015) The effects of suspended and accreted sediment on the marine

- invertebrate fouling community of Humboldt bay. Master thesis. Humboldt State University, 82p.
- Hurley, R., Woodward, J. & J. Rothwell (2017) Ingestion of Microplastics by Freshwater Tubifex Worms. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(21), pp.12844-12851.
- Karami, A., Golieskardi, A., Choo, C.K., Romano, N., Bin Ho, Y. & B. Salamatinia (2017) A high-performance protocol for extraction of microplastics in fish. Sci. Total Environ. 578, 485-494
- Kelmo, F., Attrill, M. & M. Jones (2006). Mass Mortality of Coral Reef Ascidians Following the 1997/1998 El Niño Event. *Hydrobiologia*, 555(1), pp.231-240.
- Knott, N., Aulbury, J., Brown, T. & E. Johnston (2009) Contemporary ecological threats from historical pollution sources impacts of large-scale resuspension of contaminated sediments on sessile invertebrate recruitment. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 46(4), pp.770-781.
- Kolandhasamy, P., Su, L., Li, J., Qu, X., Jabeen, K. & H. Shi (2018) Adherence of microplastics to soft tissue of mussels: A novel way to uptake microplastics beyond ingestion. *Science of The Total Environment*, 610-611, pp.635-640.
- Lambert, G., Karney, R.C., Rhee, W.Y. & M.T. Carman (2016) Wild and cultured edible tunicates: a review. Management of Biological Invasions 7, 1: 59-66.
- Layman, C., Jud, Z., Archer, S. & D. Riera (2014) Provision of ecosystem services by human-made structures in a highly impacted estuary. *Environmental Research Letters*, 9(4), p.044009.
- Lee, K., Shim, W., Kwon, O. & J. Kang (2013) Size-Dependent Effects of Micro Polystyrene Particles in the Marine Copepod *Tigriopus japonicus*. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(19), pp.11278-11283.

- Lee, S., Teo, S. & G. Lambert (2013) New records of solitary ascidians on artificial structures in Singapore waters. *Marine Biodiversity Records*, 6.
- Lizarraga, D., Danihel, A. & B. Pernet (2017) Low concentrations of large inedible particles reduce feeding rates of echinoderm larvae. Mar. Biol. 164, 1-12
- Lohrer, A., Hewitt, J. & S. Thrush (2006). Assessing far-field effects of terrigenous sediment loading in the coastal marine environment. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 315, pp.13-18.
- Lusher, A.L., Burke, A., O'Connor, I. & R. Officer (2014) Microplastic pollution in the northeast Atlantic Ocean: validated and opportunistic sampling. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 88, 325e333.
- MacDonald, B.A. & Ward, J.E. (1994) Variation on food quality and particle selectivity in the sea scallop *Placopecten magellanicus* (Mollusca: Bivalvia). Mar. Ecol.: Prog. Ser. 108, 251–264.
- Mathalon, A. & P. Hill (2014) Microplastic fibers in the intertidal ecosystem surrounding Halifax Harbor, Nova Scotia. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 81 (1), 69-79.
- Messinetti, S., Mercurio, S., Parolini, M., Sugni, M. & R. Pennati (2018) Effects of polystyrene microplastics on early stages of two marine invertebrates with different feeding strategies. *Environmental Pollution*, 237, pp.1080-1087.
- Monniot, F. (2010) Some new data on tropical western Pacific Ascidians. *Zootaxa*, 2561(1), p.1.
- Moos von, N., Burkhardt-Holm, P. & A. Koehler (2012) Uptake and efects of microplastics on cells and tissue of the Blue mussel *Mytilus edulis* L. after an experimental exposure. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 327–335
- Murray, F. & P. Cowie (2011) Plastic contamination in the decapod crustacean Nephrops norvegicus (Linnaeus, 1758). *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(6), pp.1207-1217.
- Newcombe, C. & D. Macdonald (1991) Effects of Suspended Sediments on Aquatic Ecosystems. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 11(1), pp.72-82.
- Ng, K. & J. Obbard (2006) Prevalence of microplastics in Singapore's coastal marine environment. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 52(7), pp.761-767.

- Ogonowski, M., Schür, C., Jarsén, Å. & E. Gorokhova (2016) The Effects of Natural and Anthropogenic Microparticles on Individual Fitness in Daphnia magna. *PLOS ONE*, 11(5), p.e0155063.
- Passarelli, M.C., Riba, I., Cesar, A. & T.A. Del Valls (2018) What is the best endpoint for assessing environmental risk associated with acidification caused by CO2 enrichment using mussels? Mar. Pollut. Bull. 128, 379-389.
- Petersen, J. (2007) Ascidian suspension feeding. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 342(1), pp.127-137.
- Phuong, N., Zalouk-Vergnoux, A., Kamari, A., Mouneyrac, C., Amiard, F., Poirier, L. & F. Lagarde (2017) Quantification and characterization of microplastics in blue mussels (*Mytilus edulis*): protocol setup and preliminary data on the contamination of the French Atlantic coast. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25(7), pp.6135-6144.
- Plastics Europe (2015) Plastics-the Facts 2015: An analysis of European plastics production, demand and waste data for 2014. Brussels, Belgium.
- Pollock, F., Lamb, J., Field, S., Heron, S., Schaffelke, B., Shedrawi, G., Bourne, D. & B. Willis (2014) Sediment and Turbidity Associated with Offshore Dredging Increase Coral Disease Prevalence on Nearby Reefs. *PLoS ONE*, 9(7), p. 102498.
- Ribes, M., Coma, R., Atkinson, M. & R. Kinzie (2005) Sponges and ascidians control removal of particulate organic nitrogen from coral reef water. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 50(5), pp.1480-1489.
- Ryan, P.G., Moore, C.J., van Franeker, J.A. & C.L., Moloney (2009) Monitoring the abundance of plastic debris in the marine environment. Philos. Trans. R. Soc., B 364, 1999–2012.
- Messinetti, S., S. Mercurio, G. Scarì, A. Pennati & R. Pennati (2019) Ingested microscopic plastics translocate from the gut cavity of juveniles of the ascidian Ciona intestinalis, The European Zoological Journal, 86:1, 189-195, DOI: 10.1080/24750263.2019.1616837.
- Scherer, C., Brennholt, N., Reifferscheid, G. & M. Wagner (2017) Feeding type and development drive the ingestion of microplastics by freshwater invertebrates. Sci Rep 7, 17006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-17191-7</u>.

- Setälä, O., Fleming-Lehtinen, V. & M. Lehtiniemi (2014) Ingestion and transfer of microplastics in the planktonic food web. *Environmental Pollution*, 185, pp.77-83.
- Shenkar, N. & B. Swalla (2011) Global Diversity of Ascidiacea. *PLoS ONE*, 6(6), p.e20657.
- Stabili, L., Licciano, M., Gravina, M. & A. Giangrande (2016) Filtering activity on a pure culture of Vibrio alginolyticus by the solitary ascidian *Styela plicata* and the colonial ascidian *Polyandrocarpa zorritensis*: a potential service to improve microbiological seawater quality economically. *Science of The Total Environment*, 573, pp.11-18.
- Su, L., Cai, H., Kolandhasamy, P., Wu, C., Rochman, C.M. & H. Shi (2017) Using the Asian clam as an indicator of microplastic pollution in freshwater ecosystems. Environmental Pollution 234 (2018) 347-355.
- Su, S., Hirose, E., Chen, S. & M. Mok (2013) Photosymbiotic ascidians in Singapore: turbid waters may reduce living space. *ZooKeys*, 305, pp.55-65.
- Thompson, R. C., Olsen, Y., Mitchell, R.P., Davis, A., Rowland, S.J., John, A.W.G., McGonigle, D. & A. E. Russel (2004) Lost at Sea: Where Is All the Plastic? Science 304, 838.
- Thompson, R.C., Moore, C.J., vom Saal, F.S. & S.H. Swan (2009) Plastics, the environ-ment and human health: current consensus and future trends. Philos. Trans. R.Soc. Biol. Sci. 364, 2153-2166.
- Tzafriri-Milo, R., Benaltabet, T., Torfstein, A., & N. Shenkar (2019) The Potential Use of Invasive Ascidians for Biomonitoring Heavy Metal Pollution. Frontiers in Marine Science, 6.
- Van Cauwenberghe, L. & C. R. Janssen (2014) Microplastics in bivalves cultured for human consumption. Environ. Pollut. 193, 65-70.
- Vered, G., Kaplan, A., Avisar, D. & N. Shenkar (2019) Using solitary ascidians to assess microplastic and phthalate plasticizers pollution among marine biota: A case study of the Eastern Mediterranean and Red Sea. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 138, pp.618-625.
- Watts, A., Lewis, C., Goodhead, R., Beckett, S., Moger, J., Tyler, C. & T. Galloway (2014) Uptake and Retention of Microplastics by the Shore Crab Carcinus maenas. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(15), pp.8823-8830.

- Wright, S., Rowe, D., Thompson, R. & T. Galloway (2013) Microplastic ingestion decreases energy reserves in marine worms. *Current Biology*, 23(23), pp.
- Yang, D.Q., Shi, H.H., Li, L., Li, J.N., Jabeen, K. & P. Kolandhasamy (2015) Microplastic pollution in table salts from China. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 13622-13627.
- Zada, L., Leslie, H.A., Vethaak, A.D., Tinnevelt, G., Janssen, J., Boer, J.F. & de, F. Ariese (2018) Fast microplastics identification with stimulated Raman scattering microscopy. J. Raman Spectrosc. Special Issue, 1e9.
- Zega, G., De Bernardi, F., Groppelli, S. & R. Pennati (2009) Effects of the azole fungicide Imazalil on the development of the ascidian Ciona intestinalis (Chordata, Tunicata): Morphological and molecular characterization of the induced phenotype. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 91(3), pp.255-261.
- Ziajahromi, S., Neale, P.A., Rintoul, L. & F.D.L. Leusch (2018) Wastewater treatment plants as a pathway for microplastics: Development of a new approach to sample wastewater-based microplastics. Water Research 112 93-99.

#### **Chapter 8: General discussion**

Coastal marine ecosystems are important from many perspectives, firstly, most marine species seasonally approach the coasts to fertilize or lay their eggs, because the coastline systems provide protection for larvae and juveniles (Halpern et al. 2008). Secondly, most human activities at the coast depend on the services obtained from coastal marine ecosystems, such as coastline protection, fisheries, scenery and leisure (Lopes & Videira, 2013).

The imminent impacts of climate change on the coastal ecosystem are of great concern; ocean warming, and greenhouse gases have elevated mean sea-surface temperature and in shallower areas it has modified the thermocline curve (IPCC, 2007). This stressor triggers a series of subsequent affects including the melting of polar ice which increases the sea level (Andersson et al., 2008; Rahmstorf et al. 2007), increases tropical storms and even modifies upwelling patterns (Debiolles et al., 2016; Knutson et al., 2010). In addition to those environmental stressors, the continuous uptake of anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub> in the ocean is provoking a reduction in the water pH and causing serious stress for marine fauna, especially marine invertebrates with calcified skeletons such as bryozoans (Swezey et al., 2017; Crook et al., 2013). The major threat of this stressor is that it is expected to continue increasing through the end of the century, affecting most marine and human life (Caldeira & Wickett 2003; Dickson, 1990).

All these environmental variables affect all life stages in the marine ecosystems, provoking a series of behavioural and physiological responses from cells to systems and to ecosystem health. Understanding the effects of climate change on the organism is important in order to evaluate the degree to which adaptation or resilience to those stressors might occur. We interpreted ecological resilience as the ability of an organism to adapt and maintain biological functions under long-term environmental stress (Folke et al., 2004).

Based on the premise that biodiversity potentially increases the adaptative responses to climate change disturbances and the degree of stress compensations (Bernhardt & Leslie, 2013), the first chapter of this thesis (Chapter 2) involved the

description of the bryozoan deep-sea diversity in the Colombian Caribbean. The purpose of this was to complement the previous knowledge of these invertebrates in shallower areas of the Caribbean, and to determine potential hotspots of diversity. This information could be used as a baseline for the further understanding of population and ecosystem connectivity that would allow the "bryo-fauna" to adapt to climate change stressors (Hageman & Todd, 2014).

As part of this taxonomic revision, I found 94 species from which nine are new species for science, four correspond to new records for the Great Caribbean basin and 12 are new records for Colombia. This represents approximately a 30% increase in the previous knowledge of bryozoans in the country in regard to the update of bathymetric and geographical information. Finally, I concluded that bryozoans can generate habitat for the protection and establishment of smaller organism or even other bryozoans at the muddy bottoms of the Colombian deepsea. I decided to evaluate the Colombian fauna due to the scarce knowledge about this phylum and due to previous knowledge and access to biological records and associated information. Diversity studies are crucial for our understanding of environmental ecology as meta-populations of the same species may better resist environmental disturbance than single isolated patches because the meta-population may increase the number and level of responses to stressors and potentially compensate overall population decline (Hughes, 2004).

Chapter 3 looked at the environmental conditions that determine the extent of occurrence of bryozoans along the Colombian Caribbean. I found three main growth forms (encrusting, erect and free living) (O'Dea & Okamura, 1999; O'Dea et al., 2007). I analysed the total bryozoans examined and compared phenotypic trends with the type of sediment, location and depth. I concluded that that erect flexible forms dominate the shallower depth range 1-10m and colonies were mostly associated with hard substrates, while deeper ranges (50-200m) were dominated by erect rigid forms associated with bivalves shells, dead corals and live rocks, lastly, I found that the 1000-3888m depth range mainly contained delicate flexible-articulated forms attached to soil grains, probably as a consequence of the limiting factors at those depths such as food and reduced water flow (Schopf et al., 1980). I also compared the bathymetric and geographic distribution of some species with contrasting growth forms with environmental data obtained at the time of collection.

I found that diversity depends on the temperature and nutrient availability. The bryozoan fauna in the northern part of the Caribbean is the richest in number of species and is more abundant from 10 to 80m depth, but the south part has higher species richness and abundance from 150m depth onwards. After comparing this trend with the mineralogical information of the selected species I concluded that the range 50-450m depth, presented the greatest assemblages of calcite-composed species with larger colonies than in shallower areas and the range 1500-3888m depth has more calcite-Mg composed species. This chapter is the first report of environmental relationships with bryozoans from 1 to 3888m in the Colombian Caribbean. Species assemblages could potentially recover from disturbance events (Hooper et al., 2005) such as stationary high turbidity or seasonal upwelling as in the case of the North Colombian Caribbean (Andrade & Barton, 2005; Mckinney & Jackson, 1989).

In Chapter 4, I analysed the ability of *Bugula neritina* to switch between reproductive strategies in response to changes in the environment (Håkansson & Thomsen, 2001). I collected colonies at contrasting geographical areas of the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans from 1 to 5m depth and counted the reproductive structure densities developed under different climatic seasons, substrates, and other environmental factors. Results showed that *B. neritina* colonies inhabiting similar ecosystems with contrasting environmental factors differed in their reproductive strategies and morphometry. In addition, we suggested a possible trade-off between zooid features and ovicell production, when colonies invested in sexual structures, a reduction in zooid and colony size was observed. The degree of adaptation to environmental stressor is a means of ecological resilience (Hall & Hughes, 1996)

From Chapter five to Chapter seven, I focused on the understanding of the environmental stressors that modify the filtration behaviour of *Polycarpa captiosa* and that, in some cases, lead to evisceration and gut recovery. In Chapter 5, I looked at the effects of turbidity conditions on the behaviour of *P. captiosa* in controlled mesocosms to determine their optimal and limiting tolerance to this natural disturbance. I found that *P. captiosa* performs complete evisceration, 12-hours post high turbidity exposure and within 24-hours of medium turbidity exposure and found that animals regenerate their digestive system within 20-days post evisceration

when transferred to control conditions. However, when conditions remained unchanged, 100% mortality was observed. Finally, I concluded that animals can eject their gut more than once in response to stress disturbance, but their mortality rate increases with the number of eviscerations and their filtration activity declines. This is the first study reporting evisceration in Chordates as a consequence of environmental stress.

In Chapter 6, I evaluated the resilience of *P. captiosa* under ocean acidification and warming (OAW). The responses of ascidians were assessed by analysing their resilience (survival), and clearance, absorption and ingestion rates. I found that this disturbance significantly affects the resilience and performance of ascidians at the individual level. Animals reacted by skin shedding and gut ejection after all high temperature and elevated pCO2 treatments, and 20% mortality was observed. I suggested that ascidians increased their metabolic rates under warm temperature treatments, as clearance and ingestion rates increased. In contrast, under higher pCO2 conditions, a significant reduction of the ingestion rates and clearance rate was registered. These findings could be considered important for the future of the coastal managements and conservation strategies of those important ecosystem improvers.

Finally, in chapter 7 I looked at the impacts of the ingestion of polyester, polyvinyl and polypropylene microfibres by *Polycarpa captiosa* on its biology and filtration activity (Fossi et al., 2014; Browne et al., 2008). I collected Microfibers from launderettes, to replicate a common contamination pathway. I found that 90% of the ascidians eviscerated very damaged guts around 15-hours post microplastic exposure, from which only 20% recovered. Dead specimens had decomposed organs and gonads after 15 days of exposure. In addition, I found significant differences in the microplastic accumulation in different digestive organs in relation to the exposure time. Ascidians exposed for longer, reduced their filtration activity, clearance rate and absorption efficiency and presented the biggest accumulation of fibres in the pharynx suggesting a reduction in their pumping activity. This study constitutes the first registering lethal impacts of microplastic fibres on chordates and suggesting direct impacts on ascidian's ecosystem functions (Messinetti et al., 2019).

#### Thesis conclusions and future directions

The discovery of new species for science is important for the understanding of the species richness in a specific area. The level of interaction the Colombian deep-sea might be having with adjacent areas of the Atlantic is evidenced by the discovery of species previously registered for other sides of the Atlantic. The number of species found surrounding deep-sea coral patches provide information about the level of interaction bryozoans can be having with other habitat forming organisms in those ecosystems.

Bryozoans do not have a static distribution, some species usually found at deep zones, have representatives in shallower areas indicating a possible level of connectivity between populations across a bathymetric range. Also, it was demonstrated here that the benthic assemblages do not necessarily decreases in species diversity from north to south as it has been reported. The Magdalena deep-sea fan is a geo-form produced by the strong action of the Magdalena river delta that creates a frontier between northern and southern species; however, the distribution is not decreasing north to south as previously described by other authors. A higher biodiversity has been identified at the south zone of the Colombian Caribbean at deeper zones than in La Guajira. In addition, environmental variables modify the growth form, distribution (bathymetric, geographic) and the reproduction in bryozoans. *Bugula neritina* is a species reported in most parts of the world as invasive, however, there is no record of this in the Caribbean. This species does not invest in energetically expensive ovicell production when inhabiting disturbed areas such as marinas or mangrove areas with big temperature and salinity fluctuations.

*Polycarpa captiosa* is a good model system for the understanding of the effects of climate change in coastal ecosystems. It ejects its guts as a stress response to environmental disturbances. This species has the ability to regenerate their digestive system several times, but its filtration activity decreased. The filtration performance declines with the number of guts ejected. Microplastics are very damaging for the ecosystem functions and cause a lethal intestinal damaged to *P. captiosa* after exposure.

#### REFERENCES

- Andersson, A. J., F. T. Mackenzie & N. R. Bates (2008) Life on the margin: implications of ocean acidification on Mg- calcite, high latitude and cold-water marine calcifiers. Marine Ecology Progress Series 373: 265–273.
- Andrade, Carlos & E.D. Barton (2005) The Guajira upwelling system. Continental Shelf Research. 25. 1003-1022. 10.1016/j.csr.2004.12.012. Somero GN. 2005.
  Linking biogeography to physiology: evolutionary and acclimatory adjustments of thermal limits. Front. Zool. 2:1 Somero GN. 2010.
- Bernhardt, J. & L. Leslie (2013) Resilience to Climate Change in Coastal Marine Ecosystems. Annu. Rev. Mar. Sci. 2013. 5:371-92.
- Browne, M., Dissanayake, A., Galloway, T., Lowe, D. & R. Thompson (2008). Ingested Microscopic Plastic Translocates to the Circulatory System of the Mussel, *Mytilus edulis* (L.). *Environmental Science & Technology*, 42(13), pp.5026-5031.
- Caldeira K. & M.E. Wickett (2003) Oceanography: anthropogenic carbon and ocean pH. Nature 425:365.
- Crook, E. D., H. Cooper, D. C. Potts, T. Lambert & A. Paytan (2013) Impacts of food availability and pCO2 on planulation, juvenile survival, and calcification of the azooxan- thellate scleractinian coral *Balanophyllia elegans*. Biogeosciences 10: 7599-7608
- Desbiolles, F. Blanke, A., & B. Roy (2016) Response of the Southern Benguela upwelling system to fine-scale modifications of the coastal wind. Journal of Marine Systems, 156, 46-55.
- Dickson A.G. (1990) Thermodynamics of the dissociation of boric acid in synthetic seawater from 273.15 to 318.15 K. Deep-Sea Res. 37, 755 766. (doi:10.1016/0198-0149(90)90004-F).

- Folke C., Carpenter S., Walker B., Scheffer M. & T. Elmqvist (2004) Regime shifts, resilience, and biodiversity in ecosystem management. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 35:557–81
- Fossi, M., Coppola, D., Baini, M., Giannetti, M., Guerranti, C., Marsili, L., Panti, C., de Sabata, E. & S. Clò (2014) Large filter feeding marine organisms as indicators of microplastic in the pelagic environment: The case studies of the Mediterranean basking shark (*Cetorhinus maximus*) and fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*). *Marine Environmental Research*, 100, pp.17-24.
- Hageman, S. & C. Todd (2014) Hierarchical (mm- to km-scale) environmental variation affecting skeletal phenotype of a marine invertebrate (*Electra pilosa*, Bryozoa): Implications for fossil species concepts. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 396, 213-226.
- Håkansson, E. & E. Thomsen (2001) Asexual propagation in cheilostome Bryozoa: evolutionary trends in a major group of colonial animals. In Evolutionary patterns: growth, form and tempo in fossil record (J.B.C. Jackson, S. Lindgard and F.K. McKinney, eds.), pp. 326-347. Chicago, Illinois: University of Chicago Press.
- Hall, V. R. & T. P. Hughes (1996) Reproductive strategies of modular organisms: comparative studies of reef-building corals. Ecology, 77: 950–963.
- Halpern B.S., Walbridge S., Selkoe K.A., Kappel C.V. & F. Micheli (2008) A global map of human impact on marine ecosystems. Science 319:948–52.
- Hooper D.U., Chapin F.S., Ewel J.J., Hector A. & P. Inchausti (2005) Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: a consensus of current knowledge. Ecol. Monogr. 75:3–35.
- Hughes A.R. (2004) Genetic diversity enhances the resistance of a seagrass ecosystem to disturbance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101:8998–9002

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change IPCC (2007) Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assess- ment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, Pachauri, R.K and Reisinger, A. (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 104 pp.
- Knutson T.R., McBride J.L., Chan J., Emanuel K. & G. Holland (2010) Tropical cyclones and climate change. Nat. Geosci. 3:157–63.
- Lopes, R. & N. Videira (2013) Valuing marine and coastal ecosystem services: An integrated participatory framework. Ocean and Coastal Management, 84, 153-162.
- McKinney, F. & J. Jackson (1989) Bryozoan evolution. Boston, Massachusetts: Unwin and Hyman. Menon, N. 1972. Heat tolerance, growth and regeneration in three North Sea bryozoans exposed to different constant temperatures. Marine Biology, 15: 1-11.
- Messinetti, S. Mercurio, G. Scarì, A. Pennati & R. Pennati (2019) Ingested microscopic plastics translocate from the gut cavity of juveniles of the ascidian Ciona intestinalis, The European Zoological Journal, 86:1, 189-195, DOI: 10.1080/24750263.2019.1616837
- O'Dea, A. & B. Okamura (1999) The influence of seasonal variation in temperature, salinity, and food availability on module size and colony growth in the estuarine bryozoan, *Conopeum seurati*. Mar. Biol. 135, 581–588.
- O'Dea, A., Rodriguez, F. & T. Romero (2007) Response of zooid size in Cupuladria exfragminis (Bryozoa) to simulated upwelling temperatures. Marine Ecology 28 (2007) 315–323.
- Rahmstorf S., Cazenave A., Church J.A., Hansen J.E. & R.F. Keeling (2007) Recent climate observations compared to projections. Science 316:709
- Schopf, T., Collier, K. & B. Bach (1980) Relation of the morphology of stick-like bryozoans at Friday Harbor, Washington, to bottom currents, suspended matter and depth. Paleobiology, 6: 466-476.

Swezey D.S., Bean J.R., Ninokawa A.T., Hill T.M., Gaylord B. & E. Sanford (2017)
 Interactive effects of temperature, food and skeletal mineralogy mediate
 biological responses to ocean acidification in a widely istributed bryozoan. Proc.
 R. Soc. B 284 20162349.